ESSENTIAL KINASES AND TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATORS AND THEIR ROLES IN AUTOIMMUNITY

EDITED BY: Raffi Gugasyan, Margaret Hibbs and Marc Pellegrini PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-920-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-920-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

ESSENTIAL KINASES AND TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATORS AND THEIR ROLES IN AUTOIMMUNITY

Topic Editors: **Raffi Gugasyan**, Burnet Institute, Australia **Margaret Hibbs**, Monash University, Australia **Marc Pellegrini**, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Citation: Gugasyan, R., Hibbs, M., Pellegrini, M., eds. (2020). Essential Kinases and Transcriptional Regulators and Their Roles in Autoimmunity. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-920-5

Table of Contents

- 04 Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase, a Component of B Cell Signaling Pathways, Has Multiple Roles in the Pathogenesis of Lupus Anne B. Satterthwaite
- 14 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Control of Human T and B Cell Responses

Elissa K. Deenick, Simon J. Pelham, Alisa Kane and Cindy S. Ma

- 21 PTEN-Regulated AID Transcription in Germinal Center B Cells is Essential for the Class-Switch Recombination and IgG Antibody Responses Jing Wang, Sichen Liu, Baidong Hou, Meixiang Yang, Zhongjun Dong, Hai Qi and Wanli Liu
- 32 Lyn, Lupus, and (B) Lymphocytes, a Lesson on the Critical Balance of Kinase Signaling in Immunity

Erica J. Brodie, Simona Infantino, Michael S. Y. Low and David M. Tarlinton

42 TANK-Binding Kinase 1-Dependent Responses in Health and Autoimmunity

Cynthia Louis, Chris Burns and Ian Wicks

55 Tailoring Immune Responses Toward Autoimmunity: Transcriptional Regulators That Drive the Creation and Collusion of Autoreactive Lymphocytes

Kim L. Good-Jacobson and Joanna R. Groom

66 Putting on the Brakes: Regulatory Kinases and Phosphatases Maintaining B Cell Anergy

S. Elizabeth Franks and John C. Cambier

- 73 Nuclear Factor-kappaB in Autoimmunity: Man and Mouse Bahar Miraghazadeh and Matthew C. Cook
- 89 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Hyperactivation Associates With Follicular Helper T Cell Differentiation and Disease Activity in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Jun Deng, Chaofan Fan, Xin Gao, Qunxiong Zeng, Ruru Guo, Yunbo Wei, Zhian Chen, Yanan Chen, Dongcheng Gong, Jia Feng, Yan Xia, Shifei Xiang, Shushi Gong, Lin Yuan, Wei Shen, Wenyan Shen, Lin Lin, Ting Jiang, Dongyi He, Liangjing Lu, Xiaoxiang Chen and Di Yu

100 Potential Pathways Associated With Exaggerated T Follicular Helper Response in Human Autoimmune Diseases Shu Horiuchi and Hideki Ueno





Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase, a Component of B Cell Signaling Pathways, Has Multiple Roles in the Pathogenesis of Lupus

Anne B. Satterthwaite^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Internal Medicine, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States, ² Department of Immunology, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune disease characterized by the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Margaret Hibbs, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by: Rudi W. Hendriks,

Fudi W. Heridriks, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Netherlands Peggy Lyn Kendall, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, United States Evelyn Tsantikos, Monash University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Anne B. Satterthwaite anne.satterthwaite @utsouthwestern.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 October 2017 Accepted: 21 December 2017 Published: 22 January 2018

Citation:

Satterthwaite AB (2018) Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase, a Component of B Cell Signaling Pathways, Has Multiple Roles in the Pathogenesis of Lupus. Front. Immunol. 8:1986. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01986 loss of adaptive immune tolerance to nucleic acid-containing antigens. The resulting autoantibodies form immune complexes that promote inflammation and tissue damage. Defining the signals that drive pathogenic autoantibody production is an important step in the development of more targeted therapeutic approaches for lupus, which is currently treated primarily with non-specific immunosuppression. Here, we review the contribution of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk), a component of B and myeloid cell signaling pathways, to disease in murine lupus models. Both gain- and loss-of-function genetic studies have revealed that Btk plays multiple roles in the production of autoantibodies. These include promoting the activation, plasma cell differentiation, and class switching of autoreactive B cells. Small molecule inhibitors of Btk are effective at reducing autoantibody levels, B cell activation, and kidney damage in several lupus models. These studies suggest that Btk may promote end-organ damage both by facilitating the production of autoantibodies and by mediating the inflammatory response of myeloid cells to these immune complexes. While Btk has not been associated with SLE in GWAS studies, SLE B cells display signaling defects in components both upstream and downstream of Btk consistent with enhanced activation of Btk signaling pathways. Taken together, these observations indicate that limiting Btk activity is critical for maintaining B cell tolerance and preventing the development of autoimmune disease. Btk inhibitors, generally well-tolerated and approved to treat B cell malignancy, may thus be a useful therapeutic approach for SLE.

Keywords: Bruton's tyrosine kinase, lupus, autoantibody, B cell, plasma cell, Lyn

INTRODUCTION

The development of a B cell repertoire capable of secreting antibodies against a wide range of foreign antigens is crucial for effective immune responses. However, the processes that generate this diversity also result in the production of self-reactive B cells that, if not kept in check, can be pathogenic and lead to autoimmune disease. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune disease characterized by autoantibodies against nuclear antigens. These autoantibodies promote disease pathogenesis by forming immune complexes that deposit in and damage tissues and synergize with innate immune defects to sustain pro-inflammatory feed-forward loops (1). Autoantibodies arise prior to the development of overt clinical symptoms (2), suggesting that loss of B cell tolerance is an important initiating event in lupus. Understanding the signaling pathways that mediate autoantibody production may reveal new therapeutic targets for SLE, currently treated primarily by non-specific immunosuppression. Here, we review the contribution of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) to lupus, with a focus on its role in B cells.

Btk IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT AND ACTIVATION

Bruton's tyrosine kinase is a Tec family tyrosine kinase expressed in B and myeloid cells. It was first identified as the genetic defect in the primary immunodeficiency X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA) (3, 4). XLA patients have a block in B cell development at the pre-B stage and a paucity of circulating B cells and immunoglobulin (5). A mutation in the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain of Btk was subsequently found in X-linked immunodeficient (xid) mice (6, 7), which also have a B cell immunodeficiency, although milder than that of XLA patients. Btk-deficient mice phenocopy xid mice, with a block in B cell development at the immature stage, reduced peritoneal B1a cells, and impaired response to T-independent type II antigens (8–10).

Bruton's tyrosine kinase is an important proximal component of B cell receptor (BCR) signaling pathways. Upon BCR engagement, the Btk PH domain binds to PIP3, a signaling intermediate generated by PI3 kinase (PI3K), thus localizing Btk to the plasma membrane (11-14). This facilitates its phosphorylation and activation by Src kinases (12, 13, 15) and promotes access to its substrates. The most well described of these is PLCy2, which is activated after phosphorylation by Btk (16, 17) leading to increased Ca++ flux (14, 16, 18) and activation of NF-κB (19-21). BCR-induced proliferation and survival are impaired in the absence of Btk (9, 22-24). Btk is also required for toll-like receptor (TLR)-induced IL-10 expression by B cells (25, 26), and for synergy between the BCR and TLRs in enhancing IL-6 expression (27). Integrin-mediated adhesion of B lineage cells (28) and their response to chemokines, such as SDF-1 (29, 30), are also controlled by Btk.

Btk AND MOUSE LUPUS MODELS

Btk Is Required for Autoantibody Production and Pathogenesis in Many Lupus Models

The xid mutation has long been known to reduce autoantibody levels in several murine lupus models, including NZB × NZW (31), BXSB (32), MRL.lpr (33), motheaten (34), and Gld (35). Renal disease was also prevented and survival improved by the xid mutation in NZB × NZW (31), BXSB (32), and MRL.lpr (33) mice.

The subsequent finding that Btk is a B cell signaling molecule suggested that enhanced B cell activation through Btk underlies

autoantibody production in lupus models. This was tested using mice lacking B cell inhibitory signaling molecules. BCR signaling is normally limited by inhibitory receptors such as Fc γ RIIb, CD22, SiglecG, PIR-B, and CD72. The ITIMs of these receptors are phosphorylated by the tyrosine kinase Lyn, which results in the recruitment and activation of inhibitory phosphatases, such as SHIP and SHP-1 [reviewed in Ref. (36–38)]. B cell-specific deletion of Lyn, SHIP, or SHP-1 leads to B cell hyper-responsiveness and lupus-like autoimmune disease in mice (39–41). Mutations in inhibitory receptors result in milder autoimmunity, likely due to some degree of redundancy among them (42–47). Several of these inhibitory pathways target activating signals mediated by Btk (14, 16, 48).

Either the xid mutation (49) or Btk-deficiency (50–52) ameliorates the autoimmune phenotype of Lyn^{-/-} mice. Similarly, Btk is required for autoantibodies in Fc γ RIIb^{-/-}.Yaa mice, which lack the inhibitory receptor Fc γ RIIb and also have enhanced TLR7 signaling (53). One caveat to these studies is that the reduction in mature B cells in xid and Btk^{-/-} mice is exacerbated in the absence of Lyn. To circumvent this defect, a transgene expressing a low level of Btk in B cells (Btk¹⁰) (22) was crossed to Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{-/-} mice (50–52). This normalized mature follicular B cell numbers to that of Lyn^{-/-} mice. However, Lyn^{-/-}Btk¹⁰ mice failed to produce autoantibodies or develop kidney damage, indicating that Btk signaling in mature B cells, rather than simply effects of Btk on B cell development, is critical for autoimmunity.

The autoimmunity caused by loss of Lyn-dependent inhibitory signaling is likely mediated by heightened Btk responses, as it is mitigated by reducing Btk dosage. This is supported by gain-of-function studies in which either a constitutively active form of Btk [which carries a PH domain mutation that enhances Btk membrane localization (54)] or wild-type Btk were overexpressed in the B lineage (55–57). In both cases, autoimmunity ensued. Limiting Btk signal strength in B cells is thus critical to prevent the loss of B cell tolerance.

Multiple Functions of Btk Contribute to Autoantibody Production

Autoreactive B Cells Are Present in the Periphery in the Absence of Btk

Developing B cells are subjected to a central tolerance checkpoint at the immature B stage in the bone marrow. Those cells that express autoreactive receptors undergo receptor editing, rearranging a new Ig light chain to change their specificity. Cells that remain self-reactive after editing are deleted by apoptosis or rendered anergic. Autoreactive cells that escape are kept in check by peripheral tolerance mechanisms.

Taken together, the following observations suggest that Btk acts primarily in the periphery, rather than the bone marrow, to drive a loss of B cell tolerance. In $Btk^{-/-}$ mice carrying an anti-DNA Ig transgene, anti-DNA B cells are present in the periphery but do not produce antibodies *in vivo* (26). Single cell repertoire analysis of new emigrant B cells (recently arrived in the periphery from the bone marrow) from XLA patients revealed a higher frequency of autoreactive B cells than in healthy controls (58). This indicates that Btk signaling may actually promote central

tolerance, and that Btk-deficiency does not abrogate autoimmunity simply by preventing autoreactive B cells from reaching the periphery. Furthermore, immunoglobulin transgenic mouse models and analysis of XLA patient B cell repertoires have shown that receptor editing is independent of Btk (58–60). A role for Btk in the loss of peripheral B cell tolerance is highlighted by both loss-of-function and overexpression studies. Btk is required for autoimmunity in Lyn^{-/-} mice (49–52), which have intact central tolerance but develop autoantibodies due to a breach of peripheral tolerance (61, 62). Mice overexpressing Btk in mature B cells and myeloid cells, but not at earlier stages of B cell development in the bone marrow, develop autoimmunity (56).

Btk Contributes to Autoantibody Production beyond Its Role in Initial B Cell Activation

How does Btk signaling in the periphery drive autoantibody production? The role of Btk in the initial activation of BCR signals likely contributes, as residual B cells in Lyn^{-/-} xid and Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{-/-} mice proliferate poorly in response to anti-IgM (49, 50). However, Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{lo} B cells, like Lyn^{-/-} B cells, have increased proliferative response to BCR engagement (50, 52), suggesting that in the absence of Lyn-mediated inhibitory signaling, low levels of Btk are able to transmit some aspects of BCR signals efficiently. However, Lyn-/-Btklo mice do not develop autoantibodies or autoimmune disease (51, 52). Similarly, although Btk-deficient anti-DNA transgenic mice do not produce autoantibodies (26), Btk is not required for B cells from these mice or from AM14 rheumatoid factor (RF) transgenic mice to proliferate in response to nucleic acid-containing antigens (26, 63). Such autoantigens, common in lupus, activate B cells via both the BCR and nucleic acid-sensing TLRs (1). Thus, Btk has additional functions beyond transmitting proliferative signals from the BCR and TLRs that promote the loss of B cell tolerance.

Btk Drives Plasma Cell (PC) Accumulation

Accumulation of antibody-secreting PCs in the periphery is characteristic of SLE patients (64, 65) and murine lupus models, including Lyn^{-/-} mice (51, 66–74). A subset of inactive SLE patients demonstrate a PC-focused gene expression profile in their B cells, indicating that some patients may have an intrinsic predisposition to inappropriate B cell terminal differentiation (75). Btk is required for PC accumulation, as the increased PC frequency observed in Lyn^{-/-} mice is normalized in Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{lo} mice (51). This is likely due to enhanced Btk signaling in B cells, since B cell-specific overexpression of either constitutively active or wild-type Btk also results in elevated splenic PCs (55, 56).

Activating signals by Btk and inhibitory signals by Lyn converge on the transcription factor Ets1 (76). Ets1 is expressed in resting B cells and limits PC differentiation by inhibiting the activity of Blimp1 (77), a master PC transcription factor. Ets1^{-/-} mice accumulate PCs and develop lupus-like autoimmunity, similar to Lyn^{-/-} mice (71). Ets1 levels are significantly reduced in B cells from mice deficient in Lyn or the inhibitory signaling components SHP-1 or CD22 plus SiglecG, but are normalized in Lyn^{-/-} Btk^{lo} B cells (76). Restoration of Ets1 expression to Lyn^{-/-} B cells prevents excessive B cell differentiation

in vitro (76). These observations indicate that autoreactive PCs accumulate in Lyn^{-/-} mice at least in part because of excessive downregulation of Ets1 by Btk. This is likely an exacerbation of a normal process, as BCR signaling downregulates Ets1 in wild-type B cells in a Btk-dependent manner (76). TLR signaling also downregulates Ets1 in wild-type B cells, and synergizes with BCR signaling to do so (76). In contrast, failure to downregulate Ets1 in response to Btk signals results in decreased steady state PC levels, as demonstrated by the ability of Ets1-deficiency to rescue the reduction in IgM antibody-secreting cells that occurs in Btk^{-/-} mice (78). Thus, a continuum of Btk signaling to Ets1 controls PC frequencies, and can result in autoimmunity, normal responses, or immunodeficiency depending on the signal strength (78).

Btk Promotes Class Switching of Autoreactive B Cells

Class switching to IgG is required for autoantibodies to be pathogenic (79). In Btk^{lo} mice carrying the 56R anti-DNA immunoglobulin transgene, anti-DNA IgM, but not IgG, is produced (26). Thus, Btk also promotes class switching of autoreactive B cells separate from its role in their initial activation and terminal differentiation.

Several functions of Btk contribute to this process. Expression of the class switching factors AID and T-bet is reduced in TLRstimulated Btk^{-/-} and Btk^{lo} B cells relative to wild-type cells (26). Btk likely also plays an indirect role in class switching. IL-6 is required for IgG autoantibodies and autoimmune disease in Lyn^{-/-} mice (51, 70, 80). Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{lo} mice have decreased serum IL-6 levels and a reduced frequency of myeloid cells expressing IL-6 in response to LPS compared to Lyn^{-/-} mice (51). B cellderived IL-6 is also increased in Lyn^{-/-} mice (70), and is required in other models for the formation of autoreactive germinal centers, in which class switching occurs (81, 82). Btk is required for the upregulation of IL-6 in B cells in response to synergistic BCR and TLR9 signaling (27), and B cells overexpressing Btk express more IL-6 (57). Btk also promotes expression of IL-21, a Tfh-derived cytokine, in Lyn^{-/-} mice. This likely occurs via IL-6 as splenocytes from both Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{lo} and Lyn^{-/-}IL6^{-/-} mice have reduced expression of IL-21 mRNA compared to Lyn^{-/-} mice (80). Furthermore, Btk overexpression in B cells results in increased Th cells and IFNy-producing T cells (57), which are important for autoreactive germinal centers and pathogenic autoantibodies (83-86).

Btk and Innate-Like B Cells

Bruton's tyrosine kinase is expressed in B1a and marginal zone (MZ) B cells. These innate-like B cells may have both pathogenic and protective roles in autoimmune disease. The relative importance of Btk in these specific roles is not clear.

B1a cells are found predominantly in the peritoneal cavity, have a repertoire enriched in polyreactivity (87, 88), and are increased in several lupus models (41, 42, 88–90). Whether they are elevated in Lyn^{-/-} mice is controversial (52, 72, 91, 92). They secrete protective IgM autoantibodies (93) and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (94, 95). In some cases they do not contribute to pathogenic autoantibodies (96), but they

can produce IgG autoantibodies and interact with T cells in a pro-inflammatory manner in some lupus models (88, 97, 98). B1a cells are reduced in Lyn^{-/-}Btk^{lo} mice (52) and increased in mice expressing constitutively active Btk (55), and Btk is required for their expression of IL-10 (25).

Marginal zone B cells are also enriched in autoreactivity (99– 101). Whether they contribute to pathogenic autoantibodies in lupus is model-dependent (71, 101–107), and may be modulated indirectly by alterations in splenic architecture in some strains. Btk is not required for MZ B cell development, but it controls the positive selection of particular B cell specificities into the MZ compartment (108). How this affects autoimmunity is not clear. Skewing of autoreactive B cells to the MZ is promoted by Btk in the 56R anti-DNA immunoglobulin transgenic model (26) and in NOD mice (109), a model of type I diabetes, but RF B cells carrying the xid mutation are enriched in the MZ relative to their wild-type counterparts (63).

Btk Inhibitors Are Effective in Mouse Lupus Models

The genetic evidence described above suggests that small molecule inhibitors of Btk could be an effective therapy for SLE. Preclinical studies with several inhibitors in multiple mouse models suggest that this may indeed be the case (Table 1) (110-117). Kidney damage was ameliorated in all cases and survival increased when measured. Btk inhibitors diminished B cell activity, as measured by reduced CD69 expression, PC frequencies, and/or germinal center B cell frequencies. Autoantibodies were also decreased, although in some cases not all specificities or isotypes were affected. Interestingly, kidney damage was prevented even in the few situations where IgG autoantibodies were not significantly reduced. This indicates that Btk has roles in lupus pathogenesis beyond its contribution to the loss of B cell tolerance. Btk inhibitors were effective in anti-GBM models of kidney disease, which measure only the effector phase of kidney inflammation and damage and do not depend on autoantibody production (113, 117). Btk inhibitors impair pro-inflammatory FcR responses of myeloid cells *in vitro* (111–113, 116–119), suggesting that Btkdependent effector functions of myeloid cells may contribute to end-organ damage *in vivo*. However, Btk-deficiency in myeloid cells can have pro- or anti-inflammatory effects dependent on cell type and stimulus (120–135), and off-target effects of inhibitors cannot be ruled out (136). For instance, the Btk inhibitor ibrutinib also inhibits Itk (137), a related Tec kinase which has important functions in T cells. Further studies of the relative roles of B and myeloid cell-expressed Btk in lupus pathogenesis would be facilitated by the development of cell type-specific Btk knockout mice.

Btk IN HUMAN AUTOIMMUNITY

While polymorphisms in Btk have not been identified in GWAS studies of SLE or other autoimmune diseases, several lines of evidence suggest that increased Btk activity may be associated with autoantibody production in humans. Increased Btk expression and phosphorylation was observed in B cells from rheumatoid arthritis patients (138, 139), correlating with RF antibodies among RF-positive patients (139) and enriched in anti-citrullinated protein antibody-positive patients (138). Similarly, increased Btk expression and phosphorylation correlated with RF antibodies in Sjogren's syndrome patients (138). The frequency of Btk⁺ cells in the peripheral blood of SLE patients has been reported to correlate with disease activity, anti-dsDNA antibodies, proteinuria, and C3 levels (140), but whether this reflects changes in Btk signaling or cell subset distribution is unclear.

Several SLE-associated signaling defects and polymorphisms likely result in increased activity of Btk signaling pathways in B cells. Reduced expression of PTEN, which counteracts PI3K, has been observed in human lupus B cells (141). Btk activation and function require the binding of its PH domain to the product of PI3K in the plasma membrane (11–14), and PTEN haploinsufficiency enhances the efficiency of Btk signaling in mice (142).

TABLE 1 | Effects of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) inhibitors on B cell activation and end-organ damage in murine lupus models.

Model	Inhibitor	Autoantibodies	B cell activation	End-organ damage	Survival	Reference
MRL.lpr	PCI-32765 (ibrutinib)	IgG reduced but not significantly		Reduced (kidney)		(110)
MRL.lpr	HM71224	IgG reduced	Reduced (CD69)	Reduced (kidney, skin lesions)		(111)
NZBxNZW	HM71224	IgG reduced but not significantly	Reduced [CD69, plasma cells (PCs)]	Reduced (kidney)	Increased	(111)
NZBxNZW	RN486	IgM unchanged, IgG reduced	Reduced (CD69, PCs)	Reduced (kidney)		(112)
NZBxNZW	PF-06250112	lgG reduced	Reduced (PCs, GCs)	Reduced (kidney)		(113)
NZBxNZW	G-744	Total reduced	Reduced (GCs)	Reduced (kidney)	Increased	(114)
IFN-enhanced NZBxNZW	G-744	Total ANA reduced, anti-dsDNA unchanged	Reduced (proliferation, PCs, GCs)	Reduced (kidney)	Increased	(114)
Sle1.Sle3	PCI-32765 (ibrutinib)	IgM and IgG reduced	Reduced (CD69, PCs)	Reduced (kidney)		(115)
BXSB.Yaa	M7583	Total reduced	Reduced (CD69, PCs)	Reduced (kidney)	Increased	(116)
DBA/Pristane	M7583	Total reduced except anti-SmRNP	Reduced (PCs), increased (CD69)	Reduced (arthritis)		(116)
Anti-GBM	PF-06250112			Reduced (kidney)		(113)
Anti-GBM	BI-BTK-1			Reduced (kidney)		(117)



The autoimmune phenotype in Lyn^{-/-} mice is mediated by excessive Btk activity in mice (49–52, 76, 80). Polymorphisms in Lyn are associated with SLE (143, 144), and reduced Lyn expression is observed in B cells from a subset of SLE patients (145–147). Expression of CSK, an inhibitor of Lyn, is increased by an SLE-associated polymorphism in the CSK gene. B cells carrying this SNP have reduced Lyn activity and increased responses to BCR signaling (148). Finally, several polymorphisms in Ets1 are associated with SLE, and Ets1 expression is reduced in PBMCs from SLE patients [reviewed in Ref. (149)]. Btk promotes the accumulation of autoreactive PCs in Lyn^{-/-} mice by downregulating Ets1 (76).

CONCLUSION

Genetic studies demonstrate multiple roles for Btk in the development of murine lupus (**Figure 1**), including promoting the activation, differentiation, and class switching of autoreactive B cells. Btk inhibitors are effective at reducing autoantibodies and/or autoimmune symptoms in mouse lupus models and may act in both B and myeloid cells to exert these effects. In humans, several components of Btk signaling pathways are altered in B cells from lupus patients, and Btk expression and activation is elevated in B cells from other autoimmune diseases. Btk has dose-dependent effects on B cell activation and autoantibody production as illustrated by the phenotypes of Btk^{lo} and Btk-overexpressing mice. Such a rheostat effect of Btk (150) is supported by recent structural analysis indicating that Btk has graded degrees of activity (151), and suggests that partial inhibition of Btk may have significant functional consequences. Btk may thus be a useful therapeutic target for SLE. The Btk inhibitor ibrutinib is well tolerated and approved for treatment of several B cell malignancies (152, 153), and second generation, more specific inhibitors such as acalabrutinib are promising (154, 155). The use of these and other Btk inhibitors in B cell malignancy will be informative with respect to potential off-target and side effects (156, 157) that might be encountered in the context of autoimmune disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH grant AI122720 to AS. AS is a Southwestern Medical Foundation Scholar in Biomedical Research and holds the Peggy Chavellier Professorship in Arthritis Research and Treatment.

REFERENCES

- Liu Z, Davidson A. Taming lupus a new understanding of pathogenesis is leading to clinical advances. Nat Med (2012) 18(6):871–82. doi:10.1038/ nm.2752
- Arbuckle MR, McClain MT, Rubertone MV, Scofield RH, Dennis GJ, James JA, et al. Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med (2003) 349(16):1526–33. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa021933
- Vetrie D, Vorechovsky I, Sideras P, Holland J, Davies A, Flinter F, et al. The gene involved in X-linked agammaglobulinaemia is a member of the Src family of protein-tyrosine kinases. 1993. *Nature* (1993) 361(6409):226–33. doi:10.1038/361226a0
- Tsukada S, Saffran DC, Rawlings DJ, Parolini O, Allen RC, Klisak I, et al. Deficient expression of a B cell cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase in human X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Cell* (1993) 72(2):279–90. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90667-F
- Ochs HD, Smith CI. X-linked agammaglobulinemia. A clinical and molecular analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* (1996) 75(6):287–99. doi:10.1097/00005792-199611000-00001
- Rawlings DJ, Saffran DC, Tsukada S, Largaespada DA, Grimaldi JC, Cohen L, et al. Mutation of unique region of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in immunodeficient XID mice. *Science* (1993) 261(5119):358–61. doi:10.1126/ science.8332901
- Thomas JD, Sideras P, Smith CI, Vorechovsky I, Chapman V, Paul WE. Colocalization of X-linked agammaglobulinemia and X-linked immunodeficiency genes. *Science* (1993) 261(5119):355–8. doi:10.1126/science. 8332900
- Kerner JD, Appleby MW, Mohr RN, Chien S, Rawlings DJ, Maliszewski CR, et al. Impaired expansion of mouse B cell progenitors lacking Btk. *Immunity* (1995) 3(3):301–12. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90115-9
- Khan WN, Alt FW, Gerstein RM, Malynn BA, Larsson I, Rathbun G, et al. Defective B cell development and function in Btk-deficient mice. *Immunity* (1995) 3(3):283–99. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90114-0
- Hendriks RW, de Bruijn MF, Maas A, Dingjan GM, Karis A, Grosveld F. Inactivation of Btk by insertion of lacZ reveals defects in B cell development only past the pre-B cell stage. *EMBO J* (1996) 15(18):4862–72.
- Salim K, Bottomley MJ, Querfurth E, Zvelebil MJ, Gout I, Scaife R, et al. Distinct specificity in the recognition of phosphoinositides by the pleckstrin homology domains of dynamin and Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *EMBO J* (1996) 15(22):6241–50.
- Li Z, Wahl MI, Eguinoa A, Stephens LR, Hawkins PT, Witte ON. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-gamma activates Bruton's tyrosine kinase in concert with Src family kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(25):13820–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.25.13820
- Saito K, Scharenberg AM, Kinet JP. Interaction between the Btk PH domain and phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate directly regulates Btk. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(19):16201–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100873200
- Bolland S, Pearse RN, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. SHIP modulates immune receptor responses by regulating membrane association of Btk. *Immunity* (1998) 8(4):509–16. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80555-5
- Kurosaki T, Kurosaki M. Transphosphorylation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase on tyrosine 551 is critical for B cell antigen receptor function. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272(25):15595–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.25.15595
- Fluckiger AC, Li Z, Kato RM, Wahl MI, Ochs HD, Longnecker R, et al. Btk/ Tec kinases regulate sustained increases in intracellular Ca2+ following B-cell receptor activation. *EMBO J* (1998) 17(7):1973–85. doi:10.1093/ emboj/17.7.1973
- Takata M, Kurosaki T. A role for Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B cell antigen receptor-mediated activation of phospholipase C-gamma 2. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184(1):31–40. doi:10.1084/jem.184.1.31
- Genevier HC, Callard RE. Impaired Ca2+ mobilization by X-linked agammaglobulinaemia (XLA) B cells in response to ligation of the B cell receptor (BCR). *Clin Exp Immunol* (1997) 110(3):386–91. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1997.4581478.x
- Bajpai UD, Zhang K, Teutsch M, Sen R, Wortis HH. Bruton's tyrosine kinase links the B cell receptor to nuclear factor kappaB activation. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191(10):1735–44. doi:10.1084/jem.191.10.1735

- Petro JB, Khan WN. Phospholipase C-gamma 2 couples Bruton's tyrosine kinase to the NF-kappaB signaling pathway in B lymphocytes. J Biol Chem (2001) 276(3):1715–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M009137200
- Petro JB, Rahman SM, Ballard DW, Khan WN. Bruton's tyrosine kinase is required for activation of IkappaB kinase and nuclear factor kappaB in response to B cell receptor engagement. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191(10):1745–54. doi:10.1084/jem.191.10.1745
- Satterthwaite AB, Cheroutre H, Khan WN, Sideras P, Witte ON. Btk dosage determines sensitivity to B cell antigen receptor cross-linking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(24):13152–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.24.13152
- Brorson K, Brunswick M, Ezhevsky S, Wei DG, Berg R, Scott D, et al. xid affects events leading to B cell cycle entry. J Immunol (1997) 159(1):135–43.
- Solvason N, Wu WW, Kabra N, Lund-Johansen F, Roncarolo MG, Behrens TW, et al. Transgene expression of bcl-xL permits anti-immunoglobulin (Ig)induced proliferation in xid B cells. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187(7):1081–91. doi:10.1084/jem.187.7.1081
- Contreras CM, Halcomb KE, Randle L, Hinman RM, Gutierrez T, Clarke SH, et al. Btk regulates multiple stages in the development and survival of B-1 cells. *Mol Immunol* (2007) 44(10):2719–28. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.11.023
- Halcomb KE, Musuka S, Gutierrez T, Wright HL, Satterthwaite AB. Btk regulates localization, in vivo activation, and class switching of anti-DNA B cells. *Mol Immunol* (2008) 46(2):233–41. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2008.08.278
- Kenny EF, Quinn SR, Doyle SL, Vink PM, van Eenennaam H, O'Neill LA. Bruton's tyrosine kinase mediates the synergistic signalling between TLR9 and the B cell receptor by regulating calcium and calmodulin. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(8):e74103. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074103
- Spaargaren M, Beuling EA, Rurup ML, Meijer HP, Klok MD, Middendorp S, et al. The B cell antigen receptor controls integrin activity through Btk and PLCgamma2. J Exp Med (2003) 198(10):1539–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20011866
- de Gorter DJ, Beuling EA, Kersseboom R, Middendorp S, van Gils JM, Hendriks RW, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase and phospholipase Cgamma2 mediate chemokine-controlled B cell migration and homing. *Immunity* (2007) 26(1):93–104. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.11.012
- Halcomb KE, Contreras CM, Hinman RM, Coursey TG, Wright HL, Satterthwaite AB. Btk and phospholipase C gamma 2 can function independently during B cell development. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(4):1033–42. doi:10.1002/eji.200636451
- 31. Steinberg BJ, Smathers PA, Frederiksen K, Steinberg AD. Ability of the xid gene to prevent autoimmunity in (NZB X NZW)F1 mice during the course of their natural history, after polyclonal stimulation, or following immunization with DNA. J Clin Invest (1982) 70(3):587–97. doi:10.1172/JCI110651
- Smith HR, Chused TM, Steinberg AD. The effect of the X-linked immune deficiency gene (xid) upon the Y chromosome-related disease of BXSB mice. *J Immunol* (1983) 131(3):1257–62.
- Steinberg EB, Santoro TJ, Chused TM, Smathers PA, Steinberg AD. Studies of congenic MRL-Ipr/Ipr.xid mice. J Immunol (1983) 131(6):2789–95.
- Scribner CL, Hansen CT, Klinman DM, Steinberg AD. The interaction of the xid and me genes. J Immunol (1987) 138(11):3611–7.
- Seldin MF, Reeves JP, Scribner CL, Roths JB, Davidson WF, Morse HC III, et al. Effect of xid on autoimmune C3H-gld/gld mice. *Cell Immunol* (1987) 107(1):249–55. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(87)90284-X
- Nitschke L. The role of CD22 and other inhibitory co-receptors in B-cell activation. Curr Opin Immunol (2005) 17(3):290–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2005.03.005
- Nitschke L. CD22 and Siglec-G: B-cell inhibitory receptors with distinct functions. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 230(1):128–43. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00801.x
- Xu Y, Harder KW, Huntington ND, Hibbs ML, Tarlinton DM. Lyn tyrosine kinase: accentuating the positive and the negative. *Immunity* (2005) 22(1):9–18. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.12.004
- Lamagna C, Hu Y, DeFranco AL, Lowell CA. B cell-specific loss of Lyn kinase leads to autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(3):919–28. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1301979
- O'Neill SK, Getahun A, Gauld SB, Merrell KT, Tamir I, Smith MJ, et al. Monophosphorylation of CD79a and CD79b ITAM motifs initiates a SHIP-1 phosphatase-mediated inhibitory signaling cascade required for B cell anergy. *Immunity* (2011) 35(5):746–56. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.10.011
- Pao LI, Lam KP, Henderson JM, Kutok JL, Alimzhanov M, Nitschke L, et al. B cell-specific deletion of protein-tyrosine phosphatase Shp1 promotes

B-1a cell development and causes systemic autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2007) 27(1):35–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.04.016

- Jellusova J, Wellmann U, Amann K, Winkler TH, Nitschke L. CD22 x Siglec-G double-deficient mice have massively increased B1 cell numbers and develop systemic autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3618–27. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902711
- Muller J, Lunz B, Schwab I, Acs A, Nimmerjahn F, Daniel C, et al. Siglec-G deficiency leads to autoimmunity in aging C57BL/6 mice. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(1):51–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1403139
- O'Keefe TL, Williams GT, Batista FD, Neuberger MS. Deficiency in CD22, a B cell-specific inhibitory receptor, is sufficient to predispose to development of high affinity autoantibodies. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189(8):1307–13. doi:10.1084/jem.189.8.1307
- Bolland S, Ravetch JV. Spontaneous autoimmune disease in Fc(gamma) RIIB-deficient mice results from strain-specific epistasis. *Immunity* (2000) 13(2):277–85. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00027-3
- 46. Kubo T, Uchida Y, Watanabe Y, Abe M, Nakamura A, Ono M, et al. Augmented TLR9-induced Btk activation in PIR-B-deficient B-1 cells provokes excessive autoantibody production and autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(9):1971–82. doi:10.1084/jem.20082392
- Li DH, Winslow MM, Cao TM, Chen AH, Davis CR, Mellins ED, et al. Modulation of peripheral B cell tolerance by CD72 in a murine model. *Arthritis Rheum* (2008) 58(10):3192–204. doi:10.1002/art.23812
- Maeda A, Scharenberg AM, Tsukada S, Bolen JB, Kinet JP, Kurosaki T. Paired immunoglobulin-like receptor B (PIR-B) inhibits BCR-induced activation of Syk and Btk by SHP-1. Oncogene (1999) 18(14):2291–7. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1202552
- Takeshita H, Taniuchi I, Kato J, Watanabe T. Abrogation of autoimmune disease in Lyn-deficient mice by the mutation of the Btk gene. *Int Immunol* (1998) 10(4):435–44. doi:10.1093/intimm/10.4.435
- Satterthwaite AB, Lowell CA, Khan WN, Sideras P, Alt FW, Witte ON. Independent and opposing roles for Btk and lyn in B and myeloid signaling pathways. J Exp Med (1998) 188(5):833–44. doi:10.1084/jem.188.5.833
- Gutierrez T, Halcomb KE, Coughran AJ, Li QZ, Satterthwaite AB. Separate checkpoints regulate splenic plasma cell accumulation and IgG autoantibody production in Lyn-deficient mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(7):1897–905. doi:10.1002/eji.200940043
- Whyburn LR, Halcomb KE, Contreras CM, Lowell CA, Witte ON, Satterthwaite AB. Reduced dosage of Bruton's tyrosine kinase uncouples B cell hyperresponsiveness from autoimmunity in lyn-/- mice. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(4):1850–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.4.1850
- Pisitkun P, Deane JA, Difilippantonio MJ, Tarasenko T, Satterthwaite AB, Bolland S. Autoreactive B cell responses to RNA-related antigens due to TLR7 gene duplication. *Science* (2006) 312(5780):1669–72. doi:10.1126/ science.1124978
- 54. Li T, Tsukada S, Satterthwaite A, Havlik MH, Park H, Takatsu K, et al. Activation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) by a point mutation in its pleckstrin homology (PH) domain. *Immunity* (1995) 2(5):451-60. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90026-8
- 55. Kersseboom R, Kil L, Flierman R, van der Zee M, Dingjan GM, Middendorp S, et al. Constitutive activation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase induces the formation of autoreactive IgM plasma cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(9):2643–54. doi:10.1002/eji.201040521
- 56. Kil LP, de Bruijn MJ, van Nimwegen M, Corneth OB, van Hamburg JP, Dingjan GM, et al. Btk levels set the threshold for B-cell activation and negative selection of autoreactive B cells in mice. *Blood* (2012) 119(16):3744–56. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-12-397919
- Corneth OB, de Bruijn MJ, Rip J, Asmawidjaja PS, Kil LP, Hendriks RW. Enhanced expression of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B cells drives systemic autoimmunity by disrupting T cell homeostasis. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(1):58–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1600208
- Ng YS, Wardemann H, Chelnis J, Cunningham-Rundles C, Meffre E. Bruton's tyrosine kinase is essential for human B cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200(7):927–34. doi:10.1084/jem.20040920
- Dingjan GM, Middendorp S, Dahlenborg K, Maas A, Grosveld F, Hendriks RW. Bruton's tyrosine kinase regulates the activation of gene rearrangements at the lambda light chain locus in precursor B cells in the mouse. *J Exp Med* (2001) 193(10):1169–78. doi:10.1084/jem.193.10.1169

- Schram BR, Tze LE, Ramsey LB, Liu J, Najera L, Vegoe AL, et al. B cell receptor basal signaling regulates antigen-induced Ig light chain rearrangements. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(7):4728–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4728
- Cornall RJ, Cyster JG, Hibbs ML, Dunn AR, Otipoby KL, Clark EA, et al. Polygenic autoimmune traits: Lyn, CD22, and SHP-1 are limiting elements of a biochemical pathway regulating BCR signaling and selection. *Immunity* (1998) 8(4):497–508. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80554-3
- Gross AJ, Lyandres JR, Panigrahi AK, Prak ET, DeFranco AL. Developmental acquisition of the Lyn-CD22-SHP-1 inhibitory pathway promotes B cell tolerance. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(9):5382–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803941
- Nundel K, Busto P, Debatis M, Marshak-Rothstein A. The role of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in the development and BCR/TLR-dependent activation of AM14 rheumatoid factor B cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2013) 94(5):865–75. doi:10.1189/jlb.0313126
- Odendahl M, Jacobi A, Hansen A, Feist E, Hiepe F, Burmester GR, et al. Disturbed peripheral B lymphocyte homeostasis in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol (2000) 165(10):5970–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.10.5970
- Tipton CM, Fucile CF, Darce J, Chida A, Ichikawa T, Gregoretti I, et al. Diversity, cellular origin and autoreactivity of antibody-secreting cell population expansions in acute systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(7):755–65. doi:10.1038/ni.3175
- Bories JC, Willerford DM, Grevin D, Davidson L, Camus A, Martin P, et al. Increased T-cell apoptosis and terminal B-cell differentiation induced by inactivation of the Ets-1 proto-oncogene. *Nature* (1995) 377(6550):635–8. doi:10.1038/377635a0
- Erickson LD, Lin LL, Duan B, Morel L, Noelle RJ. A genetic lesion that arrests plasma cell homing to the bone marrow. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(22):12905–10. doi:10.1073/pnas.2131686100
- Hoyer BF, Moser K, Hauser AE, Peddinghaus A, Voigt C, Eilat D, et al. Short-lived plasmablasts and long-lived plasma cells contribute to chronic humoral autoimmunity in NZB/W mice. J Exp Med (2004) 199(11):1577–84. doi:10.1084/jem.20040168
- Mathian A, Gallegos M, Pascual V, Banchereau J, Koutouzov S. Interferonalpha induces unabated production of short-lived plasma cells in pre-autoimmune lupus-prone (NZBxNZW)F1 mice but not in BALB/c mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(3):863–72. doi:10.1002/eji.201040649
- Tsantikos E, Oracki SA, Quilici C, Anderson GP, Tarlinton DM, Hibbs ML. Autoimmune disease in Lyn-deficient mice is dependent on an inflammatory environment established by IL-6. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(3):1348–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901878
- Wang D, John SA, Clements JL, Percy DH, Barton KP, Garrett-Sinha LA. Ets-1 deficiency leads to altered B cell differentiation, hyperresponsiveness to TLR9 and autoimmune disease. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17(9):1179–91. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh295
- Hibbs ML, Tarlinton DM, Armes J, Grail D, Hodgson G, Maglitto R, et al. Multiple defects in the immune system of Lyn-deficient mice, culminating in autoimmune disease. *Cell* (1995) 83(2):301–11. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90171-X
- 73. Infantino S, Jones SA, Walker JA, Maxwell MJ, Light A, O'Donnell K, et al. The tyrosine kinase Lyn limits the cytokine responsiveness of plasma cells to restrict their accumulation in mice. *Sci Signal* (2014) 7(338):ra77. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2005105
- Nishizumi H, Taniuchi I, Yamanashi Y, Kitamura D, Ilic D, Mori S, et al. Impaired proliferation of peripheral B cells and indication of autoimmune disease in lyn-deficient mice. *Immunity* (1995) 3(5):549–60. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90126-4
- Garaud JC, Schickel JN, Blaison G, Knapp AM, Dembele D, Ruer-Laventie J, et al. B cell signature during inactive systemic lupus is heterogeneous: toward a biological dissection of lupus. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(8):e23900. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0023900
- Luo W, Mayeux J, Gutierrez T, Russell L, Getahun A, Muller J, et al. A balance between B cell receptor and inhibitory receptor signaling controls plasma cell differentiation by maintaining optimal Ets1 levels. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(2):909–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400666
- John SA, Clements JL, Russell LM, Garrett-Sinha LA. Ets-1 regulates plasma cell differentiation by interfering with the activity of the transcription factor Blimp-1. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283(2):951–62. doi:10.1074/jbc. M705262200

- Mayeux J, Skaug B, Luo W, Russell LM, John S, Saelee P, et al. Genetic interaction between Lyn, Ets1, and Btk in the control of antibody levels. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(5):1955–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500165
- Jiang C, Foley J, Clayton N, Kissling G, Jokinen M, Herbert R, et al. Abrogation of lupus nephritis in activation-induced deaminase-deficient MRL/lpr mice. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(11):7422–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.11.7422
- Gutierrez T, Mayeux JM, Ortega SB, Karandikar NJ, Li QZ, Rakheja D, et al. IL-21 promotes the production of anti-DNA IgG but is dispensable for kidney damage in lyn-/- mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43(2):382–93. doi:10.1002/ eji.201142095
- Arkatkar T, Du SW, Jacobs HM, Dam EM, Hou B, Buckner JH, et al. B cell-derived IL-6 initiates spontaneous germinal center formation during systemic autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2017) 214:3207–17. doi:10.1084/jem.20170580
- de Valle E, Grigoriadis G, O'Reilly LA, Willis SN, Maxwell MJ, Corcoran LM, et al. NFkappaB1 is essential to prevent the development of multiorgan autoimmunity by limiting IL-6 production in follicular B cells. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(4):621–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20151182
- Linterman MA, Rigby RJ, Wong RK, Yu D, Brink R, Cannons JL, et al. Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(3):561–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20081886
- Scapini P, Hu Y, Chu CL, Migone TS, Defranco AL, Cassatella MA, et al. Myeloid cells, BAFF, and IFN-gamma establish an inflammatory loop that exacerbates autoimmunity in Lyn-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(8):1757–73. doi:10.1084/jem.20100086
- Domeier PP, Chodisetti SB, Soni C, Schell SL, Elias MJ, Wong EB, et al. IFN-gamma receptor and STAT1 signaling in B cells are central to spontaneous germinal center formation and autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(5):715–32. doi:10.1084/jem.20151722
- Jackson SW, Jacobs HM, Arkatkar T, Dam EM, Scharping NE, Kolhatkar NS, et al. B cell IFN-gamma receptor signaling promotes autoimmune germinal centers via cell-intrinsic induction of BCL-6. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(5):733–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20151724
- Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11(1):34–46. doi:10.1038/nri2901
- Zhong X, Lau S, Bai C, Degauque N, Holodick NE, Steven SJ, et al. A novel subpopulation of B-1 cells is enriched with autoreactivity in normal and lupus-prone mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60(12):3734–43. doi:10.1002/ art.25015
- Mohan C, Morel L, Yang P, Wakeland EK. Accumulation of splenic B1a cells with potent antigen-presenting capability in NZM2410 lupus-prone mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (1998) 41(9):1652–62. doi:10.1002/1529-0131 (199809)41:9<1652::AID-ART17>3.0.CO;2-W
- Ishida D, Su L, Tamura A, Katayama Y, Kawai Y, Wang SF, et al. Rap1 signal controls B cell receptor repertoire and generation of self-reactive B1a cells. *Immunity* (2006) 24(4):417–27. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.02.007
- Chan VW, Meng F, Soriano P, DeFranco AL, Lowell CA. Characterization of the B lymphocyte populations in Lyn-deficient mice and the role of Lyn in signal initiation and down-regulation. *Immunity* (1997) 7(1):69–81. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80511-7
- Hasegawa M, Fujimoto M, Poe JC, Steeber DA, Lowell CA, Tedder TFA. CD19-dependent signaling pathway regulates autoimmunity in Lyn-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(5):2469–78. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167. 5.2469
- Gronwall C, Vas J, Silverman GJ. Protective roles of natural IgM antibodies. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:66. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00066
- Blenman KR, Duan B, Xu Z, Wan S, Atkinson MA, Flotte TR, et al. IL-10 regulation of lupus in the NZM2410 murine model. *Lab Invest* (2006) 86(11):1136–48. doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700468
- Baglaenko Y, Manion KP, Chang NH, Loh C, Lajoie G, Wither JE. Suppression of autoimmunity by CD5(+) IL-10-producing B cells in lupus-prone mice. *Genes Immun* (2015) 16(5):311–20. doi:10.1038/gene.2015.17
- Reap EA, Sobel ES, Jennette JC, Cohen PL, Eisenberg RA. Conventional B cells, not B1 cells, are the source of autoantibodies in chronic graft-versushost disease. *J Immunol* (1993) 151(12):7316–23.
- Kitabatake M, Soma M, Zhang T, Kuwahara K, Fukushima Y, Nojima T, et al. JNK regulatory molecule G5PR induces IgG autoantibody-producing plasmablasts from peritoneal B1a cells. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(4):1480–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401127

- Enghard P, Humrich JY, Chu VT, Grussie E, Hiepe F, Burmester GR, et al. Class switching and consecutive loss of dsDNA-reactive B1a B cells from the peritoneal cavity during murine lupus development. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(6):1809–18. doi:10.1002/eji.200940050
- Chen X, Martin F, Forbush KA, Perlmutter RM, Kearney JF. Evidence for selection of a population of multi-reactive B cells into the splenic marginal zone. *Int Immunol* (1997) 9(1):27–41. doi:10.1093/intimm/9.1.27
- 100. Enzler T, Bonizzi G, Silverman GJ, Otero DC, Widhopf GF, Anzelon-Mills A, et al. Alternative and classical NF-kappa B signaling retain autoreactive B cells in the splenic marginal zone and result in lupus-like disease. *Immunity* (2006) 25(3):403–15. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.010
- Li Y, Li H, Weigert M. Autoreactive B cells in the marginal zone that express dual receptors. *J Exp Med* (2002) 195(2):181–8. doi:10.1084/jem. 20011453
- 102. Wang JH, Wu Q, Yang P, Li H, Li J, Mountz JD, et al. Type I interferon-dependent CD86(high) marginal zone precursor B cells are potent T cell costimulators in mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 63(4):1054–64. doi:10.1002/art.30231
- 103. Duan B, Niu H, Xu Z, Sharpe AH, Croker BP, Sobel ES, et al. Intrafollicular location of marginal zone/CD1d(hi) B cells is associated with autoimmune pathology in a mouse model of lupus. *Lab Invest* (2008) 88(9):1008–20. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2008.62
- 104. Zhou Z, Niu H, Zheng YY, Morel L. Autoreactive marginal zone B cells enter the follicles and interact with CD4+ T cells in lupus-prone mice. BMC Immunol (2011) 12:7. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-12-7
- 105. Seo S, Buckler J, Erikson J. Novel roles for Lyn in B cell migration and lipopolysaccharide responsiveness revealed using anti-double-stranded DNA Ig transgenic mice. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(6):3710–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.166.6.3710
- 106. Amano H, Amano E, Moll T, Marinkovic D, Ibnou-Zekri N, Martinez-Soria E, et al. The Yaa mutation promoting murine lupus causes defective development of marginal zone B cells. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(5):2293–301. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.5.2293
- 107. Kolhatkar NS, Scharping NE, Sullivan JM, Jacobs HM, Schwartz MA, Khim S, et al. B-cell intrinsic TLR7 signals promote depletion of the marginal zone in a murine model of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(10):2773–9. doi:10.1002/eji.201545644
- Martin F, Kearney JF. Positive selection from newly formed to marginal zone B cells depends on the rate of clonal production, CD19, and btk. *Immunity* (2000) 12(1):39–49. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80157-0
- 109. Case JB, Bonami RH, Nyhoff LE, Steinberg HE, Sullivan AM, Kendall PL. Bruton's tyrosine kinase synergizes with Notch2 To govern marginal zone B cells in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(1):61–70. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400803
- 110. Honigberg LA, Smith AM, Sirisawad M, Verner E, Loury D, Chang B, et al. The Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor PCI-32765 blocks B-cell activation and is efficacious in models of autoimmune disease and B-cell malignancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(29):13075–80. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1004594107
- 111. Kim YY, Park KT, Jang SY, Lee KH, Byun JY, Suh KH, et al. HM71224, a selective Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor, attenuates the development of murine lupus. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2017) 19(1):211. doi:10.1186/s13075-017-1402-1
- 112. Mina-Osorio P, LaStant J, Keirstead N, Whittard T, Ayala J, Stefanova S, et al. Suppression of glomerulonephritis in lupus-prone NZB x NZW mice by RN486, a selective inhibitor of Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65(9):2380–91. doi:10.1002/art.38047
- 113. Rankin AL, Seth N, Keegan S, Andreyeva T, Cook TA, Edmonds J, et al. Selective inhibition of BTK prevents murine lupus and antibody-mediated glomerulonephritis. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(9):4540–50. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1301553
- 114. Katewa A, Wang Y, Hackney JA, Huang T, Suto E, Ramamoorthi N, et al. Btk-specific inhibition blocks pathogenic plasma cell signatures and myeloid cell-associated damage in IFNalpha-driven lupus nephritis. *JCI Insight* (2017) 2(7):e90111. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.90111
- 115. Hutcheson J, Vanarsa K, Bashmakov A, Grewal S, Sajitharan D, Chang BY, et al. Modulating proximal cell signaling by targeting Btk ameliorates humoral autoimmunity and end-organ disease in murine lupus. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2012) 14(6):R243. doi:10.1186/ar4086

- Bender AT, Pereira A, Fu K, Samy E, Wu Y, Liu-Bujalski L, et al. Btk inhibition treats TLR7/IFN driven murine lupus. *Clin Immunol* (2016) 164:65–77. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2016.01.012
- 117. Chalmers SA, Doerner J, Bosanac T, Khalil S, Smith D, Harcken C, et al. Therapeutic blockade of immune complex-mediated glomerulonephritis by highly selective inhibition of Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:26164. doi:10.1038/srep26164
- 118. Hartkamp LM, Fine JS, van Es IE, Tang MW, Smith M, Woods J, et al. Btk inhibition suppresses agonist-induced human macrophage activation and inflammatory gene expression in RA synovial tissue explants. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2015) 74(8):1603–11. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204143
- 119. Ren L, Campbell A, Fang H, Gautam S, Elavazhagan S, Fatehchand K, et al. Analysis of the effects of the Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) inhibitor ibrutinib on monocyte Fcgamma receptor (FcgammaR) function. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291(6):3043–52. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.687251
- 120. Tampella G, Kerns HM, Niu D, Singh S, Khim S, Bosch KA, et al. The Tec kinase-regulated phosphoproteome reveals a mechanism for the regulation of inhibitory signals in murine macrophages. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(1):246–56. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1403238
- 121. Ni Gabhann J, Hams E, Smith S, Wynne C, Byrne JC, Brennan K, et al. Btk regulates macrophage polarization in response to lipopolysaccharide. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(1):e85834. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085834
- 122. Ni Gabhann J, Spence S, Wynne C, Smith S, Byrne JC, Coffey B, et al. Defects in acute responses to TLR4 in Btk-deficient mice result in impaired dendritic cell-induced IFN-gamma production by natural killer cells. *Clin Immunol* (2012) 142(3):373–82. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011.12.009
- 123. Koprulu AD, Kastner R, Wienerroither S, Lassnig C, Putz EM, Majer O, et al. The tyrosine kinase Btk regulates the macrophage response to *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(3):e60476. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0060476
- Schmidt NW, Thieu VT, Mann BA, Ahyi AN, Kaplan MH. Bruton's tyrosine kinase is required for TLR-induced IL-10 production. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(10):7203–10. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7203
- 125. Marron TU, Martinez-Gallo M, Yu JE, Cunningham-Rundles C. Toll-like receptor 4-, 7-, and 8-activated myeloid cells from patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia produce enhanced inflammatory cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2012) 129(1):184–90.e1–4. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.10.009
- Marron TU, Rohr K, Martinez-Gallo M, Yu J, Cunningham-Rundles C. TLR signaling and effector functions are intact in XLA neutrophils. *Clin Immunol* (2010) 137(1):74–80. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2010.06.011
- 127. Ormsby T, Schlecker E, Ferdin J, Tessarz AS, Angelisova P, Koprulu AD, et al. Btk is a positive regulator in the TREM-1/DAP12 signaling pathway. *Blood* (2011) 118(4):936–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-11-317016
- 128. Kawakami Y, Inagaki N, Salek-Ardakani S, Kitaura J, Tanaka H, Nagao K, et al. Regulation of dendritic cell maturation and function by Bruton's tyrosine kinase via IL-10 and Stat3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2006) 103(1):153–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509784103
- 129. Sochorova K, Horvath R, Rozkova D, Litzman J, Bartunkova J, Sediva A, et al. Impaired toll-like receptor 8-mediated IL-6 and TNF-alpha production in antigen-presenting cells from patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Blood* (2007) 109(6):2553–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-07-037960
- 130. Gagliardi MC, Finocchi A, Orlandi P, Cursi L, Cancrini C, Moschese V, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase defect in dendritic cells from X-linked agammaglobulinaemia patients does not influence their differentiation, maturation and antigen-presenting cell function. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2003) 133(1):115–22. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2003.t01-1-02178.x
- 131. Horwood NJ, Mahon T, McDaid JP, Campbell J, Mano H, Brennan FM, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase is required for lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha production. *J Exp Med* (2003) 197(12):1603–11. doi:10.1084/jem.20021845
- 132. Horwood NJ, Page TH, McDaid JP, Palmer CD, Campbell J, Mahon T, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase is required for TLR2 and TLR4-induced TNF, but not IL-6, production. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(6):3635–41. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.176.6.3635
- 133. Honda F, Kano H, Kanegane H, Nonoyama S, Kim ES, Lee SK, et al. The kinase Btk negatively regulates the production of reactive oxygen species and stimulation-induced apoptosis in human neutrophils. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(4):369–78. doi:10.1038/ni.2234

- 134. Fiedler K, Sindrilaru A, Terszowski G, Kokai E, Feyerabend TB, Bullinger L, et al. Neutrophil development and function critically depend on Bruton tyrosine kinase in a mouse model of X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Blood* (2011) 117(4):1329–39. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-04-281170
- 135. Lopez-HerreraG, Vargas-HernandezA, Gonzalez-SerranoME, Berron-RuizL, Rodriguez-Alba JC, Espinosa-Rosales F, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase – an integral protein of B cell development that also has an essential role in the innate immune system. *J Leukoc Biol* (2014) 95(2):243–50. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0513307
- 136. Nyhoff LE, Barron BL, Johnson EM, Bonami RH, Maseda D, Fensterheim BA, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase deficiency inhibits autoimmune arthritis in mice but fails to block immune complex-mediated inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68(8):1856–68. doi:10.1002/art.39657
- 137. Dubovsky JA, Beckwith KA, Natarajan G, Woyach JA, Jaglowski S, Zhong Y, et al. Ibrutinib is an irreversible molecular inhibitor of ITK driving a Th1-selective pressure in T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2013) 122(15):2539–49. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-06-507947
- Corneth OBJ, Verstappen GMP, Paulissen SMJ, de Bruijn MJW, Rip J, Lukkes M, et al. Enhanced Bruton's tyrosine kinase activity in peripheral blood B lymphocytes from patients with autoimmune disease. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69(6):1313–24. doi:10.1002/art.40059
- 139. Wang SP, Iwata S, Nakayamada S, Niiro H, Jabbarzadeh-Tabrizi S, Kondo M, et al. Amplification of IL-21 signalling pathway through Bruton's tyrosine kinase in human B cell activation. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2015) 54(8):1488–97. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu532
- 140. Kong W, Deng W, Sun Y, Huang S, Zhang Z, Shi B, et al. Increased expression of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in peripheral blood is associated with lupus nephritis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 37(1):43–9. doi:10.1007/s10067-017-3717-3
- 141. Wu XN, Ye YX, Niu JW, Li Y, Li X, You X, et al. Defective PTEN regulation contributes to B cell hyperresponsiveness in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(246):246ra99. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3009131
- 142. Satterthwaite AB, Willis F, Kanchanastit P, Fruman D, Cantley LC, Helgason CD, et al. A sensitized genetic system for the analysis of murine B lymphocyte signal transduction pathways dependent on Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97(12):6687–92. doi:10.1073/pnas. 110146697
- 143. International Consortium for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Genetics (SLEGEN), Harley JB, Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Criswell LA, Jacob CO, Kimberly RP, et al. Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. Nat Genet (2008) 40(2):204–10. doi:10.1038/ng.81
- 144. Lu R, Vidal GS, Kelly JA, Delgado-Vega AM, Howard XK, Macwana SR, et al. Genetic associations of LYN with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes Immun* (2009) 10(5):397–403. doi:10.1038/gene.2009.19
- 145. Liossis SN, Solomou EE, Dimopoulos MA, Panayiotidis P, Mavrikakis MM, Sfikakis PP. B-cell kinase lyn deficiency in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Investig Med (2001) 49(2):157–65. doi:10.2310/6650.2001.34042
- 146. Flores-Borja F, Kabouridis PS, Jury EC, Isenberg DA, Mageed RA. Decreased Lyn expression and translocation to lipid raft signaling domains in B lymphocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52(12):3955–65. doi:10.1002/art.21416
- 147. Liu Y, Dong J, Mu R, Gao Y, Tan X, Li Y, et al. MicroRNA-30a promotes B cell hyperactivity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus by direct interaction with Lyn. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65(6):1603–11. doi:10.1002/ art.37912
- 148. Manjarrez-Orduno N, Marasco E, Chung SA, Katz MS, Kiridly JF, Simpfendorfer KR, et al. CSK regulatory polymorphism is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus and influences B-cell signaling and activation. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44(11):1227–30. doi:10.1038/ng.2439
- Garrett-Sinha LA, Kearly A, Satterthwaite AB. The role of the transcription factor Ets1 in lupus and other autoimmune diseases. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2016) 36(6):485–510. doi:10.1615/CritRevImmunol.2017020284
- Crofford LJ, Nyhoff LE, Sheehan JH, Kendall PL. The role of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in autoimmunity and implications for therapy. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2016) 12(7):763–73. doi:10.1586/1744666X.2016.1152888
- 151. Joseph RE, Wales TE, Fulton DB, Engen JR, Andreotti AH. Achieving a graded immune response: BTK adopts a range of active/inactive

conformations dictated by multiple interdomain contacts. *Structure* (2017) 25(10):1481.e-94.e. doi:10.1016/j.str.2017.07.014

- Wang Y, Zhang LL, Champlin RE, Wang ML. Targeting Bruton's tyrosine kinase with ibrutinib in B-cell malignancies. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (2015) 97(5):455–68. doi:10.1002/cpt.85
- 153. Smith MR. Ibrutinib in B lymphoid malignancies. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* (2015) 16(12):1879–87. doi:10.1517/14656566.2015.1067302
- 154. Byrd JC, Harrington B, O'Brien S, Jones JA, Schuh A, Devereux S, et al. Acalabrutinib (ACP-196) in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2016) 374(4):323–32. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1509981
- Wu J, Zhang M, Liu D. Acalabrutinib (ACP-196): a selective second-generation BTK inhibitor. J Hematol Oncol (2016) 9:21. doi:10.1186/s13045-016-0250-9
- 156. Aw A, Brown JR. Current status of Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor development and use in B-cell malignancies. *Drugs Aging* (2017) 34(7):509–27. doi:10.1007/s40266-017-0468-4

 Tang CPS, McMullen J, Tam C. Cardiac side effects of Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) inhibitors. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2017):1–11. doi:10.1080/10428194.2017. 1375110

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer ET and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Satterthwaite. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Control of Human T and B Cell Responses

Elissa K. Deenick^{1,2*}, Simon J. Pelham^{1,2}, Alisa Kane^{1,2,3,4} and Cindy S. Ma^{1,2}

¹ Immunology Division, Garvan Institute of Medical Research, Darlinghurst, NSW, Australia, ²St Vincent's Clinical School, UNSW Sydney, Darlinghurst, NSW, Australia, ³ Department of Immunology and Allergy, Liverpool Hospital, Liverpool, NSW, Australia, ⁴ South Western Sydney Clinical School, UNSW Sydney, Liverpool, NSW, Australia

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) is a transcription factor that is activated downstream of many key cytokine receptors expressed by lymphocytes. As such, it plays a critical role in regulating B cells as well as CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Patients with clinically significant immunodeficiency and immune dysregulation resulting from loss-of-function or gain-of-function mutations in STAT3 have been described. These individuals provide insight into the critical role of this transcription factor in the regulation of immune responses and the balance between effective immune protection and autoimmunity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Plebani, University of Brescia, Italy Andrew L. Snow, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, United States

> *Correspondence: Elissa K. Deenick e.deenick@garvan.org.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 December 2017 Accepted: 19 January 2018 Published: 07 February 2018

Citation:

Deenick EK, Pelham SJ, Kane A and Ma CS (2018) Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Control of Human T and B Cell Responses. Front. Immunol. 9:168. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00168 Keywords: signal transducer and activator of transcription 3, T cells, B cells, immunodeficiency, immune dysregulation

INTRODUCTION

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) is a transcription factor that is activated downstream of a large range of cell surface receptors. It forms part of a family of proteins that also includes STAT1, 2, 4, 5A, 5B, and 6, which are activated in a similar manner downstream of surface receptors. Binding of their ligand by these receptors, leads to the activation of receptor-associated Janus activating kinases (JAKs). The activated JAKs then phosphorylate the receptor providing docking sites for STATs, which in turn become tyrosine phosphorylated. This leads to the formation of homodimers or heterodimers, followed by translocation to the nucleus where the dimers bind to DNA and induce transcription of a broad range of target genes (1, 2).

Importantly, many of the cytokine receptors that lead to STAT3 activation are expressed by lymphocytes including those for IL-6, IL-10, IL-21, IL-23, and IFNs. The critical role of STAT3 in lymphocyte biology was highlighted by the discovery that loss-of-function (LOF) mutations in *STAT3* cause the primary immunodeficiency autosomal dominant hyper IgE syndrome (AD-HIES), which is characterized by defects in both T and B cells (3, 4). More recently, gain-of-function (GOF) mutations in *STAT3* were also identified, this time in patients who presented with early onset autoimmunity as well as immunodeficiency (5–7). These diseases demonstrate that STAT3 plays a central role in regulation of immune responses.

IMMUNODEFICIENCY CAUSED BY STAT3LOF MUTATIONS

Autosomal dominant hyper IgE syndrome was first described about 50 years ago, but it was not until 2007 that two groups demonstrated that it is caused by heterozygous LOF mutations in *STAT3* (3, 4). AD-HIES is characterized by a range of immunological manifestations including elevated IgE, eczema, chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis (CMC), recurrent staphylococcal infections, and pneumonias. Patients also display non-immunological manifestations such as joint hyperextensibility,

14

facial dysmorphism, and retention of primary teeth (8). Since the initial description over 89 disease-causing mutations in STAT3 have been reported and are found distributed throughout the STAT3 molecule (9, 10). These mutations all lead to the same clinical phenotype, presumably because while different mutations impair signaling at different stages, they all impair the ability of STAT3 to bind to DNA and induce gene transcription (11). It should be noted that due to the dimerization step in the STAT3 signaling pathway these heterozygous mutations in STAT3 work in a dominant negative manner. That is, in patient cells, 75% of STAT3 dimers would contain at least one LOF STAT3 molecule and thus be dysfuctional, leaving only 25% of dimers functioning normally (3, 4). Thus, AD-HIES results in severely compromised, but not completely ablated, STAT3 signaling. This 25% of residual STAT3 function is presumably critical for survival as germline deletion of Stat3 in mice is embryonically lethal (12).

IMMUNE DYSREGULATION CAUSED BY STAT3^{GOF} MUTATIONS

More recently, patients with heterozygous GOF mutations in *STAT3* have also been described (5–7). These patients present with early onset autoimmunity and/or lymphoproliferation. The range of autoimmune manifestations is broad and includes cytopenias, type I diabetes, enteropathy, scleroderma, arthritis, and thyroid disease (5–7). However, many of these patients were also reported to suffer from recurrent or severe infections as well as hypogammaglobulinemia (6, 7) suggesting concurrent immunodeficiency. Overall, the clinical phenotype of the patients has been found to be quite variable and unaffected family members who carried STAT3^{GOF} mutations have also been identified suggesting there is incomplete disease penetrance and that other factors influence the pathogenicity of the mutations (7, 13).

The molecular mechanism that results in GOF from these germline mutations has not been extensively characterized; however, the varied patient phenotype suggests there may be more divergence in mechanism than is observed with LOF mutations. It has been observed that most disease causing GOF mutations do not alter phosphorylation; however, these mutations generally lead to increased transcriptional activity of STAT3 target genes in unstimulated and/or stimulated cells (6, 7). This in turn leads to upregulation of STAT3 target genes such as SOCS3 (7). Interestingly, SOCS3 can regulate the activation of STAT family members, and cells from these patients were found to have reduced STAT5 phosphorylation in response to IL-2, and STAT1 phosphorylation in response to IFNy (7). Moreover, some of the symptoms of STAT3^{GOF} patients are similar to those observed in STAT5b LOF patients (14) suggesting that reduced STAT5 activation may partially explain the phenotype (discussed below).

THE ROLE OF STAT3 IN B CELLS

Multiple findings in patients with dysregulated STAT3 function point to a role for STAT3 in regulating human B cells responses. For example, although patients with STAT3^{LOF} mutations have relatively normal levels of total serum IgM, IgG, and IgA, they have elevated levels of serum IgE, defects in antigen specific antibody responses and reduced memory B cells (8, 15-19). Further, the STAT3-activating cytokines IL-21, and to a lesser extent IL-10, are potent B cell activators. In combination with CD40L, IL-21 and IL-10 are capable of inducing the proliferation, class switching, and differentiation of human B cells (19, 20). Interestingly, some, but not all, of the actions of IL-21 and IL-10 were found to be disrupted in B cells from AD-HIES patients. Specifically, STAT3^{LOF} naïve B cells were unable to differentiate into antibody secreting cells in response to CD40L and IL-21 (19, 21) and failed to upregulate key transcriptional regulators of the plasma cell program such as BLIMP-1 and XBP-1 (19, 21). In contrast, IL-21 was able to induce normal levels of switching to IgG from naïve STAT3^{LOF} B cells and could stimulate increased levels of proliferation from these cells compared to cultures with CD40L alone, albeit lower than what was observed in naive B cells from healthy controls responding to CD40L and IL-21 (19). This decreased proliferation/expansion could at least partially be attributed to an increase in cell death (19). It must be remembered, however, that these patient cells retain 25% STAT3 activity so it unclear whether the responses to IL-21 that are preserved reflect STAT3independent effects of IL-21 or the function of the residual STAT3. Some insight can be gained from mouse models of B cell specific deletion of Stat3 in which all STAT3 function is ablated in these cells. These models showed relatively normal switching to IgG (22, 23) but decreased expansion and/or maintenance of B cells to a T cell-dependent antigen resulting in fewer germinal center B cells (23, 24). Further STAT3 deficiency also resulted in a defect in affinity maturation (23) although cells still underwent somatic hypermutation (19, 23). Together these studies reveal that STAT3 is required in naïve B cells to induce plasma cell formation, survival, and expansion of responding B cells but not for regulating switching to IgG. Interestingly, the small number of memory cells that do emerge in patients with STAT3^{LOF} can respond normally to IL-21 to form antibody-secreting cells (21). This demonstrates that naïve and memory B cells have differential requirements for STAT3, which may have important implications for attempts to target the STAT3 pathway therapeutically.

Confirmation of the critical role of IL-21 upstream of STAT3 was provided by the identification of patients with LOF mutation in IL21R and IL21. These patients displayed similar B cell defects to those with LOF STAT3 mutations such as reduced memory B cells, poor responses to vaccination, and elevated levels of IgE (21, 25-28). This clearly demonstrates the importance of the IL-21/STAT3 signaling axis in human B cell function. However, the exact molecular mechanism that leads to decreased memory cells and increased IgE is still unclear. Interestingly, a study of a patient with somatic mosaicism of the STAT3 mutation has shown that STAT3^{LOF} cells did not generate memory CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells but the mutation was present in memory B cells, suggesting that there was an intrinsic requirement for STAT3 in T cells but not B cells for the generation of memory (29). Thus, it may be that the decrease in memory B cells is secondary to aberrant function of other cell types such as T follicular helper (Tfh) cells (discussed below).

B cells can influence immune responses through their role in antigen presentation and the production of cytokines. IL-10 produced by B cells has been implicated in a regulatory role in immune responses (30). Interestingly, STAT3^{LOF} B cells have been shown to produce less IL-10 following stimulation, than normal controls (31) suggesting that this regulatory function of B cells may also be altered.

Given this critical role of IL-21/STAT3 in B cell differentiation, it might be predicted that STAT3^{GOF} patients would exhibit increased B cell activity. Surprisingly, however, some of these patients seem to display hallmarks of B cell dysfunction such as hypogammaglobulinemia and decreased switched memory B cells (6, 7). Conversely, many of these patients seem to display antibody-mediated autoimmunity suggesting that B cell tolerance is disturbed (5–7). Unfortunately, little functional work has been done on B cells from these patients so it remains unclear if there are B cell intrinsic effects of STAT3 over activation or whether this is secondary to defects in other cells such as Tfh cells or regulatory T cells (Tregs) (discussed below).

THE ROLE OF STAT3 IN CD4+ T CELLS

Naive CD4⁺ T cells are able differentiate into distinct effector subsets that play specific roles in the immune response. These subsets include Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17, Th22, Tfh cells, and Tregs. The differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells is determined by the cytokine milieu at the time of activation and numerous STAT3-signaling cytokines have been implicated in this process (32, 33). Analysis of patients with *STAT3* mutations has provided key insights into the role of STAT3 in controlling these processes.

Th17

The differentiation of human Th17 cells is controlled by the action of several STAT3-activating cytokines including IL-6, IL-21, and IL-23 (34-36). Analysis of AD-HIES patients revealed a deficiency in Th17 cells in the blood of these patients as measured by expression of CCR6 and the production of IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 (28, 37-40). Furthermore, STAT3^{LOF} naïve CD4⁺ T cells from these patients fail to differentiate into IL-17-expressing cells in vitro (38, 41). Together, this not only demonstrates an essential requirement for STAT3 signaling in the generation of human Th17 cells but also provides an explanation for the CMC observed in AD-HIES patients as IL-17-mediated immunity is crucial for control of candida infections (42, 43). Interestingly, patients with GOF mutations in STAT1 also display defects in the generation of Th17 cells and susceptibility to candida infections demonstrating that balanced STAT1/STAT3 signaling is required for generation of these cells (41, 44, 45). On the other hand, patients with STAT3^{GOF} were not found to have increased IL-17-expressing CD4⁺ T cells suggesting that, while STAT3 is required for the generation of these cells, over activation alone is not sufficient to drive Th17 differentiation (6, 7). However, more detailed analysis of these STAT3GOF CD4+ T cells may be required to definitively conclude this as some patients may have increased Th17 cells (46).

Th1/Th2

In contrast to Th17 cells, the generation of human Th1 and Th2 is thought to act primarily through IL-12/STAT4 and

IL-4/STAT6 signaling, respectively (32, 33). Consistent with this, generation of these populations was found to be largely STAT3-independent, as shown by normal frequencies of CXCR3⁺CCR6⁻ and CXCR3⁻CCR6⁻ and IFN γ -producing and IL-4, IL-5, IL-13-producing cells, respectively, in AD-HIES patients (28, 37, 38). Similarly, naïve CD4⁺T cells from STAT3^{LOF} patients could differentiate into Th1 or Th2 cells when cultured under the relevant polarizing conditions (41, 47). Interestingly, IFN γ expression tended to be increased in STAT3-deficient CD4⁺T cells (28, 41), suggesting STAT3 signaling may inhibit Th1 cell differentiation.

Th9

Human Th9 cells develop in the presence of TGFβ and IL-4 (48, 49); however, they can also be induced by the addition of TGF_β to Th17 polarizing conditions (i.e., IL-1β/IL-6/IL-21/ IL-23) (48), suggesting STAT3 may be involved in Th9 cell differentiation. Consistent with this, addition of IL-6, IL-10, or IL-21 to Th9 polarizing conditions enhanced IL-9 expression (50). In contrast, IL-27 partially suppressed TGFB and IL-4-induced IL-9 expression (50). Since IL-6, IL-10, IL-21, and IL-27 are capable of activating both STAT1 and STAT3, further investigation is required to determine if the regulation of IL-9 production by these cytokines results from both STATs, or whether one STAT has a dominant function in regulating IL-9 production. However, one paper found that IL-9 production in responses to candida antigens was decreased in patients with STAT3^{LOF} mutations (51) suggesting that STAT3 may be important, at least under some conditions, for the induction of IL-9.

Tfh

Like Th17 differentiation, the generation of human Tfh cells is driven by numerous STAT3-ativating cytokines, namely IL-6, IL-12, IL-21, and IL-27. Consistent with a requirement for STAT3 to induce this differentiation program, patients with STAT3^{LOF} have a reduction in circulating CXCR5⁺ Tfh cells (28, 52, 53), and naïve STAT3^{LOF} CD4⁺ T cells failed to differentiate in vitro into IL-21-producing Tfh-like cells (41, 52, 54). The role of STAT3 in differentiation and/or function of Tfh cells has also been demonstrated in mouse studies of Stat3-deficient T cells (55-59). However, the degree to which Stat3 is required seems to be dependent on the presence of other signals such as STAT1 and type 1 IFNs as well as the site of the immune response (57, 59, 60). This defect in Tfh cells in AD-HIES would contribute to impaired humoral immunity in these patients and potentially to the deficiency in memory B cells. In vitro, IL-12 was found to be the main driver of IL-21-producing cells (61, 62), but since patients with defects in IL-12R signaling do not present with impaired humoral immunity (63–65), it is likely that the other STAT3-dependent cytokines IL-6, IL-21, and/or IL-27 plays a redundant role in this process in vivo. Consistent with this, IL-6 and IL-21 were found to induce ICOS expression in cord blood CD4⁺ T cells in a STAT3-dependent manner (53, 66), and patients with mutations in IL21/IL21R show defects in Tfh cell development and function (28, 41).

REGULATORY T CELL

Studies in mice have suggested that IL-6/STAT3 signaling inhibits Treg differentiation inasmuch as Stat3-/- CD4+ T cells stimulated under Th17 conditions (TGF- β^+ IL-6 in mice) showed decreased Th17 differentiation and increased Treg differentiation (67-69). However, normal frequencies of Tregs (defined as CD25^{hi}CD127^{lo} or FoxP3⁺) were reported in AD-HIES patients (28, 38, 47) and Tregs from these patients displayed normal suppressive behavior in vitro (47), suggesting STAT3 was somewhat redundant in controlling the generation of human Tregs. On the other hand, a recent study demonstrated that naïve CD4+ T cells from STAT3^{LOF} patients showed an increased propensity to develop into iTregs in culture (70). CD4⁺ T cells from these patients have also been reported to display a defect in IL-10 production (28, 38, 41) and DCs from STAT3-deficient patients failed to induce Tregs from naïve CD4⁺ T cells (47). Thus, it may be that in these patients the increased propensity of STAT3^{LOF} CD4⁺ to form induced Tregs is compensated for by the reduced ability of STAT3^{LOF} dendritic cells to induce them.

Indeed, patients with STAT3^{GOF} mutations much more clearly demonstrate a role for STAT3 in the regulation of Tregs. As discussed above, these patients display early onset autoimmunity that is reminiscent of patients with Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked (IPEX) syndrome, which is caused by mutations in *FoxP3* leading to a loss of Treg function (71). These overlapping clinical phenotypes suggested that STAT3^{GOF} patients also have dysfunctional Tregs. Consistent with this, they were found to have lower percentage of FoxP3⁺ cells in their blood and lower CD25 expression on their Tregs (7). This is thought to be due to increased SOCS3 levels that inhibit the activation of STAT5 downstream of IL-2 (7).

Studies in mice have now demonstrated that there are different populations of Tregs that seem to be specialized for inhibiting particular T-helper populations (72). Thus, a population of Treg cells that express CCR6 and are specialized for suppressing Th17 cells has been described. These "Treg17" cells, like the Th17 cells they suppress, were found to be dependent on STAT3 signaling (73). AD-HIES patients were also shown to have decreased CCR6⁺ Tregs suggesting that human "Treg17" cells may also exist and be dependent on STAT3 (74).



Taken together, these data suggest STAT3 plays a complex role in the regulation of Treg responses and care should be taken in targeting this pathway as a means of regulating Treg responses.

THE ROLE OF STAT3 IN CD8+ T CELLS

STAT3 activating cytokines such as IL-21 also play a role in regulating CD8⁺ T cells. Studies on STAT3^{LOF} CD8⁺ T cells showed they had impaired induction of perforin and granzyme B in response to IL-21; however, this could be rescued by strong TCR ligation (75). In contrast, proliferation induced by IL-21 was not affected in naïve STAT3^{LOF} CD8⁺ T cells (75). STAT3 deficiency, however, did result in reduced memory CD8⁺ T cells (29, 75), an effect that was shown to be cell intrinsic (29). IL-21R patients also showed decreases in memory CD8⁺ T cell populations suggesting that IL-21 may be a cytokine upstream of STAT3 that contributes to the maintenance of memory cells (75). Patients with AD-HIES also show increased susceptibility to reactivation of viruses such as EBV and VZV (29) indicating that STAT3^{LOF} CD8⁺ T cells may be defective in their ability to control these chronic infections.

STAT3 IN AUTOIMMUNITY

STAT3^{GOF} patients provide a clear demonstration that STAT3 plays an important role in controlling autoimmunity. However, previous evidence from other disease states had already indicated that STAT3 played an important role in the regulation of autoimmunity. In particular, multiple studies have associated polymorphisms in *STAT3* with various autoimmune conditions including Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, psoriasis, and Behcet's disease (76–78). Furthermore, many of the cell populations that STAT3 can induce (**Figure 1**) have been implicated in driving autoimmunity; this includes Tfh cells and B cells, which support autoantibody production and Th9 and Th17 cells, can produce potentially damaging cytokines (79, 80). Conversely, STAT3 can inhibit Tregs, which act to restrain destructive immune responses.

REFERENCES

- O'Shea JJ, Holland SM, Staudt LM. JAKs and STATs in immunity, immunodeficiency, and cancer. N Engl J Med (2013) 368(2):161–70. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra1202117
- Shuai K, Liu B. Regulation of JAK-STAT signalling in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(11):900–11. doi:10.1038/nri1226
- Holland SM, DeLeo FR, Elloumi HZ, Hsu AP, Uzel G, Brodsky N, et al. STAT3 mutations in the hyper-IgE syndrome. N Engl J Med (2007) 357(16):1608–19. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa073687
- Minegishi Y, Saito M, Tsuchiya S, Tsuge I, Takada H, Hara T, et al. Dominantnegative mutations in the DNA-binding domain of STAT3 cause hyper-IgE syndrome. *Nature* (2007) 448(7157):1058–62. doi:10.1038/nature06096
- Flanagan SE, Haapaniemi E, Russell MA, Caswell R, Lango Allen H, De Franco E, et al. Activating germline mutations in STAT3 cause early-onset multi-organ autoimmune disease. *Nat Genet* (2014) 46(8):812–4. doi:10.1038/ng.3040
- Haapaniemi EM, Kaustio M, Rajala HLM, van Adrichem AJ, Kainulainen L, Glumoff V, et al. Autoimmunity, hypogammaglobulinemia, lymphoproliferation, and mycobacterial disease in patients with activating mutations in STAT3. *Blood* (2015) 125(4):639–48. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-04-570101

Interestingly, somatic STAT3^{GOF} mutations have been reported in large granular lymphocytic (LGL) leukemia (81, 82) and are associated with higher rates of autoimmune complications such as rheumatoid arthritis and autoimmune cytopenias (81–83). As these LGL leukemias are of either CD8⁺ T cell or NK cell origin, this suggests that STAT3 overactivation in CD8⁺ T cells or NK cells alone may be sufficient to drive autoimmunity, possibly by inducing the production of cytokines/inflammatory mediators (84).

Taken together, these data are consistent with a role for STAT3 in promoting autoimmunity; however, STAT3 is also likely to play a role in inhibiting damaging responses downstream of IL-10. Indeed, germline LOF mutations in the genes coding for IL-10 or IL-10R are a major cause of early onset inflammatory bowel disease (85), demonstrating a critical requirement for IL-10 signaling (presumably through STAT3) to maintain tolerance in the bowel.

It remains unclear which of these many roles of STAT3 in multiple cell types underlies the phenotype in STAT3^{GOF} patients. Certainly, the similarities with IPEX (71, 86) point to a clear role of Tregs in the phenotype; however, contributions from other pathways are also likely to make contributions. Further research will help clarify this and in turn pave the way for targeted treatments for both rare patients with STAT3^{GOF} mutations as well as patients who suffer from autoimmunity more generally.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ED, SP, AK, and CM wrote and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants awarded by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) of Australia (grant nos. 1127157, 1108800, 1088215, and 1027400 to ED and CM). AK was supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council Postgraduate scholarship (1038881). CM is supported by a fellowship from NSW Ministry of Health under the NSW Health Early-Mid Career Fellowships Scheme. SP is supported by an Australian Postgraduate Award.

- Milner JD, Vogel TP, Forbes L, Ma CA, Stray-Pedersen A, Niemela JE, et al. Early-onset lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity caused by germline STAT3 gain-of-function mutations. *Blood* (2015) 125(4):591–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2014-09-602763
- Chandesris M-O, Melki I, Natividad A, Puel A, Fieschi C, Yun L, et al. Autosomal dominant STAT3 deficiency and hyper-IgE syndrome: molecular, cellular, and clinical features from a French national survey. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*) (2012) 91(4):e1–19. doi:10.1097/MD.0b013e31825f95b9
- Vogel TP, Milner JD, Cooper MA. The Ying and Yang of STAT3 in human disease. J Clin Immunol (2015) 35(7):615–23. doi:10.1007/s10875-015-0187-8
- Chandrasekaran P, Zimmerman O, Paulson M, Sampaio EP, Freeman AF, Sowerwine KJ, et al. Distinct mutations at the same positions of STAT3 cause either loss or gain of function. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2016) 138(4):1222–4. e2. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2016.05.007
- Pelham SJ, Lenthall HC, Deenick EK, Tangye SG. Elucidating the effects of diseasecausing mutations on STAT3 function in autosomal-dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2016) 138(4):1210–3.e5. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2016.04.020
- 12. Takeda K, Noguchi K, Shi W, Tanaka T, Matsumoto M, Yoshida N, et al. Targeted disruption of the mouse Stat3 gene leads to early embryonic

lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1997) 94(8):3801-4. doi:10.1073/pnas.94. 8.3801

- Forbes LR, Milner J, Haddad E. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3: a year in review. *Curr Opin Hematol* (2016) 23(1):23–7. doi:10.1097/ MOH.000000000000206
- Hwa V. STAT5B deficiency: impacts on human growth and immunity. Growth Horm IGF Res (2016) 28:16–20. doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2015.12.006
- Dreskin SC, Goldsmith PK, Gallin JI. Immunoglobulins in the hyperimmunoglobulin E and recurrent infection (Job's) syndrome. Deficiency of anti-*Staphylococcus aureus* immunoglobulin A. *J Clin Invest* (1985) 75(1):26–34. doi:10.1172/JCI111683
- Leung DY, Ambrosino DM, Arbeit RD, Newton JL, Geha RS. Impaired antibody responses in the hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol (1988) 81(6):1082–7. doi:10.1016/0091-6749(88)90873-1
- Sheerin KA, Buckley RH. Antibody responses to protein, polysaccharide, and phi X174 antigens in the hyperimmunoglobulinemia E (hyper-IgE) syndrome. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (1991) 87(4):803–11. doi:10.1016/0091-6749 (91)90126-9
- Meyer-Bahlburg A, Renner ED, Rylaarsdam S, Reichenbach J, Schimke LF, Marks A, et al. Heterozygous signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 mutations in hyper-IgE syndrome result in altered B-cell maturation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 129(2):559–62, 562.e1–2. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011. 09.017
- Avery DT, Deenick EK, Ma CS, Suryani S, Simpson N, Chew GY, et al. B cell-intrinsic signaling through IL-21 receptor and STAT3 is required for establishing long-lived antibody responses in humans. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(1):155–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20091706
- Bryant VL, Ma CS, Avery DT, Li Y, Good KL, Corcoran LM, et al. Cytokinemediated regulation of human B cell differentiation into Ig-secreting cells: predominant role of IL-21 produced by CXCR5+ T follicular helper cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(12):8180–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8180
- Deenick EK, Avery DT, Chan A, Berglund LJ, Ives ML, Moens L, et al. Naive and memory human B cells have distinct requirements for STAT3 activation to differentiate into antibody-secreting plasma cells. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(12):2739–53. doi:10.1084/jem.20130323
- 22. Fornek JL, Tygrett LT, Waldschmidt TJ, Poli V, Rickert RC, Kansas GS. Critical role for Stat3 in T-dependent terminal differentiation of IgG B cells. *Blood* (2006) 107(3):1085–91. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-07-2871
- Kane A, Lau A, Brink R, Tangye SG, Deenick EK. B-cell-specific STAT3 deficiency: insight into the molecular basis of autosomal-dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2016) 138(5):1455–8.e3. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2016.05.018
- Ding C, Chen X, Dascani P, Hu X, Bolli R, Zhang H-G, et al. STAT3 signaling in B cells is critical for germinal center maintenance and contributes to the pathogenesis of murine models of lupus. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(11):4477–86. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502043
- Salzer E, Kansu A, Sic H, Májek P, Ikinciogullari A, Dogu FE, et al. Earlyonset inflammatory bowel disease and common variable immunodeficiencylike disease caused by IL-21 deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2014) 133(6):1651–9.e12. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2014.02.034
- Kotlarz D, Ziętara N, Milner JD, Klein C. Human IL-21 and IL-21R deficiencies: two novel entities of primary immunodeficiency. *Curr Opin Pediatr* (2014) 26(6):704–12. doi:10.1097/MOP.000000000000160
- Kotlarz D, Ziętara N, Uzel G, Weidemann T, Braun CJ, Diestelhorst J, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in the IL-21 receptor gene cause a primary immunodeficiency syndrome. J Exp Med (2013) 210(3):433–43. doi:10.1084/ jem.20111229
- Ma CS, Wong N, Rao G, Avery DT, Torpy J, Hambridge T, et al. Monogenic mutations differentially affect the quantity and quality of T follicular helper cells in patients with human primary immunodeficiencies. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2015) 136(4):993–1006.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2015.05.036
- Siegel AM, Heimall J, Freeman AF, Hsu AP, Brittain E, Brenchley JM, et al. A critical role for STAT3 transcription factor signaling in the development and maintenance of human T cell memory. *Immunity* (2011) 35(5):806–18. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.016
- Tedder TF. B10 cells: a functionally defined regulatory B cell subset. J Immunol (2015) 194(4):1395–401. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401329
- 31. Berglund LJ, Avery DT, Ma CS, Moens L, Deenick EK, Bustamante J, et al. IL-21 signalling via STAT3 primes human naive B cells to respond to IL-2 to

enhance their differentiation into plasmablasts. *Blood* (2013) 122(24):3940–50. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-06-506865

- O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) 327(5969):1098–102. doi:10.1126/ science.1178334
- Tangye SG, Ma CS, Brink R, Deenick EK. The good, the bad and the ugly TFH cells in human health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(6):412–26. doi:10.1038/nri3447
- Acosta-Rodríguez EV, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, et al. Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(6):639–46. doi:10.1038/ni1467
- Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, et al. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17producing helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):950–7. doi:10.1038/ni1497
- 36. Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, et al. T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors RORα and RORγ. *Immunity* (2008) 28(1):29–39. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.11.016
- Milner JD, Brenchley JM, Laurence A, Freeman AF, Hill BJ, Elias KM, et al. Impaired T(H)17 cell differentiation in subjects with autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *Nature* (2008) 452(7188):773–6. doi:10.1038/ nature06764
- Ma CS, Chew GYJ, Simpson N, Priyadarshi A, Wong M, Grimbacher B, et al. Deficiency of Th17 cells in hyper IgE syndrome due to mutations in STAT3. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(7):1551–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20080218
- Renner ED, Rylaarsdam S, Aňover-Sombke S, Rack AL, Reichenbach J, Carey JC, et al. Novel signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) mutations, reduced T(H)17 cell numbers, and variably defective STAT3 phosphorylation in hyper-IgE syndrome. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2008) 122(1):181–7. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.04.037
- de Beaucoudrey L, Puel A, Filipe-Santos O, Cobat A, Ghandil P, Chrabieh M, et al. Mutations in STAT3 and IL12RB1 impair the development of human IL-17producing T cells. J Exp Med (2008) 205(7):1543–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20080321
- Ma CS, Wong N, Rao G, Nguyen A, Avery DT, Payne K, et al. Unique and shared signaling pathways cooperate to regulate the differentiation of human CD4+ T cells into distinct effector subsets. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(8):1589–608. doi:10.1084/jem.20151467
- Cypowyj S, Picard C, Maródi L, Casanova J-L, Puel A. Immunity to infection in IL-17-deficient mice and humans. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42(9):2246–54. doi:10.1002/eji.201242605
- Lanternier F, Cypowyj S, Picard C, Bustamante J, Lortholary O, Casanova J-L, et al. Primary immunodeficiencies underlying fungal infections. *Curr Opin Pediatr* (2013) 25(6):736–47. doi:10.1097/MOP.00000000000031
- van de Veerdonk FL, Plantinga TS, Hoischen A, Smeekens SP, Joosten LAB, Gilissen C, et al. STAT1 mutations in autosomal dominant chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(1):54–61. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1100102
- Liu L, Okada S, Kong X-F, Kreins AY, Cypowyj S, Abhyankar A, et al. Gainof-function human STAT1 mutations impair IL-17 immunity and underlie chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(8):1635–48. doi:10.1084/jem.20110958
- Wienke J, Janssen W, Scholman R, Spits H, van Gijn M, Boes M, et al. A novel human STAT3 mutation presents with autoimmunity involving Th17 hyperactivation. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(24):20037–42. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.5042
- 47. Saito M, Nagasawa M, Takada H, Hara T, Tsuchiya S, Agematsu K, et al. Defective IL-10 signaling in hyper-IgE syndrome results in impaired generation of tolerogenic dendritic cells and induced regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(2):235–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20100799
- Beriou G, Bradshaw EM, Lozano E, Costantino CM, Hastings WD, Orban T, et al. TGF-beta induces IL-9 production from human Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(1):46–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000356
- Chang H-C, Sehra S, Goswami R, Yao W, Yu Q, Stritesky GL, et al. The transcription factor PU.1 is required for the development of IL-9-producing T cells and allergic inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(6):527–34. doi:10.1038/ni.1867
- Wong MT, Ye JJ, Alonso MN, Landrigan A, Cheung RK, Engleman E, et al. Regulation of human Th9 differentiation by type I interferons and IL-21. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2010) 88(6):624–31. doi:10.1038/icb.2010.53

- Becker KL, Rösler B, Wang X, Lachmandas E, Kamsteeg M, Jacobs CW, et al. Th2 and Th9 responses in patients with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis and hyper-IgE syndrome. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2016) 46(12):1564–74. doi:10.1111/cea.12787
- Ma CS, Avery DT, Chan A, Batten M, Bustamante J, Boisson-Dupuis S, et al. Functional STAT3 deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(17):3997–4008. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-11-392985
- Mazerolles F, Picard C, Kracker S, Fischer A, Durandy A. Blood CD4+CD45RO+CXCR5+ T cells are decreased but partially functional in signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2013) 131(4):1146–56, 1156.e1–5. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012. 12.1519
- Batten M, Ramamoorthi N, Kljavin NM, Ma CS, Cox JH, Dengler HS, et al. IL-27 supports germinal center function by enhancing IL-21 production and the function of T follicular helper cells. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(13):2895–906. doi:10.1084/jem.20100064
- Eddahri F, Denanglaire S, Bureau F, Spolski R, Leonard WJ, Leo O, et al. Interleukin-6/STAT3 signaling regulates the ability of naive T cells to acquire B-cell help capacities. *Blood* (2009) 113(11):2426–33. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-04-154682
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Hwang D, Yang XO, Kang HS, Ma L, et al. Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):138–49. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.05.009
- Choi YS, Eto D, Yang JA, Lao C, Crotty S. Cutting edge: STAT1 is required for IL-6-mediated Bcl6 induction for early follicular helper cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(7):3049–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203032
- McIlwain DR, Grusdat M, Pozdeev VI, Xu HC, Shinde P, Reardon C, et al. T-cell STAT3 is required for the maintenance of humoral immunity to LCMV. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(2):418–27. doi:10.1002/eji.201445060
- Ray JP, Marshall HD, Laidlaw BJ, Staron MM, Kaech SM, Craft J. Transcription factor STAT3 and type I interferons are corepressive insulators for differentiation of follicular helper and T helper 1 cells. *Immunity* (2014) 40(3):367–77. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.005
- Wu H, Chen Y, Liu H, Xu L-L, Teuscher P, Wang S, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells repress cytokine production by follicular helper T cells and optimize IgG responses in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46(5):1152–61. doi:10.1002/ eji.201546094
- Ma CS, Suryani S, Avery DT, Chan A, Nanan R, Santner-Nanan B, et al. Early commitment of naïve human CD4(+) T cells to the T follicular helper (T(FH)) cell lineage is induced by IL-12. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2009) 87(8):590–600. doi:10.1038/icb.2009.64
- Schmitt N, Morita R, Bourdery L, Bentebibel SE, Zurawski SM, Banchereau J, et al. Human dendritic cells induce the differentiation of interleukin-21-producing T follicular helper-like cells through interleukin-12. *Immunity* (2009) 31(1):158–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.016
- Altare F, Durandy A, Lammas D, Emile JF, Lamhamedi S, Le Deist F, et al. Impairment of mycobacterial immunity in human interleukin-12 receptor deficiency. *Science* (1998) 280(5368):1432–5. doi:10.1126/science.280. 5368.1432
- de Beaucoudrey L, Samarina A, Bustamante J, Cobat A, Boisson-Dupuis S, Feinberg J, et al. Revisiting human IL-12Rβ1 deficiency. *Medicine (Baltimore)* (2010) 89(6):381–402. doi:10.1097/MD.0b013e3181fdd832
- de Jong R, Altare F, Haagen IA, Elferink DG, Boer T, van Breda Vriesman PJ, et al. Severe mycobacterial and *Salmonella* infections in interleukin-12 receptor-deficient patients. *Science* (1998) 280(5368):1435–8. doi:10.1126/ science.280.5368.1435
- 66. Ysebrant de Lendonck L, Eddahri F, Delmarcelle Y, Nguyen M, Leo O, Goriely S, et al. STAT3 signaling induces the differentiation of human ICOS(+) CD4 T cells helping B lymphocytes. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):e71029. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071029
- Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, et al. Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. *Immunity* (2007) 26(3):371–81. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.02.009
- Nishihara M, Ogura H, Ueda N, Tsuruoka M, Kitabayashi C, Tsuji F, et al. IL-6-gp130-STAT3 in T cells directs the development of IL-17+ Th with a minimum effect on that of Treg in the steady state. *Int Immunol* (2007) 19(6):695–702. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxm045

- Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, et al. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. *Nature* (2007) 448(7152):480–3. doi:10.1038/nature05969
- Lyons JJ, Liu Y, Ma CA, Yu X, O'Connell MP, Lawrence MG, et al. ERBIN deficiency links STAT3 and TGF-β pathway defects with atopy in humans. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(3):669–80. doi:10.1084/jem.20161435
- Bacchetta R, Barzaghi F, Roncarolo M-G. From IPEX syndrome to FOXP3 mutation: a lesson on immune dysregulation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2016) 100(2):1–18. doi:10.1111/nyas.13011
- Josefowicz SZ, Lu L-F, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2012) 30:531–64. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.25.022106.141623
- Chaudhry A, Rudra D, Treuting P, Samstein RM, Liang Y, Kas A, et al. CD4+ regulatory T cells control TH17 responses in a Stat3-dependent manner. *Science* (2009) 326(5955):986–91. doi:10.1126/science.1172702
- Kluger MA, Luig M, Wegscheid C, Goerke B, Paust H-J, Brix SR, et al. Stat3 programs Th17-specific regulatory T cells to control GN. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 25(6):1291–302. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013080904
- 75. Ives ML, Ma CS, Palendira U, Chan A, Bustamante J, Boisson-Dupuis S, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) mutations underlying autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome impair human CD8(+) T-cell memory formation and function. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2013) 132(2):400–11.e9. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.05.029
- Ellinghaus D, Ellinghaus E, Nair RP, Stuart PE, Esko T, Metspalu A, et al. Combined analysis of genome-wide association studies for Crohn disease and psoriasis identifies seven shared susceptibility loci. *Am J Hum Genet* (2012) 90(4):636–47. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.02.020
- Hu K, Hou S, Jiang Z, Kijlstra A, Yang P. JAK2 and STAT3 polymorphisms in a Han Chinese population with Behçet's disease. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2012) 53(1):538–41. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-8440
- de Lange KM, Moutsianas L, Lee JC, Lamb CA, Luo Y, Kennedy NA, et al. Genome-wide association study implicates immune activation of multiple integrin genes in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Genet* (2017) 49(2):256–61. doi:10.1038/ng.3760
- Ma CS, Deenick EK. Human T follicular helper (Tfh) cells and disease. Immunol Cell Biol (2014) 92(1):64–71. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.55
- Raphael I, Nalawade S, Eagar TN, Forsthuber TG. T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine* (2015) 74(1):5–17. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.011
- Koskela HLM, Eldfors S, Ellonen P, van Adrichem AJ, Kuusanmäki H, Andersson EI, et al. Somatic STAT3 mutations in large granular lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(20):1905–13. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1114885
- Jerez A, Clemente MJ, Makishima H, Koskela H, Leblanc F, Peng Ng K, et al. STAT3 mutations unify the pathogenesis of chronic lymphoproliferative disorders of NK cells and T-cell large granular lymphocyte leukemia. *Blood* (2012) 120(15):3048–57. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-435297
- Teramo A, Barilà G, Calabretto G, Ercolin C, Lamy T, Moignet A, et al. STAT3 mutation impacts biological and clinical features of T-LGL leukemia. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(37):61876–89. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.18711
- Lamy T, Moignet A, Loughran TP. LGL leukemia: from pathogenesis to treatment. Blood (2017) 129(9):1082–94. doi:10.1182/blood-2016-08-692590
- Kotlarz D, Beier R, Murugan D, Diestelhorst J, Jensen O, Boztug K, et al. Loss of interleukin-10 signaling and infantile inflammatory bowel disease: implications for diagnosis and therapy. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143(2):347–55. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.04.045
- d'Hennezel E, Ben-Shoshan M, Ochs HD, Torgerson TR, Russell LJ, Lejtenyi C, et al. FOXP3 forkhead domain mutation and regulatory T cells in the IPEX syndrome. N Engl J Med (2009) 361(17):1710–3. doi:10.1056/NEJMc091749

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Deenick, Pelham, Kane and Ma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





PTEN-Regulated AID Transcription in Germinal Center B Cells Is Essential for the Class-Switch Recombination and IgG Antibody Responses

Jing Wang¹, Sichen Liu¹, Baidong Hou², Meixiang Yang³, Zhongjun Dong³, Hai Qi⁴ and Wanli Liu^{1*}

¹ MOE Key Laboratory of Protein Sciences, Collaborative Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, School of Life Sciences, Institute for Immunology, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China, ²Key Laboratory of Infection and Immunity, Institute of Biophysics (CAS), Beijing, China, ³School of Medicine, Institute for Immunology, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China, ⁴Laboratory of Dynamic Immunobiology, Department of Basic Biomedical Sciences, School of Medicine, Institute for Immunology, Tsinghua Peking Center for Life Sciences, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Kang Chen, Wayne State University, United States Wenxia Song, University of Maryland, College Park, United States

*Correspondence:

Wanli Liu liulab@tsinghua.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 04 August 2017 Accepted: 09 February 2018 Published: 28 February 2018

Citation:

Wang J, Liu S, Hou B, Yang M, Dong Z, Qi H and Liu W (2018) PTEN-Regulated AID Transcription in Germinal Center B Cells Is Essential for the Class-Switch Recombination and IgG Antibody Responses. Front. Immunol. 9:371. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00371 Class-switch recombination (CSR) and somatic hypermutation (SHM) occur during the differentiation of germinal center B cells (GCBs). Activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) is responsible for both CSR and SHM in GCBs. Here, we show that ablation of PTEN through the C γ 1-Cre mediated recombination significantly influences the CSR and SHM responses. The GCs fail to produce the IgG1 B cells, the high affinity antibodies and nearly lost the dark zone (DZ) in *Pten^{1/H} C\gamma1^{Cre/+}* mice after immunization, suggesting the impaired GC structure. Further mechanistic investigations show that LPS- and interleukin-4 stimulation induced the transcription of C γ 1 in IgM-BCR expressing B cells, which efficiently disrupts PTEN transcription, results in the hyperphosphorylated AKT and FoxO1 and in turn the suppression of AID transcription. Additionally, the reduced transcription of PTEN and AID is also validated by investigating the IgM-BCR expressing GCBs from *Pten^{1/H} C\gamma1^{Cre/+}* mice upon immunization. In conclusion, PTEN regulated AID transcription in GCBs is essential for the CSR and IgG antibody responses.

Keywords: PTEN, germinal center, IgG1+ B cells, class-switch recombination, somatic hypermutation

INTRODUCTION

The germinal center (GC) is the region where antigen-activated B cells undergo proliferation and differentiation responses to differentiate into either plasma cells or memory B cells. Somatic hypermutation (SHM) and class-switch recombination (CSR) occur during the proliferation of GC B cells (GCBs) (1–3). SHM and CSR account for the generation of high affinity and class-switched B cells in humoral immunity (4). There are eight sets of C_H exons at the *Igh* locus in mice, which are constituted as 5'-C μ -C δ -C γ 3-C γ 1-C γ 2b-C γ 2a-C ϵ -C α -3'. During the CSR, the assembled V(D) J exons from C μ encoded IgM-expressing B cells is juxtaposed next to one of the sets of the downstream C_H exons, converting IgM-expressing B cells to different IgH sub-classes (e.g., IgG3, IgG1, and IgG2b), which are, respectively, encoded by different C_H genes (e.g., C γ 3, C γ 1, and C γ 2b) (5). Activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), as the B cell-specific factor, is required for the CSR (6). During GC responses, AID produces C:G to U:G and even C:G to A:T mismatches (7), which then triggers the mismatch and base-excision repairs. Furthermore, the generation of DNA doublestrand breaks (DSBs) at switch regions between S μ and a downstream S region leads to a rearranged C_H locus and the deletion of the intervening sequence (8, 9). The repair of the AID induced DSBs *via* nonhomologous end-joining (NHEJ) eventually completes the CSR by rejoining the two broken S regions (10, 11).

Previous studies suggested that the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) and AKT signaling can both regulate the Ig gene rearrangement during B cell development and the CSR during GC responses (12-18). Phosphatase and tension homolog (PTEN) is known to negatively regulate PI3K-mediated growth, survival, proliferation and cellular metabolism of B cells (16, 17, 19-22). Thus PTEN deficiency alters B1, marginal zone B (MZB) and follicular B (FOB) cell subsets in Pten^{fl/fl} CD19-Cre mice (16, 17). Further study revealed that imbalanced PTEN and PI3K signaling impaired the µHC recombination in pro-B cells in Pten^{fl/fl} mb1-Cre mice (12). Recently, emerging efforts have been placed to investigate the molecular mechanism of PTENand PI3K-tuned AKT signaling in regulating the strength of GC responses (14, 15, 23). B cell specific deficiency of PTEN in Ptenfl/fl mb1^{Cre/+} mice leads to the severe defects of B cell development at the bone marrow stage due to failed VJD recombination (12). The loss of the mature naïve B cell population in Pten^{fl/fl} mb1^{Cre/+} mice prevented the assessment of the function of PTEN in GCB-mediated CSR and antibody responses. As a solution, PTEN was recently knocked out in mature B cells in Pten^{fl/fl} hCD20Tam^{Cre/+} mice, which demonstrated the importance of PTEN in regulating GC responses (23). Although mature B cell specific deficiency of PTEN in Ptenfl/fl hCD20TamCre/+ mice excluded the B developmental defects as in the case of Ptenfl/fl mb1^{Cre/+} mice, the usage of Ptenfl/fl hCD20Tam^{Cre/+} mice cannot explicitly separates the function of PTEN in mature B cell activation and proliferation upon antigen stimulation versus that in GC responses since GCBs were differentiated from activated mature naïve B cells after antigen stimulation. Here, to precisely assess the function of PTEN in GCB-mediated humoral responses in vivo, we used a mouse model with a PTEN deletion only in specific subsets of GCBs. Our results reveal that PTEN regulated AID transcription in GCBs is essential for the CSR and IgG antibody responses.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice, Cell Culture

C57BL/6J (B6) background Pten^{fl/fl} mice (a kind gift from Dr. Wei Guo, Tsinghua University) were mated to $C\gamma 1$ -Cre transgenic mice (a kind gift from Dr. Tomohiro Kurosaki, Osaka University and Dr. Klaus Rajewsky, Max Delbrück Center) in which expression of Cre is controlled by the endogenous promoter of the B cellspecific gene C γ 1. Offspring carrying C γ 1-Cre and two copies of the floxed *Pten* allele or *Cy1-Cre* plus two copies of the WT *Pten* allele were used in the analyses as homozygous mutant (Ptenfl/fl $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$) or WT (*Pten*^{+/+} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$) mice, respectively. All mice were maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions and used in accordance of governmental and institutional guidelines for animal welfare. Primary B cells were negatively isolated from the spleen of $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ or $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice as previously reported (24). Single cell suspensions were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 50 μM β-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin/streptomycin antibiotics (Invitrogen) and Non-Essential Amino Acids (Invitrogen). B cells were

stimulated for 4 days using 10 μ g/mL LPS (Sigma) alone or LPS plus 50 ng/mL interleukin-4 (IL-4) (R&D) or 1 μ g/mL anti-CD40 (eBioscience) alone or anti-CD40 plus 50 ng/mL IL-4 (R&D) in order to drive primary B cells class-switch *in vitro*.

Immunization, ELISA Assay, and Immunohistochemistry

For mice GC Flow cytometry analysis, 6-week-old *Pten*^{+/+} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} and *Pten*^{*fl/fl*} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} mice were injected intraperitoneally with 1 × 10⁹ sheep red blood cells (SRBCs, Bioren, China) or emulsified BSA in Alum adjuvant then analysis at day 7 after the immunization. Q β virus-like particles (VLPs) were expressed in *E. coli* strain JM109 with exogenous expression plasmid pQ10 and then purified. The CpG contained VLPs were obtained by packaging VLPs with CpG ODN G10 *in vitro* as described (25). 6-week-old *Pten*^{+/+} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} and *Pten*^{*fl/fl*} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} mice were injected intraperitoneally with 10 µg VLP in 400 µL PBS for the immunization. Mice were analyzed at day 7 or day 14 after immunization. For NP-antigen specific T-cell-dependent immunization, 6-week-old *Pten*^{+/+} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} and *Pten*^{*fl/fl*} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} mice were injected on footpad with 10 µg NP₃₃-KLH in 20 µL PBS and boost at day 35. Mice were bled at the indicated days after immunization.

To detect VLP or NP-specific IgM, IgG, IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c, and IgG3 in immunized mice (6 $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ and 6 $Pten^{n/f} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$), 2 µg/mL VLP, 5 µg/mL NP₈-BSA or 5 µg/mL NP₃₀-BSA were coated on maxisorb plates (Nunc) and incubated overnight at 4°C. All these plates were blocked with 0.3% gelatin in PBS buffer (2 h at 37°C), followed by addition of pre-diluted mice serum into each well and incubated at 37°C for 1 h. 1:10,000 diluted HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM, IgG, IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c, and IgG3 were used to detect VLP or NP-specific antibodies also the innate immune antibodies. Then followed the protocol as published before for the final readout results (26).

For immunohistochemistry 6-week-old $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma I^{Cre/+}$ and $Pten^{0/f} C\gamma I^{Cre/+}$ mice were injected intraperitoneally with 1×10^9 SRBC in PBS. Spleen sections were frozen from day 7 after immunization in OCT compound (Sakura Finetek). After that spleen sections were stained with Alexa Fluor 488 anti-mouse/ human CD45R/B220 (#103225, BioLegend), PE anti-mouse FAS (#152608, BioLegend), and APC anti-mouse CD3 ε (#100312, BioLegend) by following the protocol described by Sandrine Sander (14).

Western Blotting

Primary splenic B cells or cultured cells were lysed by 2× Lysis buffer. Proteins were extracted by 10% Bis-Tris PAGE (Life technologies) with the cocktail of proteinase inhibitors (Life technologies) in it, transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF). The electroblotted membranes were blocked by TBST containing 5% non-fat milk (BD) and were probed with anti-PTEN, anti-βactin, anti-p-AKT 473, or anti-p-FoxO1/3a primary antibodies overnight at 4°C then immunoblotted with HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Dako). PTEN (138G6) Rabbit antibody (#9559), Phospho-AKT (Ser473) rabbit antibody (#4060), phospho-FoxO1 (Thr24)/FoxO3a (Thr32) rabbit antibody (#9464), and β-actin (13E5) rabbit antibody (#4970) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology. AID rabbit antibody was a kind gift from Dr. Feilong Meng (Shanghai Institute of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, China).

RT-PCR

Pure *Pten*^{+/+} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} and *Pten*^{*fl/fl*} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} splenic B cells were stimulated for 4 days with 10 µg/ml LPS and 50 ng/mL IL-4. Pre-incubated IgM-BCR expressing B cells were sorted by using FACSAria III Cell Sorter (BD). SRBC immunized *Pten*^{+/+} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} and *Pten*^{*fl/fl*} *C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} mice IgM-BCR expressing GCBs were first enriched by CL-7 marker (GL-7 monoclonal antibody, Biotin, eBioscience; streptavidin microbeads, Miltenyi Biotec) by using the LS columns (Miltenyi Biotec). On the basis of enrich, cells were sorted by using FACSAria III Cell Sorter (BD) after labeling with IgM-BCR expressing GCBs dyes (anti-CD19-APC, anti-FAS-PE, Alexa Fluor 488 goat Fab anti mouse IgM µ chain and ef450-streptavidin for GL-7).

Total RNA was extracted using TRIzol (GIBCO) according to the manufacturer's instructions and was subjected to the reverse transcription to make cDNA. For PCR of post-switch Cy1, transcript was amplified using the following primers pair: (Cy1, 429 bp) 5'-GGC CCT TCC AGA TCT TTG AG-3' (Cy1 forward), 5'-GGA TCC AGA GTT CCA GGT CAC T-3' (Cy1 reverse). For amplification of the PTEN (387 bp) transcript, the primer pair of 5'-TTG AAG ACC ATA ACC CAC CAC AG-3' (PTEN forward) and 5'-GGC AGA CCA CAA ACT GAG GAT TG-3' (PTEN reverse) was used. Forward primer for AID (349 bp): 5'-GAG GGA GTC AAG AAA GTC ACG CTG GA-3', reverse primer for AID: 5'-GGC TGA GGT TAG GGT TCC ATC TCA G-3'. Forward primer for control GAPDH (566 bp): 5'-TGT GTC CGT CGT GGA TCT GA-3' and reverse primer for GAPDH: 5'-TTG CTG TTG AAG TCG CAG GAG-3'. PCR conditions were 94°C for 3 min, 94°C for 1 min, 60°C for 45 s, 72°C for 45 s, 30 cycles (from step 2 to step 4), and 72°C for 10 min for final extension.

Flow Cytometry

Cells were preincubated with FcBlock (anti-CD16/32, eBiosence) to minimize nonspecific staining. Cells were then stained with cocktails of various mAbs (anti-CD19, -B220, -IgG1, -IgM, -IgD, -CD43, -CD93, -CD21, -CD23, -CD5, -FAS, -CL-7, -CD3ε, -CXCR4, or anti-CD86) conjugated with different fluoresce proteins. All antibodies were purchased from BD, eBioscience or BioLegend. Labeled cells were detected by 5 lasers Fortessa (BD), all data were analyzed with FlowJo software. Cell sorting was performed by using FACSAria III Cell Sorter (BD), following the protocols provided by BD.

Microscopy Instruments

Confocal images were captured using Olympus FV-1000 microscope equipped with $10 \times$ objective lens and a 405, a 473, a 549, and a 635 nm laser. The acquisition was controlled by FV10-ASW4.0 software.

Image Process and Statistical Analyses

Images were analyzed by Image Pro Plus (Media Cybernetics) software following our previous protocols (27). Statistical tests were performed with Prism 5.0 (GraphPad). Two-tailed t tests

were used to compare end-point means of different groups. Statistical significant results (*p*) are indicated as: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01, and ***p < 0.001.

RESULTS

Normal Development and Homeostasis of B Cells in *Pten^{fl/fl} Cγ1^{Cre/+}* Mice

To detect the PTEN function in GCBs, we generated the $Pten^{ll/l}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice by breeding $Pten^{ll/l}$ mice to $C\gamma 1$ -Cre mice. In $Pten^{ll/l}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice, PTEN would only be knocked out in B cells with $C\gamma 1$ transcription, which are ideally the IgG1-BCR expressing B cells (**Figure 1A**). We avoided to breed $Pten^{ll/l}$ mice with $Aicda^{Cre/+}$ mice since the $Pten^{ll/l}$ $Aicda^{Cre/+}$ mice have been reported to develop severe submandibular hair loss, skin thickening and the manifestation of squamous papillomas (28).

We first examined the development and homeostasis of B cells in *Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}* mice and confirmed that PTEN deletion in IgG1-BCR expressing B cells did not affect B cell development in the bone marrow and peripheral lymphoid organs (**Figure 1B**). Further flow cytometry analysis of the splenic IgM and IgG1-BCR expressing B cells showed comparable amounts of surface IgM or IgG1 BCRs in *Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}* versus *Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}* control mice (**Figure 1C**).

Impaired Antibody Responses in *Pten^{fl/fl}* $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ Mice

Ptenfl/fl Cy1^{Cre/+} mice showed B cell normal development that allowed us to examine the humoral responses upon the immunization with either the T cell-dependent (TD) antigen NP₃₃-KLH or the Q β VLPs as reported (25). Age and gender matched *Pten*^{+/+} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ and $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice were undergone footpad injection with 10 µg NP₃₃-KLH in 20 µL PBS and boost at day 35 for the TD antigen immunization (Figure 2A). For Qβ virus immunization, 6-week-old $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma I^{Cre/+}$ and $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma I^{Cre/+}$ mice were immunized intraperitoneally with 10 µg VLP in 400 µL PBS (Figure 2B). ELISA analyses showed that the IgM antibody responses upon the induction by both NP-KLH and VLP were significantly higher in the *Pten^{fl/fl} Cy1^{Cre/+}* mice compared to the control *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Cre/+}* mice (Figures 2A,B). However, the production of not only IgG1 but also IgG2b and IgG3 were significantly blunted in the Ptenfl/fl $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice (**Figures 2A,B**). We hypothesized that the decreased IgG antibody responses may be due to a damaged CSR reaction within the GC of *Pten*^{*fl/fl*} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice.

Damaged CSR in Pten^{fl/fl} Cy1^{Cre/+} Mice

To test whether or not PTEN deletion in IgG1⁺ B cells will damage the CSR within the GC reaction, GCs were induced by the immunization of SRBC in both $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ and $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ control mice. Flow cytometry analyses of the splenic B cells at day 7 after SRBC injection unexpectedly demonstrated an increased but not decreased levels of GCBs in $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice than the control $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice even though the size of the spleen of both types of mice was comparable (**Figures 3A,B**). Remarkably, further analyses showed that the IgM-BCR expressing GCBs were obviously increased while the class-switched IgG1-BCR



FIGURE 1 Normal development and homeostasis of B cells in *Pten^{WT} Cy1^{Cre/+}* mice. **(A)** Expression of PTEN in IgG1-BCR expressing splenic B cells from *Pten^{V/+} Cy1^{Cre/+}* and *Pten^{MT} Cy1^{Cre/+}*. Data were given from one representative of at least three independent experiments. **(B)** Comparable B cell percentage in bone marrow (BM), spleen (SP), and peritoneal cavity (PC) (left, top pattern). B cell development in BM (right, top pattern), SP and PC (bottom pattern). MZ, marginal zone; FO, follicular; PC, peritoneal cavity; SP, spleen. The data represent the mean \pm SEM of four mice per group in three independent experiments. **(C)** Comparable amount of surface IgG1- (left) or IgM- (right) BCR level in the indicated type of B cells from *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Cre/+}* and *Pten^{9/T} Cy1^{Cre/+}* mice. Data were given from one representative of at least three independent experiments.

expressing GCBs were almost lost in SRBC immunized $Pten^{fl/fl}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice GC (**Figures 3C,D**). Similar results were also obtained in the immunized $Pten^{fl/fl}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ and $Pten^{+/+}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice by the utilization of alum adjuvant-precipitate BSA (Figures S1A,B in Supplementary Material). These results suggested that PTEN deletion in IgG1⁺ B cells significantly damaged the CSR within GCs.

To further verify the above observation of the impaired CSR within the GC of $Pten^{[l/f]} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice, we purified the splenic B cells and performed an *in vitro* CSR assay following the published protocols (13, 16). Clearly, B cells from $Pten^{[l/f]} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice failed to undergo CSR to form IgG1-BCR expressing B cells in the presence of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) alone or LPS plus IL-4 after 4 days of stimulation, respectively (Figures S2A,B in Supplementary Material). Similar results were acquired in the

presence of other CSR-driven reagents of anti-CD40 antibodies or anti-CD40 plus IL-4 (Figures S2A,B in Supplementary Material).

Abnormal GC Structure and SHM in *Pten*^{fl/fl} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ Mice

It is known that GC contains the light zone (LZ) and the dark zone (DZ). GCBs undergo consecutive and cyclic phases of proliferation and SHM in the DZ, followed by the migration to the LZ, where they capture and internalize antigen for the acquisition of survival signals from follicular helper T cells (3, 29, 30). We thus quantified the formation of LZ and DZ within the GC and found that DZ and LZ compartmentalization was severely disturbed in the *Ptenf^{II/I} Cγ1^{Cre/+}* mice upon the immunization by both SRBC and VLP (**Figures 4A–C**). Moreover, we observed that the number of



FIGURE 2 | Impaired antibody responses in *Pten^{MI} C* γ^{1Cw^+} mice. (A) Titers of NP-specific antibodies in the *Pten^{V/+} C* γ^{1Cw^+} and *Pten^{MI} C* γ^{1Cw^+} mice upon immunization with 10 µg NP₃₃-KLH at day 0. NP-specific antibody titers in IgM, IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG3 isotypes were examined by ELISA using NP₆-BSA (5 µg/ml) as the coating Ag. The data represent the median ± interquartile range from three independent experiments with six mice per group at the indicated time point and were analyzed with Kruskal–Wallis test. (B) The production of virus-like particle (VLP)-specific antibodies in *Pten^{+/+} C* γ^{1Cw^+} and *Pten^{MI} C* γ^{1Cw^+} mice upon the immunization (i.p.) with 10 µg VLP at day 0, day 7, and day 14. VLP specific antibody titers in IgM, IgG and IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c, or IgG3 isotype were examined by ELISA experiment by using VLP (2 µg/ml) as the coating Ag. The data represent the median ± interquartile range from three independent experiments with six mice per group at the indicated time point and were analyzed with Kruskal–Wallis test. ***p < 0.001.

DZ B cells in *Pten*^{fl/fl} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice GCs was dramatically decreased, consistent with a recent study showing that upon FoxO1 ablation or induction of PI3K activity, GCs lost their DZ, owing at least partly to downregulation of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 (14, 15). Since an essential step in the selection of high affinity GCBs is the recruitment of LZ GCBs into the GC DZ (31, 32), it is not a surprise that the SHM in GCBs was significantly damaged in *Pten*^{fl/fl} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice upon the immunization by TD antigen NP₃₃-KLH (**Figure 4D**). Lastly, it should be noted that even though the GC DZ formation was impaired in the *Pten*^{fl/fl} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice, the size of the GCs was normal in the spleen section as detected by immunofluorescence and the number of GCs per spleen section

was even higher in these PTEN KO mice (**Figures 5A,B**), which are consistent with the results that $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice exhibited an increased levels of GCBs than the control $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice upon immunization (**Figure 3A**; Figure S1B in Supplementary Material).

Repression of AID Induction in GCBs from *Pten^{fl/fl} Cγ1^{Cre/+}* Mice

Our observations suggested that $C\gamma 1$ transcription-mediated PTEN KO impairs antibody responses, CSR activity, as well as the DZ and LZ compartmentalization and SHM within the GC. We next investigated the molecular mechanism accounting for



FIGURE 3 | Damaged class-switch recombination in *Pten^{§III} Cy1^{Cav/+}* mice. (**A**) The statistical comparison of the percentage of germinal center B cells (GCBs) from splenocytes at day 7 after sheep red blood cell (SRBC) immunization (left). Each symbol represents an individual animal (n = 8 for each group). The data represent the mean \pm SD from at least three independent experiments. Two-tailed *t*-tests were performed for statistical comparisons. Flow cytometry analysis the increased GCBs number in the *Pten^{§III} Cy1^{Cav/+}* mice spleen (right). Values indicated the percentage of cells in the gated population. (**B**) Macroscopic appearance of spleen from day 7 after SRBC immunization of *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Cav/+}* and *Pten^{§III} Cy1^{Cav/+}* mice. Data were given from one representative of at least two independent experiments. (**C**) Representative flow cytometry analysis of IgM, IgG1-BCR expressing GCBs from *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Cav/+}* and *Pten^{+/III} Cy1^{Cav/+}* mice at day 7 after SRBC immunization. Data were given from one representative of at least two independent experiments (n = 4 for each group). The cells were pregated in GCBs. (**D**) The statistical quantification of the flow cytometry data of IgM (left) and IgG1 (right) as shown in (**C**). Each symbol represents an individual animal (four mice for each group). The data represent the mean \pm SD. Two-tailed *t*-tests were performed for statistical comparisons.



FIGURE 4 | Abnormal germinal center (GC) structure and somatic hypermutation (SHM) in *Pten^{WM} Cy1^{Orev+}* mice. (A) Representative flow cytometry analysis of GC light zone (LZ) and dark zone (DZ) splenocytes from *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Crev+}* and *Pten^{WM} Cy1^{Orev+}* mice at day 7 after SRBC immunization. Data were given from one representative of at least two independent experiments (n = 4 for each group). The cells were pregated in GCBs. (B) The statistical quantification of the flow cytometry data of LZ (left) and DZ (right) splenocytes as shown in (A). Each symbol represents an individual animal (four mice for each group). The data represent the mean \pm SD. Two-tailed *t*-tests were performed for statistical comparisons. (C) Representative flow cytometry analysis of GC LZ and DZ from *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Crev+}* and *Pten^{WM} Cy1^{Orev+}* mice at day 14 after VLP injection (left). Statistical comparison for LZ (middle) and DZ (right) cells percentage of total GCBs was also shown. The data represent the mean \pm SD of six mice per group in three independent experiments. Two-tailed *t* tests were performed for statistical comparisons for LZ (middle) and DZ (right) cells percentage of total GCBs was also shown. The data represent the mean \pm SD of six mice per group in three independent experiments. Two-tailed *t* tests were performed for statistical comparisons. (D) The affinity maturation of the NP-specific IgM, IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG3 antibodies in *Pten^{+/+} Cy1^{Crev+}* versus *Pten^{WM} Cy1^{Orev+}* mice as determined by the ratio NP8/NP30. The data represent the median \pm interquartile range from three independent experiments with six mice per group at the indicated time point and were analyzed with Kruskal–Wallis test. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

the lack of CSR and SHM in the B cells from $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice. It is well known that AID, which is specifically induced in the GCBs, is a crucial enzyme responsible for both CSR and SHM (6). Thus, we hypothesized that the PTEN expression level in these $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice shall be influenced before the CSR reaction to drive the switch of IgM-BCR to IgG-BCR expressing B cells, which might subsequently impair the function of AID. To test this hypothesis, splenic B cells from $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ and *Pten*^{+/+} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice were stimulated with LPS and IL-4 to induce CSR *in vitro*. To specifically examine the B cells without effective CSR, we sorted the IgM-BCR expressing B cells from the LPS- and IL-4 stimulated splenic B cells (**Figure 6A**). WB of these stimulated IgM-BCR expressing B cells detected the reduced PTEN and AID protein expression in the cells derived from *Pten*^{fl/fl} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice compared to the *Pten*^{+/+} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ control mice (**Figure 6B**). Meanwhile, these IgM-BCR expressing B cells



also showed hyper-phosphorylated AKT and FoxO1 (Figure 6B). These results suggested that the AID transcription was affected by the hyper-phosphorylation of AKT and FoxO1 since AKT are known to inhibit the expression and function of AID (16, 23). Indeed, RT-PCR assay demonstrated that the level of PTEN and AID mRNA was markedly reduced in the stimulated IgM-BCR expressing B cells from $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma I^{Cre/+}$ mice than those B cells from the *Pten*^{+/+} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ control mice (Figure 6C, top and Figure 6D). The transcription of Cy1 was also detected in both the murine control and KO IgM-BCR expressing B cells, which readily explained the Cy1-mediated PTEN deletion in the IgM-BCR expressing B cells in Ptenfl/fl Cy1^{Cre/+} mice (Figure 6C, top and Figure 6D). We future validated these conclusions by utilizing purified GBCs in vivo from SRBC immunized Pten+/+ Cy1^{Cre/+} and Ptenfl/fl Cy1^{Cre/+} mice. We sorted the IgM-BCR expressing GCBs at day 7 after SRBC immunization (Figure S3 in Supplementary Material). RT-PCR of IgM-BCR expressing GCBs from Ptenflift $C\gamma I^{Cre/+}$ mice also detected the significantly reduced transcription of PTEN and markedly reduced AID (Figure 6C, bottom and Figure 6D). The transcription of Cy1 was also detected in IgM-BCR expressing GCBs from both $Pten^{+/+} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ and $Pten^{fl/fl}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice (**Figure 6C**, bottom and **Figure 6D**), which readily explained the Cy1-mediated PTEN deletion in the IgM-BCR expressing GCBs. All these results demonstrated that the PTEN expression level in $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice was significantly impaired in GCBs. Thus, PTEN regulated AID transcription through PI3K-AKT signaling pathway in GCBs controls the CSR, IgG antibody response, and SHM.

DISCUSSION

We investigate the function of PTEN in regulating the strength of GC responses by employing a mouse model with the ablation of PTEN through C γ 1-Cre mediated recombination. Upon immunization, we found significantly higher IgM antibody responses and drastically lower IgG1 antibody responses in the Pten^{fl/fl} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice compared to the control Pten^{+/+} $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice. Mechanistically, we found that the ablation of PTEN leads to the abnormal GC responses as demonstrated by: (i) severely disturbed compartmentalization of DZ and LZ; (ii) significantly decreased amount of IgG1-BCR expressing B cells; and (iii) the SHM in *Pten^{fl/fl} C* γ 1^{*Cre/+*} mice than the control *Pten^{+/+} C* γ 1^{*Cre/*}mice. Moreover, an in vitro CSR assay for the purified splenic B cells from *Pten^{fl/fl} Cy1^{Cre/+}* mice also indicates the blunted CSR under a variety of differentiation-promoting conditions. Interestingly, the results of the impaired GC function in this report are different from the PTEN deletion in Pten^{fl/fl} CD19^{Cre/+}, Pten^{fl/fl} mb1^{Cre/+} or *Pten^{fl/fl}* hCD20TamCre mice in the published studies (13, 16, 23), the deletion of $Pten^{fl/fl}$ loci in $Pten^{fl/fl} C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice shall only be effective upon the transcription of $C\gamma 1$ -cre gene, which shall be ideally only available in the IgG1-BCR expressing B cells. Thus, theoretically, only the IgG1 antibody responses shall be affected in Pten^{fl/fl} Cy1^{Cre/+} mice upon immunization. However, an unexpected observation in this report is that the production of not only IgG1 but also IgG2b and IgG3 were significantly blunted in the *Pten^{fl/fl} Cy1^{Cre/+}* mice. All these intriguing results were explained by the further mechanistic investigations show that LPS- and IL-4 stimulation robustly induced the transcription of Cy1 in IgM-BCR expressing B cells, which efficiently disrupt the transcription of PTEN and AID in the stimulated splenic IgM-BCR expressing B cells from *Ptenfl/fl* Cy1^{Cre/+} mice. There are eight sets of C_H exons organized as 5'-VDJ-Cμ-Cδ-Cγ3-Cγ1-Cy2b-Cy2a-C ϵ -C α -3' at the *Igh* locus in mice. Upon the CSR, the assembled V(D)J exons from Cµ encoded IgM-expressing naïve B cells is juxtaposed next to one of the sets of downstream C_H exons, allowing the production of different IgH classes (e.g., IgG3, IgG1, and IgG2b) (5). Thus, the transcription of Cy1 in IgM-BCR expressing B cells and the subsequent disruption of PTEN and AID expression explained the poor production of not only IgG1 but also IgG2b and IgG3 in the Ptenfl/fl Cy1^{Cre/+} mice.

The observation of the pre-transcription of $C\gamma 1$ in IgM-BCR expressing B cells is consistent with the examination of the $C\gamma 1$ reporter mice, which reported the $C\gamma 1$ reporter gene expression

in 85–95% of the GCB fraction 10–14 days after immunization with SRBC (33). Not a surprise, hyper-phosphorylated AKT and FoxO1 are observed as a result of the drastically reduced



FIGURE 6 | Repression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) induction in germinal center B cells (GCBs) from $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ mice. (**A**) Flow cytometry sorting of *in vitro* induced IgM-BCR expressing splenic B cells from $Pten^{+/+}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ and $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ mice. Pure splenic B cells from control and KO mice (three mice for each group) were stimulated with LPS plus interleukin-4 (IL-4) for 4 days before sorting. (**B**) The expression levels of PTEN, p-AKT, p-FoxO1/3a, and AID were determined in $Pten^{+/+}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ and $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing B cells (left). Reduced PTEN, AID expression and enhanced p-AKT and p-FoxO1/3a expression were observed in $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing B cells. The *in vitro* induced IgM-BCR expressing B cells were isolated by the FACSAria III Cell Sorter as described in (**A**). Statistical comparison of protein expression level was also shown in right. Ratio values of different proteins from $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing B cells. The *in vitro* analyzed by RT-PCR. The Cy1 mRNA was detected in both $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expression level was nearly undetectable in $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing GCBs. The PTEN mRNA level was reduced and the AID mRNA expression level was nearly undetectable in $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing B cells were isolated by the FACSAria III Cell Sorter as described in (Figure S3 in Supplementary Material). Data were given from one representative of at least three independent experiments. for $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expression level was nearly undetectable in $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing GCBs were isolated by the FACSAria III Cell Sorter as described in (Figure S3 in Supplementary Material). Data were given from one representative of at least three independent experiments. (**D**) Statistical comparison of GAPDH, AID, Cy1, and PTEN transcription level. Given were the ratio values of different molecules from $Pten^{\#}C\gamma 1^{Cov+}$ IgM-BCR expressing B ce

expression of PTEN. The reduced transcription of PTEN and AID are also confirmed by investigating the IgM-BCR expressing GCB cells *in vivo* from SRBC immunized $Pten^{0/d}$ $C\gamma 1^{Cre/+}$ mice. The hyper-phosphorylated AKT and FoxO1 in turn influence the AID expression in IgM-BCR expressing GCBs and reduce the differentiation of DZ GCBs partially through downregulation of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 (14, 15). However, whether or not the reduced expression of AID can directly contribute to the decrease in the DZ GCBs deserves further investigation. In the literature, the important functions of PI3K-AKT pathway on the regulation of cell growth, survival, proliferation, cell cycle and cellular metabolism were also reported (16, 19–22, 34, 35). Thus, it is also of interest to investigate how these events can influence the formation of GC structures.

In conclusion, our research provides an alternative mechanistic explanation for the significantly impaired CSR in PTEN deficient GCBs in addition to the recent published studies showing that constitutive PI3K activation or ablation of FOXO1 impairs AID targeting to particular switch regions. which leads to the partly lost CSR (14, 15). Our results demonstrate that PTEN regulated AID transcription in GCBs is essential for the CSR and IgG antibody response, and SHM.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal protocols used in this study are approved by the IACUC (Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee) of Tsinghua University and performed in accordance with guidelines of the IACUC. The laboratory animal facility has been accredited by AAALAC (Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International). The assurance identification number is 15-LWL2 and was issued by Dr. Zai

REFERENCES

- Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:429–57. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032
- Mesin L, Ersching J, Victora GD. Germinal center B cell dynamics. *Immunity* (2016) 45(3):471–82. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.09.001
- 3. Qi H. T follicular helper cells in space-time. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16(10):612–25. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.94

Chang, the vice chair of IACUC of Tsinghua University, Beijing, China.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WL and JW conceived, designed, and drafted the article; JW and SL performed experiments and laboratorial analysis; BH and MY supported the materials; JW and WL wrote the manuscript; WL, HQ, ZD, BH, MY, and JW reviewed and approved the manuscript final version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Susan K. Pierce (National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, USA), Dr. Tomohiro Kurosaki (WPI Immunology Frontier Research Center, Osaka University, Japan), Dr. Klaus Rajewsky (Immune Regulation and Cancer, Max Delbrück Center, Germany), Dr. Baidong Hou (Key Laboratory of Infection and Immunity, Institute of Biophysics, China), Dr. Wei Guo (School of Life Sciences, Tsinghua University, China), and Dr. Feilong Meng (Shanghai Institute of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, China) for generously providing experimental materials. This work is supported by funds from National Science Foundation China (81730043 and 81621002), Ministry of Science and Technology of China (2014CB542500-03).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00371/ full#supplementary-material.

- Thorbecke GJ, Amin AR, Tsiagbe VK. Biology of germinal centers in lymphoid tissue. *FASEB J* (1994) 8(11):832–40. doi:10.1096/fasebj.8.11. 8070632
- Chaudhuri J, Basu U, Zarrin A, Yan C, Franco S, Perlot T, et al. Evolution of the immunoglobulin heavy chain class switch recombination mechanism. *Adv Immunol* (2007) 94:157–214. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(06)94006-1
- 6. Okazaki I, Yoshikawa K, Kinoshita K, Muramatsu M, Nagaoka H, Honjo T. Activation-induced cytidine deaminase links class switch recombination

and somatic hypermutation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2003) 987:1–8. doi:10.1111/ j.1749-6632.2003.tb06027.x

- Lenz G, Staudt LM. Aggressive lymphomas. N Engl J Med (2010) 362(15):1417–29. doi:10.1056/NEJMra0807082
- Chahwan R, Edelmann W, Scharff MD, Roa S. Aiding antibody diversity by error-prone mismatch repair. *Semin Immunol* (2012) 24(4):293–300. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2012.05.005
- Di Noia JM, Neuberger MS. Molecular mechanisms of antibody somatic hypermutation. Annu Rev Biochem (2007) 76:1–22. doi:10.1146/annurev. biochem.76.061705.090740
- Boboila C, Alt FW, Schwer B. Classical and alternative end-joining pathways for repair of lymphocyte-specific and general DNA double-strand breaks. *Adv Immunol* (2012) 116:1–49. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-394300-2.00001-6
- Chen Z, Wang JH. Generation and repair of AID-initiated DNA lesions in B lymphocytes. Front Med (2014) 8(2):201–16. doi:10.1007/s11684-014-0324-4
- Alkhatib A, Werner M, Hug E, Herzog S, Eschbach C, Faraidun H, et al. FoxO1 induces Ikaros splicing to promote immunoglobulin gene recombination. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(2):395–406. doi:10.1084/jem.20110216
- Omori SA, Cato MH, Anzelon-Mills A, Puri KD, Shapiro-Shelef M, Calame K, et al. Regulation of class-switch recombination and plasma cell differentiation by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling. *Immunity* (2006) 25(4):545–57. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.015
- 14. Sander S, Chu VT, Yasuda T, Franklin A, Graf R, Calado DP, et al. PI3 kinase and FOXO1 transcription factor activity differentially control B cells in the germinal center light and dark zones. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1075–86. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.10.021
- Dominguez-Sola D, Kung J, Holmes AB, Wells VA, Mo T, Basso K, et al. The FOXO1 transcription factor instructs the germinal center dark zone program. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1064–74. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.10.015
- Suzuki A, Kaisho T, Ohishi M, Tsukio-Yamaguchi M, Tsubata T, Koni PA, et al. Critical roles of PTEN in B cell homeostasis and immunoglobulin class switch recombination. J Exp Med (2003) 197(5):657–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20021101
- Anzelon AN, Wu H, Rickert RC. Pten inactivation alters peripheral B lymphocyte fate and reconstitutes CD19 function. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(3):287–94. doi:10.1038/ni892
- Janas ML, Hodson D, Stamataki Z, Hill S, Welch K, Gambardella L, et al. The effect of deleting p110 on the phenotype and function of PTEN-deficient B cells. J Immunol (2008) 180(2):739–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.2.739
- Srinivasan L, Sasaki Y, Calado DP, Zhang B, Paik JH, DePinho RA, et al. PI3 kinase signals BCR-dependent mature B cell survival. *Cell* (2009) 139(3): 573–86. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.041
- Shojaee S, Chan LN, Buchner M, Cazzaniga V, Cosgun KN, Geng H, et al. PTEN opposes negative selection and enables oncogenic transformation of pre-B cells. *Nat Med* (2016) 22(4):379–87. doi:10.1038/nm.4062
- Miletic AV, Anzelon-Mills AN, Mills DM, Omori SA, Pedersen IM, Shin DM, et al. Coordinate suppression of B cell lymphoma by PTEN and SHIP phosphatases. J Exp Med (2010) 207(11):2407–20. doi:10.1084/jem.20091962
- Benhamron S, Tirosh B. Direct activation of mTOR in B lymphocytes confers impairment in B-cell maturation and loss of marginal zone B cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(8):2390–6. doi:10.1002/eji.201041336
- Chen Z, Getahun A, Chen X, Dollin Y, Cambier JC, Wang JH. Imbalanced PTEN and PI3K signaling impairs class switch recombination. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(11):5461–71. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501375
- 24. Zeng Y, Yi J, Wan Z, Liu K, Song P, Chau A, et al. Substrate stiffness regulates B-cell activation, proliferation, class switch, and T-cell-independent

antibody responses in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(6):1621–34. doi:10.1002/ eji.201444777

- Hou B, Saudan P, Ott G, Wheeler ML, Ji M, Kuzmich L, et al. Selective utilization of toll-like receptor and MyD88 signaling in B cells for enhancement of the antiviral germinal center response. *Immunity* (2011) 34(3):375–84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.011
- 26. Wang J, Tang S, Wan Z, Gao Y, Cao Y, Yi J, et al. Utilization of a photoactivatable antigen system to examine B-cell probing termination and the B-cell receptor sorting mechanisms during B-cell activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2016) 113(5):E558–67. doi:10.1073/pnas.1517612113
- 27. Liu W, Meckel T, Tolar P, Sohn HW, Pierce SK. Antigen affinity discrimination is an intrinsic function of the B cell receptor. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(5):1095–111. doi:10.1084/jem.20092123
- Rommel PC, Bosque D, Gitlin AD, Croft GF, Heintz N, Casellas R, et al. Fate mapping for activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) marks non-lymphoid cells during mouse development. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):e69208. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0069208
- Victora GD, Schwickert TA, Fooksman DR, Kamphorst AO, Meyer-Hermann M, Dustin ML, et al. Germinal center dynamics revealed by multiphoton microscopy with a photoactivatable fluorescent reporter. *Cell* (2010) 143(4):592–605. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.032
- Shinnakasu R, Inoue T, Kometani K, Moriyama S, Adachi Y, Nakayama M, et al. Regulated selection of germinal-center cells into the memory B cell compartment. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(7):861–9. doi:10.1038/ni.3460
- Gitlin AD, Shulman Z, Nussenzweig MC. Clonal selection in the germinal centre by regulated proliferation and hypermutation. *Nature* (2014) 509(7502):637–40. doi:10.1038/nature13300
- 32. Oprea M, Perelson AS. Somatic mutation leads to efficient affinity maturation when centrocytes recycle back to centroblasts. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(11):5155–62.
- 33. Casola S, Cattoretti G, Uyttersprot N, Koralov SB, Seagal J, Hao Z, et al. Tracking germinal center B cells expressing germ-line immunoglobulin1 transcripts by conditional gene targeting. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:7396–401. doi:10.1073/pnas.0602353103
- 34. Lachmandas E, Beigier-Bompadre M, Cheng SC, Kumar V, van Laarhoven A, Wang X, et al. Rewiring cellular metabolism via the AKT/mTOR pathway contributes to host defence against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in human and murine cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46(11):2574–86. doi:10.1002/eji.201546259
- Liu P, Begley M, Michowski W, Inuzuka H, Ginzberg M, Gao D, et al. Cellcycle-regulated activation of Akt kinase by phosphorylation at its carboxyl terminus. *Nature* (2014) 508(7497):541–5. doi:10.1038/nature13079

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wang, Liu, Hou, Yang, Dong, Qi and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Lyn, Lupus, and (B) Lymphocytes, a Lesson on the Critical Balance of Kinase Signaling in Immunity

Erica J. Brodie¹, Simona Infantino¹, Michael S. Y. Low^{1,2,3,4} and David M. Tarlinton^{1*}

¹ Department of Immunology and Pathology, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Department of Medical Biology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³ Immunology Division, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴ Department of Haematology, Monash Health, Monash Hospital, Clayton, VIC, Australia

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a progressive autoimmune disease characterized by increased sensitivity to self-antigens, auto-antibody production, and systemic inflammation. B cells have been implicated in disease progression and as such represent an attractive therapeutic target. Lyn is a Src family tyrosine kinase that plays a major role in regulating signaling pathways within B cells as well as other hematopoietic cells. Its role in initiating negative signaling cascades is especially critical as exemplified by Lyn^{-/-} mice developing an SLE-like disease with plasma cell hyperplasia, underscoring the importance of tightly regulating signaling within B cells. This review highlights recent advances in our understanding of the function of the Src family tyrosine kinase Lyn in B lymphocytes and its contribution to positive and negative signaling pathways that are dysregulated in autoimmunity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marc Pellegrini, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

Reviewed by:

Aaron James Marshall, University of Manitoba, Canada Stamatis-Nick C. Liossis, University of Patras, Greece Louis Justement, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*Correspondence:

David M. Tarlinton david.tarlinton@monash.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 December 2017 Accepted: 13 February 2018 Published: 01 March 2018

Citation:

Brodie EJ, Infantino S, Low MSY and Tarlinton DM (2018) Lyn, Lupus, and (B) Lymphocytes, a Lesson on the Critical Balance of Kinase Signaling in Immunity. Front. Immunol. 9:401. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00401 Keywords: Lyn, systemic lupus erythematosus, cell signaling, SFK, B cell, B-cell receptor, autoimmunity, lupus

SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS (SLE)

Systemic lupus erythematosus is a heterogeneous autoimmune disease with multiple clinical manifestations including auto-antibodies, dermatological rashes and ulcers, inflammatory markers, hematological deficiencies, arthritis, renal dysfunction, and neurological disorders (1). The incidence of SLE is approximately 1:1,500; however, the prevalence varies significantly with gender, ethnicity, and age (2). The progression of SLE symptoms is mediated by a dysregulation of innate (e.g., dendritic cells, mast cells, and macrophages) and adaptive immune cells (i.e., B and T lymphocytes) (3). Accumulating evidence emphasizes the contribution of B cells in mediating the development of autoimmunity, particularly through the breakdown in tolerance to self-antigens, the secretion of inflammatory cytokines, and the generation of auto-reactive antibodies that result in immune complex deposition in organs such as the kidneys (4–6). In keeping with this, numerous mutations affecting tyrosine kinases have been implicated in autoimmune disease progression (7), highlighting a critical requirement for the stringent regulation of intracellular signaling cascades in immune cells.

This review will focus on intracellular signaling within B cells, specifically on the role of Lyn in regulating these pathways and its contribution to the progression of autoimmune disease.

Lyn: SRC FAMILY TYROSINE KINASE

Lyn (Lck/yes-related novel tyrosine kinase) is a Src family, non-receptor tyrosine kinase found predominantly in myeloid cells and B lymphocytes (8), but it is also detectable in cell types outside of the hematopoietic compartment (9). *Lyn* is located on chromosome 4 A1 in mice and 8q12 in humans (9). In mice, an additional *lyn* gene encoding exons 1–10 is present within the genome but

is not transcribed (10). Alternate splicing of exon 2 results in the translation of two different isoforms of Lyn, annotated as Lyn A (56 kDa) and Lyn B (53 kDa), that differ by an insertion within the N-terminal variable domain (11, 12). Functional analysis of the individual isoforms indicates a similar capacity to phosphorylate substrate proteins (12–14); however, both isoforms are required for normal activation and regulation of internal signaling (13, 14).

Structural/Functional Regulation of Lyn

Lyn shares architectural and sequence homology with the other SFK members present in hematopoietic cells (e.g., Src, Fyn, Yes, Blk, and Hck) (15). The conserved domain organization of SFK members includes an N-terminal/unique domain, Src homology (SH) 3, SH2 and the catalytic/kinase domain. The N-terminal unique domain (SH4) contains sites for myristoylation and palmitoylation that promote localization and interaction with the cellular membrane and also integration into lipid rafts (16–18). Downstream of the N-terminus, SH3 and SH2 domains regulate the conformational and functional state of Lyn (19). Phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine (Y529 in murine Src, Y508 in Lyn) on the C-terminus leads to a closed and inactive conformation via the binding and "latching" of the SH2 domain, which is further stabilized by the interaction with the SH3 domain (20, 21).

Dephosphorylation of the C-terminal tyrosine by phosphatases or competitive binding for the SH2 domain by an interacting protein relieves the inhibitory conformation imposed by SH3/2 domains, which then promotes phosphorylation of the activating tyrosine (Y416 in Src, Y397 in Lyn) within the kinase domain (19, 21, 22). Phosphorylation of Y397, either in cis or in trans, changes the conformation of the activation loop, permitting substrate binding and kinase activity (19, 22, 23). Kinase activity is mediated by interactions between the ATP binding loop (G loop) and the ATP hydrolyzing loop (catalytic loop) that facilitate optimal positioning and hydrolysis of the λ -phosphate group from ATP, respectively (20, 24, 25). The λ -phosphate group is then transferred to a protein substrate that is positioned adjacent to the catalytic loop (25). Dephosphorylation of the activating tyrosine or phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine by Csk (c-Src kinase) decreases the kinase activity of Lyn and other SFKs (26).

Lyn REGULATES POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE PATHWAYS IN B CELLS

Activation of Lyn relies on membrane-bound receptor-type phosphatases such as CD45 and CD148 to dephosphorylate the C-terminal inhibitory tyrosine (27–29). After activation, Lyn binds and phosphorylates substrate proteins that possess tyrosine residues flanked predominantly by acidic residues (30–32). The affinity for particular substrates is further regulated by the phosphorylation of the SH2 domain (33). Key substrates of Lyn include proximal membrane-bound cellular surface receptors containing immunoreceptor tyrosine activating motifs (ITAMs) or immunoreceptor tyrosine inhibitory motifs (ITIMs) within their cytoplasmic tails (34, 35). Phosphorylation of these ITAMs and ITIMs leads to the recruitment and activation of other kinases, phosphatases, and adaptor proteins that enhance or inhibit downstream signaling.

Positive Signaling Cascade

The B cell receptor (BCR) comprises the membrane-bound immunoglobulin (Ig) and the heterodimeric signaling subunit Ig- α /Ig- β (CD79 α / β) that contain ITAMs within their cytoplasmic tails (36). Antigen binding to the BCR induces a variety of signaling cascades that are initiated by the proximal kinase Lyn (**Figure 1**), which phosphorylates $Ig-\alpha/Ig-\beta$ ITAMs thereby creating docking sites for the recruitment and activation of Syk (37-39). Activated Syk leads to the phosphorylation and activation of downstream molecules such as the adaptor protein SH2 domain-containing leukocyte protein of 65 kDa (SLP-65) (also known as BLNK or BASH), Btk, and PLCy2 (40). Upon phosphorylation, SLP-65 organizes a signalosome that promotes calcium (Ca²⁺) flux and the differentiation of developing B cells (41). Phosphorylated SLP-65 also allows the recruitment of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk), Vav Guanine Nucleotide Exchange Factor 1 (Vav1), and Growth Factor Receptor Bound Protein 2 (Grb2) (42).

Phosphorylation of the non-T-cell activation linker (NTAL) by Lyn leads to the recruitment of Grb2, murine son of sevenless homolog (mSOS), and GRB2-Associated Binding Protein 1 (Gab1) (43). Phosphorylation of Gab1 promotes complex formation between SH2 Domain-Containing Transforming Protein 1 (Shc), non-receptor SH2-containing tyrosine phosphatase 2 (SHP-2), and p85 subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) (44). Syk-mediated phosphorylation of Shc promotes the interaction between Grb2 and mSOS, which activates Ras-MAPK pathways (45), while interaction between Shc and Gab1 leads to the activation of PI3K pathway (46, 47).

Syk-mediated phosphorylation of CD19 enables the recruitment and activation of p85, which also promotes membrane localization of PI3K (48, 49). Syk also phosphorylates E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase Cbl, which permits the interaction with p85 and activation of PI3K (50). Similarly, Syk and Btk phosphorylate B cell phosphoinositide 3-kinase adapter protein 1 (BCAP), which localizes p85 to glycolipid-enriched microdomains (GEMs) after anti-IgM stimulation (51). PI3K catalyzes the generation of phosphatidyl inositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3) from phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-trisphosphate (PI(4,5)P2), which in turn is used as a docking site to activate other effector proteins (52). PIP3 is essential for plasma membrane translocation of Akt, placing it in proximity to 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDK1) and rapamycin-insensitive companion of mammalian target of rapamycin (Rictor)/mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR2) allowing threonine and serine phosphorylation of Akt, respectively (53, 54). Akt phosphorylation and activation following BCR cross-linking leads to the inhibition of the pro-apoptotic protein Bad and activation of the pro-survival proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL (55). Additionally, Akt phosphorylates the transcription factor Forkhead box protein O (FOXO) thereby inducing its exclusion from the nucleus and preventing apoptosis while promoting cell proliferation (56, 57). Akt also activates alpha and beta subunits of the I κ B kinase (IKK α/β)



which phosphorylates I κ B α and the p65 nuclear factor kappaB (NF- κ B) subunit/RelA (58). I κ B α phosphorylation leads to its proteasome-mediated degradation and exposure of the nuclear-localization sequence of RelA, which leads to its translocation and up-regulation of pro-proliferation and pro-survival proteins such as c-Myc and Bcl-2 family proteins (59, 60).

Lyn, Syk, Btk, and Blk can also phosphorylate and enhance the activation of phospholipase C gamma 2 (PLC γ 2), which hydrolyzes PI(4,5)P2 to create inositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG), stimulating Ca²⁺ mobilization and protein kinase C (PKC), respectively (61–64). PLC γ 2 phosphorylation also stimulates the activation of MAPK pathways and nuclear location of NF- κ B and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NF-AT) (65–67). Additionally, PKC activation leads to the inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK-3 β), which promotes the accumulation of beta-catenin in the nucleus and thus up-regulates the expression of c-Myc and cyclin D (68).

B cell scaffold protein with ankyrin repeats 1 (BANK1) interacts with PLC γ 2, which is mediated by B-lymphocyte kinase (Blk) (69). BANK1 promotes the Lyn-mediated phosphorylation of the inositol trisphosphate receptor (IP3R) located on the endoplasmic reticulum which mediates Ca²⁺ flux (70).

Negative Signaling Cascade

The role of Lyn in generating the positive signaling cascade in B cells is not essential and can be compensated for the other SFKs (71, 72). However, the role of Lyn in the initiation of negative

feedback loops that not only regulate downstream signaling molecules but also limit the activity of SFKs is unique (35, 73). In addition to the phosphorylation of ITAMs after BCR stimulation, Lyn phosphorylates ITIMs contained within receptors including CD22, FcγRIIB, PIR-B, PD-1, CD66a (CEACAM1), CD5, and CD72 (35, 74–79), which act as docking sites for the binding and activation of non-receptor SH2-containing tyrosine phosphatases 1 and 2 (SHP-1 and SHP-2) and, in the case of FcγRIIB, phosphatidylinositol phosphatase 5 (SHIP-1) (76, 80–86). SHP-1 has been demonstrated to dephosphorylate and, therefore, down-regulate the activity of Btk, Syk, and Lyn, leading to the inhibition of signaling cascades (85, 87–89). Similarly, SHP-2 has been shown to dephosphorylate Ig- β , Syk, and PLC γ 2 following BCR cross-linking (76). However, SHP-2 has also been implicated in enhancing various signaling pathways (90).

Upon BCR activation (**Figure 2**), SHIP-1 dephosphorylates PIP3 to P(3,4)P2, which decreases PI3K- and Akt-mediated signaling (91). The decrease of available PIP3 also leads to the down-regulation of Btk activity and subsequent reduction of PLC γ 2-mediated Ca²⁺ mobilization (92). Activated SHIP-1 recruits downstream of tyrosine kinase 1 (Dok1/p62dok), which down-regulates MAPK signaling pathways (93). Fc γ RIIB phosphorylation leads to the Dok3-mediated recruitment of SHIP-1 into the Grb2/Shc/mSOS complex, which inhibits SFK-dependent activation of Syk and decreases NF- κ B and MAPK signaling pathways (94–97). A more direct role of Lyn in negative signaling is the phosphorylation of the Csk-binding protein/phosphoprotein



associated with glyco-sphingolipid microdomains (Cbp/PAG), which activates Csk to down-regulate the activity of Lyn and other active SFKs (98).

Lyn also mediates internalization of the BCR, which acts to dampen signaling by the BCR (99) and may also play a role in the dephosphorylation of BCAP, which down-regulates PI3K activity (51). Similar to the regulation of active Src (100), the kinase activity of Lyn also promotes its own ubiquitination and subsequent degradation in B cells, most likely via the activity of Csk and suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins (101–104).

IN VIVO MODELS OF Lyn ACTIVITY AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Consistent with the important role for negative signaling in the hematopoietic compartment, mice lacking Lyn (Lyn^{-/-}) progressively develop symptoms of autoimmunity that are comparable to SLE in humans (105). Lyn^{-/-} mice produce high titers of antinuclear antibodies (ANA) and develop splenomegaly, systemic inflammation, antibody complex deposition in the kidneys and glomerulonephritis (105). B cells from Lyn^{-/-} mice display hyper-phosphorylated Akt, MEK1/2, Erk1/2, and JNK compared to wild-type (WT) B cells after BCR stimulation, indicating enhanced positive signaling in the absence of negative feedback inhibition (23, 72, 106). In keeping with this, there is a reduced phosphorylation of FcγRIIB, CD22, SHP-1, and SHIP-1 (73, 74).

The activation of Lyn-dependent inhibitory signaling in mature B cells is essential for maintaining B cell tolerance (107), including B cell anergy (108). In Lyn-deficient mice, the absence

of inhibitory signaling in mature B cells increases their sensitivity to antigen stimulation and this population of now auto-reactive cells is selectively depleted via clonal deletion (109). As such, Lyn^{-/-} mice show a significant reduction in naive, mature B cells in the periphery compared to WT mice despite similar frequencies of newly formed, immature B cells (105). The naive B cells that do persist in the periphery of Lyn^{-/-} mice are, however, hyper-responsive to anti-IgM stimulation, show delayed but increased Ca²⁺ mobilization and express markers of activation (107, 109-111). Additionally, antibody secreting B cells (plasma cells) persist in lymphoid tissues at 10-times normal frequency (105, 111). The myeloid compartment is also expanded, and T cells display markers of activation (101, 112). Increased serum levels of IL-6, IFN- γ , and BAFF, primarily produced by B cells, T cells, and myeloid cells respectively, promote the activation and proliferation of immune cells, further driving autoimmunity (112, 113).

Components of the autoimmune phenotype of Lyn^{-/-} mice are B cell intrinsic. This has been demonstrated using a B-cellspecific deletion of Lyn (Lyn^{fl/fl} mb-1Cre), which recapitulates the generation of hyper-responsive B cells, auto-antibodies and the development of glomerulonephritis (114). This phenotype may be dependent on signaling through toll-like receptor (TLR) adaptor protein myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88), as B-cell-specific deletion of MyD88 from Lyn^{-/-} B cells ameliorated auto-antibody production, T cell activation, myeloid expansion, and the development of glomerulonephritis (114). Additionally, global deletion of MyD88 from Lyn^{-/-} mice attenuated autoimmune disease development, which was considered to be due to reduced production of inflammatory
cytokines IL-6 and IL-12 by $Lyn^{-/-}$ dendritic cells (115, 116). This result was supported by Lyn being found to negatively regulate TLR-MyD88-IRF5-dependent expression of Type 1 IFNs in dendritic cells and by the double knock out of Lyn and IRF5 ($Lyn^{-/-}$ IRF5^{-/-}) in mice ameliorating SLE-like pathology (117). Perhaps surprisingly, the persistence of plasma cells was found to be independent of autoimmune disease and intrinsic to the $Lyn^{-/-}$ hematopoietic compartment (118). Similarly, mice double deficient in Lyn and IL-6 retain the plasma cell hyperplasia but show a dramatic reduction in kidney damage, splenomegaly, and the production of ANAs (112). As in B cells, Lyn controls intracellular signaling intensities within plasma cells in response to stimulation by cytokines thought to play a critical role in plasma cell survival (118).

The deletion of MyD88 in Lyn^{-/-} mice also decreased spontaneous germinal center (GC) formation thus implicating GC reactions in the generation of pathogenic ANA in Lyn^{-/-} mice (119). In line with this, removing T cells (TCR β / δ ^{-/-}) or deleting the adaptor protein SAP (SAP^{-/-}), thereby preventing T cell B cell interactions required for GC formation, leads to the reduction of IgG auto-antibodies in Lyn^{-/-} mice (119). Similarly, deleting IL-21, a key regulator of GC responses and plasma cell formation (120), in Lyn^{-/-} mice leads to reduced IgG ANAs but does not alleviate IgM ANA, plasmacytosis, or glomerulonephritis (121), suggesting that IgM and/or IgA can mediate the development of autoimmunity (122). In keeping with this, the autoimmune disease in the *sanroque* lupus mouse model also develops in the absence of germinal centers and depends on IgM (123).

While Lyn can act as a positive or negative regulator of signaling cascades, its role as a negative regulator is critical to the development of the phenotype seen in Lyn^{-/-} mice. Indeed, the fact that dysregulation of other modulators of negative signaling, which are themselves targets of Lyn, also leads to autoimmunity (e.g., CD22, FcyRIIB, SHP-1, and SHIP-1) (124-128) helps define the pathways involved. This is also apparent in the compounding autoimmune disease phenotype in mice heterozygous in Lyn and SHP-1 (Lyn+/-, Mev+/-) (129). Finally, the importance of Lyn-regulated pathways in hematopoietic cells other than B cells is revealed by co-deletion of Btk, a key intermediate of several positive signaling pathways, from Lyn^{-/-} mice. This alleviates symptoms of autoimmunity and the production of auto-antibodies, but B cells remain hyper-responsive to anti-IgM stimulation as measured by Ca²⁺ mobilization and the phosphorylation of Erk1/2 and Akt (130, 131). Consistent with this, mice deficient in Lyn and p1108, a PI3K isoform, also show a reduction in inflammation, splenomegaly, T cell activation, ANA production, and glomerulonephritis, while hyper-phosphorylation of Akt and Erk1/2 compared to control mice after BCR cross-linking remained (132), indicating a unique requirement for Lyn in regulating these signaling responses, but one that is insufficient by itself to permit development of disease.

Lyn's enzymatic activity appears to be critical to its function, as mice expressing Lyn with no or impaired kinase activity still develop autoimmune disease, albeit with delayed onset and reduced severity (23, 24). B cells from Lyn^{Mld4} or kinase dead Lyn (Lyn^{KD}) mice, harboring a mutation within the activation loop,

display similar signaling kinetics to Lyn^{-/-} B cells, with hyper-Ca²⁺ mobilization, hyper-phosphorylated Erk1/2, Akt, and JNK and reduced phosphorylation of Syk, SHIP-1, and SHP-1 after BCR stimulation (23). Expansion of the myeloid compartment, splenomegaly, and the production of IgG anti-dsDNA antibodies were significantly reduced in Lyn^{KD} compared to Lyn^{-/-} mice, but evidence of immune complex deposition in the kidneys remained (23). In contrast are Lyn^{WeeB} mice, with a mutation in the G-loop of Lyn that leaves partial kinase activity, conferring B cell signaling kinetics that are intermediate between WT and $Lyn^{-/-}$ (24). Stimulation of Lyn^{WeeB} B cells results in a partial decrease in the phosphorylation of Syk, Btk, PLCy2, SHIP-1, and CD22 and a slight increase in the phosphorylation of Erk1/2, Akt, and JNK compared to WT B cells (24). However, in older Lyn^{WeeB} mice, splenomegaly, anti-dsDNA antibodies, and glomerulonephritis were comparable to those in Lyn^{-/-} mice (24), indicating that the partial positive signaling permitted by Lyn^{WeeB} requires greater negative signaling to counterbalance its activity and prevent the development of autoimmunity. This is exemplified in mice expressing a mutant form of constitutively active Lyn (Lyn $^{\rm Y508F}$ or Lyn^{up/up}), as they develop an autoimmune disease with an increased rate of mortality (male-specific) compared to Lyn-/mice (102). Lyn^{up/up} B cells display constitutive phosphorylation of proteins involved in positive (Syk, PLC_{γ2}) and negative (CD22, SHP-1, SHIP-1, FcyRIIB) signaling pathways, which is further increased after BCR stimulation (102). Despite the increased phosphorylation of ITIM-containing negative regulators, Lyn^{up/up} B cells display enhanced Ca²⁺ mobilization compared even to Lyn^{-/-} B cells, indicating that the increased positive signaling further outweighs the inhibitory signaling capacity within these cells (102). Thus, in the hematopoietic compartment, Lyn activity controls both negative and positive signaling and its dysregulation in mice is responsible for the breakdown of tolerance in B cells and progressive development of autoimmunity.

Lyn AND SLE

Systemic lupus erythematosus is a heterogeneous disease with varied clinical presentations and manifestations (1). It is therefore not surprising that its cause is multifactorial, with numerous genetic and environmental factors contributing to pathogenesis (1, 133). As such, a single gene defect in mice such as $Lyn^{-/-}$ is unlikely to replicate the complex phenotype seen within SLE in humans. Despite this, a reduction in Lyn expression, via increased turnover or reduced transcription, and altered sub-cellular localization are reported in patients with SLE (134-136). However, a significant susceptibility association of the Lyn locus with SLE has only been determined in a single case-control association study (137). Interestingly, proteins involved in the positive (Blk, BANK1) and negative (PTPN22/PEP, Csk, FcyRIIA, FcyRIIB, FcyRIIIA, FcyRIIIB, SOCS1) signaling pathways in B cells have all been linked to SLE via genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and this highlights the importance of regulating these signaling cascades to avoid disease onset or progression (138-143). Similarly, Blimp1 and Ets1, transcription factors involved in regulating plasma cell development, are also linked with SLE (141, 144). Mice deficient in Ets1 show enhanced generation of plasma cells and auto-antibodies, which are symptoms of autoimmunity (145). Recently, Lyn was linked with regulating *Ets1* expression, via the activation of CD22 and SHP-1 reducing the Btk-dependent down-regulation of *Ets1* (146, 147).

Lyn^{-/-} mice are one of the numerous mouse models reported to develop an SLE-like illness, with none being a perfect recapitulation of the spectrum of human disease (148). Regardless, the Lyn-/mouse model has been and remains a useful tool in dissecting the critical role that B cell signaling pathways play in the development of autoimmunity. Indeed, other models in conjunction with Lyn^{-/-} mice have confirmed the importance of B cell dysregulation to the development of SLE-like autoimmunity. Deleting B cells in the MRL/lpr mouse model, for example, significantly decreases disease progression and mortality compared to mice that remain B cell replete (149). Furthermore, comparison of Lyn^{-/-} with other mouse models has identified several potential novel therapies for patients with SLE such as inhibitors of BTK and HDAC (150, 151). Further determination of the molecular pathways responsible for B cell dysregulation in SLE-like autoimmunity will likely assist in the design of new treatments to ameliorate disease severity.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The role of Lyn in B cells involves fine-tuning of BCR signaling, balancing positive and negative signals to maintain tolerance to self-antigens while permitting responsiveness to foreign antigens. The Lyn-mediated phosphorylation of ITIM-containing negative receptors and subsequent activation of the inhibitory phosphatases, SHP-1 and SHIP-1, that leads to the down-regulation of BCR-mediated signaling cascades and inhibition of SFK activity

REFERENCES

- Shaikh MF, Jordan N, D'Cruz DP. Systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Med (2017) 17(1):78–83. doi:10.7861/clinmedicine.17-1-78
- Lim SS, Bayakly AR, Helmick CG, Gordon C, Easley KA, Drenkard C. The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus, 2002–2004: the georgia lupus registry. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(2):357–68. doi:10.1002/ art.38239
- Mohan C, Putterman C. Genetics and pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2015) 11:329. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2015.33
- Cambier JC. Autoimmunity risk alleles: hotspots in B cell regulatory signaling pathways. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(5):1928–31. doi:10.1172/JCI69289
- Morawski PA, Bolland S. Expanding the B cell-centric view of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(5):373–82. doi:10.1016/j.it. 2017.02.001
- Sanz I. Rationale for B cell targeting in SLE. Semin Immunopathol (2014) 36(3):365–75. doi:10.1007/s00281-014-0430-z
- Shao W-H, Cohen PL. The role of tyrosine kinases in systemic lupus erythematosus and their potential as therapeutic targets. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2014) 10(5):573–82. doi:10.1586/1744666X.2014.893827
- Yamanashi Y, Mori S, Yoshida M, Kishimoto T, Inoue K, Yamamoto T, et al. Selective expression of a protein-tyrosine kinase, p56lyn, in hematopoietic cells and association with production of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86(17):6538–42. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.17.6538
- Uhlén M, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science* (2015) 347(6220): 1260419. doi:10.1126/science.1260419
- Hibbs ML, Stanley E, Maglitto R, Dunn AR. Identification of a duplication of the mouse Lyn gene. *Gene* (1995) 156(2):175–81. doi:10.1016/0378-1119(95)00022-X

represents a critical component in B cell signaling that prevents the development of autoimmunity.

Although defects in Lyn^{-/-} mice are not an identical model for human SLE, the investigation of Lyn and the pathways it modulates have highlighted the delicate balance inherent in B cell kinase signaling cascades and the devastating consequences that can occur when they are dysregulated. Numerous SLE susceptibility genes identified through GWAS are also linked with other autoimmune diseases indicating the involvement of shared pathways that ultimately lead to the loss of tolerance (152). Therefore, future experiments examining genomic regulation or global phospho-proteomics in models of SLE could be useful in identifying all the components of the intracellular pathways involved and through that, potential therapeutic targets.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EB, SI, and ML drafted the article. DT contributed to writing and provided critical review. All authors were involved in the revising process and approve the manuscript for submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work within DT laboratory is supported by a Distinguished Innovator Award from the Alliance for Lupus Research (formerly Lupus Research Institute). ML is funded by a CRB Blackburn scholarship (GNT1075151) jointly from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Australia and Royal Australasian College of Physicians. DT is also a NHMRC Research Fellow.

- Stanley E, Ralph S, McEwen S, Boulet I, Holtzman DA, Lock P, et al. Alternatively spliced murine lyn mRNAs encode distinct proteins. *Mol Cell Biol* (1991) 11(7):3399–406. doi:10.1128/mcb.11.7.3399
- Yi TL, Bolen JB, Ihle JN. Hematopoietic cells express two forms of lyn kinase differing by 21 amino acids in the amino terminus. *Mol Cell Biol* (1991) 11(5):2391–8. doi:10.1128/mcb.11.5.2391
- Alvarez-Errico D, Yamashita Y, Suzuki R, Odom S, Furumoto Y, Yamashita T, et al. Functional analysis of lyn kinase A and B isoforms reveals redundant and distinct roles in FceRI-dependent mast cell activation. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(9):5000–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904064
- Yamanashi Y, Miyasaka M, Takeuchi M, Ilic D, Mizuguchi J, Yamamoto T. Differential responses of p56lyn and p53lyn, products of alternatively spliced lyn mRNA, on stimulation of B-cell antigen receptor. *Cell Regul* (1991) 2(12):979–87.
- Boggon TJ, Eck MJ. Structure and regulation of Src family kinases. Oncogene (2004) 23(48):7918–27. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208081
- Oneyama C, Iino T, Saito K, Suzuki K, Ogawa A, Okada M. Transforming potential of Src family kinases is limited by the cholesterol-enriched membrane microdomain. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29(24):6462–72. doi:10.1128/MCB. 00941-09
- Patwardhan P, Resh MD. Myristoylation and membrane binding regulate c-Src stability and kinase activity. *Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 30(17):4094–107. doi:10.1128/MCB.00246-10
- Sato I, Obata Y, Kasahara K, Nakayama Y, Fukumoto Y, Yamasaki T, et al. Differential trafficking of Src, Lyn, Yes and Fyn is specified by the state of palmitoylation in the SH4 domain. *J Cell Sci* (2009) 122(7):965–75. doi:10.1242/ jcs.034843
- Williams NK, Lucet IS, Klinken SP, Ingley E, Rossjohn J. Crystal structures of the Lyn protein tyrosine kinase domain in its apo- and inhibitor-bound state. *J Biol Chem* (2009) 284(1):284–91. doi:10.1074/jbc.M807850200

- Xu W, Doshi A, Lei M, Eck MJ, Harrison SC. Crystal structures of c-Src reveal features of its autoinhibitory mechanism. *Mol Cell* (1999) 3(5):629–38. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80356-1
- Cowan-Jacob SW, Fendrich G, Manley PW, Jahnke W, Fabbro D, Liebetanz J, et al. The crystal structure of a c-Src complex in an active conformation suggests possible steps in c-Src activation. *Structure* (2005) 13(6):861–71. doi:10.1016/j.str.2005.03.012
- Breitenlechner CB, Kairies NA, Honold K, Scheiblich S, Koll H, Greiter E, et al. Crystal structures of active Src kinase domain complexes. *J Mol Biol* (2005) 353(2):222–31. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2005.08.023
- Verhagen AM, Wallace ME, Goradia A, Jones SA, Croom HA, Metcalf D, et al. A kinase-dead allele of Lyn attenuates autoimmune disease normally associated with Lyn deficiency. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(4):2020–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803127
- Barouch-Bentov R, Che J, Lee CC, Yang Y, Herman A, Jia Y, et al. A conserved salt bridge in the G loop of multiple protein kinases is important for catalysis and for in vivo Lyn function. *Mol Cell* (2009) 33(1):43–52. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2008.12.024
- Roskoski R Jr. Src protein-tyrosine kinase structure and regulation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2004) 324(4):1155–64. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.09.171
- Okada M, Nada S, Yamanashi Y, Yamamoto T, Nakagawa H. CSK: a proteintyrosine kinase involved in regulation of src family kinases. *J Biol Chem* (1991) 266(36):24249–52.
- Zhu JW, Brdicka T, Katsumoto TR, Lin J, Weiss A. Structurally distinct phosphatases CD45 and CD148 both regulate B cell and macrophage immunoreceptor signaling. *Immunity* (2008) 28(2):183–96. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.11.024
- Zikherman J, Doan K, Parameswaran R, Raschke W, Weiss A. Quantitative differences in CD45 expression unmask functions for CD45 in B-cell development, tolerance, and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(1):E3–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.1117374108
- Skrzypczynska KM, Zhu JW, Weiss A. Positive regulation of Lyn kinase by CD148 is required for B cell receptor signaling in B1 but not B2 B cells. *Immunity* (2016) 45(6):1232–44. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.013
- Ritz A, Shakhnarovich G, Salomon AR, Raphael BJ. Discovery of phosphorylation motif mixtures in phosphoproteomics data. *Bioinformatics* (2009) 25(1):14–21. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btn569
- Schmitz R, Baumann G, Gram H. Catalytic Specificity of phosphotyrosine kinases Blk, Lyn, c-Src and Syk as assessed by phage display. J Mol Biol (1996) 260(5):664–77. doi:10.1006/jmbi.1996.0429
- Amano M, Hamaguchi T, Shohag MH, Kozawa K, Kato K, Zhang X, et al. Kinase-interacting substrate screening is a novel method to identify kinase substrates. J Cell Biol (2015) 209(6):895. doi:10.1083/jcb.201412008
- 33. Jin LL, Wybenga-Groot LE, Tong J, Taylor P, Minden MD, Trudel S, et al. Tyrosine phosphorylation of the Lyn Src Homology 2 (SH2) domain modulates its binding affinity and specificity. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2015) 14(3):695–706. doi:10.1074/mcp.M114.044404
- Johnson SA, Pleiman CM, Pao L, Schneringer J, Hippen K, Cambier JC. Phosphorylated immunoreceptor signaling motifs (ITAMs) exhibit unique abilities to bind and activate Lyn and Syk tyrosine kinases. *J Immunol* (1995) 155(10):4596–603.
- Nishizumi H, Horikawa K, Mlinaric-Rascan I, Yamamoto TA. Double-edged kinase Lyn: a positive and negative regulator for antigen receptor-mediated signals. J Exp Med (1998) 187(8):1343–8. doi:10.1084/jem.187.8.1343
- $36. \ Reth M. Antigen receptortail clue. Nature (1989) 338: 383. doi: 10.1038/338383 b0$
- Yamanashi Y, Kakiuchi T, Mizuguchi J, Yamamoto T, Toyoshima K. Association of B cell antigen receptor with protein tyrosine kinase Lyn. *Science* (1991) 251(4990):192–4. doi:10.1126/science.1702903
- Pao LI, Famiglietti SJ, Cambier JC. Asymmetrical phosphorylation and function of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif tyrosines in B cell antigen receptor signal transduction. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(7):3305–14.
- Stepanek O, Draber P, Drobek A, Horejsi V, Brdicka T. Nonredundant roles of Src-family kinases and Syk in the initiation of B-cell antigen receptor signaling. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(4):1807–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202401
- Niiro H, Clark EA. Regulation of B-cell fate by antigen-receptor signals. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2:945. doi:10.1038/nri955
- Chiu CW, Dalton M, Ishiai M, Kurosaki T, Chan AC. BLNK: molecular scaffolding through 'cis'-mediated organization of signaling proteins. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(23):6461–72. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf658

- Geahlen RL. Syk and pTyrd: signaling through the B cell antigen receptor. Biochim Biophys Acta (2009) 1793(7):1115–27. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009. 03.004
- Brdička T, Imrich M, Angelisová P, Brdičková N, Horváth O, Špička J, et al. Non-T cell activation linker (NTAL). J Exp Med (2002) 196(12):1617. doi:10.1084/jem.20021405
- 44. Ingham RJ, Holgado-Madruga M, Siu C, Wong AJ, Gold MR. The Gab1 protein is a docking site for multiple proteins involved in signaling by the B cell antigen receptor. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273(46):30630–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.46.30630
- Lai K-MV, Pawson T. The ShcA phosphotyrosine docking protein sensitizes cardiovascular signaling in the mouse embryo. *Genes Dev* (2000) 14(9):1132–45. doi:10.1101/gad.14.9.1132
- Ravichandran KS. Signaling via Shc family adapter proteins. Oncogene (2001) 20:6322. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1204776
- 47. Ingham RJ, Santos L, Dang-Lawson M, Holgado-Madruga M, Dudek P, Maroun CR, et al. The Gab1 docking protein links the B cell antigen receptor to the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling pathway and to the SHP2 tyrosine phosphatase. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(15):12257–65. doi:10.1074/jbc. M010590200
- Yokozeki T, Adler K, Lankar D, Bonnerot C. B cell receptor-mediated Sykindependent activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, Ras, and mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(3):1328. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.171.3.1328
- Otero DC, Omori SA, Rickert RC. CD19-dependent activation of Akt kinase in B-lymphocytes. J Biol Chem (2001) 276(2):1474–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003918200
- Beitz LO, Fruman DA, Kurosaki T, Cantley LC, Scharenberg AM. SYK is upstream of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in B cell receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274(46):32662–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.46.32662
- Okada T, Maeda A, Iwamatsu A, Gotoh K, Kurosaki T. BCAP: the tyrosine kinase substrate that connects B cell receptor to phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation. *Immunity* (2000) 13(6):817–27. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00079-0
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens L, Hawkins P. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13:195. doi:10.1038/ nrm3290
- Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science* (2005) 307(5712):1098. doi:10.1126/science.1106148
- Andjelkovic M, Alessi DR, Meier R, Fernandez A, Lamb NJC, Frech M, et al. Role of translocation in the activation and function of protein kinase B. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272(50):31515–24. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.50.31515
- Datta SR, Dudek H, Tao X, Masters S, Fu H, Gotoh Y, et al. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell* (1997) 91(2):231–41. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80405-5
- Werner M, Hobeika E, Jumaa H. Role of PI3K in the generation and survival of B cells. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 237(1):55–71. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010. 00934.x
- Yamagata K, Daitoku H, Takahashi Y, Namiki K, Hisatake K, Kako K, et al. Arginine methylation of FOXO transcription factors inhibits their phosphorylation by Akt. *Mol Cell* (2008) 32(2):221–31. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.09.013
- Bai D, Ueno L, Vogt PK. Akt-mediated regulation of NFκB and the essentialness of NFκB for the oncogenicity of PI3K and Akt. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 125(12):2863–70. doi:10.1002/ijc.24748
- Grumont RJ, Strasser A, Gerondakis S. B cell growth is controlled by phosphatidylinosotol 3-kinase-dependent induction of Rel/NF-κB regulated c-myc transcription. *Mol Cell* (2002) 10(6):1283–94. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765 (02)00779-7
- Sen R. Control of B lymphocyte apoptosis by the transcription factor NF-κB. Immunity (2006) 25(6):871–83. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.12.003
- Li Z, Wahl MI, Eguinoa A, Stephens LR, Hawkins PT, Witte ON. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-γ activates Bruton's tyrosine kinase in concert with Src family kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(25):13820–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.25.13820
- Ishiai M, Kurosaki M, Pappu R, Okawa K, Ronko I, Fu C, et al. BLNK required for coupling Syk to PLCγ2 and Rac1-JNK in B cells. *Immunity* (1999) 10(1):117–25. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80012-6
- Engels N, Wollscheid B, Wienands J. Association of SLP-65/BLNK with the B cell antigen receptor through a non-ITAM tyrosine of Ig-α. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) 31(7):2126–34. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200107)31:7<2126:AID-IMMU2126>3.0.CO;2-O

- 64. Kabak S, Skaggs BJ, Gold MR, Affolter M, West KL, Foster MS, et al. The direct recruitment of BLNK to immunoglobulin α couples the B-cell antigen receptor to distal signaling pathways. *Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 22(8):2524–35. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.8.2524-2535.2002
- 65. Antony P, Petro JB, Carlesso G, Shinners NP, Lowe J, Khan WN. B-cell antigen receptor activates transcription factors NFAT (nuclear factor of activated T-cells) and NF-κB (nuclear factor κB) via a mechanism that involves diacylglycerol. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2004) 32(1):113–5. doi:10.1042/bst0320113
- Petro JB, Khan WN. Phospholipase C-γ2 couples Bruton's tyrosine kinase to the NF-κB signaling pathway in B lymphocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(3):1715–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M009137200
- 67. Hashimoto A, Okada H, Jiang A, Kurosaki M, Greenberg S, Clark EA, et al. Involvement of guanosine triphosphatases and phospholipase C- γ 2 in extracellular signal-regulated kinase, c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinase, and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by the B cell antigen receptor. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188(7):1287–95. doi:10.1084/jem.188.7.1287
- Christian SL, Sims PV, Gold MR. The B cell antigen receptor regulates the transcriptional activator β-catenin via protein kinase C-mediated inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(2):758–69. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.169.2.758
- Bernal-Quirós M, Wu Y-Y, Alarcón-Riquelme ME, Castillejo-López C. BANK1 and BLK act through phospholipase C gamma 2 in B-cell signaling. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(3):e59842. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059842
- Yokoyama K, Su IH, Tezuka T, Yasuda T, Mikoshiba K, Tarakhovsky A, et al. BANK regulates BCR-induced calcium mobilization by promoting tyrosine phosphorylation of IP(3) receptor. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(1–2):83–92. doi:10.1093/emboj/21.1.83
- Saijo K, Schmedt C, Su IH, Karasuyama H, Lowell CA, Reth M, et al. Essential role of Src-family protein tyrosine kinases in NF-κB activation during B cell development. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:274. doi:10.1038/ni893
- 72. Chan VWF, Meng F, Soriano P, DeFranco AL, Lowell CA. Characterization of the B lymphocyte populations in Lyn-deficient mice and the role of Lyn in signal initiation and down-regulation. *Immunity* (1997) 7(1):69–81. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80511-7
- Smith KGC, Tarlinton DM, Doody GM, Hibbs ML, Fearon DT. Inhibition of the B cell by CD22: a requirement for Lyn. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187(5):807–11. doi:10.1084/jem.187.5.807
- Chan VWF, Lowell CA, DeFranco AL. Defective negative regulation of antigen receptor signaling in Lyn-deficient B lymphocytes. *Curr Biol* (1998) 8(10):545–53. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(98)70223-4
- Ho LH, Uehara T, Chen C-C, Kubagawa H, Cooper MD. Constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation of the inhibitory paired Ig-like receptor PIR-B. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(26):15086–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.26. 15086
- Okazaki T, Maeda A, Nishimura H, Kurosaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 immunoreceptor inhibits B cell receptor-mediated signaling by recruiting src homology 2-domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 2 to phosphotyrosine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(24):13866–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.231486598
- 77. Adachi T, Flaswinkel H, Yakura H, Reth M, Tsubata T. Cutting edge: the B cell surface protein CD72 recruits the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 upon tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(10):4662.
- Skubitz KM, Campbell KD, Ahmed K, Skubitz AP. CD66 family members are associated with tyrosine kinase activity in human neutrophils. *J Immunol* (1995) 155(11):5382.
- Ochi H, Watanabe T. Negative regulation of B cell receptor-mediated signaling in B-1 cells through CD5 and Ly49 co-receptors via Lyn kinase activity. *Int Immunol* (2000) 12(10):1417–23. doi:10.1093/intimm/12.10.1417
- Cornall RJ, Cyster JG, Hibbs ML, Dunn AR, Otipoby KL, Clark EA, et al. Polygenic autoimmune traits: Lyn, CD22, and SHP-1 are limiting elements of a biochemical pathway regulating BCR signaling and selection. *Immunity* (1998) 8(4):497–508. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80554-3
- Ono M, Bolland S, Tempst P, Ravetch JV. Role of the inositol phosphatase SHIP in negative regulation of the immune system by the receptor FcγRIIB. *Nature* (1996) 383(6597):263–6. doi:10.1038/383263a0
- Ono M, Okada H, Bolland S, Yanagi S, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. Deletion of SHIP or SHP-1 reveals two distinct pathways for inhibitory signaling. *Cell* (1997) 90(2):293–301. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80337-2
- 83. D'Ambrosio D, Hippen K, Minskoff S, Mellman I, Pani G, Siminovitch K, et al. Recruitment and activation of PTP1C in negative regulation of antigen

receptor signaling by Fc gamma RIIB1. Science (1995) 268(5208):293-7. doi:10.1126/science.7716523

- Doody GM, Justement LB, Delibrias CC, Matthews RJ, Lin J, Thomas ML, et al. A role in B cell activation for CD22 and the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP. *Science* (1995) 269(5221):242. doi:10.1126/science.7618087
- Maeda A, Scharenberg AM, Tsukada S, Bolen JB, Kinet J-P, Kurosaki T. Paired immunoglobulin-like receptor B (PIR-B) inhibits BCR-induced activation of Syk and Btk by SHP-1. *Oncogene* (1999) 18:2291. doi:10.1038/sj.onc. 1202552
- Chen T, Zimmermann W, Parker J, Chen I, Maeda A, Bolland S. Biliary glycoprotein (BGPa, CD66a, CEACAM1) mediates inhibitory signals. *J Leukoc Biol* (2001) 70(2):335–40. doi:10.1189/jlb.70.2.335
- Zhang J, Somani A-K, Siminovitch KA. Roles of the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase in the negative regulation of cell signalling. *Semin Immunol* (2000) 12(4):361–78. doi:10.1006/smim.2000.0223
- Yang W, McKenna SD, Jiao H, Tabrizi M, Lynes MA, Shultz LD, et al. SHP-1 deficiency in B-lineage cells is associated with heightened lyn protein expression and increased lyn kinase activity. *Exp Hematol* (1998) 26(12):1126–32.
- 89. Mizuno K, Tagawa Y, Mitomo K, Arimura Y, Hatano N, Katagiri T, et al. Src homology region 2 (SH2) domain-containing phosphatase-1 dephosphorylates B cell linker protein/SH2 domain leukocyte protein of 65 kDa and selectively regulates c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinase activation in B cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(3):1344. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.3.1344
- Tamir I, Dal Porto JM, Cambier JC. Cytoplasmic protein tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2: regulators of B cell signal transduction. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2000) 12(3):307–15. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00092-3
- Aman MJ, Lamkin TD, Okada H, Kurosaki T, Ravichandran KS. The inositol phosphatase SHIP inhibits Akt/PKB activation in B cells. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273(51):33922–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.51.33922
- Bolland S, Pearse RN, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. SHIP modulates immune receptor responses by regulating membrane association of Btk. *Immunity* (1998) 8(4):509–16. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80555-5
- 93. Zhao M, Schmitz AAP, Qin Y, Di Cristofano A, Pandolfi PP, Van Aelst L. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent membrane recruitment of P62(dok) is essential for its negative effect on mitogen-activated protein (Map) kinase activation. J Exp Med (2001) 194(3):265–74. doi:10.1084/jem.194.3.265
- 94. Stork B, Neumann K, Goldbeck I, Alers S, Kähne T, Naumann M, et al. Subcellular localization of Grb2 by the adaptor protein Dok-3 restricts the intensity of Ca(2+) signaling in B cells. *EMBO J* (2007) 26(4):1140–9. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601557
- 95. Honma M, Higuchi O, Shirakata M, Yasuda T, Shibuya H, Iemura S-I, et al. Dok-3 sequesters Grb2 and inhibits the Ras-Erk pathway downstream of protein-tyrosine kinases. *Genes Cells* (2006) 11(2):143–51. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2443.2006.00926.x
- Robson JD, Davidson D, Veillette A. Inhibition of the Jun N-terminal protein kinase pathway by SHIP-1, a lipid phosphatase that interacts with the adaptor molecule Dok-3. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24(6):2332–43. doi:10.1128/ MCB.24.6.2332-2343.2004
- Lemay S, Davidson D, Latour S, Veillette A. Dok-3, a novel adapter molecule involved in the negative regulation of immunoreceptor signaling. *Mol Cell Biol* (2000) 20(8):2743–54. doi:10.1128/MCB.20.8.2743-2754.2000
- Xu Y, Huntington ND, Harder KW, Nandurkar H, Hibbs ML, Tarlinton DM. Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase activity in B cells is negatively regulated by Lyn tyrosine kinase. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90:903. doi:10.1038/icb. 2012.31
- 99. Ma H, Yankee TM, Hu J, Asai DJ, Harrison ML, Geahlen RL. Visualization of Syk-antigen receptor interactions using green fluorescent protein: differential roles for Syk and Lyn in the regulation of receptor capping and internalization. J Immunol (2001) 166(3):1507. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.3.1507
- Hakak Y, Martin GS. Ubiquitin-dependent degradation of active Src. Curr Biol (1999) 9(18):S1–1042. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(99)80453-9
- 101. Harder KW, Parsons LM, Armes J, Evans N, Kountouri N, Clark R, et al. Gain- and loss-of-function Lyn mutant mice define a critical inhibitory role for Lyn in the myeloid lineage. *Immunity* (2001) 15(4):603–15. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(01)00208-4
- 102. Hibbs ML, Harder KW, Armes J, Kountouri N, Quilici C, Casagranda F, et al. Sustained activation of Lyn tyrosine kinase in vivo leads to autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196(12):1593–604. doi:10.1084/jem.20020515

- 103. Ingley E, Schneider JR, Payne CJ, McCarthy DJ, Harder KW, Hibbs ML, et al. Csk-binding protein mediates sequential enzymatic down-regulation and degradation of Lyn in erythropoietin-stimulated cells. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(42):31920–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M602637200
- Ingley E. Csk-binding protein can regulate Lyn signals controlling cell morphology. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2009) 41(6):1332–43. doi:10.1016/j. biocel.2008.12.001
- 105. Hibbs ML, Tarlinton DM, Armes J, Grail D, Hodgson G, Maglitto R, et al. Multiple defects in the immune system of *Lyn*-deficient mice, culminating in autoimmune disease. *Cell* (1995) 83(2):301–11. doi:10.1016/0092-8674 (95)90171-X
- 106. Nishizumi H, Taniuchi I, Yamanashi Y, Kitamura D, Ilic D, Mori S, et al. Impaired proliferation of peripheral B cells and indication of autoimmune disease in *lyn*-deficient mice. *Immunity* (1995) 3(5):549–60. doi:10.1016/ 1074-7613(95)90126-4
- 107. Gross AJ, Lyandres JR, Panigrahi AK, Prak ETL, DeFranco AL. Developmental acquisition of the Lyn–CD22–SHP-1 inhibitory pathway promotes B cell tolerance. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(9):5382–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0803941
- Getahun A, Beavers NA, Larson SR, Shlomchik MJ, Cambier JC. Continuous inhibitory signaling by both SHP-1 and SHIP-1 pathways is required to maintain unresponsiveness of anergic B cells. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(5):751–69. doi:10.1084/jem.20150537
- Gross AJ, Proekt I, DeFranco AL. Elevated BCR signaling and decreased survival of Lyn-deficient transitional and follicular B cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(12):3645–55. doi:10.1002/eji.201141708
- 110. Takata M, Sabe H, Hata A, Inazu T, Homma Y, Nukada T, et al. Tyrosine kinases Lyn and Syk regulate B cell receptor-coupled Ca2+ mobilization through distinct pathways. *EMBO J* (1994) 13(6):1341–9.
- 111. Wang J, Koizumi T, Watanabe T. Altered antigen receptor signaling and impaired Fas-mediated apoptosis of B cells in Lyn-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184(3):831–8. doi:10.1084/jem.184.3.831
- 112. Tsantikos E, Oracki SA, Quilici C, Anderson GP, Tarlinton DM, Hibbs ML. Autoimmune disease in Lyn-deficient mice is dependent on an inflammatory environment established by IL-6. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(3):1348–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901878
- 113. Scapini P, Hu Y, Chu C-L, Migone T-S, DeFranco AL, Cassatella MA, et al. Myeloid cells, BAFF, and IFN-γ establish an inflammatory loop that exacerbates autoimmunity in Lyn-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(8):1757–73. doi:10.1084/jem.20100086
- Lamagna C, Hu Y, DeFranco AL, Lowell CA. B cell-specific loss of Lyn kinase leads to autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(3):919–28. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1301979
- Silver KL, Crockford TL, Bouriez-Jones T, Milling S, Lambe T, Cornall RJ. MyD88-dependent autoimmune disease in Lyn-deficient mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(10):2734–43. doi:10.1002/eji.200737293
- 116. Lamagna C, Scapini P, van Ziffle JA, DeFranco AL, Lowell CA. Hyperactivated MyD88 signaling in dendritic cells, through specific deletion of Lyn kinase, causes severe autoimmunity and inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(35):E3311–20. doi:10.1073/pnas.1300617110
- 117. Ban T, Sato GR, Nishiyama A, Akiyama A, Takasuna M, Umehara M, et al. Lyn kinase suppresses the transcriptional activity of IRF5 in the TLR-MyD88 pathway to restrain the development of autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2016) 45(2):319–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.07.015
- 118. Infantino S, Jones SA, Walker JA, Maxwell MJ, Light A, O'Donnell K, et al. The tyrosine kinase Lyn limits the cytokine responsiveness of plasma cells to restrict their accumulation in mice. *Sci Signal* (2014) 7(338):ra77. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2005105
- 119. Hua Z, Gross AJ, Lamagna C, Ramos-Hernández NM, Scapini P, Ji M, et al. Requirement for MyD88 signaling in B cells and dendritic cells for germinal center anti-nuclear antibody production in Lyn-deficient mice. *J Imunol* (2014) 192(3):875–85. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300683
- 120. Zotos D, Coquet JM, Zhang Y, Light A, D'Costa K, Kallies A, et al. IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(2):365–78. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091777
- 121. Gutierrez T, Mayeux JM, Ortega SB, Karandikar NJ, Li Q-Z, Rakheja D, et al. IL-21 promotes the production of anti-DNA IgG but is dispensable

for kidney damage in lyn-'- mice. Eur J Immunol (2013) 43(2):382-93. doi:10.1002/eji.201142095

- 122. Oracki SA, Tsantikos E, Quilici C, Light A, Schmidt T, Lew AM, et al. CTLA4Ig alters the course of autoimmune disease development in Lyn^{-/-} mice. J Immunol (2010) 184(2):757–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804349
- 123. Chevrier S, Kratina T, Emslie D, Karnowski A, Corcoran LM. Germinal center-independent, IgM-mediated autoimmunity in sanroque mice lacking Obf1. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2013) 92:12. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.71
- 124. Shultz LD, Schweitzer PA, Rajan TV, Yi T, Ihle JN, Matthews RJ, et al. Mutations at the murine motheaten locus are within the hematopoietic cell protein-tyrosine phosphatase (Hcph) gene. *Cell* (1993) 73(7):1445–54. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90369-2
- O'Keefe TL, Williams GT, Davies SL, Neuberger MS. Hyperresponsive B cells in CD22-deficient mice. *Science* (1996) 274(5288):798–801. doi:10.1126/ science.274.5288.798
- 126. Jellusova J, Wellmann U, Amann K, Winkler TH, Nitschke L. CD22 × Siglec-G double-deficient mice have massively increased B1 cell numbers and develop systemic autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3618–27. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902711
- 127. Takai T, Ono M, Hikida M, Ohmori H, Ravetch JV. Augmented humoral and anaphylactic responses in FcγRII-deficient mice. *Nature* (1996) 379:346. doi:10.1038/379346a0
- 128. Helgason CD, Damen JE, Rosten P, Grewal R, Sorensen P, Chappel SM, et al. Targeted disruption of SHIP leads to hemopoietic perturbations, lung pathology, and a shortened life span. *Genes Dev* (1998) 12(11):1610–20. doi:10.1101/gad.12.11.1610
- Tsantikos E, Maxwell MJ, Kountouri N, Harder KW, Tarlinton DM, Hibbs ML. Genetic interdependence of Lyn and negative regulators of B cell receptor signaling in autoimmune disease development. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(4):1726. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103427
- Takeshita H, Taniuchi I, Kato J, Watanabe T. Abrogation of autoimmune disease in Lyn-deficient mice by the mutation of the Btk gene. *Int Immunol* (1998) 10(4):435–44. doi:10.1093/intimm/10.4.435
- 131. Whyburn LR, Halcomb KE, Contreras CM, Lowell CA, Witte ON, Satterthwaite AB. Reduced dosage of Bruton's tyrosine kinase uncouples B cell hyperresponsiveness from autoimmunity in Lyn^{-/-} mice. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(4):1850–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.4.1850
- 132. Maxwell MJ, Tsantikos E, Kong AM, Vanhaesebroeck B, Tarlinton DM, Hibbs ML. Attenuation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase δ signaling restrains autoimmune disease. J Autoimmun (2012) 38(4):381–91. doi:10.1016/j.jaut. 2012.04.001
- 133. Hiraki LT, Silverman ED. Genomics of systemic lupus erythematosus: insights gained by studying monogenic young-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* (2017) 43(3):415–34. doi:10.1016/j. rdc.2017.04.005
- 134. Flores-Borja F, Kabouridis PS, Jury EC, Isenberg DA, Mageed RA. Decreased Lyn expression and translocation to lipid raft signaling domains in B lymphocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52(12):3955–65. doi:10.1002/art.21416
- Liossis S-NC, Solomou EE, Dimopoulos M-A, Panayiotidis P, Mavrikakis MM, Sfikakis PP. B-cell kinase Lyn deficiency in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Investig Med* (2001) 49(2):157–65. doi:10.2310/6650. 2001.34042
- 136. Liu Y, Dong J, Mu R, Gao Y, Tan X, Li Y, et al. MicroRNA-30a promotes B cell hyperactivity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus by direct interaction with Lyn. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65(6):1603–11. doi:10.1002/ art.37912
- 137. Lu R, Vidal GS, Kelly JA, Delgado-Vega AM, Kim-Howard X, Macwana SR, et al. Genetic associations of LYN with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes Immun* (2009) 10(5):397–403. doi:10.1038/gene.2009.19
- 138. Zhang J, Zahir N, Jiang Q, Miliotis H, Heyraud S, Meng X, et al. The autoimmune disease–associated PTPN22 variant promotes calpain-mediated Lyp/ Pep degradation associated with lymphocyte and dendritic cell hyperresponsiveness. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43:902. doi:10.1038/ng.904
- 139. Manjarrez-Orduño N, Marasco E, Chung SA, Katz MS, Kiridly JF, Simpfendorfer KR, et al. CSK regulatory polymorphism is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus and influences B cell signaling and activation. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44(11):1227–30. doi:10.1038/ng.2439

- 140. Kozyrev SV, Abelson A-K, Wojcik J, Zaghlool A, Linga Reddy MVP, Sanchez E, et al. Functional variants in the B-cell gene BANK1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40:211. doi:10.1038/ng.79
- 141. Yang W, Shen N, Ye D-Q, Liu Q, Zhang Y, Qian X-X, et al. Genome-wide association study in Asian populations identifies variants in ETS1 and WDFY4 associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *PLoS Genet* (2010) 6(2):e1000841. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000841
- 142. Saeed M. Lupus pathobiology based on genomics. *Immunogenetics* (2017) 69(1):1–12. doi:10.1007/s00251-016-0961-7
- 143. International Consortium for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Genetics (SLEGEN), Harley JB, Alarcón-Riquelme ME, Criswell LA, Jacob CO, Kimberly RP, et al. Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40:204. doi:10.1038/ng.81
- 144. Gateva V, Sandling JK, Hom G, Taylor KE, Chung SA, Sun X, et al. A large-scale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(11):1228–33. doi:10.1038/ng.468
- 145. Wang D, John SA, Clements JL, Percy DH, Barton KP, Garrett-Sinha LA. Ets-1 deficiency leads to altered B cell differentiation, hyperresponsiveness to TLR9 and autoimmune disease. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17(9):1179–91. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh295
- 146. Luo W, Mayeux J, Gutierrez T, Russell L, Getahun A, Müller J, et al. A balance between B cell receptor and inhibitory receptor signaling controls plasma cell differentiation by maintaining optimal Ets1 levels. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(2):909. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400666
- 147. Mayeux J, Skaug B, Luo W, Russell LM, John S, Saelee P, et al. Genetic interaction between Lyn, Ets1, and Btk in the control of antibody levels. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(5):1955–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500165

- 148. Li W, Titov AA, Morel L. An update on lupus animal models. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2017) 29(5):434–41. doi:10.1097/bor.000000000000412
- 149. Chan OTM, Hannum LG, Haberman AM, Madaio MP, Shlomchik MJ. A novel mouse with B cells but lacking serum antibody reveals an antibody-independent role for B cells in murine lupus. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189(10):1639–48. doi:10.1084/jem.189.10.1639
- Waibel M, Christiansen AJ, Hibbs ML, Shortt J, Jones SA, Simpson I, et al. Manipulation of B-cell responses with histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6838. doi:10.1038/ncomms7838
- 151. Mina-Osorio P, LaStant J, Keirstead N, Whittard T, Ayala J, Stefanova S, et al. Suppression of glomerulonephritis in lupus-prone NZB × NZW mice by RN486, a selective inhibitor of Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65(9):2380–91. doi:10.1002/art.38047
- Deng Y, Tsao BP. Genetic susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus in the genomic era. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2010) 6(12):683–92. doi:10.1038/ nrrheum.2010.176

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors [ML].

Copyright © 2018 Brodie, Infantino, Low and Tarlinton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





TANK-Binding Kinase 1-Dependent Responses in Health and Autoimmunity

Cynthia Louis1*, Chris Burns2 and Ian Wicks1,3*

¹ Inflammation Division, The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ² Chemical Biology Division, The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³ Rheumatology Unit, Royal Melbourne Hospital, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

The pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is driven by genetic predisposition and environmental triggers that lead to dysregulated immune responses. These include the generation of pathogenic autoantibodies and aberrant production of inflammatory cytokines. Current therapies for RA and other autoimmune diseases reduce inflammation by targeting inflammatory mediators, most of which are innate response cytokines, resulting in generalized immunosuppression. Overall, this strategy has been very successful, but not all patients respond, responses can diminish over time and numerous side effects can occur. Therapies that target the germinal center (GC) reaction and/or antibody-secreting plasma cells (PC) potentially provide a novel approach. TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) is an IKK-related serine/threonine kinase best characterized for its involvement in innate antiviral responses through the induction of type I interferons. TBK1 is also gaining attention for its roles in humoral immune responses. In this review, we discuss the role of TBK1 in immunological pathways involved in the development and maintenance of antibody responses, with particular emphasis on its potential relevance in the pathogenesis of humoral autoimmunity. First, we review the role of TBK1 in the induction of type I IFNs. Second, we highlight how TBK1 mediates inducible T cell co-stimulator signaling to the GCT follicular B helper population. Third, we discuss emerging evidence on the contribution of TBK1 to autophagic pathways and the potential implications for immune cell function. Finally, we discuss the therapeutic potential of TBK1 inhibition in autoimmunity.

Keywords: TANK-binding kinase 1, type 1 interferons, germinal center, autophagy, humoral immunity, autoimmunity

INTRODUCTION

TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) is an IKK-related serine/threonine kinase best known for the induction of antiviral type I interferons (IFN-Is) in innate immunity. However, a growing body of evidence highlights the relevance of TBK1 for other responses. In this review, we discuss our present understanding of the role of TBK1 in nucleic acid sensing pathways, antibody responses, and autophagy. We conclude by speculating how these diverse TBK1-regulated responses could potentially culminate in the induction, promotion, and maintenance of autoimmunity, as well as how

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Cevayir Coban, Osaka University, Japan Ivana Munitic, University of Rijeka, Croatia

*Correspondence:

Cynthia Louis louis.c@wehi.edu.au; lan Wicks wicks@wehi.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 December 2017 Accepted: 19 February 2018 Published: 06 March 2018

Citation:

Louis C, Burns C and Wicks I (2018) TANK-Binding Kinase 1-Dependent Responses in Health and Autoimmunity. Front. Immunol. 9:434. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00434

42

pharmacological modulation of TBK1 could represent an alternative treatment strategy, particularly in the context of humorally mediated autoimmunity.

TBK1 Overview

TANK-binding kinase 1 is an IKK-related serine/threonine kinase, best known for the induction of innate antiviral type I IFNs. However, TBK1 potentially has much broader functions, which we discuss in this review (Figure 1). TBK1 is ubiquitously expressed in both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic compartments. Germline deletion of TBK1 is embryonically lethal in mice (1), highlighting its homeostatic functions during development. Through biochemical studies, TBK1 was shown to be activated by double stranded (ds)-RNA (via TLR3-TRIF), LPS (via TLR4-TRIF), viral RNA (via RIG-I-MAVS), and dsDNA (via cGAS-STING) in innate immune signaling pathways (2, 3). TRIF (TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing IFN β), MAVS (mitochondrial antiviral-signaling), and STING (stimulator of IFN genes) are innate immune adaptor proteins that transduce signal downstream of their corresponding sensors to the activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3). Mechanistically, TBK1 activation is thought to occur via trans-autoactivation, in response to adaptor proteins that shuttle TBK1 to specific

signaling complexes and direct subcellular localizations, such as to the ER-Golgi compartments (4–7). Activated TBK1 then phosphorylates IRF3 and induces the production of type I IFN-Is (8–12). Other TBK1 substrates include AKT (13, 14) and PLK1, which are involved in TLR activation or oncogenicity of cancer cells (15). Closely related to TBK1, IKK ε shares 60% homology and is initially thought to participate also in IFN-Is induction (8, 9). Subsequent studies show that IKK ε is dispensable for IFN-I responses (16). IKK ε is abundantly expressed in T cells and have been shown to regulate a number of T cell responses (17–19).

Interferons are a family of cytokines with potent antiviral priming effects, but are also associated with humorally mediated autoimmune diseases, most notably systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (20–22). Recently, TBK1 was also shown to associate with the inducible T cell co-stimulator (ICOS) in CD4⁺ T follicular B helper (T_{FH}) cells that support efficient antibody responses (23). However, the downstream target(s) of TBK1 in ICOS signaling have not yet been identified. Finally, TBK1 is also implicated in promoting autophagy by phosphorylating autophagy receptor proteins, including optineurin (OPTN), SQSTM1/p62, and NDP52 (24, 25). TBK1-mediated regulation of autophagy is currently under evaluation because TBK1 haploinsufficiency is a major risk factor in neurodegenerative diseases (26, 27).



FIGURE 1 | TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) in humoral responses. TBK1 functions downstream of TLR3/4-TRIF and DNA receptor cGAS-STING pathways leading to the activation of the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 3 and the production of interferons (IFN-Is). Chronic IFN-Is prime cytotoxic functions promote the survival of NK and CD8⁺ T cells, presumed to have pathogenic roles in autoimmunity, as well as the formation of extrafollicular plasmablasts. TBK1 is also implicated in the inducible T cell co-stimulator (ICOS) signaling pathway in T follicular B helper (T_{FH}) cells to thymus-dependent (TD) antigens. TBK1 is recruited to and activated upon ICOS engagement to ICOS ligand, and promotes the maturation of pre-T_{FH} to germinal center (GC) T_{FH} cells. TBK1 targets downstream of ICOS signaling remain to be determined. TBK1-driven ICOS signaling is necessary for the generation of GC-derived memory B and plasma cells, and TD antibody responses. Finally, TBK1 can promote autophagy through the phosphorylation of autophagy receptors proteins (optineurin, p62, or NDP52), which sequester ubiquitinated cargo (damaged or redundant organelles). Mitophagy in memory B cells and reticulophagy in plasma cells are required for their longevity *in vivo*. TBK1 involvement in these processes remains to be determined.

Autophagy is thought to protect senescent neuronal cells from the accumulation of defective or redundant organelles. TBK1 may likewise physiologically protect long-lived immune cells through autophagy (28). Although no particular TBK1 genetic variants have to date been directly linked to the development of autoimmune diseases, the diverse functions of TBK1 may contribute to one or more aspects of autoimmunity, which is the focus of this review.

TBK1 and Type I IFNs

TANK-binding kinase 1 has a well described role in activating the transcription factor IRF3 to induce type I IFNs production (8–12). IFN-Is are a family of cytokines with pleiotropic functions that have potent antiviral and antimicrobial effects against some intracellular bacteria, but are also implicated in pathogenesis of SLE (SLE, discussed below). TBK1 is ubiquitously expressed in both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic compartments and it is activated by sensor-adaptor pairs, including TLR3/4-TRIF, RIG-I-MAVS, or cGAS-STING, in response to LPS, dsRNA, virus infection, and cytoplasmic DNA, respectively (2, 3). Consequently, TBK1^{-/-} mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) have impaired production of IFN-Is (IFN- α and IFN- β) and IFN-inducible chemokines (CCL5 and CXCL10), among other genes, following activation with synthetic dsRNA (poly I:C) or viruses, or LPS (8, 10).

Molecular characterization of the sequence of events leading to TBK1 induction, IRF3 activation, and IFN-Is production have mainly been performed in cell lines and MEFs, in response to LPS stimulation or in the context of antiviral responses (2, 3, 8, 10). Elucidating roles for TBK1 in more complex biological settings *in vivo* has been challenging due to the embryonic lethality of germline TBK1-deficiency in mice. This is thought to be due to TNF- α -induced hepatocyte apoptosis and can be rescued by combined loss of TNF (i.e., TBK1^{-/-} TNF^{-/-} mice are viable) (1). Subsequently, TBK1 has been suggested to control cell survival through PAI-2/serpinB2 and transglutaminase 2 in the TNFactivated anti-apoptotic response (29).

High levels IFN- α or induction of IFN-stimulated genes (i.e., the "IFN signature") is a remarkably consistent feature of SLE and is associated with high titers of affinity-matured autoantibodies and worse disease outcome (20, 21, 22). A similar IFN signature and correlation with high levels of autoantibodies and disease activity is also found in some patients with RA and primary Sjogren's syndrome (30, 31) consistent with a pathogenic role for IFN- α in autoimmunity. Consequently, the possibility of targeting TBK1-dependent IFN-Is induction has received attention as a treatment strategy (32).

IFN-Is in Protective and Pathogenic Immune Responses

Among members of the IFN-I family in humans and mice, IFN- α and IFN- β are the best characterized and most broadly expressed. They signal through a shared, ubiquitously expressed heterodimeric receptor (IFNAR), and prime a rapid antiviral response that acts directly or indirectly on many cell types, including NK cells, T cells, B cells, DCs, and macrophages (33–35). IFNAR signaling mediates early attrition of existing memory CD8⁺ T cells in response to viral infections, which is thought to permit a more vigorous, diverse, and efficient T cell response emanating from the naïve T cell pool (36). In later stages, IFNAR signaling in activated cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (CTLs) (37) and NK cells (38) is important for long-term survival against perforin-mediated cytotoxicity, thereby preventing rapid elimination in vivo and sustaining antiviral immunity. IFNAR signaling is also required for optimal NK cell effector function through upregulation of granzyme B (38). IFN-Is is gaining attention in anti-cancer therapy, where it is generally considered pro-cytotoxic for CTLs and presumably NK cells. This is exemplified by the observations that IFNAR downregulation in CTLs endows colorectal cancers with an immune-privileged niche that promotes aggressive tumorigenesis, associated with poor prognosis, and lessens the response to immunotherapy. Conversely, IFNAR expression suppresses tumor growth and improves the efficacy of combined anti-cancer chimeric antigen receptor T cell transfer and PD-1 inhibition (39). Targeted intratumoral delivery of IFN-I-inducing (i.e., interferogenic) cyclic dinucleotide GMP-adenosine monophosphate (AMP), which activates the STING-TBK1 pathway and IFN-Is production in endothelial cells, has been shown to control tumor growth by boosting antitumor CD8⁺ T responses in murine models of melanoma and colon cancer (40).

Emerging evidence also implicates dysregulated NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells in SLE and potentially RA (41). Despite an overall reduction in circulating NK cell number in lupus patients and lupus mouse models, presumably owing to activation-induced death of these cells, NK cells with an activated phenotype infiltrate the kidneys of pre-disease lupus mice and may contribute to tissue injury by releasing cytotoxic granules (42). Another study showed that SLE patients have an expanded population of CTLs, which may contribute to tissue damage (43). Further studies are needed to determine whether IFN-Is contribute to the activation of these human effector cells.

Persistent IFN-Is exposure, particularly IFN- α , has long been implicated in immune dysfunction and autoimmune diseases, through a number of mechanisms. Some patients treated with IFN- α therapy develop autoimmunity, including RA and lupus-like autoimmune syndrome (44, 45). Chronic IFN- α overexpression in vivo induces rapid and lethal lupus, with immune complex glomerulonephritis in NZB/W lupus-prone mice (46). Such excess IFN- α can also induce sustained B cell proliferation in vivo, accompanied by uncontrolled production of proliferating, short-lived, autoantibody-secreting plasmablasts in secondary lymphoid organs of NZB/W mice (47). pDCderived IFN-Is have been shown to increase the translocation of marginal zone B cells to the follicular region of the spleen, which disrupt the ability of marginal zone macrophages to clear apoptotic cells and promote the loss of immune tolerance to apoptotic cell-derived antigens in SLE (48). IFN-Is also promotes affinity maturation of antibodies by activating DCs to produce IL-6 (49). The severity of lupus-related pathology is attenuated with IFNAR-deficiency or IFNAR-blocking antibody in several murine lupus models (50–52).

While the involvement of IFN-Is-IFNAR signaling is a consistent feature of murine lupus models, there is less consensus in RA. In contrast to the association of IFN- α with humoral autoimmunity, IFN-β has homeostatic and anti-inflammatory functions. In RA synovium, IFN-ß reduced the secretion of RA-associated proinflammatory mediators, including IL-6, TNF-α, matrix metalloproteinases, and prostaglandin E2 (53). IFN- β also primes an anti-inflammatory phenotype of endothelial cells by upregulating the expression of CD73, an ecto-5'-nucleotidase that produces anti-inflammatory adenosine from AMP, at least in neuroinflammation (54). Other studies have shown that exogenous IFN-β can inhibit autoimmune collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) (55, 56). In contrast, IFN-β deficient mice develop prolonged CIA, with a higher incidence relative to control mice (57). IFN- β delivery has been used therapeutically in multiple sclerosis (58) and has been considered for RA (59). Monoclonal antibody therapies inhibiting IFN-Is signaling or depleting of IFN-overproducing plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) are under evaluation for the treatment of SLE (60, 61). The opposing roles of IFN- α and IFN- β clearly require careful consideration in relation to these potential IFN-Is-targeted therapies in autoimmunity.

TBK1, IFN-Is, and Humoral Autoimmunity

The prevailing concept in SLE and murine lupus models is that immune complexes containing autoantibodies bound to self-DNA and RNA can act as interferogenic stimuli, following Fc receptormediated internalization and activation of endosomal TLR7 and TLR9 in pDCs (62). TLR7- or TLR9-mediated induction of IFN-Is, however, does not require TBK1. For instance, TBK1 is not required for IFN-I production in the TLR7-dependent pristaneinduced lupus model (51). TLR9 ligand (CpG-B) induces IFN-Is production by B cells and DCs through IRF3, but independently of TBK1. Autocrine IFNAR signaling in B cells is required for enhanced IgM and IgG2a autoantibody production and these are dominant autoantibody isotypes in murine lupus (63).

Using viable TBK1-/- TNF-/- mice, Ishii and colleagues demonstrated functional distinctions between TBK1 signaling in hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells for the induction of Ag-specific responses in a plasmid-DNA immunization model (64). TBK1^{-/-} TNF^{-/-} mice had no difference in total serum IgG1 and IgG2a, suggesting normal B cell function. However, TBK1-/- TNF-/- mice had completely abrogated primary and secondary antigen-specific IgG responses upon vaccination with plasmid-DNA, relative to wild type, TNF-/- TBK1+/+, Myd88-/-, or TRIF-/- mice. Mechanistically, the DNA component of the plasmid-DNA vaccine was shown to activate DCs in a TBK1- and IFN-I-dependent manner, but this occurred independently of the CpG DNA sensor, TLR9 (64). Along the same lines, alum and hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin adjuvants have been shown to induce cell death and DNA release as part of their immunogenic properties and TBK1-/- TNF-/- mice immunized with these adjuvants had reduced levels of antigen-specific IgG1 responses (65, 66). Ishikawa and colleagues subsequently demonstrated that intracellular DNA induced DC activation and IFN-Is production through the cGAS-STING-TBK1 pathway (67).

TBK1-Dependent IFN-Is Can Induce Lupus

As mentioned, TBK1-dependent IFN-Is responses are activated by cytoplasmic nucleic acids. In the autoimmune context, pathogenic TBK1-mediated IFN-Is responses can be caused by aberrant self-DNA that leads to chronic IRF3 activation, such as is the case in TREX1 deficiency (68). TREX1 is an endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-associated 3'-5' exonuclease, which degrades cytoplasmic viral DNA before sensing occurs. TREX1 is also required to clear endogenous retroelements and genomic DNA. TREX1 deficiency in patients and murine models causes lupuslike autoimmune manifestations. TREX1-deficient mice develop aberrant interferogenic responses and features of lupus owing to the cytoplasmic accumulation of endogenous nucleic acids and chronic activation of the TBK1-dependent DNA-sensing pathway (68–70). Mutations in TREX1 are associated with human autoimmune disorders, including Aicardi–Goutières syndrome (71), familial chilblain lupus (72), and SLE (73). An inhibitor of TBK1 was effective in treating TREX1^{-/-} mice (74).

In summary, TBK1 is an important signaling kinase for the induction of IFN-Is in response to a number of ligands that activate TLR3, TLR4, and the STING pathways. TBK1 may be less relevant in other IFN-Is induction pathways, including TLR7 and TLR9. Mutations leading to aberrant activation of TBK1 and IFN-Is overproduction can contribute to lupus. Limiting pathogenic IFN-Is production through TBK1 inhibition may alleviate lupus. However, TBK1-driven responses other than IFN-Is induction may also contribute to humoral autoimmunity and are discussed in the next section.

TBK1-Regulated Germinal Center (GC) Responses in Humoral Immunity

GC-Dependent Humoral Immune Responses

Antibody-mediated autoimmune diseases share underlying immune mechanism(s). High-affinity autoantibodies arise from a GC reaction occurring in the B cell follicles (75, 76). The GC is a specialized structure in secondary lymphoid tissues, where B cells undergo iterative rounds of somatic hypermutation in Ig variable (V) gene segments, class switching and affinity selection, as well as post-translational modifications. Normally, the GC reaction is transient (self-terminating) (77) and only B cells expressing affinity-matured, class-switched antibodies specific for the antigen exit GCs, and survive as long-lived memory B cells and/or antibody-secreting plasma cells (78–80). However, the GC reaction can persist and give rise to antibody-mediated autoimmunity (81).

Intrinsic B cell defects can directly contribute to the development of spontaneous GCs, breakdown of B cell tolerance and humoral autoimmunity, such as *Tlr7* gene duplication (80) or WAS (Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome) protein deficiency (82, 83) in lupus. However, CD4⁺ T_{FH} cells provide another essential cellular component regulating GC B cells. T_{FH} cells are required for the generation of high-affinity antibodies by promoting the GC reaction, including B cell clonal proliferation, affinity selection and the development of high-affinity antibody-producing cells (75, 84, 85). T_{FH} cells are characterized by the expression of chemokine receptor CXCR5, which facilitates migration and proximity to follicular B cells. Here, they provide cognate help to B cells *via* stable interactions such as SAP (SLAM-associated protein), costimulatory molecules such as CD40L, and cytokines such as IL-21, IL-4, and IFN- γ (86–89). While T_{FH} cells are

critical for an optimal GC reaction and subsequent generation of protective antibodies following immunization, abnormal development and/or function of T_{FH} have also been implicated in loss of tolerance and the development of humoral autoimmunity.

An increased T_{FH} population in the GC as well as GC numbers may contribute to aberrant positive selection and autoantibody formation in SLE (90). This is exemplified in Sanroque mice, in which exaggerated T_{FH} generation occurs in a cell-intrinsic manner and leads to spontaneous GC formation, and lupus-like pathology (91, 92). Furthermore, adoptively transferred Roquinsan/ ^{san} T_{FH} cells are able to induce spontaneous GC B cell expansion and GC formation in naïve recipient mice (92). Similarly, an enlarged T_{FH} population accompanies increased GC size and more productive humoral responses in immunization models (77). Conversely, mice with conditional Bcl6 deficiency in T cells (Bcl6 is a transcriptional repressor that regulates both T_{FH} and GC B cell differentiation) have impairment of T_{FH} development, GC reactions, and antibody responses (93, 94). CD4 transgenic autoreactive T cells deficient in SAP (SLAM-associated protein, which mediates stable T-B interactions critical for GC formation), failed to mount GC reactions, develop IgG1 autoantibodies, and autoantibody-mediated arthritis (95, 96). Thus, the size of the T_{FH} population is directly coupled with GC function and ensuing humoral responses. Abnormal T_{FH} accumulation may also contribute to the production of pathogenic autoantibodies through enhanced positive selection of self-reactive B cells.

In clinical settings, the frequency of T_{FH}-like cells is increased in the peripheral blood of RA patients and correlates with higher elevated levels of anti-CCP (cyclic citrullinated peptide) autoantibodies, as well as disease activity (97, 98). Conversely, treatment responsive, new onset RA patients have a reduced frequency of circulating T_{FH}, which is accompanied by a decrease in anti-CCP antibody (98). SLE patients also demonstrate a similar expansion of T_{FH}-like cells, which correlates with disease activity, frequency of circulating plasmablasts, and anti-double-stranded DNA antibody positivity (99). T_{FH} expansion and its association with autoantibody responses have also been noted in other humoral autoimmune syndromes, including type 1 diabetes (100) and primary Sjogren's syndrome (101, 102). Given the robust correlation between T_{FH} numbers and high-affinity autoantibody levels, manipulation of the differentiation program and plasticity of T_{FH} cells may provide new therapeutic options in autoimmune diseases, such as SLE and RA.

ICOS in Humoral Immune Responses against TD Antigens and Humoral Autoimmunity

Among many determinants of optimal humoral immunity, ICOS has been consistently associated with GC reactions and the induction of GC-dependent thymus-dependent (TD) antibody responses. ICOS is a critical coreceptor, distinct from CD28, on activated or antigen-experienced T cells (103, 104) and is highly expressed on T_{FH} (105). Through interaction with ICOS ligand (ICOSL) on antigen-presenting cells (DCs and B cells), ICOS delivers robust costimulatory signals that promote T_{FH} positioning and thus supports GC function (106). ICOSL^{-/-} mice mount comparable antigen-specific IgM and IgG3 responses, but have reduced IgG1 and IgG2a production upon immunization with

thymus-independent antigens (107). ICOS^{-/-} or ICOSL^{-/-} mice have defective production of class-switched antibodies against TD antigens (particularly IgG1, IgG2a, and IgG2b isotypes, but not IgM), along with reduced number and size of GCs and a lack of B cell memory (107-110). Additionally, mice with a tyrosine-to-phenylalanine point mutation at residue 181 in the cytoplasmic tail of ICOS have abrogated T_{FH} generation, GC reactions, antibody class switching, and antibody affinity maturation (111). ICOS deficiency or antibody-mediated depletion of ICOS-expressing CD4+ T cells in SLE1 lupus mice results in diminished pathogenic T_{FH} expansion, inhibited plasma cell generation, and a reduction in class-switched IgG autoantibodies (112). ICOSL^{-/-} or B cell-specific ICOSL^{-/-} mice have markedly inhibited development of proteoglycan-induced arthritis, with notable reductions in T_{FH} and GC B cells, IL-21 production, and proteoglycan-specific IgG antibody responses (113).

Blockade of the ICOSL pathway ameliorates autoimmune CIA, the K/BxN spontaneous arthritis model, and the SLE (NZB/ NZW) F1 mouse model, with marked reductions in disease manifestations, numbers of T_{FH} and GC B cells, and pathogenic, class-switched, high-affinity autoantibodies (113-115). Interestingly, inhibition of CIA was observed even when ICOSL blocking antibody was given after the onset of disease (114). Sanroque mice have excessive ICOS activation due to genetic mutation of a RING-type ligase that represses ICOS (91). These mice develop spontaneous GC in the absence of foreign antigen, increased numbers of T_{FH} cells, spontaneous autoantibodies, including antinuclear antibodies, and lupus-like manifestations, such as glomerulonephritis. Intriguingly, although ICOS or ICOSL deficiency in Sanroque mice substantially reduced autoantibody production, it did not result in complete inhibition of autoantibody production (91). This observation suggests a contribution from residual GC-independent extra-follicular pathway (85, 113). Thus, ICOS/ICOSL signaling drives optimal GC-dependent TD antibody responses and inhibition of this pathway abrogates the GC reaction, autoantibody responses, and disease features in humorally mediated autoimmune disease models. Indeed, therapies targeting ICOS/ICOSL are under evaluation in early phase clinical trials of SLE (116).

TBK1 Mediates ICOS Signaling for T_{FH} Maturation and GC-Mediated Antibody Responses

Similar to other CD4⁺ T cell subsets (Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg cells), T_{FH} development is a multi-step process which involves initial priming of naïve CD4⁺ T cells by dendritic cells in the T cell zone, followed by expansion and differentiation that are regulated through signaling pathways activated downstream of cytokines and cell surface molecules. Subsequent activation of lineage-defining transcription factors (T-bet for Th1, GATA3 for Th2, ROR γ t for Th17, FoxP3 for Treg cells, and Bcl6 for T_{FH}) promotes T cell differentiation (93, 94, 117).

T follicular B helper development can be separated into two stages—(i) naive to Bcl6⁺ pre-T_{FH} and (ii) pre-T_{FH} to mature GC T_{FH}. Pre-T_{FH} development follows DC priming *in vivo*, through an ICOS costimulation signal and the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) pathway. The ICOS-PI3K pathway instructs T_{FH} differentiation *via* induction of Bcl6 and the subsequent Bcl6-dependent

expression of CXCR5 on pre-T_{FH} (23, 105). The activation ICOS-PI3K signaling alone is, however, insufficient to drive full GC T_{FH} maturation and the GC reaction (23, 111, 118). For final differentiation of nascent T_{FH} into GC T_{FH}, pre-T_{FH} cells require a second costimulatory signal through ICOS (119, 120). This has been demonstrated by the inability of T cell-selective deletion of PI3K components to fully recapitulate the phenotype of CD4⁺ T cells from ICOS^{-/-} mice (111, 121).

A recent report identified TBK1 as a unique signaling kinase in the ICOS pathway (23). In this study, Pedros and colleagues identified a conserved TRAF-like motif in the cytoplasmic tail of ICOS (iProx motif), which mediated TBK1 recruitment and activation following a combination of strong TCR and ICOS signals. These authors showed that by deleting the iProx motif on ICOS specifically in CD4+ T cells, TBK1 failed to associate with ICOS. T cells modified in this way displayed severely impaired differentiation into GC T_{FH} and TD antibody responses, despite generating pre-T_{FH} cells. A similar effect was obtained by CD4⁺ T cell-specific TBK1 depletion. In a series of reconstitution experiments, transducing ICOS and TBK1 constructs into ICOS-/- TCR transgenic CD4⁺ T cells, it was shown that intact ICOS is required for the generation of both nascent and final GC T_{FH} populations, while TBK1 controls progression from the pre-T_{FH} to mature GC T_{FH} phenotype (23).

Although the downstream mediators of ICOS-TBK1 signaling in T_{FH} have not been identified, FoxO1 is a potential candidate because ICOS signaling instructs the T_{FH} program via AKTmediated FoxO1 phosphorylation (119). AKT has been shown to be a TBK1 substrate in some settings (13, 14, 122). FoxO1 is a transcription factor that, in its active unphosphorylated state, represses T_{FH} programming. FoxO1 phosphorylation results in its transient inactivation and cytoplasmic translocation from the nucleus (119). FoxO1 inactivation also reduces FoxO1-dependent KLF2 expression, together with expression of KLF2-dependent chemokine receptors, necessary for optimal repositioning of T_{FH} in the GC (120). FoxO1 inactivation, specifically in CD4⁺ T cells (Foxo1^{fl/fl}:CD4-Cre mice) caused defective Tregs and systemic autoimmunity, characterized by accumulation of the T_{FH} population, with exaggerated Bcl6 induction and GC formation, and production of anti-DNA antibodies (123). While FoxO1sufficient CD4⁺ T cells give rise to effector T cells, pre-T_{FH}, and GC T_{FH} upon immunization, FoxO1^{-/-} CD4⁺ T cells generate pre-T_{FH} cells with higher expression of T_{FH}-defining markers (Bcl6, CXCR5, and PD-1) and lowered T cell zone chemokine receptors (CD62L, PSGL1) (119). ICOS-driven FoxO1 inactivation thus alters the chemokine receptor profile of pre-T_{FH}, facilitating migration from the T cell zone toward the B cell follicles (119). Conversely, ICOS/ICOSL blockade results in the relocation of fully developed T_{FH} back to the T cell zone. This relocation reverses their phenotype toward non-T_{FH} effector T cells, with a consequent reduction in antigen-specific GC B cells, as well as serum antigen-specific IgG1 and IgG2a responses, indicating collapse of the GC response (120). This study also concluded that ICOS is not required for T_{FH} survival or expression of T_{FH}-related transcription factors, but rather, it regulates the expression of T_{FH} homing markers. Changes in T_{FH} transcription factors are thus likely to be a secondary effect upon failure to maintain the

positioning of pre-T $_{\rm FH}$ and impaired costimulatory signals from follicular B cells (120).

Although TBK1 has been identified as an ICOS-specific signaling kinase required for full maturation of GC T_{FH}, the role of TBK1-mediated FoxO1 regulation in this process has not been elucidated. One study using conditional TBK1^{-/-} in CD4⁺ T cells (*Tbk1*^{@/fl}:CD4-Cre mice) and stimulation with TCR and CD28, suggested that basal TBK1 is required for constitutive AKT turnover to prevent hyperactivation of AKT upon T cell activation (124). These authors also reported a marked increase in IFN-γ production and activation markers in CD4⁺ T cells derived from *Tbk1*^{@/fl}:CD4-Cre mice, indicating the propensity of these cells to become a Th1-like population in the absence of basal TBK1 (124). Interestingly, ICOS^{-/-} or ICOSL^{-/-} mice also exhibit enhanced Th1 responses in secondary lymphoid tissues with marked elevation of IFN-γ in the context of infection (125–127).

Given the role of TBK1 in ICOS signaling in GC T_{FH} and downstream GC-driven antibody responses, TBK1 inhibition may curtail humoral autoimmunity through an ICOS-driven GC pathway. Importantly, targeting ICOS/ICOSL and/or TBK1 may not result in generalized immunosuppression, but rather reverse cell fate decisions in T_{FH} . Understanding how TBK1 signals in T_{FH} , how it affects cell fate decisions in T helper cell polarization, positioning and migratory pathways may provide new therapeutic strategies, especially for antibody-mediated autoimmunity.

TBK1-Regulated Autophagy in Immune Regulation

TBK1 Regulates Autophagy

The functional effects of TBK1 extend beyond innate immune signaling. Autophagy is a conserved homeostatic process in eukaryotic cells involving sequestration and lysosomal degradation of cytoplasmic contents, including damaged or surplus organelles (mitophagy for mitochondria, pexophagy for peroxisomes, ribophagy for ribosomes, reticulophagy for endoplasmic reticulum), cytotoxic macromolecular aggregates (aggrephagy), and intracellular microorganisms (xenophagy) (128–131). Autophagy will not be discussed in detail as it has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (128–131). Instead, we discuss reports which have implicated TBK1 in autophagic processes and how these translate to immune responses.

TBK1 in Antimicrobial Autophagy (Xenophagy)

TANK-binding kinase 1-mediated regulation of autophagy has been described in the context of antimicrobial defense (xenophagy), in which intracytoplasmic pathogens are sequestered into autophagosomes and targeted for lytic, lysosomal degradation. TBK1 and its homolog IKKe have been identified as binding partners of the autophagy receptor protein NDP52 that recognizes polyubiquitylated *Salmonella enterica* in human cells. However, only TBK1 is required for xenophagy of *S. enterica* (132, 133) and mycobacteria (134). Canonical IKKs initiate autophagy, while TBK1 knockdown suppresses the maturation of autophagosomes into autolysosomes. Mechanistically, TBK1 phosphorylates autophagy receptor proteins, including NDP52, OPTN on Ser177, and p62 (also known as SQSTM1) at Ser403 (located at the ubiquitin-associated/ UBA domain) (132-134). Phosphorylation increases the affinity of LC3-binding autophagy adaptors for K48- and K63ubiquitinated cytoplasmic bacteria, as well as polyubiquitinated protein aggregates (135), and it promotes autophagic clearance (132-134). Knockdown or pharmacological inhibition of TBK1 impairs autophagic killing of S. enterica or M. tuberculosis (133, 134). Mice deficient in autophagic proteins (Atg3, Atg5, Atg7, Atg9, and Atg16L1) have embryonic lethality (129). Viable conditional autophagy knockout mice often have impaired pathogen clearance, reduced survival, and severe tissue injury due to enhanced inflammasome and cytokine responses, and in some cases, enhanced Th17 responses (136-138). In the same study, TBK1 was shown to be important for delivery of the lysosomal hydrolase cathepsin D to the autophagolysosomal compartment (134). TBK1, therefore, appears to play an essential role in late autophagic flux.

TBK1 in Mitophagy and Potential Implications in Neuronal Health

Autophagy is increasingly appreciated for its role in maintaining cell homeostasis through clearance or normal turnover of cytoplasmic contents or defective cellular organelles, including mitochondria (mitophagy). Mice deficient for Atg5 specifically in neural cells develop progressive decline in motor function in the absence of any disease-associated mutant proteins, accompanied by the accumulation of cytoplasmic inclusion bodies in neurons (139). Damaged mitochondria are detrimental to cellular homeostasis and efficient removal through autophagy is crucial for cell survival, particularly for senescent cells, such as neurons, which cannot dilute cytotoxic contents through cell division (140). Mitochondrial damage induces concomitant PINK1-PARKIN-mediated poly-ubiquitylation of damaged mitochondria and also activates TBK1. In turn, TBK1 can phosphorylate autophagy receptors (OPTN, SQSTM1/p62, and NDP52), thereby enhancing the ability of these receptors to associate with ubiquitinated cargo (e.g., ubiquitin-tagged, depolarized mitochondria) and autophagic membranes (24, 25, 28, 141). This post-translational modification creates a signal amplification loop that recruits and retains autophagy receptor/TBK1/ubiquitinated cargo complexes, thereby promoting mitophagy. Separate mutations that disrupt TBK1's association with OPTN, or of OPTN with ubiquitin, abolish the translocation and activation of TBK1, and, therefore, impair mitophagy (25).

Exome sequencing identifies TBK1 as a neurodegenerative disease gene in amyotropic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and frontotemporal dementia (26, 27). Further, it was shown that mutations of TBK1 at the C-terminal TBK1 coiled-coil domain, resulted in TBK1's dissociation from OPTN, while preserving its kinase activity (located at the N-terminal ubiquitin-like domain) (27). These studies provide a potential mechanistic basis for TBK's involvement in ALS. Mutations linking OPTN to impaired autophagy and neurodegenerative diseases have also been characterized (142). Thus, although it has not been directly demonstrated, TBK1-regulated autophagy appears to maintain cellular homeostasis of long-lived neuronal cells through mitophagy.

TBK1 and Autophagy in Immune Cell Lineage Development

TANK-binding kinase 1-regulated autophagy may also be important for regulation of immune cells. As mentioned above, mice deficient in autophagic proteins (Atg3, Atg5, Atg7, Atg9, and Atg16L1) have neonatal lethality, as do TBK1^{-/-} mice (1, 129). In contrast, STING^{-/-} mice are viable, but have impaired TBK1dependent IFN-I responses to cytoplasmic DNA (67). Autophagy allows dynamic changes necessary for proper mammalian development through the recycling and provision of macromolecules and clearance of apoptotic bodies. Conditional Atg7^{fl/fl}:Vav-Cre mice (i.e., hematopoietic cell-specific deletion of Atg7) overcomes embryonic lethality, but these mice are anemic and lymphopenic, linking autophagy to erythropoiesis and lymphopoiesis (129). Similarly, T cell-specific deletion of Atg5 or Atg7 (Atg5^{fl/fl}:Lck-Cre or Atg7^{fl/fl}:Lck-Cre mice) or innate lymphoid cell (ILC)-specific deletion of Atg5 (Atg5^{fl/fl}:Nkp46-Cre) reduces peripheral T cells and ILC subpopulations, respectively (143, 144). Maturation of naïve T cells depends on autophagy to reduce mitochondrial and ER contents through mitophagy and reticulophagy, respectively (143, 145, 146). Defective autophagy in T cells results in accumulated mitochondrial biomass, disturbed Ca2+ homeostasis, higher levels of reactive oxygen species (superoxide), and enhanced susceptibility to apoptosis (143, 145, 146). In contrast to lymphopenia, the myeloid compartment in Atg7^{fl/fl}:Vav-Cre mice is expanded (147), implicating autophagy in the balance between lymphopoiesis and myelopoiesis. It was also recently shown that autophagy is required for full granulopoiesis (148). Autophagy regulates cellular differentiation and activation by accommodating metabolic adaptation, which can occur in parallel and independently of transcriptional regulators. Neutrophils from Atg7^{fl/fl}:Vav-Cre or Atg7^{fl/fl}:Cebpa-Cre (granulocyte-macrophage progenitor-specific deletion of Atg7) mice are numerically expanded, but are unable to complete maturation and, therefore, are functionally defective. In this case, autophagy-mediated lipolysis (lipophagy) provides free fatty acids to support a mitochondrial respiration pathway essential for neutrophil differentiation (148). Autophagy regulates cytosolic processing of antigen for presentation on MHCII in DCs. The absence of Atg5 in DCs results in failure to mount full Th1 cell immunity to viral infection (149). TBK1 has also been associated with metabolic adaptation of DC after TLR stimulation, whereby TBK1 phosphorylates AKT for the glycolysis which is necessary for DC activation. shRNA-mediated TBK1 knockdown in DCs results in a blunted glycolytic shift and reduced ability of these DCs to prime antigen-specific T cells in vitro (14).

In summary, separate lines of evidence have linked autophagy to cell metabolism, TBK1 to autophagy, and TBK1 to metabolism in immune cell development and activation. Further studies of TBK1's role in cellular autophagy and metabolism in various immune contexts could allow manipulation of immune function—either for protection against pathogens or rewiring toward tolerance in autoimmunity.

TBK1 and Autophagy Balance Age-Related Inflammation

In contrast to the maturation defect of neutrophils in the absence of autophagy, macrophages derived from $Atg5^{11/6}$:LysM-Cre mice

display a heightened proinflammatory phenotype. These mice develop greater hepatitis on a high fat diet and low dose LPS and also spontaneous uveitis (150, 151). Autophagy-deficient macrophages activate the NLRP3 inflammasome and develop IL-1 β -mediated inflammation (151–153). Similar to macrophages, Atg16L1-deficient DCs have heightened activation in graftversus-host disease (154). Loss of function polymorphisms of Atg16L1 have been associated with age-dependent development of inflammatory bowel disease (Crohn's disease) owing to impaired clearance of ileal pathogens or endogenous protein aggregates, and chronic elevation of inflammatory cytokine responses (155, 156). Interestingly, DC-specific deletion of TBK1 (Tbk1^{fl/fl}:CD11c-Cre mice) also display age-related cellular hyperactivation, with marked upregulation of costimulatory molecules on DCs, T cell activation, and autoimmune features (splenomegaly, lymphadenopathy, and tissue infiltration with lymphocytes) (157). These Tbk1^{fl/fl}:CD11c-Cre mice have an increased frequency of activated IFN-γ-producing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, while Tregs remain comparable to TBK1-sufficient mice. Consequently, these mice are more sensitive to EAE and mount more robust antitumor immunity against poorly immunogenic B16F10 melanoma cells (157).

Enhanced macrophage or DC activation in the absence of TBK1 may be due to impaired autophagy, which normally limits age-related inflammasome activation. Of note, the age-dependent hyperinflammatory status of autophagy- or TBK1-deficient macrophages and DCs in Atg conditional knockout mouse models resembles aging macrophages. These cells shift from an anti-inflammatory to a proinflammatory phenotype, with an age-related reduction in autophagic activity and sensing of endogenous damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (158, 159). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that TBK1 maintains cellular autophagy and sustains immune cell longevity and homeostasis. Hallmarks of accelerated immune cell aging with chronic TBK1 deficiency are also notable in the *Tbk1*^{fl/fl}:CD19-Cre mice (B cell-specific ablation of TBK1) (160). These mice have normal B cell populations in the spleen and bone marrow, but develop age-related dysregulation of the non-canonical NF-κB pathway, uncontrolled production of IgA, increased levels of autoantibody antinuclear antigen and anti-dsDNA, with nephropathy-like disease (160). In this study, it was concluded that steady state TBK1 negatively regulates IgA class switching in B cells by attenuating noncanonical NF-KB signaling. This effect was thought to be due to TBK1-mediated phosphorylation and degradation of NF-KBinducing kinase, downstream of BAFF or APRIL signaling (160). Intriguingly, it is possible that *Tbk1*^{fl/fl}:CD19-Cre mice phenocopy the aging B cell repertoire because the B1 population (responsible for IgA responses) and autoantibody production are enhanced by age (161). While chronic deficiency of autophagy or TBK1 results in amplified endogenous inflammation to DAMPs in myeloid cells and abnormalities in the B cell repertoire, inhibition of autophagy may be exploited to target long-lived autoimmune populations (discussed below) through acceleration of immune cell aging.

Autophagy Supports Long-Lived Memory Immune Cells – Implication of TBK1

As discussed above, autophagy is cytoprotective in senescent cells, such as neurons. This cytoprotective function also appears to apply

in long-lived immune cells. Mice with B cell-specific deletion of Atg5 or Atg7 ($Atg5^{n/n}$:CD19-Cre or $Atg7^{n/n}$:CD19-Cre mice) have mostly normal B cell development, but are unable to maintain long-lived humoral antibody responses owing to the failure to maintain long-lived plasma cells and memory B cells, respectively (162, 163). In both studies, plasma cells and memory B cells arising from immunization and GC were shown to upregulate components of the autophagic machinery. In plasma cells, autophagy is thought to maintain longevity by reticulophagy (autophagic clearance of redundant endoplasmic reticulum) to limit excessive antibody synthesis and conserve energy balance (162). Further studies are needed to investigate whether TBK1 is involved in reticulophagy and physiological adaptation of plasma cells.

Autophagy also supports the lifespan of quiescent, antigenexperienced, long-lived, GC-derived memory B cells through mitophagy. Atg7^{fl/fl}:CD19-Cre mice mount normal primary antibody responses and have normal differentiation of post-GC memory B cells, but fail to generate secondary antibody responses to influenza virus due to spontaneous death of memory B cells (163). Memory B cells from *Atg7*^{fl/fl}:CD19-Cre mice are unable to efficiently remove damaged mitochondria, resulting in accumulation of reactive oxygen species, lipid peroxidation, and oxidative stress-induced death. Interestingly, these mice also develop enhanced Th17 responses to viral infection, possibly as a compensatory mechanism (163). Whether TBK1 also regulates mitophagy and, therefore, the survival of memory B cells requires further investigation. Mitophagy was shown to support the generation of LCMV-induced memory CD8+ T cells (164, 165) and MCMVinduced memory NK cells (166). These studies highlight that autophagy is not apparently required for germline T cell development, nor for T cell activation and proliferation, but is important for established effector T cells to generate a pool of memory cells (165, 166). Autophagy is dynamically induced at various stages of immune cell development, activation, and differentiation, but plays a particular role in the formation and maintenance of longlived immune populations, including memory B cells and senescent plasma cells. Because long-lived plasma cells or plasma cells deriving from memory B cells can drive persistent autoimmune disease (167), abrogation of autophagy through TBK1 inhibition might reduce resistance to autonomous cell aging and death, and diminish pathogenic autoantibody responses.

In summary, a number of studies demonstrate significant overlap between TBK1 and autophagy, most notably in antimicrobial xenophagy and maintenance of neuronal cell health. Similar to autophagy, TBK1 has a complex role in immune cells. It is known that autophagy is dynamically regulated to accommodate rapid metabolic adaptation and organelle turnover associated with cell development, differentiation, activation, and longevity. TBK1 regulates autophagy through post-translational modifications of autophagy adaptor/receptor proteins required for the maturation of autophagosomes. TBK1's involvement in other types of organelle autophagy and metabolic signaling pathways in immune lineage cells and immune responses is of great interest. Autophagy supports the extended lifespan of cells, such as neurons, immune memory populations, and long-lived plasma cells. Targeting autophagy through the inhibition of TBK1 may provide a novel approach for treating humoral autoimmune diseases. Inhibition of autophagy or TBK1 may favor the generation of short-lived effector cells, rather than long-lived memory populations. Both autophagy and TBK1 have been shown to regulate the delicate balance between cellular adaptation for efficient immune response and aging-associated autoinflammation. Studies exploring how, when, and where TBK1 facilitates autophagy in distinct immune lineages will inform potential modulation of protective or pathogenic immune responses.

CONCLUSION

In this review, we discuss the remarkable functional diversity of TBK1 in the context of humoral autoimmunity. These pathways are summarized in the **Figure 1**. TBK1 is required for IFN-Is production in the context of sensing viral or aberrant cytoplasmic nucleic acids. Overactive TBK1 can precipitate IFN-Is and lupus, such as is the case for TREX1 deficiency. Recent literature reports that TBK1 is associated with humoral antibody responses *via* its recruitment to and activation of ICOS in the CD4⁺ T_{FH} population in GCs of lymph nodes. ICOS is required for full maturation of the GC T_{FH} population, the GC reaction, GC-mediated generation of affinity-matured long-lived plasma cell and memory

REFERENCES

- Bonnard M, Mirtsos C, Suzuki S, Graham K, Huang J, Ng M, et al. Deficiency of T2K leads to apoptotic liver degeneration and impaired NF-kappaB-dependent gene transcription. *EMBO J* (2000) 19(18):4976–85. doi:10.1093/emboj/19. 18.4976
- Liu S, Cai X, Wu J, Cong Q, Chen X, Li T, et al. Phosphorylation of innate immune adaptor proteins MAVS, STING, and TRIF induces IRF3 activation. *Science* (2015) 347(6227):aaa2630. doi:10.1126/science.aaa2630
- Li X, Yang M, Yu Z, Tang S, Wang L, Cao X, et al. The tyrosine kinase Src promotes phosphorylation of the kinase TBK1 to facilitate type I interferon production after viral infection. *Sci Signal* (2017) 10(460):eaae0435. doi:10.1126/scisignal.aae0435
- Ma X, Helgason E, Phung QT, Quan CL, Iyer RS, Lee MW, et al. Molecular basis of Tank-binding kinase 1 activation by transautophosphorylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(24):9378–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.1121552109
- Larabi A, Devos JM, Ng SL, Nanao MH, Round A, Maniatis T, et al. Crystal structure and mechanism of activation of TANK-binding kinase 1. *Cell Rep* (2013) 3(3):734–46. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.01.034
- Dobbs N, Burnaevskiy N, Chen D, Gonugunta VK, Alto NM, Yan N. STING activation by translocation from the ER is associated with infection and autoinflammatory disease. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 18(2):157–68. doi:10.1016/j. chom.2015.07.001
- Pourcelot M, Zemirli N, Silva Da Costa L, Loyant R, Garcin D, Vitour D, et al. The Golgi apparatus acts as a platform for TBK1 activation after viral RNA sensing. *BMC Biol* (2016) 14:69. doi:10.1186/s12915-016-0292-z
- Fitzgerald KA, McWhirter SM, Faia KL, Rowe DC, Latz E, Golenbock DT, et al. IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(5):491–6. doi:10.1038/ni921
- Sharma S, tenOever BR, Grandvaux N, Zhou GP, Lin R, Hiscott J. Triggering the interferon antiviral response through an IKK-related pathway. *Science* (2003) 300(5622):1148–51. doi:10.1126/science.1081315
- Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Yamamoto M, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, et al. The roles of two IkappaB kinase-related kinases in lipopolysaccharide and double stranded RNA signaling and viral infection. *J Exp Med* (2004) 199(12):1641–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20040520
- McWhirter SM, Fitzgerald KA, Rosains J, Rowe DC, Golenbock DT, Maniatis T. IFN-regulatory factor 3-dependent gene expression is defective in Tbk1deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(1):233–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.2237236100

B cells, and productive GC-derived antibody responses. Thus, TBK1 inhibition may be useful in pathogenic autoantibody responses mediated by GC. Finally, we highlight the similarity of TBK1 deficiency to that of autophagy-deficiency. Therapeutic TBK1 inhibition may therefore lead to premature aging and/or death of pathogenic immune cells, such as long-lived plasma cells, and memory B cells in autoimmune diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the assembly and revision of this review manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Reid Charitable Trusts, National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia Clinical Practitioner Fellowship (1023407), Program Grant (1016647, 1113577) and Development Grant (1055374) and IRIISS (9000220), Victorian Government Operational Infrastructure Support, Australian Cancer Research Foundation and Dyson Bequest Funding (Dunn Fellowship to CB).

- Tanaka Y, Chen ZJ. STING specifies IRF3 phosphorylation by TBK1 in the cytosolic DNA signaling pathway. Sci Signal (2012) 5(214):ra20. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.2002521
- Xie X, Zhang D, Zhao B, Lu MK, You M, Condorelli G, et al. IkappaB kinase epsilon and TANK-binding kinase 1 activate AKT by direct phosphorylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(16):6474–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1016132108
- Everts B, Amiel E, Huang SC, Smith AM, Chang CH, Lam WY, et al. TLRdriven early glycolytic reprogramming via the kinases TBK1-IKKvarepsilon supports the anabolic demands of dendritic cell activation. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(4):323–32. doi:10.1038/ni.2833
- Kim JY, Welsh EA, Oguz U, Fang B, Bai Y, Kinose F, et al. Dissection of TBK1 signaling via phosphoproteomics in lung cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2013) 110(30):12414–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1220674110
- Tenoever BR, Ng SL, Chua MA, McWhirter SM, Garcia-Sastre A, Maniatis T. Multiple functions of the IKK-related kinase IKKepsilon in interferonmediated antiviral immunity. *Science* (2007) 315(5816):1274–8. doi:10.1126/ science.1136567
- Bulek K, Liu C, Swaidani S, Wang L, Page RC, Gulen MF, et al. The inducible kinase IKKi is required for IL-17-dependent signaling associated with neutrophilia and pulmonary inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(9):844–52. doi:10.1038/ni.2080
- Gulen MF, Bulek K, Xiao H, Yu M, Gao J, Sun L, et al. Inactivation of the enzyme GSK3alpha by the kinase IKKi promotes AKT-mTOR signaling pathway that mediates interleukin-1-induced Th17 cell maintenance. *Immunity* (2012) 37(5):800–12. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.08.019
- Zhang J, Feng H, Zhao J, Feldman ER, Chen SY, Yuan W, et al. IkappaB kinase epsilon is an NFATc1 kinase that inhibits T cell immune response. *Cell Rep* (2016) 16(2):405–18. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.083
- Baechler EC, Batliwalla FM, Karypis G, Gaffney PM, Ortmann WA, Espe KJ, et al. Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(5):2610–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0337679100
- Bennett L, Palucka AK, Arce E, Cantrell V, Borvak J, Banchereau J, et al. Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. J Exp Med (2003) 197(6):711–23. doi:10.1084/jem.20021553
- Ronnblom L, Alm GV. Systemic lupus erythematosus and the type I interferon system. Arthritis Res Ther (2003) 5(2):68–75. doi:10.1186/ar625
- 23. Pedros C, Zhang Y, Hu JK, Choi YS, Canonigo-Balancio AJ, Yates JR III, et al. A TRAF-like motif of the inducible costimulator ICOS controls development

of germinal center TFH cells via the kinase TBK1. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(7):825–33. doi:10.1038/ni.3463

- Heo JM, Ordureau A, Paulo JA, Rinehart J, Harper JW. The PINK1-PARKIN mitochondrial ubiquitylation pathway drives a program of OPTN/NDP52 recruitment and TBK1 activation to promote mitophagy. *Mol Cell* (2015) 60(1):7–20. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2015.08.016
- Richter B, Sliter DA, Herhaus L, Stolz A, Wang C, Beli P, et al. Phosphorylation of OPTN by TBK1 enhances its binding to Ub chains and promotes selective autophagy of damaged mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(15):4039–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.1523926113
- Cirulli ET, Lasseigne BN, Petrovski S, Sapp PC, Dion PA, Leblond CS, et al. Exome sequencing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis identifies risk genes and pathways. *Science* (2015) 347(6229):1436–41. doi:10.1126/science.aaa3650
- Freischmidt A, Wieland T, Richter B, Ruf W, Schaeffer V, Muller K, et al. Haploinsufficiency of TBK1 causes familial ALS and fronto-temporal dementia. *Nat Neurosci* (2015) 18(5):631–6. doi:10.1038/nn.4000
- Moore AS, Holzbaur EL. Dynamic recruitment and activation of ALSassociated TBK1 with its target optineurin are required for efficient mitophagy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(24):E3349–58. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1523810113
- Delhase M, Kim SY, Lee H, Naiki-Ito A, Chen Y, Ahn ER, et al. TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) controls cell survival through PAI-2/serpinB2 and transglutaminase 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(4):E177–86. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1119296109
- Nordmark G, Eloranta ML, Ronnblom L. Primary Sjogren's syndrome and the type I interferon system. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2012) 13(10):2054–62. doi:10.2174/138920112802273290
- Lubbers J, Brink M, van de Stadt LA, Vosslamber S, Wesseling JG, van Schaardenburg D, et al. The type I IFN signature as a biomarker of preclinical rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2013) 72(5):776–80. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2012-202753
- Hasan M, Yan N. Therapeutic potential of targeting TBK1 in autoimmune diseases and interferonopathies. *Pharmacol Res* (2016) 111:336–42. doi:10.1016/j. phrs.2016.04.008
- Cervantes-Barragan I, Kalinke U, Zust R, Konig M, Reizis B, Lopez-Macias C, et al. Type I IFN-mediated protection of macrophages and dendritic cells secures control of murine coronavirus infection. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(2): 1099–106. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.1099
- Prchal M, Pilz A, Simma O, Lingnau K, von Gabain A, Strobl B, et al. Type I interferons as mediators of immune adjuvants for T- and B cell-dependent acquired immunity. *Vaccine* (2009) 27(Suppl 6):G17–20. doi:10.1016/j. vaccine.2009.10.016
- Zust R, Toh YX, Valdes I, Cerny D, Heinrich J, Hermida L, et al. Type I interferon signals in macrophages and dendritic cells control dengue virus infection: implications for a new mouse model to test dengue vaccines. *J Virol* (2014) 88(13):7276–85. doi:10.1128/JVI.03827-13
- Bahl K, Kim SK, Calcagno C, Ghersi D, Puzone R, Celada F, et al. IFNinduced attrition of CD8 T cells in the presence or absence of cognate antigen during the early stages of viral infections. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(7):4284–95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4284
- Xu HC, Grusdat M, Pandyra AA, Polz R, Huang J, Sharma P, et al. Type I interferon protects antiviral CD8+ T cells from NK cell cytotoxicity. *Immunity* (2014) 40(6):949–60. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.004
- Madera S, Rapp M, Firth MA, Beilke JN, Lanier LL, Sun JC. Type I IFN promotes NK cell expansion during viral infection by protecting NK cells against fratricide. J Exp Med (2016) 213(2):225–33. doi:10.1084/jem.20150712
- Katlinski KV, Gui J, Katlinskaya YV, Ortiz A, Chakraborty R, Bhattacharya S, et al. Inactivation of interferon receptor promotes the establishment of immune privileged tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 31(2):194–207. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2017.01.004
- Demaria O, De Gassart A, Coso S, Gestermann N, Di Domizio J, Flatz L, et al. STING activation of tumor endothelial cells initiates spontaneous and therapeutic antitumor immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(50): 15408–13. doi:10.1073/pnas.1512832112
- Morawski PA, Bolland S. Expanding the B cell-centric view of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(5):373–82. doi:10.1016/j. it.2017.02.001
- 42. Huang Z, Fu B, Zheng SG, Li X, Sun R, Tian Z, et al. Involvement of CD226+ NK cells in immunopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(6):3421–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000569

- Kim JS, Cho BA, Sim JH, Shah K, Woo CM, Lee EB, et al. IL-7Ralphalow memory CD8+ T cells are significantly elevated in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2012) 51(9):1587–94. doi:10.1093/ rheumatology/kes100
- Passos de Souza E, Evangelista Segundo PT, Jose FF, Lemaire D, Santiago M. Rheumatoid arthritis induced by alpha-interferon therapy. *Clin Rheumatol* (2001) 20(4):297–9. doi:10.1007/PL00011206
- Gota C, Calabrese L. Induction of clinical autoimmune disease by therapeutic interferon-alpha. *Autoimmunity* (2003) 36(8):511–8. doi:10.1080/089169303 10001605873
- Mathian A, Weinberg A, Gallegos M, Banchereau J, Koutouzov S. IFN-alpha induces early lethal lupus in preautoimmune (New Zealand Black x New Zealand White) F1 but not in BALB/c mice. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(5):2499–506. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.5.2499
- Mathian A, Gallegos M, Pascual V, Banchereau J, Koutouzov S. Interferonalpha induces unabated production of short-lived plasma cells in preautoimmune lupus-prone (NZBxNZW)F1 mice but not in BALB/c mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(3):863–72. doi:10.1002/eji.201040649
- Li H, Fu YX, Wu Q, Zhou Y, Crossman DK, Yang P, et al. Interferon-induced mechanosensing defects impede apoptotic cell clearance in lupus. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125(7):2877–90. doi:10.1172/JCI81059
- Cucak H, Yrlid U, Reizis B, Kalinke U, Johansson-Lindbom B. Type I interferon signaling in dendritic cells stimulates the development of lymph-node-resident T follicular helper cells. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):491–501. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.07.005
- Nacionales DC, Kelly-Scumpia KM, Lee PY, Weinstein JS, Lyons R, Sobel E, et al. Deficiency of the type I interferon receptor protects mice from experimental lupus. *Arthritis Rheum* (2007) 56(11):3770–83. doi:10.1002/art.23023
- Lee PY, Kumagai Y, Li Y, Takeuchi O, Yoshida H, Weinstein J, et al. TLR7dependent and FcgammaR-independent production of type I interferon in experimental mouse lupus. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(13):2995–3006. doi:10.1084/ jem.20080462
- Baccala R, Gonzalez-Quintial R, Schreiber RD, Lawson BR, Kono DH, Theofilopoulos AN. Anti-IFN-alpha/beta receptor antibody treatment ameliorates disease in lupus-predisposed mice. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(12):5976–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201477
- 53. Smeets TJ, Dayer JM, Kraan MC, Versendaal J, Chicheportiche R, Breedveld FC, et al. The effects of interferon-beta treatment of synovial inflammation and expression of metalloproteinases in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2000) 43(2):270–4. doi:10.1002/1529-0131 (200002)43:2<270::AID-ANR5>3.0.CO;2-H
- Airas L, Niemela J, Yegutkin G, Jalkanen S. Mechanism of action of IFN-beta in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: a special reference to CD73 and adenosine. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2007) 1110:641–8. doi:10.1196/ annals.1423.067
- 55. Triantaphyllopoulos KA, Williams RO, Tailor H, Chernajovsky Y. Amelioration of collagen-induced arthritis and suppression of interferon-gamma, interleukin-12, and tumor necrosis factor alpha production by interferonbeta gene therapy. *Arthritis Rheum* (1999) 42(1):90–9. doi:10.1002/1529-0131 (199901)42:1<90::AID-ANR12>3.0.CO;2-A
- 56. van Holten J, Reedquist K, Sattonet-Roche P, Smeets TJ, Plater-Zyberk C, Vervoordeldonk MJ, et al. Treatment with recombinant interferon-beta reduces inflammation and slows cartilage destruction in the collagen-induced arthritis model of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2004) 6(3):R239–49. doi:10.1186/ar1165
- Treschow AP, Teige I, Nandakumar KS, Holmdahl R, Issazadeh-Navikas S. Stromal cells and osteoclasts are responsible for exacerbated collagen-induced arthritis in interferon-beta-deficient mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52(12): 3739–48. doi:10.1002/art.21496
- Manfredonia F, Pasquali L, Dardano A, Iudice A, Murri L, Monzani F. Review of the clinical evidence for interferon beta 1a (Rebif) in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2008) 4(2):321–36. doi:10.2147/ NDT.S476
- Vervoordeldonk MJ, Aalbers CJ, Tak PP. Interferon beta for rheumatoid arthritis: new clothes for an old kid on the block. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2009) 68(2):157–8. doi:10.1136/ard.2008.097899
- Oon S, Huynh H, Tai TY, Ng M, Monaghan K, Biondo M, et al. A cytotoxic anti-IL-3Ralpha antibody targets key cells and cytokines implicated in systemic lupus erythematosus. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1(6):e86131. doi:10.1172/jci. insight.86131

- Oon S, Wilson NJ, Wicks I. Targeted therapeutics in SLE: emerging strategies to modulate the interferon pathway. *Clin Transl Immunology* (2016) 5(5):e79. doi:10.1038/cti.2016.26
- 62. Ronnblom L, Alm GV, Eloranta ML. Type I interferon and lupus. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2009) 21(5):471–7. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e32832e089e
- Oganesyan G, Saha SK, Pietras EM, Guo B, Miyahira AK, Zarnegar B, et al. IRF3-dependent type I interferon response in B cells regulates CpG-mediated antibody production. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283(2):802–8. doi:10.1074/jbc. M704755200
- Ishii KJ, Kawagoe T, Koyama S, Matsui K, Kumar H, Kawai T, et al. TANKbinding kinase-1 delineates innate and adaptive immune responses to DNA vaccines. *Nature* (2008) 451(7179):725–9. doi:10.1038/nature06537
- Marichal T, Ohata K, Bedoret D, Mesnil C, Sabatel C, Kobiyama K, et al. DNA released from dying host cells mediates aluminum adjuvant activity. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):996–1002. doi:10.1038/nm.2403
- 66. Onishi M, Ozasa K, Kobiyama K, Ohata K, Kitano M, Taniguchi K, et al. Hydroxypropyl-beta-cyclodextrin spikes local inflammation that induces Th2 cell and T follicular helper cell responses to the coadministered antigen. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(6):2673–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402027
- Ishikawa H, Ma Z, Barber GN. STING regulates intracellular DNA-mediated, type I interferon-dependent innate immunity. *Nature* (2009) 461(7265):788–92. doi:10.1038/nature08476
- Stetson DB, Ko JS, Heidmann T, Medzhitov R. Trex1 prevents cell-intrinsic initiation of autoimmunity. *Cell* (2008) 134(4):587–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008. 06.032
- Yang YG, Lindahl T, Barnes DE. Trex1 exonuclease degrades ssDNA to prevent chronic checkpoint activation and autoimmune disease. *Cell* (2007) 131(5):873–86. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.017
- Gall A, Treuting P, Elkon KB, Loo YM, Gale M Jr, Barber GN, et al. Autoimmunity initiates in nonhematopoietic cells and progresses via lymphocytes in an interferon-dependent autoimmune disease. *Immunity* (2012) 36(1):120–31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.018
- Crow YJ, Hayward BE, Parmar R, Robins P, Leitch A, Ali M, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus. *Nat Genet* (2006) 38(8):917–20. doi:10.1038/ ng1845
- Gunther C, Berndt N, Wolf C, Lee-Kirsch MA. Familial chilblain lupus due to a novel mutation in the exonuclease III domain of 3' repair exonuclease 1 (TREX1). *JAMA Dermatol* (2015) 151(4):426–31. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol. 2014.3438
- Lee-Kirsch MA, Gong M, Chowdhury D, Senenko L, Engel K, Lee YA, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet* (2007) 39(9):1065–7. doi:10.1038/ng2091
- Hasan M, Dobbs N, Khan S, White MA, Wakeland EK, Li QZ, et al. Cutting edge: inhibiting TBK1 by compound II ameliorates autoimmune disease in mice. J Immunol (2015) 195(10):4573–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500162
- Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:429–57. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032
- De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(3):137–48. doi:10.1038/nri3804
- Baumjohann D, Preite S, Reboldi A, Ronchi F, Ansel KM, Lanzavecchia A, et al. Persistent antigen and germinal center B cells sustain T follicular helper cell responses and phenotype. *Immunity* (2013) 38(3):596–605. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.11.020
- Phan TG, Paus D, Chan TD, Turner ML, Nutt SL, Basten A, et al. High affinity germinal center B cells are actively selected into the plasma cell compartment. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2419–24. doi:10.1084/jem.20061254
- Suan D, Sundling C, Brink R. Plasma cell and memory B cell differentiation from the germinal center. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2017) 45:97–102. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2017.03.006
- Wang Y, Shi J, Yan J, Xiao Z, Hou X, Lu P, et al. Germinal-center development of memory B cells driven by IL-9 from follicular helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(8):921–30. doi:10.1038/ni.3788
- Vinuesa CG, Sanz I, Cook MC. Dysregulation of germinal centres in autoimmune disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(12):845–57. doi:10.1038/nri2637
- Becker-Herman S, Meyer-Bahlburg A, Schwartz MA, Jackson SW, Hudkins KL, Liu C, et al. WASp-deficient B cells play a critical, cell-intrinsic role in

triggering autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2011) 208(10):2033-42. doi:10.1084/ jem.20110200

- Rawlings DJ, Metzler G, Wray-Dutra M, Jackson SW. Altered B cell signalling in autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2017) 17(7):421–36. doi:10.1038/ nri.2017.24
- Crotty S. T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, and roles in disease. *Immunity* (2014) 41(4):529–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.004
- Ueno H, Banchereau J, Vinuesa CG. Pathophysiology of T follicular helper cells in humans and mice. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(2):142–52. doi:10.1038/ ni.3054
- Xu J, Foy TM, Laman JD, Elliott EA, Dunn JJ, Waldschmidt TJ, et al. Mice deficient for the CD40 ligand. *Immunity* (1994) 1(5):423–31. doi:10.1016/ 1074-7613(94)90073-6
- King IL, Mohrs M. IL-4-producing CD4+ T cells in reactive lymph nodes during helminth infection are T follicular helper cells. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(5):1001–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20090313
- Reinhardt RL, Liang HE, Locksley RM. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(4):385–93. doi:10.1038/ni.1715
- Zotos D, Coquet JM, Zhang Y, Light A, D'Costa K, Kallies A, et al. IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(2):365–78. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091777
- Woods M, Zou YR, Davidson A. Defects in germinal center selection in SLE. Front Immunol (2015) 6:425. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00425
- Vinuesa CG, Cook MC, Angelucci C, Athanasopoulos V, Rui L, Hill KM, et al. A RING-type ubiquitin ligase family member required to repress follicular helper T cells and autoimmunity. *Nature* (2005) 435(7041):452–8. doi:10.1038/nature03555
- Linterman MA, Rigby RJ, Wong RK, Yu D, Brink R, Cannons JL, et al. Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(3):561–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20081886
- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1006–10. doi:10.1126/ science.1175870
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1001–5. doi:10.1126/science.1176676
- Cannons JL, Qi H, Lu KT, Dutta M, Gomez-Rodriguez J, Cheng J, et al. Optimal germinal center responses require a multistage T cell:B cell adhesion process involving integrins, SLAM-associated protein, and CD84. *Immunity* (2010) 32(2):253–65. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.01.010
- 96. Chevalier N, Macia L, Tan JK, Mason LJ, Robert R, Thorburn AN, et al. The role of follicular helper T cell molecules and environmental influences in autoantibody production and progression to inflammatory arthritis in mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68(4):1026–38. doi:10.1002/art.39481
- Ma J, Zhu C, Ma B, Tian J, Baidoo SE, Mao C, et al. Increased frequency of circulating follicular helper T cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:827480. doi:10.1155/2012/827480
- Wang J, Shan Y, Jiang Z, Feng J, Li C, Ma L, et al. High frequencies of activated B cells and T follicular helper cells are correlated with disease activity in patients with new-onset rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 174(2):212–20. doi:10.1111/cei.12162
- Choi JY, Ho JH, Pasoto SG, Bunin V, Kim ST, Carrasco S, et al. Circulating follicular helper-like T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus: association with disease activity. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2015) 67(4):988–99. doi:10.1002/ art.39020
- Kenefeck R, Wang CJ, Kapadi T, Wardzinski L, Attridge K, Clough LE, et al. Follicular helper T cell signature in type 1 diabetes. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(1):292–303. doi:10.1172/JCI76238
- 101. Szabo K, Papp G, Barath S, Gyimesi E, Szanto A, Zeher M. Follicular helper T cells may play an important role in the severity of primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Immunol* (2013) 147(2):95–104. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2013.02.024
- 102. Verstappen GM, Kroese FG, Meiners PM, Corneth OB, Huitema MG, Haacke EA, et al. B cell depletion therapy normalizes circulating follicular Th cells in primary Sjogren syndrome. *J Rheumatol* (2017) 44(1):49–58. doi:10.3899/ jrheum.160313

- Hutloff A, Dittrich AM, Beier KC, Eljaschewitsch B, Kraft R, Anagnostopoulos I, et al. ICOS is an inducible T-cell co-stimulator structurally and functionally related to CD28. *Nature* (1999) 397(6716):263–6. doi:10.1038/16717
- 104. Lohning M, Hutloff A, Kallinich T, Mages HW, Bonhagen K, Radbruch A, et al. Expression of ICOS in vivo defines CD4+ effector T cells with high inflammatory potential and a strong bias for secretion of interleukin 10. J Exp Med (2003) 197(2):181–93. doi:10.1084/jem.20020632
- 105. Choi YS, Kageyama R, Eto D, Escobar TC, Johnston RJ, Monticelli L, et al. ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):932–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.023
- Weinstein JS, Herman EI, Lainez B, Licona-Limon P, Esplugues E, Flavell R, et al. TFH cells progressively differentiate to regulate the germinal center response. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(10):1197–205. doi:10.1038/ni.3554
- 107. Wong SC, Oh E, Ng CH, Lam KP. Impaired germinal center formation and recall T-cell-dependent immune responses in mice lacking the costimulatory ligand B7-H2. *Blood* (2003) 102(4):1381–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-08-2416
- Dong C, Juedes AE, Temann UA, Shresta S, Allison JP, Ruddle NH, et al. ICOS co-stimulatory receptor is essential for T-cell activation and function. *Nature* (2001) 409(6816):97–101. doi:10.1038/35051100
- McAdam AJ, Greenwald RJ, Levin MA, Chernova T, Malenkovich N, Ling V, et al. ICOS is critical for CD40-mediated antibody class switching. *Nature* (2001) 409(6816):102–5. doi:10.1038/35051107
- Tafuri A, Shahinian A, Bladt F, Yoshinaga SK, Jordana M, Wakeham A, et al. ICOS is essential for effective T-helper-cell responses. *Nature* (2001) 409(6816):105–9. doi:10.1038/35051113
- 111. Gigoux M, Shang J, Pak Y, Xu M, Choe J, Mak TW, et al. Inducible costimulator promotes helper T-cell differentiation through phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2009) 106(48):20371–6. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0911573106
- 112. Mittereder N, Kuta E, Bhat G, Dacosta K, Cheng LI, Herbst R, et al. Loss of immune tolerance is controlled by ICOS in Sle1 mice. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(2):491–503. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502241
- 113. Hamel KM, Cao Y, Olalekan SA, Finnegan A. B cell-specific expression of inducible costimulator ligand is necessary for the induction of arthritis in mice. Arthritis Rheumatol (2014) 66(1):60–7. doi:10.1002/art.38207
- 114. Iwai H, Kozono Y, Hirose S, Akiba H, Yagita H, Okumura K, et al. Amelioration of collagen-induced arthritis by blockade of inducible costimulator-B7 homologous protein costimulation. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(8):4332–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4332
- Hu YL, Metz DP, Chung J, Siu G, Zhang M. B7RP-1 blockade ameliorates autoimmunity through regulation of follicular helper T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(3):1421–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.3.1421
- 116. Sullivan BA, Tsuji W, Kivitz A, Peng J, Arnold GE, Boedigheimer MJ, et al. Inducible T-cell co-stimulator ligand (ICOSL) blockade leads to selective inhibition of anti-KLH IgG responses in subjects with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus Sci Med* (2016) 3(1):e000146. doi:10.1136/lupus-2016-000146
- 117. Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):457–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- 118. Dodson LF, Boomer JS, Deppong CM, Shah DD, Sim J, Bricker TL, et al. Targeted knock-in mice expressing mutations of CD28 reveal an essential pathway for costimulation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29(13):3710–21. doi:10.1128/ MCB.01869-08
- 119. Stone EL, Pepper M, Katayama CD, Kerdiles YM, Lai CY, Emslie E, et al. ICOS coreceptor signaling inactivates the transcription factor FOXO1 to promote Tfh cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2015) 42(2):239–51. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2015.01.017
- 120. Weber JP, Fuhrmann F, Feist RK, Lahmann A, Al Baz MS, Gentz LJ, et al. ICOS maintains the T follicular helper cell phenotype by down-regulating Kruppel-like factor 2. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(2):217–33. doi:10.1084/jem. 20141432
- 121. Rolf J, Bell SE, Kovesdi D, Janas ML, Soond DR, Webb LM, et al. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity in T cells regulates the magnitude of the germinal center reaction. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(7):4042–52. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1001730
- 122. Ou YH, Torres M, Ram R, Formstecher E, Roland C, Cheng T, et al. TBK1 directly engages Akt/PKB survival signaling to support oncogenic transformation. *Mol Cell* (2011) 41(4):458–70. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2011.01.019

- Kerdiles YM, Stone EL, Beisner DR, McGargill MA, Chen IL, Stockmann C, et al. Foxo transcription factors control regulatory T cell development and function. *Immunity* (2010) 33(6):890–904. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010. 12.002
- 124. Yu J, Zhou X, Chang M, Nakaya M, Chang JH, Xiao Y, et al. Regulation of T-cell activation and migration by the kinase TBK1 during neuroinflammation. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6074. doi:10.1038/ncomms7074
- 125. Kadkhoda K, Wang S, Joyee AG, Fan Y, Yang J, Yang X. Th1 cytokine responses fail to effectively control chlamydia lung infection in ICOS ligand knockout mice. J Immunol (2010) 184(7):3780–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901384
- 126. Nouailles G, Day TA, Kuhlmann S, Loewe D, Dorhoi A, Gamradt P, et al. Impact of inducible co-stimulatory molecule (ICOS) on T-cell responses and protection against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(4):981–91. doi:10.1002/eji.201040608
- 127. Wikenheiser DJ, Ghosh D, Kennedy B, Stumhofer JS. The costimulatory molecule ICOS regulates host Th1 and follicular Th cell differentiation in response to *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(2):778–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1403206
- Levine B, Mizushima N, Virgin HW. Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* (2011) 469(7330):323–35. doi:10.1038/nature09782
- Mizushima N, Yoshimori T, Ohsumi Y. The role of Atg proteins in autophagosome formation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2011) 27:107–32. doi:10.1146/ annurev-cellbio-092910-154005
- Deretic V. Autophagy: an emerging immunological paradigm. J Immunol (2012) 189(1):15–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102108
- Gomes LC, Dikic I. Autophagy in antimicrobial immunity. *Mol Cell* (2014) 54(2):224–33. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.009
- Thurston TL, Ryzhakov G, Bloor S, von Muhlinen N, Randow F. The TBK1 adaptor and autophagy receptor NDP52 restricts the proliferation of ubiquitincoated bacteria. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(11):1215–21. doi:10.1038/ni.1800
- Wild P, Farhan H, McEwan DG, Wagner S, Rogov VV, Brady NR, et al. Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts Salmonella growth. Science (2011) 333(6039):228–33. doi:10.1126/science.1205405
- Pilli M, Arko-Mensah J, Ponpuak M, Roberts E, Master S, Mandell MA, et al. TBK-1 promotes autophagy-mediated antimicrobial defense by controlling autophagosome maturation. *Immunity* (2012) 37(2):223–34. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.04.015
- Matsumoto G, Wada K, Okuno M, Kurosawa M, Nukina N. Serine 403 phosphorylation of p62/SQSTM1 regulates selective autophagic clearance of ubiquitinated proteins. *Mol Cell* (2011) 44(2):279–89. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2011.07.039
- 136. Castillo EF, Dekonenko A, Arko-Mensah J, Mandell MA, Dupont N, Jiang S, et al. Autophagy protects against active tuberculosis by suppressing bacterial burden and inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(46):E3168–76. doi:10.1073/pnas.1210500109
- Deretic V, Saitoh T, Akira S. Autophagy in infection, inflammation and immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(10):722–37. doi:10.1038/nri3532
- Pu Q, Gan C, Li R, Li Y, Tan S, Li X, et al. Atg7 deficiency intensifies inflammasome activation and pyroptosis in *Pseudomonas* sepsis. *J Immunol* (2017) 198(8):3205–13. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601196
- 139. Hara T, Nakamura K, Matsui M, Yamamoto A, Nakahara Y, Suzuki-Migishima R, et al. Suppression of basal autophagy in neural cells causes neurodegenerative disease in mice. *Nature* (2006) 441(7095):885–9. doi:10.1038/ nature04724
- Menzies FM, Fleming A, Rubinsztein DC. Compromised autophagy and neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2015) 16(6):345–57. doi:10.1038/ nrn3961
- 141. Lazarou M, Sliter DA, Kane LA, Sarraf SA, Wang C, Burman JL, et al. The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce mitophagy. *Nature* (2015) 524(7565):309–14. doi:10.1038/nature14893
- Maruyama H, Morino H, Ito H, Izumi Y, Kato H, Watanabe Y, et al. Mutations of optineurin in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* (2010) 465(7295):223–6. doi:10.1038/nature08971
- Pua HH, Guo J, Komatsu M, He YW. Autophagy is essential for mitochondrial clearance in mature T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(7):4046–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0801143
- 144. O'Sullivan TE, Geary CD, Weizman OE, Geiger TL, Rapp M, Dorn GW II, et al. Atg5 is essential for the development and survival of innate lymphocytes. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15(9):1910–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.082

- Jia W, He YW. Temporal regulation of intracellular organelle homeostasis in T lymphocytes by autophagy. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(9):5313–22. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1002404
- 146. Jia W, Pua HH, Li QJ, He YW. Autophagy regulates endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis and calcium mobilization in T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(3):1564–74. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001822
- Mortensen M, Soilleux EJ, Djordjevic G, Tripp R, Lutteropp M, Sadighi-Akha E, et al. The autophagy protein Atg7 is essential for hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. J Exp Med (2011) 208(3):455–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20101145
- Riffelmacher T, Clarke A, Richter FC, Stranks A, Pandey S, Danielli S, et al. Autophagy-dependent generation of free fatty acids is critical for normal neutrophil differentiation. *Immunity* (2017) 47(3):466–480e465. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.005
- 149. Lee HK, Mattei LM, Steinberg BE, Alberts P, Lee YH, Chervonsky A, et al. In vivo requirement for Atg5 in antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2010) 32(2):227–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.12.006
- 150. Liu K, Zhao E, Ilyas G, Lalazar G, Lin Y, Haseeb M, et al. Impaired macrophage autophagy increases the immune response in obese mice by promoting proinflammatory macrophage polarization. *Autophagy* (2015) 11(2):271–84. doi:10.1080/15548627.2015.1009787
- 151. Santeford A, Wiley LA, Park S, Bamba S, Nakamura R, Gdoura A. Impaired autophagy in macrophages promotes inflammatory eye disease. *Autophagy* (2016) 12(10):1876–85. doi:10.1080/15548627.2016.1207857
- Dupont N, Jiang S, Pilli M, Ornatowski W, Bhattacharya D, Deretic V. Autophagy-based unconventional secretory pathway for extracellular delivery of IL-1beta. *EMBO J* (2011) 30(23):4701–11. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.398
- 153. Nakahira K, Haspel JA, Rathinam VA, Lee SJ, Dolinay T, Lam HC, et al. Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(3):222–30. doi:10.1038/ni.1980
- Hubbard-Lucey VM, Shono Y, Maurer K, West ML, Singer NV, Ziegler CG, et al. Autophagy gene Atg16L1 prevents lethal T cell alloreactivity mediated by dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2014) 41(4):579–91. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2014.09.011
- 155. Murthy A, Li Y, Peng I, Reichelt M, Katakam AK, Noubade R, et al. A Crohn's disease variant in Atg16l1 enhances its degradation by caspase 3. *Nature* (2014) 506(7489):456–62. doi:10.1038/nature13044
- 156. Tschurtschenthaler M, Adolph TE, Ashcroft JW, Niederreiter L, Bharti R, Saveljeva S, et al. Defective ATG16L1-mediated removal of IRE1alpha drives Crohn's disease-like ileitis. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(2):401–22. doi:10.1084/ jem.20160791
- 157. Xiao Y, Zou Q, Xie X, Liu T, Li HS, Jie Z, et al. The kinase TBK1 functions in dendritic cells to regulate T cell homeostasis, autoimmunity, and antitumor immunity. J Exp Med (2017) 214(5):1493–507. doi:10.1084/jem.20161524

- Youm YH, Grant RW, McCabe LR, Albarado DC, Nguyen KY, Ravussin A, et al. Canonical Nlrp3 inflammasome links systemic low-grade inflammation to functional decline in aging. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(4):519–32. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2013.09.010
- Becker L, Nguyen L, Gill J, Kulkarni S, Pasricha PJ, Habtezion A. Agedependent shift in macrophage polarisation causes inflammation-mediated degeneration of enteric nervous system. *Gut* (2017). doi:10.1136/ gutjnl-2016-312940
- 160. Jin J, Xiao Y, Chang JH, Yu J, Hu H, Starr R, et al. The kinase TBK1 controls IgA class switching by negatively regulating noncanonical NF-kappaB signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(11):1101–9. doi:10.1038/ni.2423
- 161. Johnson SA, Rozzo SJ, Cambier JC. Aging-dependent exclusion of antigen-inexperienced cells from the peripheral B cell repertoire. *J Immunol* (2002) 168(10):5014–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.10.5014
- Pengo N, Scolari M, Oliva L, Milan E, Mainoldi F, Raimondi A, et al. Plasma cells require autophagy for sustainable immunoglobulin production. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(3):298–305. doi:10.1038/ni.2524
- Chen M, Hong MJ, Sun H, Wang L, Shi X, Gilbert BE, et al. Essential role for autophagy in the maintenance of immunological memory against influenza infection. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(5):503–10. doi:10.1038/nm.3521
- 164. Puleston DJ, Zhang H, Powell TJ, Lipina E, Sims S, Panse I, et al. Autophagy is a critical regulator of memory CD8(+) T cell formation. *Elife* (2014) 3:1–21. doi:10.7554/eLife.03706
- 165. Xu X, Araki K, Li S, Han JH, Ye L, Tan WG, et al. Autophagy is essential for effector CD8(+) T cell survival and memory formation. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(12):1152–61. doi:10.1038/ni.3025
- O'Sullivan TE, Johnson LR, Kang HH, Sun JC. BNIP3- and BNIP3L-mediated mitophagy promotes the generation of natural killer cell memory. *Immunity* (2015) 43(2):331–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.07.012
- 167. Hiepe F, Dorner T, Hauser AE, Hoyer BF, Mei H, Radbruch A. Long-lived autoreactive plasma cells drive persistent autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2011) 7(3):170–8. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2011.1

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Louis, Burns and Wicks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Tailoring Immune Responses toward Autoimmunity: Transcriptional Regulators That Drive the Creation and Collusion of Autoreactive Lymphocytes

Kim L. Good-Jacobson^{1,2*†} and Joanna R. Groom^{3,4*}

¹ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia, ² Infection and Immunity Program, Biomedicine Discovery Institute, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia, ³ Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴ Department of Medical Biology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Erin Janssen, Harvard University, United States Pablo Engel, Universitat de Barcelona, Spain Laurence Morel, University of Florida, United States

*Correspondence:

Kim L. Good-Jacobson kim.jacobson@monash.edu; Joanna R. Groom groom@wehi.edu.au

[†]This author designated author to correspond with editorial office.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 December 2017 Accepted: 23 February 2018 Published: 08 March 2018

Citation:

Good-Jacobson KL and Groom JR (2018) Tailoring Immune Responses toward Autoimmunity: Transcriptional Regulators That Drive the Creation and Collusion of Autoreactive Lymphocytes. Front. Immunol. 9:482. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00482 T-dependent humoral immune responses to infection involve a collaboration between B and CD4 T cell activation, migration, and co-stimulation, thereby culminating in the formation of germinal centers (GCs) and eventual differentiation into memory cells and long-lived plasma cells (PCs). CD4 T cell-derived signals drive the formation of a tailored B cell response. Downstream of these signals are transcriptional regulators that are the critical enactors of immune cell programs. In particular, a core group of transcription factors regulate both B and T cell differentiation, identity, and function. The timing and expression levels of these transcription factors are tightly controlled, with dysregulated expression correlated to immune cell dysfunction in autoimmunity and lymphomagenesis. Recent studies have significantly advanced our understanding of both extrinsic and intrinsic regulators of autoreactive B cells and antibody-secreting PCs in systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and other autoimmune conditions. Yet, there are still gaps in our understanding of the causative role these regulators play, as well as the link between lymphoid responses and peripheral damage. This review will focus on the genesis of immunopathogenic CD4 helper and GC B cells. In particular, we will detail the transcriptional regulation of cytokine and chemokine receptor signaling during the pathogenesis of GC-derived autoimmune conditions in both murine models and human patients.

Keywords: autoreactive B cells, germinal centers, transcription factors, Bcl-6, T-bet, interferon-gamma

INTRODUCTION: ENTRY POINTS ON THE PATH TOWARD AUTOREACTIVE ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

Effective humoral immune responses depend on the ability to form and expand a population of B cells with high affinity for the foreign antigen. Both B cells and T helper cells employ a number of mechanisms to produce effector cells that help clear the antigen and form specialized immune memory cells. Yet, it is also the deployment of these mechanisms that put lymphocytes at risk of

Abbreviations: ABCs, age-associated B cells; cTfh, circulating T follicular helper cells; GC, germinal center; IFN, interferon; Ig, immunoglobulin; PC, plasma cell; SHM, somatic hypermutation; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; Tfh, T follicular helper cells; Tfr, T follicular regulatory cells; YFP, yellow fluorescent protein.

creating and expanding autoreactive cells that attack the host rather than the foreign invader and can lead to lifelong chronic disease.

Production of autoreactive B cells can occur at multiple stages of B cell development or differentiation. B cells that develop in the bone marrow, as well as those that differentiate in the periphery, undergo a number of checkpoints to exclude autoreactive cells from the immune repertoire. In particular, cells that produce an autoreactive B cell receptor will undergo deletion, receptor editing, or will be made anergic, such that autoreactive cells cannot participate in an immune response [reviewed in detail by Ref. (1)]. After development in the bone marrow, B cells migrate to the secondary lymphoid organs and undergo the final stages of maturation. Together, these developmental checkpoints result in a mature naïve B cell repertoire that is ready to respond to virtually any foreign antigen without the risk of cells that are specific to self-antigens mounting an attack. It is when these checkpoints fail (2) or are subverted by excessive extrinsic signals (3) that autoreactivity ensues.

Another major risk for generating newly autoreactive cells arises during an immune response. During a T-dependent response, activated antigen-specific B cells can either form an early wave of plasmablasts, which are low affinity for the antigen and mainly IgM, or they can form transient sites of proliferating cells to fine-tune the affinity of their receptor to antigen. This major site for affinity maturation is the germinal center (GC). GCs are transient sites formed within secondary lymphoid tissue from which high-affinity memory B cells and plasma cells (PCs) emerge. GC B cells activate the enzyme activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) which permits somatic hypermutation (SHM), a process in which random mutations are introduced into the B cell receptor. This is followed by selection and survival of high-affinity clones mediated by follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) and T follicular helper cells (Tfh). As mutations are random, SHM may result in a number of different outcomes for the antigen receptor, which can range from helpful to detrimental. Ideally, SHM will increase the affinity of the receptor for antigen. However, resulting clones may also no longer be specific, or have lower affinity for the antigen. Finally, mutated receptors may detect self-antigen. If left unchecked, these cells may result in the production of autoreactive antibody-secreting cells.

Transcription factors are molecular regulators that can activate or repress programs of gene expressions. They have critical roles in regulating cellular behavior during immune responses, including proliferation, differentiation, and migration of cells in response to the microenvironment. Both B and T cells rely on cytokines, chemokines, and other extrinsic signals to dictate their behavior throughout a response. Following these environmental cues, it is the molecular regulators downstream of these signals that orchestrate changes in gene expression and make functional and fate decisions. In particular, transcription factors regulate formation of the immunologic repertoire, as well as the differentiation of antigen-specific cells into effector and memory subsets during an immune response. These same extrinsic and intrinsic mechanisms that promote effective antibody responses and formation of immunity can also lead to autoimmunity. This review will focus on the points during an immune response at which B and Tfh cells can become dysregulated, and the underpinning transcription factors that balance appropriate responses to foreign pathogens with autoreactive cell formation. As such, we will focus on GC-derived autoimmune conditions, principally systemic lupus erythematosus (referred to within as lupus).

TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF CLASS BIAS IN T AND B CELLS

The production of an effective humoral response relies on the coordinate orchestration of B and T cell behavior in unique areas of secondary lymphoid organs throughout the response. Depending on the pathogen type, such as a virus or bacteria, antigen-activated CD4 T cells will be skewed toward a Th1 (driven by T-bet), Th2 (driven by Gata3), or Th17 (driven by BATF and Roryt) phenotype early in the response (**Figure 1**) (4). This results in secretion of specialized cytokines by these subsets that modulate the microenvironment and, in turn, direct B cell behavior.

B cells will tailor their B cell receptor to utilize the heavy chain with the effector function most suited to clearing the infecting pathogen. This is termed immunoglobulin (Ig) isotype switching, and is a process which relies on CD4 T cells. Cytokines produced from CD4 T cells, such as IL-4, IFNy, or TGF β , are able to direct Ig isotype switching, thus modulating the effector function of the antibody (5). AID expression and the transcription factor BATF are required for switching to all isotypes downstream of IgM (6-9). In addition, diversity in antibody isotypes is regulated by a small group of transcription factors that play context-specific roles in switching to the appropriate isotype in response to different cytokines (Figure 1). The most well characterized of these is the T-box transcription factor T-bet, which mediates production of murine IgG2a/c (referred to within as IgG2a) in response to IFN γ (10) as well as type I interferons (IFNs). By contrast, Nfil3 is required for IL-4mediated induction of IgE (11), and Ror α in TGF β -mediated induction of IgA (12). Furthermore, the transcription factor Ikaros can block the induction of murine IgG2a and IgG2b (13). It has not yet been determined whether other IgG subclasses (14), such as IgG1 or IgG3, have specific transcription factors that regulate their production.

Specific isotypes can also mediate immune disorders. For instance, mouse models of lupus are linked with excessive production of autoreactive IgG2a, which triggers antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. T-bet-mediated switching in response to IFN signaling is important not only for anti-viral humoral responses in mice (15, 16) but can also be immunopathogenic in murine models of lupus. T-bet is regulated by the transcription factor c-Myb in B cells, which represses the expression of T-bet during Th2 cell-biased responses (17). In both T and B cells, T-bet induces a number of gene expression changes that can affect cellular function and migration. For example, T-bet regulates CXCR3 expression and thus migration to sites of inflammation (18) and into kidneys of mice with lupus nephritis (19). In lupus-prone mice, IgG2a immune deposition is found on kidneys, in a similar fashion to antibody deposition in human patients.





There are also other isotypes that have been linked to autoimmunity, such as IgE. For instance, inactivation of the apoptotic mediators FAS/FASL causes autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome (ALPS) in humans and is also the basis of some murine lupus models. It was recently revealed that FAS inactivation in mice results in the production of "rogue" GC B cells, which gave rise to a high frequency of IgE-secreting PCs (20). Correspondingly, a subset of ALPS patients exhibits hyper IgE (20). Furthermore, lupus patients can also exhibit anti-DNA IgE antibodies. Self-reactive IgE antibodies may synergize with IgG autoantibodies to trigger type I IFN responses, correlating with disease severity (21). While the transcription factor Nfil3 is associated with induction of IgE, it is not clear whether inhibition of Nfil3 may ameliorate disease. In sum, it is clear that pathogens influence the class bias and hence effector function of both B and T cells. This has critical downstream consequences for humoral responses both in infectious responses and autoimmunity. Understanding the molecular regulation that drives the context-specific production or repression of different isotypes could potentially lead to new clinical targets for modulation in disease.

THE INTERWOVEN PATHS OF B AND CD4 T CELLS DURING A HUMORAL RESPONSE

Positioning of B and CD4 T cells within different areas of secondary lymphoid organs regulates cellular interactions and exposure to signals within the microenvironment. The different migratory paths that B and T cells take during an immune response can dictate transcription factor expression, and determine the fate and function of these cells. In particular, a distinct T helper lineage, Tfh cells, is distinguished from other T helper cells subsets by its unique position within lymphoid organs, transcription factor expression (Bcl-6, c-Maf, BATF, IRF4, and Ascl2) (6, 7, 22-25), and cytokine production [predominantly IL-21, important for B cell proliferation, maintenance of GCs, and differentiation into antibody-secreting cells (26-29)]. The requirements for formation of these cells are imprinted via critical cellular interactions during the first few days of a humoral response (30-32), with DC-T cell interactions likely responsible for the initial upregulation of Bcl-6 within T cells (33). The expression of Bcl-6 regulates the gene encoding Ebi2 and is thus important for the convergence

of T and B cells (34, 35). Bcl-6 expression is also important for determination of Tfh from Th1 *via* expression of Bcl6 over T-bet [reviewed recently in Ref. (18)]. However, it is important to note that in contrast to previous reports, T-bet can be co-expressed with Bcl-6 (36–38) during anti-viral responses. Furthermore, the absence of Bcl-6 does not automatically commit T helper cells to Th1 or other lineages (30). The ability of T cells to co-express Bcl-6 and T-bet has implications for the induction of autoreactive GCs, as detailed later in the review.

In the initial phase of a T-dependent immune response, activated antigen-specific B cells and CD4 T cells migrate to the border between B cell follicles and T cell areas. At the B:T border, B and T cells cooperate to promote each other's differentiation into GC-precursor cells. This exchange of signals occurs both through direct cell surface ligand and receptor pairings, such as ICOSL-ICOS (32) and OX40L-OX40 (39, 40), as well as via SAP–SLAM signaling (41) and through T cell cytokine secretion. ICOS and OX40 have also been correlated to lupus pathogenesis in both humans and murine models (39, 40, 42). Tfh cells share this migratory path with other newly activated Th1 and Th2 effectors (43). Following Th1 cell-biased immunization, the ligands of CXCR3 are upregulated proximal to the B:T border and CXCR3-dependent migration into this area correlates with T cell-derived IFNy production (44). Similarly, CXCR5+ Th2 cells also align to the B:T border following nematode infection (45). Combined, this work suggests that these early encounters adjacent to the B cell follicle expose antigen-specific B cells to CD4 effector cytokines. This cytokine microenvironment regulates the transcription factor programs that determine B and T cell fate to balance continued Bcl-6 (30-32, 46) upregulation and thus progression into GCs, or Blimp-1-induced PC differentiation or effector T cell differentiation.

B cells and early Tfh cells have two main paths from the B-T border: forming an extrafollicular plasmablast response or migrating into the follicles to form GCs. Autoreactive cells may be generated and/or expanded in either the extrafollicular response or the GC response. For an initial burst of protective antibody and/or in responses to bacteria such as Salmonella enterica, B cells may move to the extrafollicular areas of secondary lymphoid organs and differentiate into plasmablasts driven by transcription factors such as Blimp-1 and IRF4. Bcl6-expressing T helper cells help program extrafollicular responses both in response to T-dependent and T-independent antigens (46), as well in an autoreactive model (47), all of which is dependent on IL-21 (46-48). In addition to IL-21, a number of signals that are derived from T helper subsets, or produced by other cells present in secondary lymphoid organs are influential in selection and subsequent expansion of autoreactive clones. These include type I and type II IFNs (49, 50), toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling together with the survival cytokine BAFF (51-53), and other cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-17 [reviewed in Ref. (54)]. Generally, they act within secondary lymphoid organs, but some (e.g., IL-17) also act in peripheral inflamed organs, and some of these cytokines are produced in ectopic lymphoid organs (see section below).

B and T cells that do not go down this path instead migrate up through the interfollicular areas and into the follicle (31, 44). Ascl2 mediates chemokine receptor expression such that Tfh downregulate CCR7 and PSGL1 and upregulate CXCR5, which is required to migrate into the B cell follicle (24). Bcl-6 is further upregulated in the interfollicular regions (30, 31), finalizing commitment to the Tfh lineage. Within the follicle, B cells and Tfh collaborate within GCs to produce high-affinity memory B cells, long-lived PCs and memory Tfh cells (36, 55).

GCs-A SITE FOR B AND T CELL COLLUSION

Germinal centers are specialized sites formed during immune responses that are responsible for the increase in affinity of B cells for the antigen (56–58). The three essential points of regulation of the GC response are: regulation of B cell behavior, regulation of Tfh, and resolution of the GC response itself (**Figure 2**). Dysregulation of any of these can lead to autoreactivity and/or the exacerbation of autoimmune disease.

Germinal centers are segregated into two zones-the dark and light zones-within which different functions occur. In the dark zone, B cells undergo proliferation and SHM of the B cell receptor. B cells will then migrate to the light zone, where they undergo selection via immune complexes on FDCs and compete for survival signals secreted by Tfh cells. Selected cells may then exit the GC and differentiate into memory B cells or long-lived PCs, or they will re-enter the dark zone to undergo another round of mutation and selection. T cell help of high-affinity GC B cells regulates cell cycle speed to mediate selection (56). This intricate process of cyclic migration between zones and interaction between different types of immune cells is important for appropriate regulation of affinity maturation. GC B cells have relaxed regulatory checkpoints within proliferating and mutating cells, and both clonal evolution (66) and the frequency of apoptotic cells (67) is similar between self-reactive clones and those specific to the immunizing antigen. Thus, once there is a break in tolerance to self-antigens, autoreactive clones can evade negative selection, undergo lymphoproliferation (68), with the consequential formation of B cell-mediated autoimmune conditions (69, 70). Dysregulation of T cell-intrinsic Bcl-6 (61) and overproduction of IL-21 by Tfh can further exacerbate disease (48, 54). The transcription factors Foxo1, BATF, and Myc mediate cycling between the light and dark zones, as well as selection of high-affinity cells (71-74). Whether dysregulation of these transcription factors within B cells enhance the conditions for selection and expansion of autoreactive cells remains largely uncharacterized.

REGULATORY FOLLICULAR T CELLS AND THE RESOLUTION OF THE GC

Foxp3-expressing follicular regulatory T cells (Tfr) are also important participants in GC responses (75). Their presence in the GC increases over time and they are thought to suppress Tfh numbers and function through molecules such as PD-1 (76). Chronic GCs increase the likelihood of generating autoreactive clones through epitope spreading (66, 68, 77); thus, the resolution of the GC response is essential to avoid standard immune





responses against foreign pathogen from inducing autoimmunity. It is likely that Tfh, Tfr, and B cells all interact to shut down the GC; however, two Tfr-independent-related theories were recently put forward to explain the dissolution of the GC. The first was by McHeyzer-Williams and colleagues, who suggest that PCs directly interact with Tfh to downregulate Bcl-6 and IL-21 expression within Tfh (78). Supporting this, deletion of the PC transcription factor Blimp-1 specifically in B cells increased Tfh numbers (78). Furthermore, Toellner and colleagues demonstrated in silico that high-affinity antibodies feedback to mediate selection and to resolve the GC (79). Whether Tfr have a specific role in prohibiting autoreactive antibody formation is unclear, although there are two recent studies to suggest this possibility. Loss of Tfr through deletion of CD28 led to B cell-driven autoimmunity (80). Additionally, Ballesteros-Tato and colleagues recently demonstrated that IL-2-induced Blimp-1 suppression of Tfr resulted in an increase of anti-nuclear autoimmune antibodies after infection, by specifically promoting expansion of autoreactive antibody-secreting cells independent of GC and Tfh numbers (81). Furthermore, interactions between follicular T cell subsets and PCs through the inhibitory receptor PD-1 and its ligands may also suppress autoreactive GC cells (78, 82). Accordingly, PD-1 deficiency induces a lupus-like condition in mice (83) and PD-L1 deficiency can induce hyperactive Tfh responses in autoimmune arthritis (84).

THE ROLE OF IFNγ AND T-bet IN THE CREATION AND COLLUSION OF AUTOREACTIVE GCs

Both type I and type II IFNs play important roles during the development of lupus (85), yet until recently it was unknown whether both were able to drive the formation of autoreactive GC in a B cell-intrinsic manner. Two recent publications tested the requirement of IFN signaling and the downstream molecular mechanism in B cell autoimmune models (49, 59). Although B cell-intrinsic type I IFN-accelerated lupus development, it was not absolutely required (49). By contrast, B cell expression of IFN_γR, as well as BCR signals and either TLR or CD40L signals, induced Bcl6 and hence spontaneous GC formation (49, 59). Furthermore, B cell-derived IL-6 synergized with IFN_γ to mediate autoimmune GC development, as the combination of IFN_γR, BCR, and either TLR or CD40L was not essential for the formation of GCs in response to foreign antigen.

While Domeier and colleagues identified a role for T-bet in the formation of spontaneous GCs (59), another study in the same issue determined that the B cell-intrinsic deletion of T-bet did not impact on GC formation (49). This latter study utilized the Wiskott Aldrich syndrome chimera model of autoimmunity. Wiskott Aldrich is an X-linked immunodeficiency caused by mutations in the *WAS* gene. Patients are prone to develop systemic autoimmunity, and mice that lack WAS protein is B cells establish autoimmune disease (86). While the authors found a critical mechanistic role for IFN γ R in the formation of autoreactive GCs, this was not through the induction of T-bet (49). Yet, there are other studies demonstrating B cell-intrinsic roles of T-bet; in particular for the formation of the T-bet-expressing age-associated B cell (ABC) subset. Multiple groups have identified and characterized ABCs in murine autoimmune models as well as in elderly and autoimmune patients (87–89). While T-bet expression had been used as a marker of these cells, it was initially unclear whether they were causative of autoreactivity. Rubtsova and colleagues addressed this by conditionally deleting T-bet in mature B cells in lupus-prone mice, resulting in the amelioration of autoimmune disease (90).

While these studies demonstrated a B cell-intrinsic role for IFNyR, the role of IFNyR was T cell-intrinsic in the Roquin model of lupus (a model in which a mutation in the roquin gene results in an aberrant number of Tfh) (62, 63). Specifically, a lack of ICOS repression resulted in excess INFy and IL-21, concomitant with a substantial induction of Tfh and consequently GCs (42, 62, 64). Deleting one allele of Bcl-6 ameliorated the autoimmune symptoms, thus demonstrating the dependency on Tfh for generating disease in this model (65). Together, the commonality of these models is the prominent role of IFNy in generating autoreactive responses, and the parallel pathways B and T cells can take (depending on the model) to generate autoimmunity. Studies into the molecular mechanisms that may tip an IFNy-mediated anti-viral immune response to one that promotes autoreactivity are needed. Finally, regardless of the cell-intrinsic nature of T-bet-induced autoreactivity, it would be beneficial to determine regulators of this pathway [such as c-Myb (17)] to identify new clinical targets for autoimmune patients. This is particularly important in the B cell lineage, as cells with similar characteristics to ABCs have now been described in a number of different contexts (91, 92), particularly those that still require effective interventions such as in chronic infectious diseases (87, 93) or autoimmune conditions (94-96).

TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF Tfh-DERIVED CYTOKINES

The transcriptional regulation of Tfh cytokine production is of central concern to lupus pathogenesis, given the number of mechanisms described above in which excessive cytokine production by Tfh promotes autoreactivity. In particular, the members of the signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) family of transcription factors are critical regulators of Tfh-derived cytokines. A recent study investigated the transcriptional regulation of Tfh-derived cytokines in viral infection (97). In this setting, STAT4-dependent upregulation T-bet, in line with previous studies showing STAT4 promotes both Th1 and Tfh downstream of IL-12 signaling (37). STAT4 was required for both IFNy and IL-21, presumably acting as an upstream inducer of both T-bet and Bcl-6 (37, 97). STAT3 and STAT1 are also important regulators of Tfh differentiation and function. Functional STAT3 deficiency in humans compromises the generation of Tfh and production of IL-21 (98), while T cells from patients with lupus display increased levels of total and phosphorylated STAT3 (99). STAT3 regulates the production of IL-21 downstream of IL-6, and a positive feedback loop exists between STAT4 and STAT3 to further promote IL-21 production (37). STAT3 also works together with STAT1 to promote Tfh differentiation, again through IL-6 induced Bcl-6 upregulation (100, 101). Interestingly, the reduction in Tfh differentiation observed in STAT3 deficiency is partially reversed with type I IFN blocking, which coincides with increased Bcl-6 expression (102). By contrast, STAT5 is induced in situations of high IL-2 to block Tfh differentiation in preference for Th1 *via* upregulation of Blimp-1 (103–105). Combined, the network of STAT transcription factors acts in concert with Bcl-6 and T-bet to specify key functional characteristics of Tfh which is relevant for lupus development.

MIGRATION TO SITES OF IMMUNOPATHOLOGY

While a lot of mechanistic insight has been gained by revealing the molecular factors underpinning B and T cell differentiation in secondary lymphoid organs, a lot less is known about whether these mechanisms also underpin local formation of autoreactive GCs in the tissues. Investigating human GC and Tfh dynamics and functionality is difficult as it relies on the attainment of tissues. As such, circulating Tfh (cTfh)—i.e., cells that possess some phenotypic and functional attributes of Tfh that are found in the blood—have been investigated as a proxy for what is occurring in the organs. It is currently unclear whether these cells are pre-Tfh or memory Tfh (106), as they do not express all markers of Tfh found in the tissues, notably Bcl-6. However, they have provided useful information about the clinical severity of diseases ranging from chronic infectious disease to autoimmune diseases. To that end, cTfh and associated serum cytokine levels such as IL-21 have been found to be elevated in patients with lupus and rheumatoid arthritis with active disease (107-112). Furthermore, a recent study also demonstrated that circulating Tfr were reduced in lupus patients, and that the ratio of Tfh/Tfr positively correlated with disease activity (113). As these cells do not express Bcl-6, other transcription factors may regulate their formation and/or migration. For instance, as previously noted, T-bet induces the expression of CXCR3, a chemokine receptor that is expressed by cTfh and is known to be important for directing cells to sites of inflammation. As cTfh do not express Bcl-6, it may be possible that cTfh are actually pre-Tfh that have been recruited into the blood before they fully differentiate in the follicle. Tfh-like cells in inflamed tissue from rheumatoid arthritis patients have been suggested to promote autoreactive plasmablast formation (114), but whether these cells originated from cTfh or were instead a non-Tfh subset produced locally (115) remains undetermined. Future work may resolve the following questions: (1) do cTfh cell phenotypes represent the cause or consequence of disease? (2) Have these cells been specifically recruited to sites of inflammation, or are they in the blood because they are dysfunctional and have simply been excluded from lymphoid organs?

CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR SIGNALING THAT REGULATES MIGRATION OF IMMUNE CELLS IN LUPUS

Lupus is a heterogeneous disease, in which the loss of varied tolerance checkpoints may result in similar disease phenotypes.

Recently, transcriptional fingerprinting of patients has been highlighted as a means to deduce disease pathogenesis and stratify treatment protocols (116). This analysis has highlighted groups of patients with either primarily type I IFN or plasmablast signatures, suggesting a dichotomy of disease mechanisms. However, these patient phenotypes may be more intertwined. Several chemokines which may promote aberrant GC development are key IFN signature genes upregulated in lupus patients. Furthermore, the expression of the corresponding chemokine receptors has been correlated with B cells and/or PCs in autoimmune diseases, particularly lupus or rheumatoid arthritis. For example, elevated levels of serum CXCL10 (an interferon-inducible gene), CCL2, and CCL19 correlated with lupus activity (117-119). Furthermore, CCR6 has also been found to be upregulated on certain B cell subsets in lupus patients compared to healthy controls; however, the significance of this is currently unclear (120). The most wellcharacterized chemokine receptor in this context (regulation of cellular migration to sites of inflammation) is the T-bet-regulated CXCR3. CXCR3 mediates kidney disease in murine lupus nephritis (121, 122), and reduction of the transcription factor FLI1 results in amelioration of kidney disease in MRL/lpr mice with concomitant reduction in CXCR3+ T cells and CXCL9/10 expression (123). Yet, the role of these chemokine families in directly facilitating the development of either self-reactive GC in secondary lymphoid organs or ectopic GC structures in inflamed tissues (124), or in mediating tissue damage by GC-independent mechanisms, remains to be determined.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

It is clear that dysregulation of either B cells or Tfh cells can result in the production of autoreactive GCs and antibody-secreting cells. Unchecked proliferation of Tfh and excessive production of cytokines, such as IL-21 and IFNy, can collude with B cell-intrinsic mechanisms to induce autoimmune responses. Furthermore, transcription factors common to both B and T cells, such as Bcl-6, T-bet, and Blimp-1, can be hijacked to assist in driving aberrant responses to infection that lead to the formation and migration of autoreactive clones. In particular, T-bet, and the T-bet-regulated gene CXCR3, appears to be key to controlling the relocation of cells from secondary lymphoid organs to other tissues where ectopic GCs and/or local autoreactive plasmablast formation can result. However, there are still a number of open questions relating to how these molecular networks may be dysregulated. Studies done in both B and T cells have demonstrated that the timing and level of expression of these transcription factors are important. For instance, the expression level of T-bet is critical in regulating T cell fate decisions, with high levels of T-bet favoring Th1 development over Tfh in the CD4 lineage, or effector CD8 over memory CD8 T cells. While a molecular mechanism underpinning graded expression has been put forth for CD8 T cells (125), whether there is a similar mechanism in other lineages that express T-bet is currently unknown. There is also evidence that gradient expression exists in B cells (17). Given that B cellintrinsic T-bet has been postulated to be causative of autoimmune

disease in at least two murine models, it will be critical to understand whether the level of expression of T-bet can be causative of B cell dysregulation independent of extrinsic factors. Finally, while there has been a focus on IFN and T-bet in murine models in recent years, how this translates to pathogenesis in humans, and whether there are other transcription factor networks that drive the migration of cTfh, autoreactive B cells, and formation of ectopic lymphoid structures, requires further research. Thus, understanding the factors underlying the genesis of autoreactive GCs, *via* dysregulation of factors in the microenvironment and/or dysregulation of transcription factor networks, will be important in generating new targets for clinical intervention.

REFERENCES

- Nemazee D. Mechanisms of central tolerance for B cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17(5):281–94. doi:10.1038/nri.2017.19
- Cappione A III, Anolik JH, Pugh-Bernard A, Barnard J, Dutcher P, Silverman G, et al. Germinal center exclusion of autoreactive B cells is defective in human systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115(11):3205–16. doi:10.1172/JCI24179
- Thien M, Phan TG, Gardam S, Amesbury M, Basten A, Mackay F, et al. Excess BAFF rescues self-reactive B cells from peripheral deletion and allows them to enter forbidden follicular and marginal zone niches. *Immunity* (2004) 20(6):785–98. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.05.010
- Tripathi SK, Lahesmaa R. Transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of T-helper lineage specification. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 261(1):62–83. doi:10.1111/imr.12204
- Snapper CM, Paul WE. Interferon-gamma and B cell stimulatory factor-1 reciprocally regulate Ig isotype production. *Science* (1987) 236(4804):944–7. doi:10.1126/science.3107127
- Ise W, Kohyama M, Schraml BU, Zhang T, Schwer B, Basu U, et al. The transcription factor BATF controls the global regulators of class-switch recombination in both B cells and T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):536–43. doi:10.1038/ni.2037
- Betz BC, Jordan-Williams KL, Wang C, Kang SG, Liao J, Logan MR, et al. Batf coordinates multiple aspects of B and T cell function required for normal antibody responses. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(5):933–42. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091548
- Muramatsu M, Kinoshita K, Fagarasan S, Yamada S, Shinkai Y, Honjo T. Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. *Cell* (2000) 102(5):553–63. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00078-7
- Revy P, Muto T, Levy Y, Geissmann F, Plebani A, Sanal O, et al. Activationinduced cytidine deaminase (AID) deficiency causes the autosomal recessive form of the Hyper-IgM syndrome (HIGM2). *Cell* (2000) 102(5):565–75. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00079-9
- Peng SL, Szabo SJ, Glimcher LH. T-bet regulates IgG class switching and pathogenic autoantibody production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(8):5545–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.082114899
- Kashiwada M, Levy DM, McKeag L, Murray K, Schroder AJ, Canfield SM, et al. IL-4-induced transcription factor NFIL3/E4BP4 controls IgE class switching. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(2):821–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0909235107
- Wang NS, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, Okitsu SL, Burris TP, Reiner SL, McHeyzer-Williams MG. Divergent transcriptional programming of class-specific B cell memory by T-bet and RORalpha. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(6):604–11. doi:10.1038/ni.2294
- Sellars M, Reina-San-Martin B, Kastner P, Chan S. Ikaros controls isotype selection during immunoglobulin class switch recombination. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(5):1073–87. doi:10.1084/jem.20082311
- Coutelier JP, van der Logt JT, Heessen FW, Warnier G, Van Snick J. IgG2a restriction of murine antibodies elicited by viral infections. *J Exp Med* (1987) 165(1):64–9. doi:10.1084/jem.165.1.64

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

KG-J is supported by National Health & Medical Research Council Career Development Fellowship 1108066. JG is supported by Australian Research Council Future Fellowship FT130100708. The authors thank Andrea Di Pietro for assistance with figures.

- Barnett BE, Staupe RP, Odorizzi PM, Palko O, Tomov VT, Mahan AE, et al. Cutting edge: B cell-intrinsic T-bet expression is required to control chronic viral infection. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(4):1017–22. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1500368
- Rubtsova K, Rubtsov AV, van Dyk LF, Kappler JW, Marrack P. T-box transcription factor T-bet, a key player in a unique type of B-cell activation essential for effective viral clearance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(34):E3216–24. doi:10.1073/pnas.1312348110
- Piovesan D, Tempany J, Di Pietro A, Baas I, Yiannis C, O'Donnell K, et al. c-Myb regulates the T-bet-dependent differentiation program in B cells to coordinate antibody responses. *Cell Rep* (2017) 19(3):461–70. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2017.03.060
- Kallies A, Good-Jacobson KL. Transcription factor T-bet orchestrates lineage development and function in the immune system. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(4):287–97. doi:10.1016/j.it.2017.02.003
- Perez de Lema G, Maier H, Nieto E, Vielhauer V, Luckow B, Mampaso F, et al. Chemokine expression precedes inflammatory cell infiltration and chemokine receptor and cytokine expression during the initiation of murine lupus nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2001) 12(7):1369–82.
- Butt D, Chan TD, Bourne K, Hermes JR, Nguyen A, Statham A, et al. FAS inactivation releases unconventional germinal center B cells that escape antigen control and drive IgE and autoantibody production. *Immunity* (2015) 42(5):890–902. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.010
- Henault J, Riggs JM, Karnell JL, Liarski VM, Li J, Shirinian L, et al. Selfreactive IgE exacerbates interferon responses associated with autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(2):196–203. doi:10.1038/ni.3326
- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, Ditoro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1006–10. doi:10.1126/ science.1175870
- Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):457–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- Liu X, Chen X, Zhong B, Wang A, Wang X, Chu F, et al. Transcription factor achaete-scute homologue 2 initiates follicular T-helper-cell development. *Nature* (2014) 507(7493):513–8. doi:10.1038/nature12910
- Bollig N, Brustle A, Kellner K, Ackermann W, Abass E, Raifer H, et al. Transcription factor IRF4 determines germinal center formation through follicular T-helper cell differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(22):8664–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1205834109
- Zotos D, Coquet JM, Zhang Y, Light A, D'Costa K, Kallies A, et al. IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(2):365–78. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091777
- Linterman MA, Beaton L, Yu D, Ramiscal RR, Srivastava M, Hogan JJ, et al. IL-21 acts directly on B cells to regulate Bcl-6 expression and germinal center responses. J Exp Med (2010) 207(2):353–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20091738
- Bryant VL, Ma CS, Avery DT, Li Y, Good KL, Corcoran LM, et al. Cytokinemediated regulation of human B cell differentiation into Ig-secreting cells: predominant role of IL-21 produced by CXCR5+ T follicular helper cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(12):8180–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8180

- Good KL, Bryant VL, Tangye SG. Kinetics of human B cell behavior and amplification of proliferative responses following stimulation with IL-21. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(8):5236–47. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.8.5236
- Kitano M, Moriyama S, Ando Y, Hikida M, Mori Y, Kurosaki T, et al. Bcl6 protein expression shapes pre-germinal center B cell dynamics and follicular helper T cell heterogeneity. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):961–72. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.03.025
- Kerfoot SM, Yaari G, Patel JR, Johnson KL, Gonzalez DG, Kleinstein SH, et al. Germinal center B cell and T follicular helper cell development initiates in the interfollicular zone. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):947–60. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.03.024
- Choi YS, Kageyama R, Eto D, Escobar TC, Johnston RJ, Monticelli L, et al. ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):932–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.023
- Poholek AC, Hansen K, Hernandez SG, Eto D, Chandele A, Weinstein JS, et al. In vivo regulation of Bcl6 and T follicular helper cell development. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(1):313–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904023
- Gatto D, Paus D, Basten A, Mackay CR, Brink R. Guidance of B cells by the orphan G protein-coupled receptor EBI2 shapes humoral immune responses. *Immunity* (2009) 31(2):259–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.016
- Pereira JP, Kelly LM, Xu Y, Cyster JG. EBI2 mediates B cell segregation between the outer and centre follicle. *Nature* (2009) 460(7259):1122–6. doi:10.1038/nature08226
- Luthje K, Kallies A, Shimohakamada Y, Belz GT, Light A, Tarlinton DM, et al. The development and fate of follicular helper T cells defined by an IL-21 reporter mouse. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(5):491–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2261
- Nakayamada S, Kanno Y, Takahashi H, Jankovic D, Lu KT, Johnson TA, et al. Early Th1 cell differentiation is marked by a Tfh cell-like transition. *Immunity* (2011) 35(6):919–31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.012
- Oestreich KJ, Huang AC, Weinmann AS. The lineage-defining factors T-bet and Bcl-6 collaborate to regulate Th1 gene expression patterns. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(5):1001–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20102144
- Cortini A, Ellinghaus U, Malik TH, Cunninghame Graham DS, Botto M, Vyse TJ. B cell OX40L supports T follicular helper cell development and contributes to SLE pathogenesis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2017) 76(12):2095–103. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211499
- Jacquemin C, Schmitt N, Contin-Bordes C, Liu Y, Narayanan P, Seneschal J, et al. OX40 ligand contributes to human lupus pathogenesis by promoting T follicular helper response. *Immunity* (2015) 42(6):1159–70. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2015.05.012
- Qi H, Cannons JL, Klauschen F, Schwartzberg PL, Germain RN. SAPcontrolled T-B cell interactions underlie germinal centre formation. *Nature* (2008) 455(7214):764–9. doi:10.1038/nature07345
- Yu D, Tan AH, Hu X, Athanasopoulos V, Simpson N, Silva DG, et al. Roquin represses autoimmunity by limiting inducible T-cell co-stimulator messenger RNA. *Nature* (2007) 450(7167):299–303. doi:10.1038/nature06253
- Groom JR. Moving to the suburbs: T-cell positioning within lymph nodes during activation and memory. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2015) 93(4):330–6. doi:10.1038/icb.2015.29
- 44. Groom JR, Richmond J, Murooka TT, Sorensen EW, Sung JH, Bankert K, et al. CXCR3 chemokine receptor-ligand interactions in the lymph node optimize CD4+ T helper 1 cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2012) 37(6):1091–103. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.08.016
- Leon B, Ballesteros-Tato A, Browning JL, Dunn R, Randall TD, Lund FE. Regulation of T(H)2 development by CXCR5+ dendritic cells and lymphotoxin-expressing B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(7):681–90. doi:10.1038/ ni.2309
- Lee SK, Rigby RJ, Zotos D, Tsai LM, Kawamoto S, Marshall JL, et al. B cell priming for extrafollicular antibody responses requires Bcl-6 expression by T cells. J Exp Med (2011) 208(7):1377–88. doi:10.1084/jem.20102065
- Sweet RA, Ols ML, Cullen JL, Milam AV, Yagita H, Shlomchik MJ. Facultative role for T cells in extrafollicular Toll-like receptor-dependent autoreactive B-cell responses in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(19):7932–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1018571108
- Choi JY, Seth A, Kashgarian M, Terrillon S, Fung E, Huang L, et al. Disruption of pathogenic cellular networks by IL-21 blockade leads to disease amelioration in murine lupus. *J Immunol* (2017) 198(7):2578–88. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1601687

- Jackson SW, Jacobs HM, Arkatkar T, Dam EM, Scharping NE, Kolhatkar NS, et al. B cell IFN-gamma receptor signaling promotes autoimmune germinal centers via cell-intrinsic induction of BCL-6. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(5):733–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20151724
- Le Bon A, Thompson C, Kamphuis E, Durand V, Rossmann C, Kalinke U, et al. Cutting edge: enhancement of antibody responses through direct stimulation of B and T cells by type I IFN. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(4):2074–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.8.4682
- Groom JR, Fletcher CA, Walters SN, Grey ST, Watt SV, Sweet MJ, et al. BAFF and MyD88 signals promote a lupuslike disease independent of T cells. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(8):1959–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20062567
- Groom J, Kalled SL, Cutler AH, Olson C, Woodcock SA, Schneider P, et al. Association of BAFF/BLyS overexpression and altered B cell differentiation with Sjogren's syndrome [see comment]. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109(1):59–68. doi:10.1172/JCI0214121
- Herlands RA, Christensen SR, Sweet RA, Hershberg U, Shlomchik MJ. T cell-independent and toll-like receptor-dependent antigen-driven activation of autoreactive B cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29(2):249–60. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.06.009
- Sweet RA, Lee SK, Vinuesa CG. Developing connections amongst key cytokines and dysregulated germinal centers in autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24(6):658–64. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.10.003
- Tarlinton D, Good-Jacobson K. Diversity among memory B cells: origin, consequences, and utility. *Science* (2013) 341(6151):1205–11. doi:10.1126/ science.1241146
- Gitlin AD, Mayer CT, Oliveira TY, Shulman Z, Jones MJ, Koren A, et al. Humoral immunity. T cell help controls the speed of the cell cycle in germinal center B cells. *Science* (2015) 349(6248):643–6. doi:10.1126/science.aac4919
- Gitlin AD, Shulman Z, Nussenzweig MC. Clonal selection in the germinal centre by regulated proliferation and hypermutation. *Nature* (2014) 509(7502):637–40. doi:10.1038/nature13300
- Shulman Z, Gitlin AD, Weinstein JS, Lainez B, Esplugues E, Flavell RA, et al. Dynamic signaling by T follicular helper cells during germinal center B cell selection. *Science* (2014) 345(6200):1058–62. doi:10.1126/science.1257861
- Domeier PP, Chodisetti SB, Soni C, Schell SL, Elias MJ, Wong EB, et al. IFN-gamma receptor and STAT1 signaling in B cells are central to spontaneous germinal center formation and autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(5):715–32. doi:10.1084/jem.20151722
- Arkatkar T, Du SW, Jacobs HM, Dam EM, Hou B, Buckner JH, et al. B cell-derived IL-6 initiates spontaneous germinal center formation during systemic autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(11):3207–17. doi:10.1084/ jem.20170580
- Yi W, Gupta S, Ricker E, Manni M, Jessberger R, Chinenov Y, et al. The mTORC1-4E-BP-eIF4E axis controls de novo Bcl6 protein synthesis in T cells and systemic autoimmunity. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):254. doi:10.1038/ s41467-017-00348-3
- Lee SK, Silva DG, Martin JL, Pratama A, Hu X, Chang PP, et al. Interferongamma excess leads to pathogenic accumulation of follicular helper T cells and germinal centers. *Immunity* (2012) 37(5):880–92. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.10.010
- Vinuesa CG, Cook MC, Angelucci C, Athanasopoulos V, Rui L, Hill KM, et al. A RING-type ubiquitin ligase family member required to repress follicular helper T cells and autoimmunity. *Nature* (2005) 435(7041):452–8. doi:10.1038/nature03555
- 64. Pratama A, Ramiscal RR, Silva DG, Das SK, Athanasopoulos V, Fitch J, et al. Roquin-2 shares functions with its paralog Roquin-1 in the repression of mRNAs controlling T follicular helper cells and systemic inflammation. *Immunity* (2013) 38(4):669–80. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.01.011
- Linterman MA, Rigby RJ, Wong RK, Yu D, Brink R, Cannons JL, et al. Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(3):561–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20081886
- Degn SE, van der Poel CE, Firl DJ, Ayoglu B, Al Qureshah FA, Bajic G, et al. Clonal evolution of autoreactive germinal centers. *Cell* (2017) 170(5):913–26. e19. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.026
- Mayer CT, Gazumyan A, Kara EE, Gitlin AD, Golijanin J, Viant C, et al. The microanatomic segregation of selection by apoptosis in the germinal center. *Science* (2017) 358:6360. doi:10.1126/science.aao2602
- 68. Hao Z, Duncan GS, Seagal J, Su YW, Hong C, Haight J, et al. Fas receptor expression in germinal-center B cells is essential for T and B

lymphocyte homeostasis. Immunity (2008) 29(4):615-27. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.07.016

- Shlomchik MJ, Madaio MP, Ni D, Trounstein M, Huszar D. The role of B cells in lpr/lpr-induced autoimmunity. J Exp Med (1994) 180(4):1295–306. doi:10.1084/jem.180.4.1295
- Shlomchik MJ, Marshak-Rothstein A, Wolfowicz CB, Rothstein TL, Weigert MG. The role of clonal selection and somatic mutation in autoimmunity. *Nature* (1987) 328(6133):805–11. doi:10.1038/328805a0
- Dominguez-Sola D, Victora GD, Ying CY, Phan RT, Saito M, Nussenzweig MC, et al. The proto-oncogene MYC is required for selection in the germinal center and cyclic reentry. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(11):1083–91. doi:10.1038/ni.2428
- Inoue T, Shinnakasu R, Ise W, Kawai C, Egawa T, Kurosaki T. The transcription factor Foxo1 controls germinal center B cell proliferation in response to T cell help. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(4):1181–98. doi:10.1084/jem. 20161263
- Sander S, Chu VT, Yasuda T, Franklin A, Graf R, Calado DP, et al. PI3 kinase and FOXO1 transcription factor activity differentially control B cells in the germinal center light and dark zones. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1075–86. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.10.021
- Dominguez-Sola D, Kung J, Holmes AB, Wells VA, Mo T, Basso K, et al. The FOXO1 transcription factor instructs the germinal center dark zone program. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1064–74. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.10.015
- Linterman MA, Pierson W, Lee SK, Kallies A, Kawamoto S, Rayner TF, et al. Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):975–82. doi:10.1038/nm.2425
- Sage PT, Francisco LM, Carman CV, Sharpe AH. The receptor PD-1 controls follicular regulatory T cells in the lymph nodes and blood. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(2):152–61. doi:10.1038/ni.2496
- Cornaby C, Gibbons L, Mayhew V, Sloan CS, Welling A, Poole BD. B cell epitope spreading: mechanisms and contribution to autoimmune diseases. *Immunol Lett* (2015) 163(1):56–68. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2014.11.001
- Pelletier N, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, Wong KA, Urich E, Fazilleau N, McHeyzer-Williams MG. Plasma cells negatively regulate the follicular helper T cell program. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(12):1110–8. doi:10.1038/ ni.1954
- Zhang Y, Meyer-Hermann M, George LA, Figge MT, Khan M, Goodall M, et al. Germinal center B cells govern their own fate via antibody feedback. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(3):457–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20120150
- Zhang R, Sage PT, Finn K, Huynh A, Blazar BR, Marangoni F, et al. B cells drive autoimmunity in mice with CD28-deficient regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2017) 199(12):3972–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1700409
- Botta D, Fuller MJ, Marquez-Lago TT, Bachus H, Bradley JE, Weinmann AS, et al. Dynamic regulation of T follicular regulatory cell responses by interleukin 2 during influenza infection. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(11):1249–60. doi:10.1038/ni.3837
- Good-Jacobson KL, Szumilas CG, Chen L, Sharpe AH, Tomayko MM, Shlomchik MJ. PD-1 regulates germinal center B cell survival and the formation and affinity of long-lived plasma cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(6):535–42. doi:10.1038/ni.1877
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* (1999) 11(2):141–51. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Hamel KM, Cao Y, Wang Y, Rodeghero R, Kobezda T, Chen L, et al. B7-H1 expression on non-B and non-T cells promotes distinct effects on T- and B-cell responses in autoimmune arthritis. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(11):3117–27. doi:10.1002/eji.201040690
- Baccala R, Kono DH, Theofilopoulos AN. Interferons as pathogenic effectors in autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev* (2005) 204:9–26. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00252.x
- Becker-HermanS, Meyer-BahlburgA, SchwartzMA, JacksonSW, HudkinsKL, Liu C, et al. WASp-deficient B cells play a critical, cell-intrinsic role in triggering autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(10):2033–42. doi:10.1084/ jem.20110200
- Rubtsov AV, Rubtsova K, Fischer A, Meehan RT, Gillis JZ, Kappler JW, et al. Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-driven accumulation of a novel CD11c(+) B-cell population is important for the development of autoimmunity. *Blood* (2011) 118(5):1305–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-331462

- Hao Y, O'Neill P, Naradikian MS, Scholz JL, Cancro MP. A B-cell subset uniquely responsive to innate stimuli accumulates in aged mice. *Blood* (2011) 118(5):1294–304. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-330530
- Becker AM, Dao KH, Han BK, Kornu R, Lakhanpal S, Mobley AB, et al. SLE peripheral blood B cell, T cell and myeloid cell transcriptomes display unique profiles and each subset contributes to the interferon signature. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e67003. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0067003
- Rubtsova K, Rubtsov AV, Thurman JM, Mennona JM, Kappler JW, Marrack P. B cells expressing the transcription factor T-bet drive lupus-like autoimmunity. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(4):1392–404. doi:10.1172/JCI91250
- Pupovac A, Good-Jacobson KL. An antigen to remember: regulation of B cell memory in health and disease. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2017) 45:89–96. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2017.03.004
- 92. Naradikian MS, Myles A, Beiting DP, Roberts KJ, Dawson L, Sedaghat Herati R, et al. Cutting edge: IL-4, IL-21, and IFN-g interact to govern T-bet and CD11c expression in TLR-activated B cells. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(4):1023–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1600522
- Obeng-Adjei N, Portugal S, Holla P, Li S, Sohn H, Ambegaonkar A, et al. Malaria-induced interferon-gamma drives the expansion of Tbethi atypical memory B cells. *PLoS Pathog* (2017) 13(9):e1006576. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1006576
- Saadoun D, Terrier B, Bannock J, Vazquez T, Massad C, Kang I, et al. Expansion of autoreactive unresponsive CD21^{-/low} B cells in Sjogren's syndrome-associated lymphoproliferation. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65(4):1085–96. doi:10.1002/art.37828
- Isnardi I, Ng YS, Menard L, Meyers G, Saadoun D, Srdanovic I, et al. Complement receptor 2/CD21- human naive B cells contain mostly autoreactive unresponsive clones. *Blood* (2010) 115(24):5026–36. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-09-243071
- Terrier B, Joly F, Vazquez T, Benech P, Rosenzwajg M, Carpentier W, et al. Expansion of functionally anergic CD21-/low marginal zone-like B cell clones in hepatitis C virus infection-related autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(12):6550–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102022
- Weinstein JS, Laidlaw BJ, Lu Y, Wang JK, Schulz VP, Li N, et al. STAT4 and T-bet control follicular helper T cell development in viral infections. *J Exp Med* (2018) 215(1):337–55. doi:10.1084/jem.20170457
- Ma CS, Avery DT, Chan A, Batten M, Bustamante J, Boisson-Dupuis S, et al. Functional STAT3 deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(17):3997–4008. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-11-392985
- Harada T, Kyttaris V, Li Y, Juang YT, Wang Y, Tsokos GC. Increased expression of STAT3 in SLE T cells contributes to enhanced chemokine-mediated cell migration. *Autoimmunity* (2007) 40(1):1–8. doi:10.1080/08916930601095148
- Choi YS, Eto D, Yang JA, Lao C, Crotty S. Cutting edge: STAT1 is required for IL-6-mediated Bcl6 induction for early follicular helper cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(7):3049–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203032
- 101. Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Hwang D, Yang XO, Kang HS, Ma L, et al. Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):138–49. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.05.009
- Ray JP, Marshall HD, Laidlaw BJ, Staron MM, Kaech SM, Craft J. Transcription factor STAT3 and type I interferons are corepressive insulators for differentiation of follicular helper and T helper 1 cells. *Immunity* (2014) 40(3):367–77. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.005
- Nurieva RI, Podd A, Chen Y, Alekseev AM, Yu M, Qi X, et al. STAT5 protein negatively regulates T follicular helper (Tfh) cell generation and function. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287(14):11234–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.324046
- 104. Oestreich KJ, Mohn SE, Weinmann AS. Molecular mechanisms that control the expression and activity of Bcl-6 in TH1 cells to regulate flexibility with a TFH-like gene profile. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(4):405–11. doi:10.1038/ ni.2242
- Johnston RJ, Choi YS, Diamond JA, Yang JA, Crotty S. STAT5 is a potent negative regulator of TFH cell differentiation. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(2):243–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20111174
- 106. Heit A, Schmitz F, Gerdts S, Flach B, Moore MS, Perkins JA, et al. Vaccination establishes clonal relatives of germinal center T cells in the blood of humans. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(7):2139–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20161794
- 107. Le Coz C, Joublin A, Pasquali JL, Korganow AS, Dumortier H, Monneaux F. Circulating Tfh subset distribution is strongly affected in lupus patients

with an active disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(9):e75319. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0075319

- 108. Terrier B, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Garrido M, Geri G, Rosenzwajg M, Musset L, et al. Interleukin 21 correlates with T cell and B cell subset alterations in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* (2012) 39(9):1819–28. doi:10.3899/jrheum.120468
- 109. Szabo K, Papp G, Szanto A, Tarr T, Zeher M. A comprehensive investigation on the distribution of circulating follicular T helper cells and B cell subsets in primary Sjogren's syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2016) 183(1):76–89. doi:10.1111/cei.12703
- 110. Zhang X, Lindwall E, Gauthier C, Lyman J, Spencer N, Alarakhia A, et al. Circulating CXCR5+CD4+helper T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus patients share phenotypic properties with germinal center follicular helper T cells and promote antibody production. *Lupus* (2015) 24(9):909–17. doi:10.1177/0961203314567750
- 111. Choi JY, Ho JH, Pasoto SG, Bunin V, Kim ST, Carrasco S, et al. Circulating follicular helper-like T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus: association with disease activity. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2015) 67(4):988–99. doi:10.1002/ art.39020
- 112. Ma J, Zhu C, Ma B, Tian J, Baidoo SE, Mao C, et al. Increased frequency of circulating follicular helper T cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:827480. doi:10.1155/2012/827480
- 113. Xu B, Wang S, Zhou M, Huang Y, Fu R, Guo C, et al. The ratio of circulating follicular T helper cell to follicular T regulatory cell is correlated with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Immunol* (2017) 183:46–53. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2017.07.004
- 114. Rao DA, Gurish MF, Marshall JL, Slowikowski K, Fonseka CY, Liu Y, et al. Pathologically expanded peripheral T helper cell subset drives B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature* (2017) 542(7639):110–4. doi:10.1038/ nature20810
- Tangye SG. Pathogenic CD4(+) T cells regulating B-cell differentiation in autoimmunity: not exactly Tfh cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2017) 95(5):419–21. doi:10.1038/icb.2017.20
- Banchereau R, Hong S, Cantarel B, Baldwin N, Baisch J, Edens M, et al. Personalized immunomonitoring uncovers molecular networks that stratify lupus patients. *Cell* (2016) 165(3):551–65. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.03.008
- 117. Bauer JW, Petri M, Batliwalla FM, Koeuth T, Wilson J, Slattery C, et al. Interferon-regulated chemokines as biomarkers of systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity: a validation study. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60(10):3098–107. doi:10.1002/art.24803

- 118. Rose T, Grutzkau A, Hirseland H, Huscher D, Dahnrich C, Dzionek A, et al. IFNalpha and its response proteins, IP-10 and SIGLEC-1, are biomarkers of disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2013) 72(10):1639–45. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201586
- 119. Kong KO, Tan AW, Thong BY, Lian TY, Cheng YK, Teh CL, et al. Enhanced expression of interferon-inducible protein-10 correlates with disease activity and clinical manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2009) 156(1):134–40. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03880.x
- Lee AYS, Bannan JL, Adams MJ, Korner H. Expression of CCR6 on B cells in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 36(6):1453–6. doi:10.1007/s10067-017-3678-6
- 121. Menke J, Zeller GC, Kikawada E, Means TK, Huang XR, Lan HY, et al. CXCL9, but not CXCL10, promotes CXCR3-dependent immune-mediated kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2008) 19(6):1177–89. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2007111179
- 122. Steinmetz OM, Turner JE, Paust HJ, Lindner M, Peters A, Heiss K, et al. CXCR3 mediates renal Th1 and Th17 immune response in murine lupus nephritis. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(7):4693–704. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802626
- 123. Sundararaj KP, Thiyagarajan T, Molano I, Basher F, Powers TW, Drake RR, et al. FLI1 levels impact CXCR3 expression and renal infiltration of T cells and renal glycosphingolipid metabolism in the MRL/lpr lupus mouse strain. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(12):5551–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500961
- Corsiero E, Nerviani A, Bombardieri M, Pitzalis C. Ectopic lymphoid structures: powerhouse of autoimmunity. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:430. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00430
- 125. Dominguez CX, Amezquita RA, Guan T, Marshall HD, Joshi NS, Kleinstein SH, et al. The transcription factors ZEB2 and T-bet cooperate to program cytotoxic T cell terminal differentiation in response to LCMV viral infection. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(12):2041–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20150186

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Good-Jacobson and Groom. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Putting on the Brakes: Regulatory Kinases and Phosphatases Maintaining B Cell Anergy

S. Elizabeth Franks and John C. Cambier*

Department of Immunology and Microbiology, University of Colorado Denver School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

B cell antigen receptor (BCR) signaling is a tightly regulated process governed by both positive and negative mediators/regulators to ensure appropriate responses to exogenous and autologous antigens. Upon naïve B cell recognition of antigen CD79 [the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM)-containing signaling subunit of the BCR] is phosphorylated and recruits Src and Syk family kinases that then phosphorylate proximal intermediaries linked to downstream activating signaling circuitry. This plasma membrane localized signalosome activates PI3K leading to generation of PIP3 critical for membrane localization and activation of plecktrin homology domain-containing effectors. Conversely, in anergic B cells, chronic antigen stimulation drives biased monophosphorylation of CD79 ITAMs leading to recruitment of Lyn, but not Syk, which docks only to bi-phosphorylated ITAMS. In this context, Lyn appears to function primarily as a driver of inhibitory signaling pathways promoting the inhibition of the PI3K pathway by inositol phosphatases, SHIP-1 and PTEN, which hydrolyze PIP3 to PIP2. Lyn may also exert negative regulation of signaling through recruitment of SHP-1, a tyrosine phosphatase that dephosphorylates activating signaling molecules. Alleles of genes that encode or regulate expression of components of this axis, including SHIP-1, SHP-1, Csk/PTPn22, and Lyn, have been shown to confer risk of autoimmunity. This review will discuss functional interplay of components of this pathway and the impact of risk alleles on its function.

Keywords: B cells, anergy, SHIP-1, Pten, lyn, SHP-1, phosphatases, kinases

INTRODUCTION

The stochastic nature of lymphocyte repertoire diversification leads to production of many B cells that are autoreactive. In fact, it is estimated up to 70% of newly generated B cells recognize selfantigens (1). These autoreactive cells must be silenced to prevent the production of pathogenic autoantibodies and presentation of autoantigen-derived peptides to potentially pathogenic T cells. Silencing of these cells occurs by three known mechanisms. If B cell antigen receptor (BCR) interactions with autoantigen are of high avidity and the cell is immature, antigen receptor signals activate receptor editing, wherein immunoglobulin light chain allele usage changes to an alternative allele (2, 3). If this process eliminates BCR autoreactivity, now harmless cell proceeds to the periphery where it can participate in protective immune responses. If alternate light chain usage does not remove sufficient autoreactivity, continued autoantigen-induced signaling results in apoptotic death, a process known as clonal deletion (4, 5). If remaining autoantigen avidity is significant, but too low to drive receptor editing or clonal deletion, the B cell proceeds to the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Margaret Hibbs, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Louis Justement, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States Masaki Hikida, Kyoto University, Japan Anthony L. DeFranco, University of California, San Francisco, United States

> *Correspondence: John C. Cambier john.cambier@ucdenver.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 December 2017 Accepted: 19 March 2018 Published: 06 April 2018

Citation:

Franks SE and Cambier JC (2018) Putting on the Brakes: Regulatory Kinases and Phosphatases Maintaining B Cell Anergy. Front. Immunol. 9:665. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00665 periphery where it exhibits reduced lifespan and is hyporesponsive to further antigen stimulation, a condition termed anergy (6). Anergic B cells fail to mobilize calcium (7), upregulate activation markers (8), and/or proliferate and differentiate in response to antigen (9).

It seems intuitive that among these silencing mechanisms, anergy is most fragile. Residence in the periphery increases the likelihood that anergic cells encounter inflammatory cytokines, stimulatory pathogen- and damage-associated molecular patterns, PAMPS, and DAMPS that may compromise their unresponsiveness. In addition, maintenance of the anergic state is dependent on continued occupancy of antigen receptors by antigen (10). Removal of autoantigen results in acquisition of responsiveness within minutes (10). This "reversibility" likely confers additional risk of participation in autoimmunity, but is also informative regarding the molecular mechanisms underlying anergy.

The rapid reversibility of anergy suggests that unresponsiveness is maintained by non-durable biochemical pathways and not by genetic reprogramming. Consistent with this possibility, analysis of differences in the transcriptomes of naïve and anergic B cells have failed to reveal mediators of anergic B cell unresponsiveness (11). This review is focused on the molecular regulatory mechanisms that are uniquely induced in anergic cells and are involved in maintenance of their unresponsiveness.

CHARACTERISTICS OF ANERGIC B CELLS

Naïve B lymphocyte recognition of antigen leads to transduction and propagation of signals that induce expression of activation markers and prepare the cell to interact productively with T cells. However, chronic binding of antigen in the absence of secondary signals provided by T cells, DAMPs, and/or PAMPs, leads to unresponsiveness (12). This anergy is maintained when as few as 20% of receptors are occupied (13), thus unresponsiveness is not caused by inability to bind self or cross-reactive exogenous antigen. Further, this state is not maintained by tonic regulators as it must be induced by antigen receptor stimulation (14–16). Therefore, the mechanisms that maintain the antigen unresponsiveness of anergic B cells can be expected to have the following properties: they require induction by chronic antigen receptor stimulation, they are non-durable, and they affect receptorproximal signaling events.

Although the concept evolved from studies of normal mice (17), most of what is known about B cell anergy was learned by studying immunoglobulin transgenic mice in which all B cells share reactivity with an autoantigen. Perhaps most notable are MD4 immunoglobulin transgenic mice that express mIgM and mIgD BCR with high affinity for hen egg lysozyme (HEL). When these mice were crossed to ML5 mice expressing soluble HEL, B cells developed and occupied peripheral lymphoid organs, but the animals were unresponsive to immunization (9, 18). Transfer of naïve MD4 B cells or MD4xML5 B cells to B6 recipients with CD4 T cells that recognize sheep red blood cells (SRBCs), followed by immunization with HEL-SRBCs, led to a response by both populations, though the response

of the latter cells was greatly reduced. MD4xML5 cells did not respond when transferred to ML5 recipients. The former must reflect gradual dissociation of autoantigen from BCR following transfer to the autoantigen free environment, with attendant loss of unresponsiveness, or "anergy" (19). The inability of anergic B cells to mount an equivalent immune response following transfer could be due to an inability of cells to cooperate with cognate T cells, due either to failure to process and present antigen or to respond to T cell derived signals. To determine whether the defect in these anergic cells lay in the ability to internalize, process, and present antigen to T cells, they were modified to constitutively express MHC class II with peptide, bypassing the need to process and present antigen, and allowing interaction with cognate T helper cells (7). If the defect lay only in antigen processing and presentation, adoptive transfer of these B cells into B6 or ML5 recipient mice, followed by immunization, should have led to an immune response. However, these MD4xML5 anergic B cells failed to respond by producing anti-HEL antibodies (7). Interestingly, naïve MD4 B cells adoptively transferred into ML5 recipients responded to antigen by proliferation and differentiation. This evidence suggests that the immune response defect in anergic B cells must reflect more than an inability to process and present antigen. To determine the ability of anergic B cells to respond to T cell help, naïve MD4 B cells and anergic MD4xML5 B cells were stimulated in vitro with IL-4 and anti-CD40 and responses assessed. Both naive MD4 B cells and anergic MD4xML5 B cells upregulated MHC class II and costimulatory molecules, i.e., CD86, in response to these stimuli that mimic T cell help (7, 8). These data demonstrated the reversibility of anergy, as well as suggest there is not an inherent defect in the ability of an anergic B cell to respond to T cell help. They left open the possibility that the defect could lie in an inability of the anergic cell to upregulate T cell costimulatory ligands such as CD86 in response to antigen.

Because the previous experiments indicated that the inability of anergic B cells to respond to antigen is not limited to an antigen processing and presentation defect, it seemed likely that there was defect(s) in antigen receptor signaling. To determine the ability of anergic B cells to respond to BCR ligation, in vitro responses of naïve MD4 B cells and anergic MD4xML5 B cells were compared. Unlike naïve cells, MD4xML5 failed to proliferate, increase RNA synthesis indicative of entry into cell cycle, or upregulate CD86 (7). These data suggest that there is an inherent defect in the ability of an anergic B cell to signal through their antigen receptors. Confirming this, anergic B cells failed to mobilize calcium in response to BCR stimulation. Antigen stimulation of anergic B cells did not lead to a significant increase in protein phosphorylation (7). Tolerant B cells show a decrease in cell surface IgM antigen receptors, possibly explaining the decrease in signaling. However, anergic B cells transferred into B6 recipients and "parked" for 36 h led to normalization of receptor levels and equivalent fluorescently labeled antigen binding, but the cells remained unresponsive to antigen based on calcium mobilization (7). It is important to note that while anergic B cells downregulate mIgM, they do not downregulate mIgD, which constitutes 90% of the antigen-binding capacity of most splenic B cells (20). This

alone would argue that hyporesponsiveness of anergic B cells is not attributable to reduced antigen-binding capacity.

Protein tyrosine phosphorylation is the earliest quantified event in BCR signaling. Loss of this event in anergic cells suggests that unresponsiveness may reflect a defect in initial transduction of signals across the plasma membrane (7, 21). Consistent with this possibility, it has been reported that antigen stimulation can lead to rapid destabilization of the interaction of mIgM with the CD79a/b (Ig α/β) heterodimer (22). Reductionist studies using B cell lines ectopically expressing association-competent versus incompetent BCR demonstrated that incompetent BCRs can compromise competent receptor signaling within the same aggregate/complex. In fact, receptor complexes containing as few as 13% incompetent CD79-associated mIg showed defects in signaling (22). Thus, mechanisms that act to limit BCR signaling in anergic cells may somehow target the structural integrity of the antigen receptor itself.

The discussion above describes extant knowledge of biological and BCR signaling defects associated with B cell anergy in the MD4 anti-HEL model. The findings described were confirmed in another model, the Ars/A1 model, in which B cells are reactive with chromatin (13). Below, we drill more deeply into proximal BCR signaling pathways and negative regulatory mechanisms that limit the antigen responsiveness of anergic cells.

ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNALING IN NAÏVE AND ANERGIC B CELLS

In naïve B cells, BCR stimulation leads most proximally to the tyrosine phosphorylation of two conserved tyrosine residues embedded in immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) found in CD79a and CD79b, the heterodimeric signaling component of the BCR, as indicated in Figure 1 (23-26). This phosphorylation appears to be governed by the balanced activity of phosphotyrosine phosphatases and SRC family kinases for which ITAMs are substrates (27-29). Phosphorylated ITAMs stimulate Lyn activation, presumably through association with the kinase SH2 binding and derepression of its enzymatic activity (30). ITAM bi-phosphorylation enables receptor binding of the Syk tyrosine kinase via its dual SH2 domains leading to its phosphorylation and activation (28, 31). BCR stimulation leads to concurrent Lyn-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of CD19, a BCR accessory/co-receptor, enabling its association with Lyn and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-kinase) (32). CD19, functioning in conjunction with the adaptor BCAP, mediates activation of PI3-kinase and generation of PI(3,4,5)P3 (33). The head group of this inner leaflet phospholipid second messenger binds the plecktrin homology (PH) domains of a number of critical downstream effectors, including PLCy, AKT, PDK1, and BTK, localizing them



FIGURE 1 | Antigen receptor signaling in naïve and anergic B cells. B cell antigen receptor (BCR) aggregation in naïve cells leads proximally to phosphorylation of CD79a and CD79b immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) tyrosines. This phosphorylation allows recruitment of the Src-family kinase Lyn to the receptor where it binds through its SH2 domain and its activity is derepressed. Lyn mediates activation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (Pl3-kinase) pathway *via* phosphorylation of CD19, and the Pl(3,4,5)P3 product of this pathway sequesters BLNK, PLCγ, and BTK for function in signaling. Phosphorylation of both ITAM tyrosines leads to binding of SYK *via* its dual SH2 domains and to subsequent activation. Under conditions of chronic antigen stimulation (anergy), the ITAMs on CD79a are preferentially monophosphorylated, recruiting Lyn to the complex. Lyn, in its negative regulatory role, recruits the function of the inositol phosphatases, SHIP-1 and PTEN, as well as the tyrosine phosphatase, SHP-1. These regulatory phosphatases will then exert their inhibitory function on downstream effector molecules, abrogating stimulatory BCR signaling. Bias toward stimulation of inhibitory circuitry is reversed upon removal of the antigen receptor stimulus.

to the receptor where they can be activated by phosphorylation (31). Multiple parallel pathways diverge from this activated receptosome, leading ultimately to cell activation.

Anergic B cells are chronically stimulated by autoantigen in vivo, but at least in MD4xML5 and Ars/A1 models, cell surface BCRs are not saturated. Indeed, on immediately ex vivo anergic cells most receptors are unoccupied (13). Additionally, chronic in vivo autoantigen stimulation results in monophosphorylation of receptor ITAMs (16). Findings from cell-free experiments in which the ability of specific kinases to phosphorylate CD79 ITAMs was assessed demonstrate that Lyn and Fyn, but not Syk efficiently phosphorylate these substrates. However, this phosphorylation occurs primarily on the more N-terminal ITAM tyrosines, and ITAM bi-phosphorylation is a minor event (~20%) (28, 30). This may indicate that the degree of ITAM tyrosine phosphorylation is highly regulated by factors in addition to degree of aggregation. In terms of downstream consequences, it should be noted that because activation of Syk requires binding of both SH2 domains to phosphorylated ITAM tyrosines, monophosphorylation is associated with Lyn, but not Syk activation (30). Consistent with this, induced phosphorylation of the Lyn substrate CD19 appears normal (Getahun and Cambier, unpublished) in anergic cells, but pathways downstream from Syk are silent. Phosphorylation of CD19 suggests that PI3-kinase is active in these cells. Anergic B cells exhibit increased basal and BCR-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of the PI(3,4,5)P3 5-phosphatase SHIP-1 and its adaptor Dok-1 (34), previously shown to be associated with their activation (11, 35). They are also characterized by an increase in expression of PTEN, a PI(3,4,5)P3 3-phosphatase, that is subject to regulation by a number of microRNAs (36, 37).

REGULATION OF BCR SIGNALING IN NAÏVE AND ANERGIC B CELLS

Lyn

Interestingly, Lyn, the primary BCR-associated Src-family kinase, plays both positive and negative functional roles in antigen receptor signaling (38-40). Allelic differences in the LYN gene leading to reduced expression of the kinase confer increased risk of developing SLE, and patients with lupus have decreased Lyn expression in B cells (41, 42). In mice, Lyn deficiency increases negative selection in the bone marrow with fewer Lyn^{-/-} B cells being found in the periphery of Lyn^{-/-} MD4 mice (43). Peripheral Lyn^{-/-} B cells fail to fully mature (43, 44). Lyn^{-/-} B cells exhibit delayed but exaggerated and more sustained calcium response to antigen (39, 45), further suggesting both positive and negative roles in BCR signaling. In the absence of Lyn, other Src-family kinases expressed in B cells (Blk and Fyn) act to propagate BCR signaling, but down modulation of BCR signaling is abrogated, suggesting loss of anergy. The balance of Lyn and Fyn is further explained in vivo with Lyn deficiency exacerbating nephritis and arthritis, while loss of Fyn is protective from auto/inflammatory disease (46). Moreover, patients with SLE present in the clinic with a Fyn-activating signature, further suggesting a negative role for Lyn in BCR signaling.

Lyn^{-/-} mice develop an SLE-like disease as indicated by autoantibody production and glomerulonephritis (47). B cells from these mice undergo enhanced proliferation in response to BCR crosslinking. Macrophages and dendritic cells also play a role in development of disease in Lyn^{-/-} mice. However, B cellspecific conditional deletion of Lyn, achieved by crossing the Lyn^{fl/fl} mouse to a mouse carrying Cre expressed under the CD79a promoter, leads to autoantibody production, IgG immune complex deposition ultimately resulting in glomerulonephritis (44).

Lyn may exert its negative regulatory function through phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIMs) on CD22, leading to recruitment of SHP-1 (48), a tyrosine phosphatase that dephosphorylates activating signaling molecules, such as CD79a/b ITAMs, Syk, and BLNK (49, 50). Lyn also drives inhibitory signaling by promoting the inhibition of the PI3-kinase pathway, by phosphorylating the inositol phosphatase, SHIP-1 and its Doc family adaptors, Doc-1 and Doc-3. SHIP-1 hydrolyzes PI(3,4,5)P3 yielding PI(3,4)P2, preventing recruitment, and activation of PH domain-containing effectors and consequent propagation of BCR signals. Alleles of genes that encode components of this regulatory axis, including SHP-1 (38, 51), Csk (52), PTPn22 (53-56), and Lyn (41), have been shown to confer risk of autoimmunity (57). Reduced PTEN and SHIP-1 levels presumably caused by increased in expression of microRNAs that regulate them are also seen in autoimmunity. Demonstrating their critical roles in maintenance of anergy, we have shown that acute deletion of these proteins from anergic B cells in vivo results in rapid cell proliferation and differentiation, and production of autoantibodies.

SHP-1

An allele of the regulatory SH2-containing tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 has been associated with increased risk of developing SLE (38). SHP-1 and SHP-2 mediate the function of certain inhibitory ITIM containing receptors, such as CD22, PD1, and Fc γ RIIB, although there is evidence that SHP-1 is dispensable for the latter (58, 59). SHP-1 was first described as being crucial for FC γ RIIB-mediated negative regulation of anti-BCR induced proliferation in motheaten mice (me) (60). The ultimate resolution of this inconsistency came from studies of Lasourne and colleagues who showed that the degree of packing of phosphorylated Fc γ RIIB ITIMs determined the relative involvement of SHIP-1 and SHP-1 in downstream inhibitory signaling. Higher level aggregation, as probably occurred in the D'Ambrosio studies, would be expected to evoke SHP-1 function.

Viable motheaten mice (me^v/me^v) have a mutation that interferes with a splice site in the gene that encodes SHP-1, *Ptpn6*, reducing the enzyme activity to 10–20% of wild type. These animals exhibit severe B cell immunodeficiency and autoantibody production. In me^v crossed to the MD4, SHP-1 low B cells undergo increased intracellular calcium flux responses to antigen. SHP-1 deficiency also leads to increased serum levels of IgM, IgG₁, and IgG₃ (61). Furthermore, B cell-specific loss of SHP-1 leads to an accumulation of B-1a cells and systemic autoimmunity (62, 63). Acute B cell targeted deletion of SHP-1 from anergic B cells *in vivo* leads to cell activation, proliferation, differentiation to plasmablasts and autoantibody production (62). Genetic complementation studies indicate that SHIP-1 and SHP-1 act in distinct regulatory pathways both of which must be functional to maintain anergy.

Studies indicate that in a subset of SLE patients, B cells express reduced SHP-1 protein, suggesting these patients have a decreased ability to maintain B cell anergy (51). A decrease in SHP-1 (both protein and mRNA) in PBMCs isolated from multiple sclerosis patients is associated with an increase in inflammatory gene expression (64). This is particularly interesting given both me^v mice and the inducible mouse model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, have more severe disease when SHP-1 deficiency is observed (65, 66).

SHIP-1 and PTEN: Cooperative Enforcement of Anergy

Phosphoinositide 3-kinases function in the promotion of numerous biological functions by the generation of lipid second messengers. Mice that lack the dominant PI3-kinase isoform found in B cells, p110δ, show a reduction in calcium mobilization, a decrease in serum immunoglobulin levels, as well as a decrease in germinal center formation in the spleen (67, 68). Tight regulation of this pathway by the inositol phosphatases, SHIP-1 and PTEN, is critical for maintaining tolerance to self-antigens.

Studies utilizing adoptive transfer of anergic B cells, followed by targeted deletion of SHIP-1, have shown that this inositol phosphatase is crucial for maintenance of anergic B cell unresponsiveness to self-antigen. Upon deletion of SHIP-1, B cells that were once anergic become activated, upregulating costimulatory molecules, and proliferate and differentiate into antibody secreting cells (62). Furthermore, B cell targeted deletion of SHIP-1 results in systemic autoimmunity (16, 69). In addition to its enzymatic activity, SHIP-1 functions as an adaptor protein, binding effectors such as rasGAP (34). To determine if SHIP-1's role in maintaining anergy is a function of its regulation of the PI3-kinase pathway as opposed to its adaptor functions, Getahun et al. used genetic models to conditionally delete PTEN or express a constitutive active PI3-kinase p110a in anergic B cells in vivo (62). Loss of PTEN expression or enforced over-production of PI(3,4,5)P3 led to a breach of anergy. Interestingly, while haploinsufficiency of either SHIP-1 or PTEN alone does not lead to loss of anergy, haploinsufficiency of both inositol phosphatases does, consistent with the fact that these phosphatases act in the same regulatory pathway.

SHIP-1 levels are decreased in Fas^{MRL/hpr} mice due to an increase in the microRNA that regulates its expression, microRNA 155 (36). microRNA 155 is also elevated in SLE patients and has been correlated with disease activity (70). Additionally, descriptions of decreased PTEN expression, caused by an increase in expression of microRNA 7, in B cells from patients with SLE have been correlated with disease severity (37). These data confirm that induced inhibition of the PI3-kinase pathway is critical for maintaining tolerance and preventing anergic B cells from participating in an autoimmune response. They further implicate microRNA levels as indirect regulators of anergy.

Csk/PTPn22

PTPn22 variants are among the risk alleles most strongly linked to human autoimmunity, but the molecular mechanism of

PTPn22 action and consequence of risk allele defect(s) remains unclear. The PTPn22 R620W allele is found at high frequency in patients with type 1 diabetes, RA, SLE, Grave's thyroiditis, and myasthenia gravis, but does not predispose to other diseases, such as multiple sclerosis, Crohn's disease, or psoriasis vulgaris. While there are additional PTPn22 risk alleles that are associated with increased risk of autoimmunity (71), we will focus on the more understood R620W allele.

PTPn22 is a nonreceptor tyrosine kinase that binds Csk, a known suppressor of antigen receptor signaling. PTPn22 has also been shown to negatively regulate signaling by dephosphorylating Src family kinases (72, 73). PTPn22-/- mice develop increased serum immunoglobulin levels and germinal centers although overt autoimmunity is absent. The R620 is located in a position critical for binding of PTPn22 to Csk, suggesting that R620W would decrease the interaction of the two molecules, possibly resulting in increased antigen receptor signaling. However, Liston et al. demonstrated R620W causes reduced TCR signaling, leading to reduced thymic selection and subsequent deletion, allowing for more autoreactive T cells to exit into the periphery to later become activated and participate in an autoimmune response (74). Furthermore, R620W human B cells have decreased BCR signaling and BCR-mediated responses, but have an increased autoreactive B cell compartment, coupled with less effective central and peripheral tolerance. Patients who carry the mutated form of PTPn22 have an increased autoreactive B cell compartment, coupled with less effective central and peripheral tolerance. This is also seen in mice that express the human equivalent mutation, R619W, in B cells only. These mice develop autoimmunity (75).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

This review summarizes a body of work that has defined B cell anergy and the molecular mechanisms that maintain antigen unresponsiveness of anergic B cells. It further describes the effects of allelic variations of regulatory signaling molecules that confer increased risk of autoimmunity. Role for these risk alleles in failed silencing of autoreactive B cells *per se*, underscore the potential of targeting B cells for therapeutic intervention in autoimmunity [reviewed in Ref. (76)]. In the era of precision medicine, therapy will be based on genetics in addition to symptomology. As with all therapies for autoimmunities, there is a balance to be struck between controlling the autoimmune response while still leaving patients competent to mount protective immune responses to pathogens.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SEF and JCC both participated in the writing and preparation of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors are supported by the following grants from the US Public Health Service: NIH/NIAID R01 AI124487-03, NIH/ NIDDK R01 DK096492-05, NIH/NIAID R21 AI124488-02.

REFERENCES

- Wardemann H, Yurasov S, Schaefer A, Young JW, Meffre E, Nussenzweig MC. Predominant autoantibody production by early human B cell precursors. *Science* (2003) 301:1374–7. doi:10.1126/science.1086907
- Gay D, Saunders T, Camper S, Weigert M. Receptor editing: an approach by autoreactive B cells to escape tolerance. *J Exp Med* (1993) 177:999–1008. doi:10.1084/jem.177.4.999
- Tiegs SL, Russell DM, Nemazee D. Receptor editing in self-reactive bone marrow B cells. J Exp Med (1993) 177:1009–20. doi:10.1084/jem.177.4.1009
- Halverson R, Torres RM, Pelanda R. Receptor editing is the main mechanism of B cell tolerance toward membrane antigens. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5:645–50. doi:10.1038/ni1076
- Nemazee DA, Burki K. Clonal deletion of B lymphocytes in a transgenic mouse bearing anti-MHC class I antibody genes. *Nature* (1989) 337:562–6. doi:10.1038/337562a0
- Cyster JG, Hartley SB, Goodnow CC. Competition for follicular niches excludes self-reactive cells from the recirculating B-cell repertoire. *Nature* (1994) 371:389–95. doi:10.1038/371389a0
- Cooke MP, Heath AW, Shokat KM, Zeng Y, Finkelman FD, Linsley PS, et al. Immunoglobulin signal transduction guides the specificity of B cell-T cell interactions and is blocked in tolerant self-reactive B cells. *J Exp Med* (1994) 179:425–38. doi:10.1084/jem.179.2.425
- Eris JM, Basten A, Brink R, Doherty K, Kehry MR, Hodgkin PD. Anergic self-reactive B cells present self antigen and respond normally to CD40dependent T-cell signals but are defective in antigen-receptor-mediated functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91:4392–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.10.4392
- Goodnow CC, Crosbie J, Adelstein S, Lavoie TB, Smith-Gill SJ, Brink RA, et al. Altered immunoglobulin expression and functional silencing of self-reactive B lymphocytes in transgenic mice. *Nature* (1988) 334:676–82. doi:10.1038/334676a0
- Gauld SB, Benschop RJ, Merrell KT, Cambier JC. Maintenance of B cell anergy requires constant antigen receptor occupancy and signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:1160–7. doi:10.1038/ni1256
- Merrell KT, Benschop RJ, Gauld SB, Aviszus K, Decote-Ricardo D, Wysocki LJ, et al. Identification of anergic B cells within a wild-type repertoire. *Immunity* (2006) 25:953–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.10.017
- Bretscher P, Cohn M. A theory of self-nonself discrimination. *Science* (1970) 169:1042–9. doi:10.1126/science.169.3950.1042
- Benschop RJ, Aviszus K, Zhang X, Manser T, Cambier JC, Wysocki LJ. Activation and anergy in bone marrow B cells of a novel immunoglobulin transgenic mouse that is both hapten specific and autoreactive. *Immunity* (2001) 14:33–43. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00087-5
- Akerlund J, Getahun A, Cambier JC. B cell expression of the SH2-containing inositol 5-phosphatase (SHIP-1) is required to establish anergy to high affinity, proteinacious autoantigens. *J Autoimmun* (2015) 62:45–54. doi:10.1016/j. jaut.2015.06.007
- Browne CD, Del Nagro CJ, Cato MH, Dengler HS, Rickert RC. Suppression of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate production is a key determinant of B cell anergy. *Immunity* (2009) 31:749–60. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.026
- O'Neill SK, Getahun A, Gauld SB, Merrell KT, Tamir I, Smith MJ, et al. Monophosphorylation of CD79a and CD79b ITAM motifs initiates a SHIP-1 phosphatase-mediated inhibitory signaling cascade required for B cell anergy. *Immunity* (2011) 35:746–56. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.10.011
- Nossal GJ, Pike BL. Clonal anergy: persistence in tolerant mice of antigenbinding B lymphocytes incapable of responding to antigen or mitogen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1980) 77:1602–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.77.3.1602
- Goodnow CC, Crosbie J, Jorgensen H, Brink RA, Basten A. Induction of self-tolerance in mature peripheral B lymphocytes. *Nature* (1989) 342:385–91. doi:10.1038/342385a0
- Goodnow CC, Brink R, Adams E. Breakdown of self-tolerance in anergic B lymphocytes. *Nature* (1991) 352:532–6. doi:10.1038/352532a0
- Havran WL, DiGiusto DL, Cambier JC. mIgM:mIgD ratios on B cells: mean mIgD expression exceeds mIgM by 10-fold on most splenic B cells. *J Immunol* (1984) 132:1712–6.
- Healy JI, Dolmetsch RE, Timmerman LA, Cyster JG, Thomas ML, Crabtree GR, et al. Different nuclear signals are activated by the B cell receptor during positive versus negative signaling. *Immunity* (1997) 6:419–28. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80285-X

- Vilen BJ, Burke KM, Sleater M, Cambier JC. Transmodulation of BCR signaling by transduction-incompetent antigen receptors: implications for impaired signaling in anergic B cells. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:4344–51. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.168.9.4344
- Campbell KS, Cambier JC. B lymphocyte antigen receptors (mIg) are non-covalently associated with a disulfide linked, inducibly phosphorylated glycoprotein complex. *EMBO J* (1990) 9:441–8.
- Gold MR, Law DA, DeFranco AL. Stimulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation by the B-lymphocyte antigen receptor. *Nature* (1990) 345:810–3. doi:10.1038/345810a0
- Gold MR, Matsuuchi L, Kelly RB, DeFranco AL. Tyrosine phosphorylation of components of the B-cell antigen receptors following receptor crosslinking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1991) 88:3436–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.8.3436
- Hombach J, Tsubata T, Leclercq L, Stappert H, Reth M. Molecular components of the B-cell antigen receptor complex of the IgM class. *Nature* (1990) 343:760–2. doi:10.1038/343760a0
- Heizmann B, Reth M, Infantino S. Syk is a dual-specificity kinase that selfregulates the signal output from the B-cell antigen receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2010) 107:18563–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009048107
- Kurosaki T, Johnson SA, Pao L, Sada K, Yamamura H, Cambier JC. Role of the Syk autophosphorylation site and SH2 domains in B cell antigen receptor signaling. *J Exp Med* (1995) 182:1815–23. doi:10.1084/jem.182.6.1815
- Pleiman CM, D'Ambrosio D, Cambier JC. The B-cell antigen receptor complex: structure and signal transduction. *Immunol Today* (1994) 15:393–9. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(94)90267-4
- Pao LI, Famiglietti SJ, Cambier JC. Asymmetrical phosphorylation and function of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif tyrosines in B cell antigen receptor signal transduction. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:3305–14.
- Packard TA, Cambier JC. B lymphocyte antigen receptor signaling: initiation, amplification, and regulation. *F1000Prime Rep* (2013) 5:40. doi:10.12703/ P5-40
- Okada T, Maeda A, Iwamatsu A, Gotoh K, Kurosaki T. BCAP: the tyrosine kinase substrate that connects B cell receptor to phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation. *Immunity* (2000) 13:817–27. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00079-0
- Aiba Y, Kameyama M, Yamazaki T, Tedder TF, Kurosaki T. Regulation of B-cell development by BCAP and CD19 through their binding to phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Blood* (2008) 111:1497–503. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-08-109769
- Tamir I, Stolpa JC, Helgason CD, Nakamura K, Bruhns P, Daeron M, et al. The RasGAP-binding protein p62dok is a mediator of inhibitory FcgammaRIIB signals in B cells. *Immunity* (2000) 12:347–58. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80187-9
- Brauweiler A, Merrell K, Gauld SB, Cambier JC. Cutting edge: acute and chronic exposure of immature B cells to antigen leads to impaired homing and SHIP1-dependent reduction in stromal cell-derived factor-1 responsiveness. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3353–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.6.3353
- Thai TH, Patterson HC, Pham DH, Kis-Toth K, Kaminski DA, Tsokos GC. Deletion of microRNA-155 reduces autoantibody responses and alleviates lupus-like disease in the Fas(lpr) mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:20194–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1317632110
- Wu XN, Ye YX, Niu JW, Li Y, Li X, You X, et al. Defective PTEN regulation contributes to B cell hyperresponsiveness in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:246ra299. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3009131
- Chan VW, Lowell CA, DeFranco AL. Defective negative regulation of antigen receptor signaling in Lyn-deficient B lymphocytes. *Curr Biol* (1998) 8:545–53. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(98)70223-4
- DeFranco AL, Chan VW, Lowell CA. Positive and negative roles of the tyrosine kinase Lyn in B cell function. *Semin Immunol* (1998) 10:299–307. doi:10.1006/smim.1998.0122
- Lowell CA. Src-family kinases: rheostats of immune cell signaling. *Mol Immunol* (2004) 41:631–43. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2004.04.010
- Liossis SN, Solomou EE, Dimopoulos MA, Panayiotidis P, Mavrikakis MM, Sfikakis PP. B-cell kinase lyn deficiency in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Investig Med* (2001) 49:157–65. doi:10.2310/6650.2001. 34042
- Lu R, Vidal GS, Kelly JA, Delgado-Vega AM, Howard XK, Macwana SR, et al. Genetic associations of LYN with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes Immun* (2009) 10:397–403. doi:10.1038/gene.2009.19
- Cornall RJ, Cyster JG, Hibbs ML, Dunn AR, Otipoby KL, Clark EA, et al. Polygenic autoimmune traits: Lyn, CD22, and SHP-1 are limiting elements
of a biochemical pathway regulating BCR signaling and selection. *Immunity* (1998) 8:497–508. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80554-3

- Lamagna C, Hu Y, DeFranco AL, Lowell CA. B cell-specific loss of Lyn kinase leads to autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2014) 192:919–28. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1301979
- Gross AJ, Proekt I, DeFranco AL. Elevated BCR signaling and decreased survival of Lyn-deficient transitional and follicular B cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:3645–55. doi:10.1002/eji.201141708
- Mkaddem SB, Murua A, Flament H, Titeca-Beauport D, Bounaix C, Danelli L, et al. Lyn and Fyn function as molecular switches that control immunoreceptors to direct homeostasis or inflammation. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:246. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-00294-0
- Hibbs ML, Tarlinton DM, Armes J, Grail D, Hodgson G, Maglitto R, et al. Multiple defects in the immune system of Lyn-deficient mice, culminating in autoimmune disease. *Cell* (1995) 83:301–11. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90171-X
- Smith KG, Tarlinton DM, Doody GM, Hibbs ML, Fearon DT. Inhibition of the B cell by CD22: a requirement for Lyn. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187:807–11. doi:10.1084/jem.187.5.807
- Adachi T, Wienands J, Wakabayashi C, Yakura H, Reth M, Tsubata T. SHP-1 requires inhibitory co-receptors to down-modulate B cell antigen receptor-mediated phosphorylation of cellular substrates. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:26648–55. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100997200
- Mizuno K, Tagawa Y, Mitomo K, Arimura Y, Hatano N, Katagiri T, et al. Src homology region 2 (SH2) domain-containing phosphatase-1 dephosphorylates B cell linker protein/SH2 domain leukocyte protein of 65 kDa and selectively regulates c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase activation in B cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:1344–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.3.1344
- Huck S, Le Corre R, Youinou P, Zouali M. Expression of B cell receptor-associated signaling molecules in human lupus. *Autoimmunity* (2001) 33:213–24. doi:10.3109/08916930109008048
- Manjarrez-Orduno N, Marasco E, Chung SA, Katz MS, Kiridly JF, Simpfendorfer KR, et al. CSK regulatory polymorphism is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus and influences B-cell signaling and activation. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44:1227–30. doi:10.1038/ng.2439
- Bottini N, Musumeci L, Alonso A, Rahmouni S, Nika K, Rostamkhani M, et al. A functional variant of lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase is associated with type I diabetes. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36:337–8. doi:10.1038/ng1323
- Bottini N, Vang T, Cucca F, Mustelin T. Role of PTPN22 in type 1 diabetes and other autoimmune diseases. *Semin Immunol* (2006) 18:207–13. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2006.03.008
- 55. Chung SA, Criswell LA. PTPN22: its role in SLE and autoimmunity. Autoimmunity (2007) 40:582–90. doi:10.1080/08916930701510848
- Mustelin T, Vang T, Bottini N. Protein tyrosine phosphatases and the immune response. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5:43–57. doi:10.1038/nri1530
- 57. Cambier JC. Autoimmunity risk alleles: hotspots in B cell regulatory signaling pathways. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123:1928–31. doi:10.1172/JCI69289
- Nadler MJ, Chen B, Anderson JS, Wortis HH, Neel BG. Protein-tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 is dispensable for FcgammaRIIB-mediated inhibition of B cell antigen receptor activation. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272:20038–43. doi:10.1074/ jbc.272.32.20038
- Ono M, Okada H, Bolland S, Yanagi S, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. Deletion of SHIP or SHP-1 reveals two distinct pathways for inhibitory signaling. *Cell* (1997) 90:293–301. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80337-2
- D'Ambrosio DH, Hippen KL, Minskoff SA, Mellman I, Pani G, Siminovitch KA, et al. Recruitment and activation of PTP1C in negative regulation of antigen receptor signaling by Fc gamma RIIB1. *Science* (1995) 268:293–7. doi:10.1126/ science.7716523
- Alsadeq A, Hobeika E, Medgyesi D, Klasener K, Reth M. The role of the Syk/ Shp-1 kinase-phosphatase equilibrium in B cell development and signaling. *J Immunol* (2014) 193:268–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203040
- 62. Getahun A, Beavers NA, Larson SR, Shlomchik MJ, Cambier JC. Continuous inhibitory signaling by both SHP-1 and SHIP-1 pathways is required to

maintain unresponsiveness of anergic B cells. J Exp Med (2016) 213:751–69. doi:10.1084/jem.20150537

- Pao LI, Lam KP, Henderson JM, Kutok JL, Alimzhanov M, Nitschke L, et al. B cell-specific deletion of protein-tyrosine phosphatase Shp1 promotes B-1a cell development and causes systemic autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2007) 27:35–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.04.016
- Christophi GP, Hudson CA, Gruber RC, Christophi CP, Mihai C, Mejico LJ, et al. SHP-1 deficiency and increased inflammatory gene expression in PBMCs of multiple sclerosis patients. *Lab Invest* (2008) 88:243–55. doi:10.1038/ labinvest.3700720
- 65. Deng C, Minguela A, Hussain RZ, Lovett-Racke AE, Radu C, Ward ES, et al. Expression of the tyrosine phosphatase SRC homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1 determines T cell activation threshold and severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:4511–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.9.4511
- Massa PT, Ropka SL, Saha S, Fecenko KL, Beuler KL. Critical role for protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 in controlling infection of central nervous system glia and demyelination by Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus. *J Virol* (2002) 76:8335–46. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.16.8335-8346.2002
- Ali K, Bilancio A, Thomas M, Pearce W, Gilfillan AM, Tkaczyk C, et al. Essential role for the p110delta phosphoinositide 3-kinase in the allergic response. *Nature* (2004) 431:1007–11. doi:10.1038/nature02991
- Okkenhaug K, Bilancio A, Farjot G, Priddle H, Sancho S, Peskett E, et al. Impaired B and T cell antigen receptor signaling in p110delta PI 3-kinase mutant mice. *Science* (2002) 297:1031–4. doi:10.1126/science.1073560
- Maxwell MJ, Duan M, Armes JE, Anderson GP, Tarlinton DM, Hibbs ML. Genetic segregation of inflammatory lung disease and autoimmune disease severity in SHIP-1-/- mice. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:7164–75. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1004185
- 70. Stagakis E, Bertsias G, Verginis P, Nakou M, Hatziapostolou M, Kritikos H, et al. Identification of novel microRNA signatures linked to human lupus disease activity and pathogenesis: miR-21 regulates aberrant T cell responses through regulation of PDCD4 expression. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) 70:1496–506. doi:10.1136/ard.2010.139857
- Carlton VE, Hu X, Chokkalingam AP, Schrodi SJ, Brandon R, Alexander HC, et al. PTPN22 genetic variation: evidence for multiple variants associated with rheumatoid arthritis. *Am J Hum Genet* (2005) 77:567–81. doi:10.1086/468189
- Cloutier JF, Veillette A. Cooperative inhibition of T-cell antigen receptor signaling by a complex between a kinase and a phosphatase. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189:111–21. doi:10.1084/jem.189.1.111
- Rhee I, Veillette A. Protein tyrosine phosphatases in lymphocyte activation and autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:439–47. doi:10.1038/ni.2246
- Liston A, Lesage S, Gray DH, Boyd RL, Goodnow CC. Genetic lesions in T-cell tolerance and thresholds for autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev* (2005) 204:87–101. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00253.x
- Dai X, James RG, Habib T, Singh S, Jackson S, Khim S, et al. A diseaseassociated PTPN22 variant promotes systemic autoimmunity in murine models. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:2024–36. doi:10.1172/JCI66963
- Franks SE, Getahun A, Hogarth PM, Cambier JC. Targeting B cells in treatment of autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2016) 43:39–45. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2016.09.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Franks and Cambier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Nuclear Factor-kappaB in Autoimmunity: Man and Mouse

Bahar Miraghazadeh^{1,2} and Matthew C. Cook^{1,2,3*}

¹ Centre for Personalised Immunology, John Curtin School of Medical Research, Australian National University, Acton, ACT, Australia, ² Translational Research Unit, Canberra Hospital, Acton, ACT, Australia, ³ Department of Immunology, Canberra Hospital, Acton, ACT, Australia

NF- κ B (nuclear factor-kappa B) is a transcription complex crucial for host defense mediated by innate and adaptive immunity, where canonical NF- κ B signaling, mediated by nuclear translocation of ReIA, c-ReI, and p50, is important for immune cell activation, differentiation, and survival. Non-canonical signaling mediated by nuclear translocation of p52 and ReIB contributes to lymphocyte maturation and survival and is also crucial for lymphoid organogenesis. We outline NF- κ B signaling and regulation, then summarize important molecular contributions of NF- κ B to mechanisms of self-tolerance. We relate these mechanisms to autoimmune phenotypes described in what is now a substantial catalog of immune defects conferred by mutations in NF- κ B pathways in mouse models. Finally, we describe Mendelian autoimmune syndromes arising from human NF- κ B mutations, and speculate on implications for understanding sporadic autoimmune disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Andrew S. Day, University of Otago, New Zealand Lorraine Ann O'Reilly, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia

*Correspondence:

Matthew C. Cook matthew.cook@anu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 December 2017 Accepted: 12 March 2018 Published: 09 April 2018

Citation:

Miraghazadeh B and Cook MC (2018) Nuclear Factor-kappaB in Autoimmunity: Man and Mouse. Front. Immunol. 9:613. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00613 Keywords: NF-kB, autoimmunity, self-tolerance, thymic development, mutation

INTRODUCTION

NF- κ B is family of proteins that mediate transcriptional regulation crucial to many biological functions (1). NF- κ B was discovered and named for its action in regulating κ light chain expression in B cells. Remarkably, however, as elucidation of *Drosophila* immunity has demonstrated, NF- κ B and its orthologs are highly conserved regulators of signaling and transcription crucial for cellular and humoral host defense even in organisms that lack adaptive immunity (2). In mammals, the actions of NF- κ B are complex and extensive, and encompass activation, proliferation in cells of the innate and adaptive immune system, and organogenesis of lymphoid tissue and its microarchitecture (3–5).

Under normal circumstances, NF- κ B proteins are latent in the cytoplasm, poised for rapid responses after their inhibition is temporarily removed. Uninhibited NF- κ B molecules then shuttle between nucleus and cytoplasm as transcriptionally active homo- and heterodimers (**Figure 1**). In addition to this fundamental inhibitory constraint, many other negative regulatory loops exist to either prevent, dampen, or terminate NF- κ B signaling, including sequestration in multi-molecular

Abbreviations: Aire, autoimmune regulator; BAFFR, regulation of B cell activating factor receptor; BIM, Bcl-2-interacting mediator; CBM, CARD/BCL-10/MALT1 complex; cTEC, cortical thymic epithelial cell; DC, dendritic cell; DUB, deubiquitinase; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; ENU, *N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrosourea; Ep-CAM, epithelial cellular adhesion molecule; GC, germinal center; IκB, inhibitor of kappa B; IKK, inhibitor of kappa B kinase; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; mTEC, medullary thymic epithelial cell; MZ, marginal zone; NEMO, NF-κB essential modulator; NF-κB, nuclear factor kappa-lightchain-enhancer of activated B cells; NIK, NF-κB-inducing kinase; nTreg, natural regulatory T cell; RANK, receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B; TAD, transactivation domain; Tconv, Conventional T cell; Treg, regulatory T cell; TSA, tissue specific antigens; UEA-1, *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin 1.

complexes, posttranscriptional regulation, and posttranslational modifications of proteins by phosphorylation and ubiquitination (of various forms). Furthermore, many components of NF- κ B, including both positive and negative regulators, are under transcriptional regulation by NF- κ B itself.

Despite this complex regulatory network, specific defects in individual molecules within the NF- κ B pathway have been shown to disrupt cellular homeostasis, and immune pathology is an important consequence (1, 6). In this review, we will concentrate on how NF- κ B contributes to immunological self-tolerance, and how defects in NF- κ B contribute to autoimmune disease. Defects in NF- κ B have also been shown to cause immune deficiency and autoinflammatory diseases, and somatic mutations are frequent drivers of lymphoid malignancy, for which authoritative reviews are available (7, 8). As will be discussed here, however, it is notable that in some cases, a single mutation confers both autoimmunity and immune deficiency, reflecting the complex regulatory actions of NF- κ B.

OUTLINE OF NORMAL NF-κB SIGNALING

The NF- κ B family of transcription factors form hetero- and homodimers that regulate transcription by binding to a palindromic DNA sequence, κ B (1), located within promoters and enhancers of a large number of genes (9, 10). In vertebrates, there are five NF- κ B family members, RelA, c-rel, RelB, NF- κ B1, and NF- κ B2. N-terminal Rel-homology domains (RHD, from v-Rel, reticuloendotheliosis viral oncogene homolog) are common to all and mediate κ B binding and interactions with other proteins, including inhibitor of kappa B (I κ B) (see below) (10–12).

NF-κB proteins are classified in two groups according to structure and function. p105 (NF-κB1) and p100 (NF-κB2) are precursor proteins that undergo partial proteolysis to remove their C-terminal ankyrin repeats, yielding p50 and p52, respectively. p50 and p52 lack transactivation domains (TAD) unless heterodimerized with Rel or coactivator non-Rel proteins (13). By contrast, RelA (p65), RelB, and c-Rel are active in the absence



FIGURE 1 | Activation of canonical and non-canonical NF- κ B signaling pathways through membrane-bound extracellular ligands. TNFR and toll-like receptor (TLR) family members, as well as antigen receptors activate the canonical pathway; and regulation of B cell activating factor receptor (BAFFR), CD40, OX40, LT β R, and receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B (RANK) activate the non-canonical pathway. Triggering of canonical pathway results in activation of p50/p65 (RelA), while the non-canonical pathway signaling leads to activation of p52/RelB complexes. Both pathways require phosphorylation and activation of inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK) subunit(s) in order to release NF- κ B molecules that are sequestered by an inhibitor, e.g., I κ B α or p100. Phosphorylation and ubiquitination of the inhibitors by IKKs release NF- κ B that translocate into nucleus in the forms of homodimers or heterodimers complexes and bind to the κ B site of their target genes.

of proteolysis because they contain TAD that positively regulate expression of target genes (14, 15).

Differences in transcriptional activity of NF-KB dimers helps explain the plasticity of responses to both quantitative and qualitative variation in cell stimulation (16). p50/65 heterodimers are near ubiquitous, and positively regulate NF-KB target genes (10). By contrast p50 homodimers repress TNF- α transcription in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (17-19). Homodimers of p50 are abundant in resting T cells, but their expression is reduced after antigenic receptor ligation (20), when p50/p65 become abundant in cell nuclei, reversing the NF-kB-dependent suppression of the target genes, i.e., IL-2 or IL-6 and iNOS in response to LPS (21). RelB does not homodimerise, but confers transcriptional activity when complexed with p52 or p50 (22). RelB constitutively localizes to the nucleus, but binding may be inhibited by association with p100 (23-25). Under some circumstances, RelB represses NF-kB activity by forming RelA/ RelB heterodimers that fail to bind DNA and sequesters RelA (9, 26, 27). Similarly to RelB, c-Rel is expressed in lymphoid tissues, and both c-Rel homodimers and c-Rel/p50 heterodimers are detected predominantly in hematopoietic cells. c-Rel homodimers and c-Rel/p65 are essential for B and T cells survival and effector cell function (28-30).

ACTIVATION OF NF-κB IN IMMUNITY

In the absence of specific signals, NF-kB is maintained in latent form bound to IkB in the cytoplasm. The IkB family includes ΙκΒα, ΙκΒβ, ΙκΒε, BCL-3, ΙκΒζ, ΙκBNS, as well as unprocessed p100 and p105, which are all characterized by multiple ankyrin repeats (31). In addition to their IkB function, so-called atypical IκBs (IκBζ, IκB-NS, and Bcl-3) have intrinsic nuclear localization propensity where they bind preferentially to p50 (Bcl-3, $I\kappa B\zeta$) and p52 (Bcl-3), which under different conditions can either promote or terminate NF-KB binding to DNA (32, 33). This mechanism has been well characterized for Bcl-3, which has a TAD and can act as a coactivator when associated with p50 or p52 homodimers (34, 35), or by facilitating replacement of transcriptionally inactive p50 homodimers with transcriptionally active heterodimers (36, 37). On the other hand, Bcl-3 can also function as a repressor by stabilizing p50 homodimers on kB site of the target genes. For example, Bcl-3 has been reported to mediate LPS tolerance in macrophages by stabilizing p50 homodimer on the TNF promoter (38-40).

NF-κB members are liberated by the action of the IκB kinase complex [IKKα, IKKβ and NF-κB essential modulator (NEMO), encoded by *IKBKA*, *IKBKB* and *IKBKG*], which leads to temporary degradation of IκBs (**Figure 1**). IKKγ (NEMO) is a regulatory subunit that does not have intrinsic catalytic activity but is important for kinase activation of IKKα and IKKβ (41). IKKα and IKKβ are serine/threonine kinases that share an N-terminal kinase domain and are responsible for phosphorylating several members of the IκB family (42, 43). Serine phosphorylation of IKKα and IKKβ [serines 177 and 181 for IKKβ; serines 176 and 180 for IKKα (44, 45)] results in conformational change and kinase activation. Activated IKKβ operates within the inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK) complex to phosphorylate IκBα, leading to K48-linked ubiquitination and proteosomal degradation, which releases NF- κ B factors for nuclear translocation (46, 47). Loss of IKK β results in significant reduction of NF- κ B activity in response to TNF- α and IL-1 α , a defect that cannot be completely compensated for by IKK α . As result, *Ikbkb* deficiency confers a mouse phenotype similar to *Rela* deficiency (48, 49) (**Table 1**).

CANONICAL PATHWAY STIMULI

The canonical NF-KB pathway includes NFKB1 (p105), RelA (p65), and c-Rel and is activated by many ligands, including those that engage members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, toll-like receptors (TLR), interleukin 1 receptor, and T and B cell antigen receptors (Figure 1). Different receptorproximal signaling cascades connect these receptors to the IKK complex. TLR ligation activates a complex composed of TAK1, TAB 1, TAB 2, which phosphorylates IKKβ (106, 107). Activation of TNF receptor leads to interaction of series of adaptor proteins that contains TRAF-binding domains (108, 109). TRAF2 recruits the E3 ubiquitin ligases, cIAP1/2, which are necessary for IKK activation via recruitment of linear ubiquitination assembly complex (LUBAC) (directly) and TAK1 (indirectly) (110, 111). Ligation of B and T cell antigen receptors leads to phosphorylation of CARD11 by protein kinase C and assembly of the CARD/ BCL-10/MALT1 (CBM) complex.

MODIFICATION OF CANONICAL SIGNALING

Posttranslational regulation by ubiquitination is crucial for NF-κB regulation. A series of ubiquitinating and deubiquitinating enzymes are known that both activate and modify NF-κB transcriptional regulation (112). The best characterized negative regulators of NF-κB are deubiquitinase (DUB) A20 (encoded by *TNFAIP3*), CYLD, and OTULIN (113–116).

TNFAIP3 is upregulated in response to TNF receptor and TLR ligation, and A20 negatively controls NF-kB-dependent gene expression (Figure 1) (117). A20 removes or modifies K63 polyubiquitin from several substrates within NF-kB signaling, including TRAF6, NEMO, MALT1, and TNFR1 (118-120). In addition to its deubiquitin domain in the N-terminus, A20 also contains seven zinc finger domains in the C-terminus with E3 ligase functions, enabling ubiquitin-editing. Thus, A20 replaces K63- with K48-polyubiquitin chains of RIPK1, flagging it for proteasomal degradation (99, 113). The importance of A20 in modifying NF-kB activity and immune responses was confirmed in A20-deficient mice that developed profound inflammation and cachexia, and died prematurely (117) (Table 1), and cell-specific deletion of A20 in myeloid cells, dendritic cells (DCs) or B cells, results in autoimmune phenotypes including polyarthritis and enteritis (Table 1) (121-124). Loss of catalytic activity might not account for this pro-inflammatory action, however, as specific introduction of a deubiquitination domain inactivating mutation resulted in a much less prominent inflammatory phenotype (125).

 $NF{\cdot}\kappa B$ is also modified by addition of methionine (M)1-linked linear ubiquitin chains by the LUBAC that consists of

TABLE 1 | Summary of autoimmune phenotypes in mice with genetic manipulation of NF- κ B.

Gene	Protein	Mutation	B cell phenotype	Regulatory T cell (Treg) phenotype	Autoimmunity or inflammation	Reference
Map3k7	TAK1	Conditional deletion (T cell)		Treg deficient	Severe late colitis	(50)
		Conditional deletion (Tregs)		Peripheral Treg deficient	Mild autoimmunity, splenomegaly and lymphadenopathy, renal hemorrhage	(51)
		Deletion	Reduced B cells	Reduced T cells	Liver failure, ascites, jaundice	(52)
Card11	CARD11	L298Q [N-ethyl-N- nitrosourea (ENU)]	Absent B1 cells, abnormal B cell maturation, defective B cell responses	Treg deficient	Dermatitis with mast cell and eosinophil infiltrates. Concomitant defect in Tregs and conventional T cells	(53, 54)
		L525Q (ENU)	B1 cell deficiency, impaired B cell proliferation	Thymic Treg deficiency, reduced peripheral Tregs	Late onset dermatitis	(55)
		Deletion		Natural regulatory T cell deficiency, Treg precursor deficiency	No autoimmune due to concomitant defect in T cell function	(56)
Malt1	MALT1	C472A	Impaired B1 and marginal zone (MZ) B cells development	Defect in thymic Tregs with reduction in peripheral Tregs	Spontaneous autoimmune gastritis	(57)
		Deletion	Impaired follicular, B1, and MZ B cells development	Defect in thymic Tregs with reduced peripheral Tregs	Resistance to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)	(58–60)
Bcl10	Bcl-10	Deletion	Defect in follicular, B1, and MZ B cell	Treg deficiency	Increased susceptibility to bacterial sepsis	(61–63)
lkbka	ΙΚΚα	Conditional deletion (CD4)		Treg reduction	Increased susceptibility to colitis	(64)
		Deletion			Severe skin and skeletal abnormalities	(65, 66)
lkbkb	ΙΚΚβ	Conditional deletion (T cell)	Defect in memory B cells and reduced germinal center (GC) B cells	Treg deficient	No autoimmunity or inflammation	
lkbkg	IKKY	Conditional deletion		Treg deficiency	Skin inflammation, epidermal granulocytic infiltration, liver apoptosis	
Map3k14	NF-ĸB- inducing kinase	G855R (aly)	Reduced B cells, defective GC formation	Treg deficiency	Spontaneous inflammation	(69–72)
		Deletion		Treg deficiency	Multi-organ inflammation	(73)
Nfkbia	ΙΚΒα	Conditional altered ĸB enhancer		Defect in T cell development and activation; low naive T cell, high memory T cells; Treg defect independent of IKBa-mediated feedback regulation of NF-ĸB	Sjogren's syndrome	(74)
		Deletion			Anemia; thymic atrophy; small spleen and liver	(75)
Nfkb1	p50	Deletion	Defect in terminal B cell differentiation, mature B cell apoptosis, reduced transitional and MZ B cells		Sepsis in response to selective pathogens; chronic inflammation; premature aging and premature death	(76–80)
		Deletion	Defect in T1 to T2 transition, and in MZ B cells; reduced GC B cells in young mice, absent GC structure		Lymphoproliferative disease and multi-organ autoimmunity	(81)
Nfkb2	p52	Deletion	Defect in follicular MZ and MZ B cells; impaired GC formation			(82, 83)

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 1	Continued

Gene	Protein	Mutation	B cell phenotype	Regulatory T cell (Treg) phenotype	Autoimmunity or inflammation	Reference
Rela	RelA	Conditional deletion (Treg)		Reduced Treg precursors, decreased Tregs with impaired function	Severe multi-organ inflammation, lymphoproliferation	(84, 85)
Relb	RelB	Deletion	Defect GC formation	Mild T cell depletion in spleen and lymph nodes	Multi-organ inflammation	(86, 87)
Rel	c-Rel	Conditional deletion (Treg)		Reduced Treg precursors, decreased Tregs with impaired function	Late onset mild inflammation	(85, 88)
		Deletion	Defect B cell proliferation	Defect T cell proliferation		(28)
Bcl-3	Bcl-3	Conditional deletion (T cell)		Impaired Th1 differentiation, fewer pathogenic Th17-like cells	Resistance to colitis and EAE	(89)
		Deletion	Increased MZ B cells, reduced follicular transitional B cells, defect GC formation		Susceptibility to T. gondii, multi-organ inflammation	(90, 91)
Nfkbid	IKBNS	Deletion		Treg deficiency	Resistance to Th17-dependent EAE	(92, 93)
Nfkbiz	IKB₹	Deletion		No effect on Treg, Impaired CD4 T cells and Th17 development	Resistance to TNF α - IL-17A- inducible psoriasis like skin inflammation, atopic dermatitis, resistance to EAE	(94, 95) (96)
Otulin	OTULIN	Conditional deletion (myeloid)	B cell hyperactivity		Autoimmunity, multi-organ inflammation	(97)
		Conditional deletion (immune cells)			Multi-organ inflammation	(97)
Tnfaip3	A20	Conditional deletion (B cells)	Increased B cell proliferation and activation, defect MZ B and B1 cells differentiation	Treg expansion	Autoimmunity	(98)
		Conditional deletion (dendrite cells)	Increased B cell activation and differentiation	Increased T cell activation and expansion	SLE-like phenotype; IBD-like phenotype	(99, 100)
Cyld	CYLD	Deletion	Increased MZ B cells in aged mice	Defect T cell development, hyper responsive to anti-CD3, -CD28	Spontaneous intestinal inflammation	(101–103)
		CYLD ^{x7/8} naturally overexpressed	Increased mature B cell, enhanced B cells survival	Enhanced Treg, defect Treg function and survival	Large spleen and lymph nodes	(104, 105)

HOIL-1L (RBCK1), HOIP (RNF31), and SHARPIN (112). LUBAC promotes canonical signaling in part through direct binding of the E3 ligase activity of the ring domains of HOIP to drive linear ubiquitination of NEMO and RIP1 (126), which promotes IKKß phosphorylation and activation through TAK1 (107, 127, 128). CYLD modifies canonical signaling by removing K63 and M1-polyubiquitin chains from NF-κB signaling proteins, including TRAF2, TRADD, NEMO, and TAK1 (Figure 1). CYLD appears to be particularly important in promoting necroptosis via RIPK1. CYLD deficiency results in several non-immunological phenotypes, but also inflammatory bowel disease, defects in thymic medullary epithelial cells (see below), and increased B cell activity (Table 1) (105, 129). OTULIN specifically hydrolyzes M1-polyubiquitins. In mice, germline deficiency of Otulin is lethal, but conditional myeloid deficiency results in profound sterile inflammation (Table 1) (97). Interestingly, after caspasemediated cleavage during apoptosis, the N-terminal fragment of HOIP also binds to the DUBs OTULIN and CYLD, which are down-regulators of LUBAC-mediated ubiquitination, providing a further regulatory feedback loop (130).

NON-CANONICAL SIGNALING

NFκB2 (p100) and RelB participate in the non-canonical NF-κB pathway (**Figure 1**). Unlike the canonical pathway, which is poised for rapid response, the non-canonical pathway depends on constant protein synthesis (131). This might explain the preferential action of the non-canonical pathway in cellular homeostasis and organogenesis, whereas the canonical pathway mediates acute inflammatory responses and immune activation.

Non-canonical NF- κ B activation is stimulated by a relatively small number of ligands, including lymphotoxin, CD40, B cell activating factor (BAFF), and receptor activator of NF- κ B (RANK). In resting cells, TRAF2 mediates ubiquitination of NF- κ B-inducing kinase (NIK) in association with TRAF3 and cIAP1/2. NIK is maintained in limiting concentrations by rapid degradation after phosphorylation by TRAF6, but after receptor ligation, TRAF2-induced proteolysis and degradation of TRAF3 and TRAF6 leads to NIK accumulation, which phosphorylates IKK α (132, 133). pIKK α is crucial for phosphorylation of p100, leading to proteosomal processing to p52 (134–140).

Non-canonical signaling activates complex regulatory loops because p100 exerts IkB activity by associating with p52, p65 (RelA), c-Rel, and RelB. Interestingly, and by contrast with the IkB activity of the canonical counterpart p105, p52 is formed from recently synthesized p100. Elegant experiments have revealed that the balance between p100 activation and NIK degradation is maintained within a kappaBsome, which is a complex of NIK-IKKα-p100 and RelB. Almost all p100 is maintained within the kappaBsome, since free cytoplasmic p100 undergoes complete degradation, whereas processing from within the kappaBsome yields p52 (141). RelB promotes formation of the kappaBsome, and competes with IKKα-NIK complexes to inhibit p100 activation and processing. In addition to promoting p100 processing, IKKα serves to limit activity and abundance of NIK within the complex, and p100 inhibits NIK degradation. RelB dimerizes with both p52 and p100 in the complex to permit the proper processing of p100. In the absence of RelB, p100 undergoes complete degradation (141, 142).

TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION BY NF-κB

NF-κB lacks the enzymatic activity to directly regulate transcriptional responses, and this is achieved through binding to transcriptional co-regulators including histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs). For instance, acetylation of p65 at different lysines by HATs (and the associated binding proteins) promotes its activity, while the co-repressor, HDACs, can deacetylate important sites on p65 and reverse the effect (143). NF-κB recruit these co-regulators to the enhancer region of the target genes, leading to conformational changes in chromatin to make genes accessible for transcriptional machinery (143–145).

Binding to HATs is also controlled partially by posttranscriptional modifications (PTMs). For example, kinases including PKA, MSK1, and MSK2 phosphorylate p65 at Serine 276, which is crucial for the interaction of p65 with HATs (21, 26, 146, 147). Interestingly, this amino acid substitution only affects expression of a subset of the genes, which suggests other PTMs might contribute to p65-dependent chromatin remodeling (148). One example is Akirin2, which binds to HATs and IkBζ and facilitates recruitment of other co-regulators to p50 (149).

NF-κB AND SELF-TOLERANCE

Canonical and non-canonical NF- κ B pathways are crucial for T and B cell activation, regulation of inflammatory effector responses, antigen presentation and regulation of tissue-specific cellular targets of immunity. We will concentrate our attention on mechanisms that regulate lymphocyte self-tolerance, since these are most relevant to autoimmunity. These actions can be divided into those that act intrinsically within lymphocytes, and those that are mediated by lymphocyte extrinsic actions, particularly for thymic selection.

THYMIC DEVELOPMENT

The thymus is derived from the endoderm of the third pharyngeal pouch. Mature thymic epithelium is made up of cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTEC) and medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTEC). Unlike other epithelia, thymic epithelium lacks apical polarity, and cells are dispersed in a three-dimensional reticular meshwork (150). The two best understood mechanisms of central T cell tolerance are negative selection of self-reactive conventional T cells (Tconv), and selection of mTECs, and expression of autoimmune regulator (Aire), which in turn regulates expression of tissue specific antigens (TSA) (151–153).

Both mTECs and cTECs have been postulated to arise from CD205⁺ β 5t⁺ and CD45⁻ bipotential precursors (154). SSEA-1⁺ Claudin3/4⁺ expression identifies a self-renewing population of CD80^{lo} MHCII^{lo} mTEC precursors (155), which exhibit some epithelial stem cells characteristics. cTECs are characterized by

epithelial cellular adhesion molecule (Ep-CAM) β 5t, CD205, and Ly51 expression (156). Mature mTECs are UAE-1⁺ Ly51⁻, MHCII^{hi}, CD80^{hi}, CD40⁺, and express Aire. mTECs are responsible for maintenance of T cell tolerance *via* negative selection of $\alpha\beta$ T cells (157, 158), and positive selection of FOXP3⁺ Tregs, by virtue of promiscuous expression of tissue specific antigens (TSA) (154, 159, 160). Terminally differentiated mTECs (which form Hassall's corpuscles) are marked by loss of AIRE, MHCII, and CD80, acquisition of desmogleins 1 and 3, and of involucrin, a global marker of epithelial terminal differentiation (161).

NF-KB AND DEVELOPMENT OF THYMIC EPITHELIUM

Thymus development depends on an unusual hematopoieticepithelial interplay between epithelial cell precursors and nascent lymphocytes (162). Interestingly, lymphocytes exert a similar influence on development of the specialized epithelium overlaying Peyer's patches (M cells) (163). In both thymus and Peyer's patches, epithelial development is at least partially dependent on NF- κ B activation by RANKL and other ligands, delivered by lymphocytes (164–166). Selection of developing T cells depends on lymphocyte–epithelial interactions within the thymus, and interactions between immature T cells and thymic epithelium regulates T cell development by negative selection of self-reactive Tconv, and positive selection of regulatory Tregs (157, 161, 167).

Signaling via the non-canonical NF-KB pathway appears to regulatemTEC maturation and the size of themTEC compartment, but not necessarily specification of the mTEC lineage. This action hinges on NF-KB activation by ligation of TNF receptor superfamily members RANK, CD40, and LTβR (86, 166, 168). Single positive thymocytes, yo T cells, invariant NK cells, and lymphoid tissue inducer cells are all sources of RANKL and CD40L (165, 166). Fate-mapping studies have provided more information on the sequential actions of non-canonical stimuli for development and maintenance of mTECs. Thus, RANK operates after mTEC precursors have differentiated and coincides with onset of RelB expression (169). RelB appears to act cell-intrinsically to determine mTEC numbers (86, 168), while RelB expression mediates the non-canonical pathway, it is also modified by RelA and c-Rel, and therefore, mTEC development can be influenced by canonical NF-KB signaling (170). Late mTEC differentiation is also disrupted by altered CYLD function, suggesting that regulation of RANK signaling via TRAF6 deubiqutination might be important during late mTEC development (171), possibly by regulating RelB induction by the canonical NF-kB pathway.

As well as RelB deficiency, deficiencies of NIK, IKK α , LT β R, NF- κ B2 (p100), and Bcl-3 result in mTEC deficiencies of varying severity (172–174). Interestingly, the thymic defect observed with *Nfkb2* deficiency is less marked than that observed with *Relb* deficiency (175). mTEC-specific deletion of LT β R results in disordered thymic architecture, but not altered negative selection, although negative selection is defective when LT β R is deleted from thymic DCs (159). Indeed, distinguishing the actions of defects in mTECs from those in DCs requires construction of chimeras in which the mutation is confined to either hematopoietic or

stromal compartments, which has not yet been performed for all mutations.

Bcl-3 action appears to be redundant with NF-κB2 for mTEC development (176). Thus, mice doubly deficient for *Bcl3* and *Nfkb2* lack mTECs, thymic Aire expression, and some thymic DCs, and they develop severe organ-specific autoimmunity. NIK is crucial for non-canonical NF-κB activation, but the mechanism of Bcl-3 is less obvious. While Bcl-3 is an atypical IκB, it does not regulate RelA or c-Rel. Uncertainties regarding the mechanism of Bcl-3 notwithstanding, there is solid empirical evidence for a crucial cell-intrinsic action of non-canonical signaling for maintaining mTECs, and for central T cell tolerance. In addition, several findings suggest that these actions are modified by regulation of RelB expression and activation *via* the canonical pathway.

NF-κB DEFECTS CONFER SUSCEPTIBILITY TO TISSUE-SPECIFIC AUTOIMMUNITY

Deficiency of Aire leads to widespread tissue-specific inflammation in man and mouse as a result of impaired expression of TSA by mTECs (158, 177, 178). This discovery represented a landmark in autoimmunity research, providing empirical evidence that negative selection mediated by antigen expression in mTECs is a bulwark against autoimmune disease (160). NF-kB signaling is important for Aire expression independently of mTEC development and homeostasis. The conserved noncoding sequence 1 (CNS1) located 3' to the Aire transcription start site is an Aire enhancer, and contains two NF-kB-binding motifs, one with a preference for RelA and c-Rel, and the other for RelB (179, 180). There is compelling evidence for the interaction of RelA with CNS1, implicating the canonical NF-KB pathway in Aire expression. CD40 and RANK ligation appears to be important for Aire induction by NF-kB, whereas Aire expression is independent of $LT\beta R$ (181).

More recently, FEZF2 was also identified as a transcriptional regulator of TSA expression in mTECs. NF- κ B has been implicated in *Fezf2* expression, although the relative importance of LT β R and RANKL remains controversial (159, 182). *Fezf2* deficiency results in a pattern of organ-specific autoimmunity targeted at lung, kidney, liver, and intestine, but not retina or pancreas, which is observed in Aire deficiency (182). PRDM1 is the most recent addition to transcriptional regulators of TSA in mTECs, and while the regulation of expression PRDM1 in mTECs is unclear, it is known to be induced by RANKL-mediated NF- κ B signaling in other tissues (183, 184).

As might be predicted from its crucial action on mTECs, *Relb* deficiency results in multi-organ inflammation, indicating that non-canonical signaling acting to regulate mTEC development is crucial for maintaining self-tolerance and prevention of organ-specific autoimmunity (86, 168). The autoimmune phenotypes of *Relb* mutants and related strains are summarized in **Table 1**. The severity of the autoimmune phenotype conferred by *Relb* deficiency may reflect its importance not only for mTEC development but also on Aire expression. Mice deficient in NIK (*Map3k14^{-/-}*) also develop autoimmunity, providing additional

evidence that the non-canonical pathway regulates self-tolerance (70, 71). Similarly, autoimmune phenotypes have been induced by deletion of CD40L, RANKL, or LT β R, the ligands crucial for inducing non-canonical signaling for mTEC maturation and maintenance (166, 185, 186).

Mice rendered deficient in *Nfkb2* also display modest defects in central tolerance and an autoimmune phenotype of inflammatory infiltrates in lungs, liver, kidneys, and pancreas, together with autoantibodies, thus resembling the phenotype of Aire deficiency (175). In this case, reciprocal bone marrow chimeras confirmed the defect was in the radio-resistant stroma, and further analysis revealed a numerical defect in Ep-Cam⁺ (G8.8) and *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin 1⁺ mTECs, a cell-for-cell defect in LT β R-induction of Aire, and a reduction in expression of Aire-dependent TSA. No numerical or functional Treg defect was observed. Interestingly, and by contrast with complete NF- κ B2 deficiency, specific deficiency of p52 conferred only a T-cell dependent antibody response with no overt autoimmune phenotype (83, 187, 188).

NF-_KB AND Treg SELECTION

NF-κB appears to be important for maintaining Treg function *via* mTEC development, thymic dendritic cell development, and T-cell-intrinsic actions (**Table 1**). TCR ligation and co-stimulation, particularly *via* CD28, activates the canonical NF-κB pathway, which appears to be important for FoxP3 induction (189). Engagement of TCR and CD28 activates the CBM complex, *via* the upstream and mediators, TAK1 and PKC0. Deficiency in each of these signaling components alone also results in Treg deficiency (54–56, 190, 191). Activation of the canonical pathway induces c-Rel, which binds the conserved non-coding sequence (CNS)-3 enhancer of FoxP3 to promote its expression (192, 193). Thus, c-Rel deficiency results in a similar Treg deficiency, while Tregs are preserved in the face of p50 deficiency (88). Furthermore, constitutive activation of IKKβ appears to be sufficient to drive Treg development even in the absence of TCR ligation (194).

NF-κB, Treg HOMEOSTASIS AND SUSCEPTIBILITY TO AUTOIMMUNITY

Once selected, ongoing NF- κ B signals appear to be necessary to maintain Tregs and prevent end-organ inflammation. Comparison with Tconv reveals that there is greater accumulation of canonical NF- κ B components in nuclei of Tregs (84). CD28 signals are important for Treg homeostasis in the periphery. Disruption of CD80/86 with CTLA4Ig results in a loss of Tregs (195, 196). T cell-intrinsic defects in the canonical pathway do not, however, always result in autoimmunity or organ-specific inflammation, as Tconv also exhibit a defect in activation.

Resting Tregs are predominantly located in secondary lymphoid organs due to specific chemokine receptor expression, while activated Tregs migrate into sites of inflammation and are characterized by a greater array of suppressive functions, including IL-10, Lag-3, TIGIT, CD73, and PD-1 expression (197). NF-κB also regulates Treg activation. Acquisition of the effector phenotype depends on TCR ligation (198). RelA appears to play a dominant role in maintaining effector Treg function in the periphery. *Rela* (p65) deletion is embryonic lethal, but recent evidence from conditional deficiency indicates that p65 is crucial for maintaining Treg lineage stability and activity (**Table 1**) (84, 85). Treg-specific p65 deficiency confers a multi-organ inflammatory phenotype. c-Rel deficiency confers a less prominent inflammatory phenotype (199). In addition to Treg homeostasis, canonical signaling appears to specify whether Tregs adopt either resting (CD62L^{hi} CD44^{lo}) or activated/effector (CD62L^{lo} CD44^{hi}) phenotypes (200).

NF-κB CONTRIBUTES TO B CELL HOMEOSTASIS AND SELF-TOLERANCE

In mouse models, B cell survival depends on signals *via* BCR and BAFF (201–203), implicating signaling though canonical and non-canonical NF- κ B pathways. Several mechanisms normally operate to eliminate autoreactive B cells (204). In the bone marrow, high affinity ligation by antigen results in receptor internalization, attenuation of NF- κ B-mediated induction of Bcl-2, increased Bcl-2-interacting mediator (BIM), and reduced expression of regulation of B cell activating factor receptor (BAFFR). V(D)J recombination continues by virtue of ongoing RAG1/2 expression resulting in receptor editing but if immature B cells remain autoreactive they undergo clonal deletion. Receptor editing is marked by enhanced canonical signaling (205).

Clonal anergy represents a third mechanism by which autoreactive B cells enter the periphery with diminished capacity for activation. B cell anergy is characterized by reduced BCR expression, which attenuates canonical NF- κ B survival signals and BAFFR expression is reduced, while pro-apoptotic signals such as BIM continue (206). BAFFR signals predominantly through the non-canonical pathway, and enhances B cell survival *via* induction of Bcl-2, PIM2, and PKC δ (207, 208). These actions reduce the risk of activation and survival of autoreactive B cells. BAFF is normally available in limiting amounts, which regulates the size of the transitional B cell compartment, but also regulates survival of autoreactive anergic B cells. Experimental manipulations demonstrate that excessive BAFF production results in improved survival of anergic B cells (206, 209).

RARE GENETIC VARIANTS OF NF- κ B AND HUMAN AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE

Rare single gene disorders provide important evidence to support mechanistic pathways of human disease. Mutations affecting NF- κ B activation, and its proximal signaling pathways, have so far been implicated overwhelmingly in susceptibility to infection (i.e., primary immune deficiency diseases). For the most part, these are loss-of-function mutations arising from homozygous or biallelic mutations. An exception is gain-of-function (GoF) mutations in *NFKBIA* (I κ B α), but since this is the fundamental negative regulator of canonical signaling, GoF reinforces lack of activation and, therefore, results in a clinical and cellular phenotype that resembles LoF mutations in IKK γ and IKK β (210, 211).

Several Mendelian human diseases nevertheless provide evidence that NF- κ B protects against autoimmunity (**Table 2**). In other cases, NF- κ B defects have been shown to cause autoinflammatory diseases, which also result in tissue-specific inflammatory responses, but are distinguished by the absence of evidence for adaptive immune responses to autoantigens.

Syndromes arising from heterozygous mutations in *NFKB1* include autoimmune manifestations of arthritis, lung inflammation, gut inflammation, and immune-mediated thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP). There appears to be considerable clinical and cellular heterogeneity and postulated incomplete penetrance (212). The same mutation can also lead to antibody deficiency (213). Interestingly, as noted above, recent evidence from mouse studies showed that canonical signaling *via* RelA is important for maintaining Tregs in the periphery. Consistent with this, patients with *NFKB1* haploinsufficiency also show a defect in Tregs, with a diminution in effector Tregs (as judged by ICOS expression) (200).

NFKB2 mutations result in a syndrome of antibody deficiency with variable B cell deficiencies (214–216). Patients with *NFKB2* mutations exhibit other clinical features as well, including defects of the anterior pituitary and alopecia. In at least some cases, the alopecia is reversible, consistent with alopecia areata. The fundamental defect in self-tolerance conferred by *NFKB2* mutations is yet to be resolved. Mouse models (outlined above) point to the possibility of a defect in central tolerance, and human *NFKB2* defects have been shown to confer a reduction in circulating Tregs (214). Whether there is a causal association between this observation and end-organ pathology remains to be resolved.

RelB deficiency conferred by a rare homozygous nonsense mutation has been reported in a single patient with severe polyarthritis and inflammatory skin disease, as well as immune deficiency (217). Interestingly, this phenotype was associated with enhanced nuclear p65 translocation, but a defect in T cell activation and thymus biopsy was reported to show a defect in T cell production.

MALT1 and BCL-10 deficiencies both appear to result in an IPEX (immune dysregulation polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked; OMIM 304790)-like syndrome, which was originally identified in young boys with *FOXP3* deficiency and subsequently also observed with heterozygous mutations in *CTLA4* and *IL2RA* (CD25) (222–225). Homozygous *MALT1* mutations result in a phenotype of primary antibody deficiency together with enteropathy and a reduction in Tregs (218). A similar phenotype of enteropathy and Treg deficiency has been observed with *BCL10* deficiency (219). Again, the precise mechanism of action remains to be determined, although as noted above, CBM defects in mice are typically associated with Treg deficiency.

Several patients have been reported with a Mendelian syndromes arising from haploinsufficiency of *TNFAIP3* (220, 221). This autoinflammatory syndrome is reminiscent of Behcet's disease, with manifestations, including aphthous ulceration, inflammatory bowel disease, and neutrophilic dermatoses. Biochemical analysis confirmed increased canonical pathway activation, prolonged nuclear translocation of p65, and enhanced transcription of NF- κ B-dependent genes, including *IL6* and *TNF*. A similar autoinflammatory syndrome of panniculitis and dermatitis has been reported to arise from homozygous loss-offunction *OTULIN* mutations affecting the catalytic *OTU* domain. These mutations result in increased ubiquitination of several NF- κ B proteins, including NEMO and RIPK1 (97).

POLYGENIC AUTOIMMUNITY

The mechanisms explaining sporadic autoimmune disease remain poorly understood. Rare monogenic cases provide clues to pathogenic pathways that become dysregulated in more common versions of the disease, even if in any given individual these cellular and biochemical defects arise from more than one gene defect. Human *AIRE* mutations provide evidence for the importance of promiscuous thymic TSA expression in protecting against organ-specific autoimmune disease (160, 177, 226). Interestingly, autosomal-dominant defects in AIRE have now been reported, raising the possibility of more prevalent single gene causes of autoimmunity (227).

Thymic hyperplasia and thymoma have been associated with some forms of organ-specific autoimmunity, most notably, myasthenia gravis (MG), an autoimmune disease of the muscle endplate. MG is characterized by muscle fatigability and weakness, is often associated with thymic hyperplasia or thymoma, together with defects in CD4⁺ T cell selection and intrathymic cytokine production. Thymectomy is sometimes curative (228). Certain common *AIRE* polymorphisms segregate with MG, particularly in early-onset cases (229).

While plausible, there is no empirical evidence that genetic variants affecting non-canonical NF- κ B signaling segregate with

Gene Protein Inheritar		Inheritance	B cell and Ig phenotype	Regulatory T cell (Treg) phenotype	Autoimmunity or inflammation	Reference	
NFKB1	p102/50	AD	Hypogammaglobulinemia	Reduced effector Tregs	Arthritis, pneumonitis, enteritis, ITP	(200, 212, 213)	
NFKB2	p100/52	AD	Variable B cell deficiency; hypogammaglobulinemia	Reduced	Alopecia	(214–216)	
RELB	RelB	AR	Memory B cell deficiency	ND	Arthritis, dermatitis	(217)	
MALT1	MALT1	AR	Hypogammaglobulinemia	Reduced	Enteritis	(218)	
BCL10	BCL-10	AR	Hypogammaglobulinemia	Reduced	Enteritis	(219)	
TNFAIP3	A20	AD			Enteritis, dermatitis	(220, 221)	
OTULIN	Otulin	AR			Enteritis, dermatitis	(97)	

organ-specific autoimmune disease. The most consistent NF-κB genetic association with autoimmunity is TNFAIP3. Numerous coding and non-coding polymorphisms have been shown to segregate with autoimmune diseases, including lupus and organspecific autoimmune diseases (230-232). Polymorphisms of REL (c-Rel) have been shown to segregate with both psoriatic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis, and altered expression has been noted in other autoimmune diseases (233-236). Common NFKB1 polymorphisms have been shown to segregate with several autoimmune and inflammatory diseases (237-239). More recently, a polymorphism within the NFKB1 locus was shown to segregate with multiple sclerosis. Interestingly, MS patients were found to have increased levels of p65 (RelA) activation, and the disease associated polymorphism was found to be associated with increased expression of BCL-3, TNFAIP3, and CIAP1 (240). This represents important progress toward understanding how common variants in NF-KB might contribute to sporadic and more common autoimmune diseases, via pathways now well understood from investigations of animal models and patients with rare monogenic disease.

CONCLUSION

NF- κB is well established as a regulator of innate and adaptive mechanisms of host defense, and specific genetic defects that confer immune deficiency confirm the importance of these

REFERENCES

- Zhang Q, Lenardo MJ, Baltimore D. 30 Years of NF-κB: a blossoming of relevance to human pathobiology. *Cell* (2017) 168:37–57. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2016.12.012
- Lemaitre B, Hoffmann J. The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. Annu Rev Immunol (2007) 25:697–743. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 25.022106.141615
- Oh H, Ghosh S. NF-κB: roles and regulation in different CD4(+) T-cell subsets. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 252:41–51. doi:10.1111/imr.12033
- Kaileh M, Sen R. NF-кВ function in B lymphocytes. Immunol Rev (2012) 246:254–71. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01106.x
- Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M. Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) 27:693–733. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132641
- Courtois G, Gilmore TD. Mutations in the NF-kappaB signaling pathway: implications for human disease. Oncogene (2006) 25:6831–43. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1209939
- Afonina IS, Zhong Z, Karin M, Beyaert R. Limiting inflammation—the negative regulation of NF-κB and the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18:861–9. doi:10.1038/ni.3772
- Staudt LM. Oncogenic activation of NF-kappaB. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2:a000109. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a000109
- Pahl HL. Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors. Oncogene (1999) 18:6853–66. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203239
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. Signaling to NF-kappaB. Genes Dev (2004) 18:2195– 224. doi:10.1101/gad.1228704
- Baeuerle PA, Baltimore D. NF-kappa B: ten years after. *Cell* (1996) 87:13–20. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81318-5
- Rothwarf DM, Karin M. The NF-kappa B activation pathway: a paradigm in information transfer from membrane to nucleus. *Sci STKE* (1999) 1999:RE1–1. doi:10.1126/stke.1999.5.re1
- Siebenlist U, Franzoso G, Brown K. Structure, regulation and function of NF-kappa B. Annu Rev Cell Biol (1994) 10:405–55. doi:10.1146/annurev.cb. 10.110194.002201

mechanisms. As described here, there is also abundant evidence that NF- κ B is crucial for maintaining immunological tolerance, as a result of its actions during thymic selection, both for negative selection of autoreactive T cells, and selection and maintenance of Tregs. The non-canonical NF- κ B pathway appears to be particularly important for normal mTec function; nevertheless, evidence has also emerged for a significant lymphocyte-intrinsic action of the canonical pathway for maintaining T cell tolerance. Further work is required to accomplish the challenging task of separating the actions of canonical and non-canonical components, cell-intrinsic versus cell extrinsic actions, actions on negative selection versus Treg defects. Finally, it is important to note that since NF- κ B is crucial for Tconv function in the periphery, it is possible that defects in selection may be offset by defects in the Tconv compartment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both the authors contributed to conceptualizing and writing the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NHMRC program grant 1113577, NHMRC project grant 1079648, and NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence grant 1107464.

- Sun S-C, Ley SC. New insights into NF-kappaB regulation and function. Trends Immunol (2008) 29:469–78. doi:10.1016/j.it.2008.07.003
- Heissmeyer V, Krappmann D, Hatada EN, Scheidereit C. Shared pathways of IkappaB kinase-induced SCF(betaTrCP)-mediated ubiquitination and degradation for the NF-kappaB precursor p105 and IkappaBalpha. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:1024–35. doi:10.1128/MCB.21.4.1024-1035.2001
- Saccani S, Pantano S, Natoli G. Modulation of NF-kappaB activity by exchange of dimers. *Mol Cell* (2003) 11:1563–74. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(03) 00227-2
- Plaksin D, Baeuerle PA, Eisenbach L. KBF1 (p50 NF-kappa B homodimer) acts as a repressor of H-2Kb gene expression in metastatic tumor cells. *J Exp Med* (1993) 177:1651–62. doi:10.1084/jem.177.6.1651
- Bohuslav J, Kravchenko VV, Parry GC, Erlich JH, Gerondakis S, Mackman N, et al. Regulation of an essential innate immune response by the p50 subunit of NF-kappaB. J Clin Invest (1998) 102:1645–52. doi:10.1172/JCI3877
- Ledebur HC, Parks TP. Transcriptional regulation of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 gene by inflammatory cytokines in human endothelial cells. Essential roles of a variant NF-kappa B site and p65 homodimers. *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270:933–43. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.2.933
- Kang SM, Tran AC, Grilli M, Lenardo MJ. NF-kappa B subunit regulation in nontransformed CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Science* (1992) 256:1452–6. doi:10.1126/science.1604322
- Zhong H, May MJ, Jimi E, Ghosh S. The phosphorylation status of nuclear NF-kappa B determines its association with CBP/p300 or HDAC-1. *Mol Cell* (2002) 9:625–36. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00477-X
- Ryseck RP, Bull P, Takamiya M, Bours V, Siebenlist U, Dobrzanski P, et al. RelB, a new Rel family transcription activator that can interact with p50-NF-kappa B. *Mol Cell Biol* (1992) 12:674–84. doi:10.1128/MCB.12.2.674
- Dobrzanski P, Ryseck RP, Bravo R. Both N- and C-terminal domains of RelB are required for full transactivation: role of the N-terminal leucine zipper-like motif. *Mol Cell Biol* (1993) 13:1572–82. doi:10.1128/MCB.13. 3.1572
- Yilmaz ZB, Weih DS, Sivakumar V, Weih F. RelB is required for Peyer's patch development: differential regulation of p52-RelB by lymphotoxin and TNF. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:121–30. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg004

- Derudder E, Dejardin E, Pritchard LL, Green DR, Korner M, Baud V. RelB/ p50 dimers are differentially regulated by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and lymphotoxin-beta receptor activation: critical roles for p100. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:23278–84. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300106200
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. NF-κB, the first quarter-century: remarkable progress and outstanding questions. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:203–34. doi:10.1101/ gad.183434.111
- Marienfeld R, May MJ, Berberich I, Serfling E, Ghosh S, Neumann M. RelB forms transcriptionally inactive complexes with RelA/p65. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:19852–60. doi:10.1074/jbc.M301945200
- Köntgen F, Grumont RJ, Strasser A, Metcalf D, Li R, Tarlinton D, et al. Mice lacking the c-rel proto-oncogene exhibit defects in lymphocyte proliferation, humoral immunity, and interleukin-2 expression. *Genes Dev* (1995) 9:1965–77. doi:10.1101/gad.9.16.1965
- Liou HC, Sha WC, Scott ML, Baltimore D. Sequential induction of NF-kappa B/Rel family proteins during B-cell terminal differentiation. *Mol Cell Biol* (1994) 14:5349–59. doi:10.1128/MCB.14.8.5349
- 30. Weih F, Carrasco D, Bravo R. Constitutive and inducible Rel/NF-kappa B activities in mouse thymus and spleen. *Oncogene* (1994) 9:3289–97.
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. Shared principles in NF-kappaB signaling. *Cell* (2008) 132:344–62. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.020
- Yamamoto M, Yamazaki S, Uematsu S, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, et al. Regulation of toll/IL-1-receptor-mediated gene expression by the inducible nuclear protein IkappaBzeta. *Nature* (2004) 430:218–22. doi:10.1038/ nature02738
- Motoyama M, Yamazaki S, Eto-Kimura A, Takeshige K, Muta T. Positive and negative regulation of nuclear factor-kappaB-mediated transcription by IkappaB-zeta, an inducible nuclear protein. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:7444–51. doi:10.1074/jbc.M412738200
- 34. Bours V, Franzoso G, Azarenko V, Park S, Kanno T, Brown K, et al. The oncoprotein Bcl-3 directly transactivates through kappa B motifs via association with DNA-binding p50B homodimers. *Cell* (1993) 72:729–39. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90401-B
- 35. Nolan GP, Fujita T, Bhatia K, Huppi C, Liou HC, Scott ML, et al. The bcl-3 proto-oncogene encodes a nuclear I kappa B-like molecule that preferentially interacts with NF-kappa B p50 and p52 in a phosphorylation-dependent manner. *Mol Cell Biol* (1993) 13:3557–66. doi:10.1128/MCB.13.6.3557
- 36. Franzoso G, Bours V, Azarenko V, Park S, Tomita-Yamaguchi M, Kanno T, et al. The oncoprotein Bcl-3 can facilitate NF-kappa B-mediated transactivation by removing inhibiting p50 homodimers from select kappa B sites. *EMBO J* (1993) 12:3893–901.
- Inoue J, Kerr LD, Kakizuka A, Verma IM. I kappa B gamma, a 70 kd protein identical to the C-terminal half of p110 NF-kappa B: a new member of the I kappa B family. *Cell* (1992) 68:1109–20. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90082-N
- Wessells J, Baer M, Young HA, Claudio E, Brown K, Siebenlist U, et al. BCL-3 and NF-kappaB p50 attenuate lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:49995–50003. doi:10.1074/jbc.M404246200
- Carmody RJ, Ruan Q, Palmer S, Hilliard B, Chen YH. Negative regulation of toll-like receptor signaling by NF-kappaB p50 ubiquitination blockade. *Science* (2007) 317:675–8. doi:10.1126/science.1142953
- 40. Hatada EN, Nieters A, Wulczyn FG, Naumann M, Meyer R, Nucifora G, et al. The ankyrin repeat domains of the NF-kappa B precursor p105 and the protooncogene bcl-3 act as specific inhibitors of NF-kappa B DNA binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89:2489–93. doi:10.1073/pnas. 89.6.2489
- Israël A. The IKK complex, a central regulator of NF-kappaB activation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2:a000158. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a000158
- Zandi E, Rothwarf DM, Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Karin M. The IkappaB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKKalpha and IKKbeta, necessary for IkappaB phosphorylation and NF-kappaB activation. *Cell* (1997) 91:243–52. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80406-7
- Zandi E, Chen Y, Karin M. Direct phosphorylation of IkappaB by IKKalpha and IKKbeta: discrimination between free and NF-kappaB-bound substrate. *Science* (1998) 281:1360–3. doi:10.1126/science.281.5381.1360
- Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Chen Y, Karin M. Positive and negative regulation of IkappaB kinase activity through IKKbeta subunit phosphorylation. *Science* (1999) 284:309–13. doi:10.1126/science.284.5412.309

- Mercurio F, Murray BW, Shevchenko A, Bennett BL, Young DB, Li JW, et al. IkappaB kinase (IKK)-associated protein 1, a common component of the heterogeneous IKK complex. *Mol Cell Biol* (1999) 19:1526–38. doi:10.1128/ MCB.19.2.1526
- Scheidereit C. IkappaB kinase complexes: gateways to NF-kappaB activation and transcription. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:6685–705. doi:10.1038/sj.onc. 1209934
- Häcker H, Karin M. Regulation and function of IKK and IKK-related kinases. Sci STKE (2006) 2006:re13. doi:10.1126/stke.3572006re13
- Tanaka M, Fuentes ME, Yamaguchi K, Durnin MH, Dalrymple SA, Hardy KL, et al. Embryonic lethality, liver degeneration, and impaired NF-kappa B activation in IKK-beta-deficient mice. *Immunity* (1999) 10:421–9. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80042-4
- Li Q, Van Antwerp D, Mercurio F, Lee KF, Verma IM. Severe liver degeneration in mice lacking the IkappaB kinase 2 gene. *Science* (1999) 284:321–5. doi:10.1126/science.284.5412.321
- Sato S, Sanjo H, Tsujimura T, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Yamamoto M, Kawai T, et al. TAK1 is indispensable for development of T cells and prevention of colitis by the generation of regulatory T cells. *Int Immunol* (2006) 18:1405–11. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxl082
- Chang J-H, Hu H, Sun S-C. Survival and maintenance of regulatory T cells require the kinase TAK1. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2015) 12:572–9. doi:10.1038/ cmi.2015.27
- Tang M, Wei X, Guo Y, Breslin P, Zhang S, Zhang S, et al. TAK1 is required for the survival of hematopoietic cells and hepatocytes in mice. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:1611–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20080297
- Jun JE, Wilson LE, Vinuesa CG, Lesage S, Blery M, Miosge LA, et al. Identifying the MAGUK protein carma-1 as a central regulator of humoral immune responses and atopy by genome-wide mouse mutagenesis. *Immunity* (2003) 18:751–62. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00141-9
- Altin JA, Tian L, Liston A, Bertram EM, Goodnow CC, Cook MC. Decreased T-cell receptor signaling through CARD11 differentially compromises forkhead box protein 3-positive regulatory versus T(H)2 effector cells to cause allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2011) 127:1277–85.e5. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2010.12.1081
- 55. Barnes MJ, Krebs P, Eidenschenk C, Arnold CN, Crozat K, Sovath S, et al. Commitment to the regulatory T cell lineage requires CARMA1 in the thymus but not in the periphery. *PLoS Biol* (2009) 7:e51. doi:10.1371/journal. pbio.1000051
- Molinero LL, Yang J, Gajewski T, Abraham C, Farrar MA, Alegre M-L. CARMA1 controls an early checkpoint in the thymic development of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:6736–43. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0900498
- Jaworski M, Marsland BJ, Gehrig J, Held W, Favre S, Luther SA, et al. Malt1 protease inactivation efficiently dampens immune responses but causes spontaneous autoimmunity. *EMBO J* (2014) 33:2765–81. doi:10.15252/ embj.201488987
- Ruefli-Brasse AA, French DM, Dixit VM. Regulation of NF-kappaBdependent lymphocyte activation and development by paracaspase. *Science* (2003) 302:1581–4. doi:10.1126/science.1090769
- Ruland J, Duncan GS, Wakeham A, Mak TW. Differential requirement for Malt1 in T and B cell antigen receptor signaling. *Immunity* (2003) 19:749–58. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00293-0
- Brüstle A, Brenner D, Knobbe-Thomsen CB, Cox M, Lang PA, Lang KS, et al. MALT1 is an intrinsic regulator of regulatory T cells. *Cell Death Differ* (2017) 24:1214–23. doi:10.1038/cdd.2015.104
- Ruland J, Duncan GS, Elia A, del Barco Barrantes I, Nguyen L, Plyte S, et al. Bcl10 is a positive regulator of antigen receptor-induced activation of NF-κ B and neural tube closure. *Cell* (2001) 104:33–42. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00189-1
- 62. Xue L, Morris SW, Orihuela C, Tuomanen E, Cui X, Wen R, et al. Defective development and function of Bcl10-deficient follicular, marginal zone and B1 B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:857. doi:10.1038/ni963
- 63. Schmidt-Supprian M, Tian J, Grant EP, Pasparakis M, Maehr R, Ovaa H, et al. Differential dependence of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory and natural killer-like T cells on signals leading to NF-κB activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2004) 101:4566–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400885101
- 64. Chen X, Willette-Brown J, Wu X, Hu Y, Howard OMZ, Hu Y, et al. IKK α is required for the homeostasis of regulatory T cells and for the expansion

of both regulatory and effector CD4 T cells. FASEB J (2015) 29:443–54. doi:10.1096/fj.14-259564

- Hu Y, Baud V, Delhase M, Zhang P, Deerinck T, Ellisman M, et al. Abnormal morphogenesis but intact IKK activation in mice lacking the IKKalpha subunit of IkappaB kinase. *Science* (1999) 284:316–20. doi:10.1126/science. 284.5412.316
- Takeda K, Takeuchi O, Tsujimura T, Itami S, Adachi O, Kawai T, et al. Limb and skin abnormalities in mice lacking IKKalpha. *Science* (1999) 284:313–6. doi:10.1126/science.284.5412.313
- Schmidt-Supprian M, Courtois G, Tian J, Coyle AJ, Israël A, Rajewsky K, et al. Mature T cells depend on signaling through the IKK complex. *Immunity* (2003) 19:377–89. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00237-1
- Schmidt-Supprian M, Bloch W, Courtois G, Addicks K, Israël A, Rajewsky K, et al. NEMO/IKKγ-deficient mice model incontinentia pigmenti. *Mol Cell* (2000) 5:981–92. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80263-4
- 69. Miyawaki S, Nakamura Y, Suzuka H, Koba M, Yasumizu R, Ikehara S, et al. A new mutation, aly, that induces a generalized lack of lymph nodes accompanied by immunodeficiency in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (1994) 24:429–34. doi:10.1002/eji.1830240224
- Shinkura R, Kitada K, Matsuda F, Tashiro K, Ikuta K, Suzuki M, et al. Alymphoplasia is caused by a point mutation in the mouse gene encoding Nf-kappa b-inducing kinase. *Nat Genet* (1999) 22:74–7. doi:10.1038/ 8780
- Tsubata R, Tsubata T, Hiai H, Shinkura R, Matsumura R, Sumida T, et al. Autoimmune disease of exocrine organs in immunodeficient alymphoplasia mice: a spontaneous model for Sjögren's syndrome. *Eur J Immunol* (1996) 26:2742–8. doi:10.1002/eji.1830261129
- 72. Yamada T, Mitani T, Yorita K, Uchida D, Matsushima A, Iwamasa K, et al. Abnormal immune function of hemopoietic cells from alymphoplasia (aly) mice, a natural strain with mutant NF-κBinducing kinase. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:804–12. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 165.2.804
- Häcker H, Chi L, Rehg JE, Redecke V. NIK prevents the development of hypereosinophilic syndrome-like disease in mice independent of IKKα activation. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:4602–10. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200021
- 74. Peng B, Ling J, Lee AJ, Wang Z, Chang Z, Jin W, et al. Defective feedback regulation of NF-κB underlies Sjögren's syndrome in mice with mutated κB enhancers of the IκBα promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107:15193–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1005533107
- Beg AA, Sha WC, Bronson RT, Baltimore D. Constitutive NF-kappa B activation, enhanced granulopoiesis, and neonatal lethality in I kappa B alphadeficient mice. *Genes Dev* (1995) 9:2736–46. doi:10.1101/gad.9.22.2736
- Sha WC, Liou HC, Tuomanen EI, Baltimore D. Targeted disruption of the p50 subunit of NF-kappa B leads to multifocal defects in immune responses. *Cell* (1995) 80:321–30. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90415-8
- 77. Grumont RJ, Rourke IJ, O'Reilly LA, Strasser A, Miyake K, Sha W, et al. B lymphocytes differentially use the rel and nuclear factor κB1 (NF-κB1) transcription factors to regulate cell cycle progression and apoptosis in quiescent and mitogen-activated cells. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187:663–74. doi:10.1084/ jem.187.5.663
- Cariappa A, Liou H-C, Horwitz BH, Pillai S. Nuclear factor κb is required for the development of marginal zone B lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192:1175–82. doi:10.1084/jem.192.8.1175
- Oakley F, Mann J, Nailard S, Smart DE, Mungalsingh N, Constandinou C, et al. Nuclear factor-κB1 (p50) limits the inflammatory and fibrogenic responses to chronic injury. *Am J Pathol* (2005) 166:695–708. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9440(10)62291-2
- Jurk D, Wilson C, Passos JF, Oakley F, Correia-Melo C, Greaves L, et al. Chronic inflammation induces telomere dysfunction and accelerates ageing in mice. *Nat Commun* (2014) 2:4172. doi:10.1038/ncomms5172
- de Valle E, Grigoriadis G, O'Reilly LA, Willis SN, Maxwell MJ, Corcoran LM, et al. NFκB1 is essential to prevent the development of multiorgan autoimmunity by limiting IL-6 production in follicular B cells. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213:621–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20151182
- Franzoso G, Carlson L, Poljak L, Shores EW, Epstein S, Leonardi A, et al. Mice deficient in nuclear factor (NF)-κB/p52 present with defects in humoral responses, germinal center reactions, and splenic microarchitecture. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187:147–59. doi:10.1084/jem.187.2.147

- Caamaño JH, Rizzo CA, Durham SK, Barton DS, Raventós-Suárez C, Snapper CM, et al. Nuclear factor (NF)-κB2 (p100/p52) is required for normal splenic microarchitecture and B cell-mediated immune responses. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187:185–96. doi:10.1084/jem.187.2.185
- 84. Messina N, Fulford T, O'Reilly L, Loh WX, Motyer JM, Ellis D, et al. The NF-κB transcription factor RelA is required for the tolerogenic function of Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *J Autoimmun* (2016) 70:52–62. doi:10.1016/j. jaut.2016.03.017
- 85. Oh H, Grinberg-Bleyer Y, Liao W, Maloney D, Wang P, Wu Z, et al. An NF-κB transcription-factor-dependent lineage-specific transcriptional program promotes regulatory T cell identity and function. *Immunity* (2017) 47:450–65.e5. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.010
- Weih F, Carrasco D, Durham SK, Barton DS, Rizzo CA, Ryseck RP, et al. Multiorgan inflammation and hematopoietic abnormalities in mice with a targeted disruption of RelB, a member of the NF-kappa B/Rel family. *Cell* (1995) 80:331–40. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90416-6
- Weih DS, Yilmaz ZB, Weih F. Essential role of RelB in germinal center and marginal zone formation and proper expression of homing chemokines. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1909–19. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.1909
- Deenick EK, Elford AR, Pellegrini M, Hall H, Mak TW, Ohashi PS. c-Rel but not NF-kappaB1 is important for T regulatory cell development. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:677–81. doi:10.1002/eji.201040298
- Tang W, Wang H, Claudio E, Tassi I, Ha H-L, Saret S, et al. The oncoprotein and transcriptional regulator Bcl-3 governs plasticity and pathogenicity of auto-immune T cells. *Immunity* (2014) 41:555–66. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2014.09.017
- Franzoso G, Carlson L, Scharton-Kersten T, Shores EW, Epstein S, Grinberg A, et al. Critical roles for the Bcl-3 oncoprotein in T cell-mediated immunity, splenic microarchitecture, and germinal center reactions. *Immunity* (1997) 6:479–90. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80291-5
- Zhang X, Paun A, Claudio E, Wang H, Siebenlist U. The tumor promoter and NF-κB modulator Bcl-3 regulates splenic B cell development. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:5984–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300611
- Schuster M, Glauben R, Plaza-Sirvent C, Schreiber L, Annemann M, Floess S, et al. IκBNS protein mediates regulatory T cell development via induction of the Foxp3 transcription factor. *Immunity* (2012) 37:998–1008. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.08.023
- Kobayashi S, Hara A, Isagawa T, Manabe I, Takeda K, MaruYama T. The nuclear IκB family protein IκB(NS) influences the susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in a murine model. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e110838. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110838
- Shiina T, Konno A, Oonuma T, Kitamura H, Imaoka K, Takeda N, et al. Targeted disruption of MAIL, a nuclear IkappaB protein, leads to severe atopic dermatitis-like disease. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:55493–8. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M409770200
- Okamoto K, Iwai Y, Oh-Hora M, Yamamoto M, Morio T, Aoki K, et al. IkappaBzeta regulates T(H)17 development by cooperating with ROR nuclear receptors. *Nature* (2010) 464:1381–5. doi:10.1038/nature08922
- Johansen C, Mose M, Ommen P, Bertelsen T, Vinter H, Hailfinger S, et al. IκBζ is a key driver in the development of psoriasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:E5825–33. doi:10.1073/pnas.1509971112
- Damgaard RB, Walker JA, Marco-Casanova P, Morgan NV, Titheradge HL, Elliott PR, et al. The deubiquitinase OTULIN is an essential negative regulator of inflammation and autoimmunity. *Cell* (2016) 166:1215–30.e20. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.019
- Chu Y, Soberon V, Glockner L, Beyaert R, Massoumi R, van Loo G, et al. A20 and CYLD do not share significant overlapping functions during B cell development and activation. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:4437–43. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1200396
- Evans PC, Ovaa H, Hamon M, Kilshaw PJ, Hamm S, Bauer S, et al. Zinc-finger protein A20, a regulator of inflammation and cell survival, has de-ubiquitinating activity. *Biochem J* (2004) 378:727–34. doi:10.1042/BJ20031377
- 100. Kool M, van Loo G, Waelput W, De Prijck S, Muskens F, Sze M, et al. The ubiquitin-editing protein A20 prevents dendritic cell activation, recognition of apoptotic cells, and systemic autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2011) 35:82–96. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.013
- Reiley WW, Jin W, Lee AJ, Wright A, Wu X, Tewalt EF, et al. Deubiquitinating enzyme CYLD negatively regulates the ubiquitin-dependent kinase Tak1

and prevents abnormal T cell responses. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1475-85. doi:10.1084/jem.20062694

- 102. Reiley WW, Zhang M, Jin W, Losiewicz M, Donohue KB, Norbury CC, et al. Regulation of T cell development by the deubiquitinating enzyme CYLD. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:411–7. doi:10.1038/ni1315
- 103. Jin W, Reiley WR, Lee AJ, Wright A, Wu X, Zhang M, et al. Deubiquitinating enzyme CYLD regulates the peripheral development and naive phenotype maintenance of B cells. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:15884–93. doi:10.1074/jbc. M609952200
- Reissig S, Hövelmeyer N, Weigmann B, Nikolaev A, Kalt B, Wunderlich TF, et al. The tumor suppressor CYLD controls the function of murine regulatory T cells. J Immunol (2012) 189:4770–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201993
- 105. Hövelmeyer N, Wunderlich FT, Massoumi R, Jakobsen CG, Song J, Wörns MA, et al. Regulation of B cell homeostasis and activation by the tumor suppressor gene CYLD. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204:2615–27. doi:10.1084/ jem.20070318
- 106. Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Kishimoto K, Hiyama A, Inoue J, Cao Z, Matsumoto K. The kinase TAK1 can activate the NIK-I kappaB as well as the MAP kinase cascade in the IL-1 signalling pathway. *Nature* (1999) 398:252–6. doi:10.1038/ 18465
- 107. Wang C, Deng L, Hong M, Akkaraju GR, Inoue J, Chen ZJ. TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. *Nature* (2001) 412:346–51. doi:10.1038/35085597
- ErmolaevaMA, MichalletM-C, PapadopoulouN, UtermöhlenO, KranidiotiK, Kollias G, et al. Function of TRADD in tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 signaling and in TRIF-dependent inflammatory responses. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:1037–46. doi:10.1038/ni.1638
- 109. Chen N-J, Chio IIC, Lin W-J, Duncan G, Chau H, Katz D, et al. Beyond tumor necrosis factor receptor: TRADD signaling in toll-like receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:12429–34. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806585105
- Vince JE, Wong WW-L, Khan N, Feltham R, Chau D, Ahmed AU, et al. IAP antagonists target cIAP1 to induce TNFalpha-dependent apoptosis. *Cell* (2007) 131:682–93. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.037
- 111. Mahoney DJ, Cheung HH, Mrad RL, Plenchette S, Simard C, Enwere E, et al. Both cIAP1 and cIAP2 regulate TNFalpha-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:11778–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.0711122105
- Iwai K, Tokunaga F. Linear polyubiquitination: a new regulator of NF-kappaB activation. EMBO Rep (2009) 10:706–13. doi:10.1038/embor.2009.144
- 113. Wertz IE, O'Rourke KM, Zhou H, Eby M, Aravind L, Seshagiri S, et al. De-ubiquitination and ubiquitin ligase domains of A20 downregulate NF-kappaB signalling. *Nature* (2004) 430:694–9. doi:10.1038/nature02794
- 114. Tokunaga F, Nishimasu H, Ishitani R, Goto E, Noguchi T, Mio K, et al. Specific recognition of linear polyubiquitin by A20 zinc finger 7 is involved in NF- κ B regulation. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:3856–70. doi:10.1038/emboj. 2012.241
- 115. Verhelst K, Verstrepen L, Carpentier I, Beyaert R. Linear ubiquitination in NF- κ B signaling and inflammation: what we do understand and what we do not. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2011) 82:1057–65. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2011. 07.066
- Hoesel B, Schmid JA. The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12:86. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-12-86
- 117. Lee EG, Boone DL, Chai S, Libby SL, Chien M, Lodolce JP, et al. Failure to regulate TNF-induced NF-kappaB and cell death responses in A20-deficient mice. *Science* (2000) 289:2350–4. doi:10.1126/science.289.5488.2350
- Coornaert B, Baens M, Haegman M, Sun L, Marynen P. T cell antigen receptor stimulation induces MALT1 paracaspase-mediated cleavage of the NF-κB inhibitor A20. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:263–71. doi:10.1038/ni1561
- Heyninck K, Beyaert R. The cytokine-inducible zinc finger protein A20 inhibits IL-1-induced NF-kappaB activation at the level of TRAF6. *FEBS Lett* (1999) 442:147–50. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(98)01645-7
- 120. Song HY, Rothe M, Goeddel DV. The tumor necrosis factor-inducible zinc finger protein A20 interacts with TRAF1/TRAF2 and inhibits NF-kappaB activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) 93:6721–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.93.13.6721
- 121. Chu Y, Vahl JC, Kumar D, Heger K, Bertossi A, Wójtowicz E, et al. B cells lacking the tumor suppressor TNFAIP3/A20 display impaired differentiation and hyperactivation and cause inflammation and autoimmunity in aged mice. *Blood* (2011) 117:2227–36. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-306019

- 122. Hammer GE, Turer EE, Taylor KE, Fang CJ, Advincula R, Oshima S, et al. Expression of A20 by dendritic cells preserves immune homeostasis and prevents colitis and spondyloarthritis. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:1184–93. doi:10.1038/ni.2135
- 123. Vande Walle L, Van Opdenbosch N, Jacques P, Fossoul A, Verheugen E, Vogel P, et al. Negative regulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by A20 protects against arthritis. *Nature* (2014) 512:69–73. doi:10.1038/nature13322
- Catrysse L, Vereecke L, Beyaert R, van Loo G. A20 in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35:22–31. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.10.005
- 125. De A, Dainichi T, Rathinam CV, Ghosh S. The deubiquitinase activity of A20 is dispensable for NF-κB signaling. *EMBO Rep* (2014) 15:775–83. doi:10.15252/embr.201338305
- 126. Fujita H, Rahighi S, Akita M, Kato R, Sasaki Y, Wakatsuki S, et al. Mechanism underlying IκB kinase activation mediated by the linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex. *Mol Cell Biol* (2014) 34:1322–35. doi:10.1128/MCB. 01538-13
- 127. Ea C-K, Deng L, Xia Z-P, Pineda G, Chen ZJ. Activation of IKK by TNFalpha requires site-specific ubiquitination of RIP1 and polyubiquitin binding by NEMO. *Mol Cell* (2006) 22:245–57. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.026
- 128. Kanayama A, Seth RB, Sun L, Ea C-K, Hong M, Shaito A, et al. TAB 2 and TAB 3 activate the NF-kappaB pathway through binding to polyubiquitin chains. *Mol Cell* (2004) 15:535–48. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2004.08.008
- 129. Lork M, Verhelst K, Beyaert R. CYLD, A20 and OTULIN deubiquitinases in NF-κB signaling and cell death: so similar, yet so different. *Cell Death Differ* (2017) 24:1172–83. doi:10.1038/cdd.2017.46
- Goto E, Tokunaga F. Decreased linear ubiquitination of NEMO and FADD on apoptosis with caspase-mediated cleavage of HOIP. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2017) 485:152–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.02.040
- 131. Sun S-C. The noncanonical NF-кВ pathway. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 246:125–40. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01088.x
- Liao G, Zhang M, Harhaj EW, Sun S-C. Regulation of the NF-kappaBinducing kinase by tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 3-induced degradation. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:26243–50. doi:10.1074/jbc. M403286200
- He JQ, Zarnegar B, Oganesyan G, Saha SK, Yamazaki S, Doyle SE, et al. Rescue of TRAF3-null mice by p100 NF-kappa B deficiency. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:2413–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20061166
- Park SW, Huq MDM, Hu X, Wei L-N. Tyrosine nitration on p65: a novel mechanism to rapidly inactivate nuclear factor-kappaB. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2005) 4:300–9. doi:10.1074/mcp.M400195-MCP200
- 135. Senftleben U, Li ZW, Baud V, Karin M. IKKbeta is essential for protecting T cells from TNFalpha-induced apoptosis. *Immunity* (2001) 14:217–30. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00104-2
- Regnier CH, Song HY, Gao X, Goeddel DV, Cao Z, Rothe M. Identification and characterization of an IkappaB kinase. *Cell* (1997) 90:373–83. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)80344-X
- 137. Xiao G, Cvijic ME, Fong A, Harhaj EW, Uhlik MT, Waterfield M, et al. Retroviral oncoprotein tax induces processing of NF-kappaB2/p100 in T cells: evidence for the involvement of IKKalpha. *EMBO J* (2001) 20: 6805–15. doi:10.1093/emboj/20.23.6805
- Uhlik M, Good L, Xiao G, Harhaj EW, Zandi E, Karin M, et al. NF-kappaBinducing kinase and IkappaB kinase participate in human T-cell leukemia virus I tax-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273:21132–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.33.21132
- Lin L, DeMartino GN, Greene WC. Cotranslational biogenesis of NF-kappaB p50 by the 26S proteasome. *Cell* (1998) 92:819–28. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81409-9
- 140. Liu J, Sudom A, Min X, Cao Z, Gao X, Ayres M, et al. Structure of the nuclear factor κB-inducing kinase (NIK) kinase domain reveals a constitutively active conformation. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:27326–34. doi:10.1074/jbc. M112.366658
- 141. Tao Z, Fusco A, Huang D-B, Gupta K, Kim DY, Ware CF, et al. p100/IκBδ sequesters and inhibits NF-κB through kappaBsome formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:15946–51. doi:10.1073/pnas.1408552111
- 142. Fusco AJ, Mazumder A, Wang VY-F, Tao Z, Ware C, Ghosh G. The NF-κB subunit RelB controls p100 processing by competing with the kinases NIK and IKK1 for binding to p100. *Sci Signal* (2016) 9:ra96–96. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.aad9413

- Chen L-F, Mu Y, Greene WC. Acetylation of RelA at discrete sites regulates distinct nuclear functions of NF-kappaB. *EMBO J* (2002) 21:6539–48. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf660
- 144. Ashburner BP, Westerheide SD, Baldwin AS. The p65 (RelA) subunit of NF-kappaB interacts with the histone deacetylase (HDAC) corepressors HDAC1 and HDAC2 to negatively regulate gene expression. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:7065–77. doi:10.1128/MCB.21.20.7065-7077.2001
- 145. Chen L, Fischle W, Verdin E, Greene WC. Duration of nuclear NF-kappaB action regulated by reversible acetylation. *Science* (2001) 293:1653–7. doi:10.1126/science.1062374
- Hoffmann A, Baltimore D. Circuitry of nuclear factor kappaB signaling. Immunol Rev (2006) 210:171–86. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00375.x
- 147. Zhong H, Voll RE, Ghosh S. Phosphorylation of NF-kappa B p65 by PKA stimulates transcriptional activity by promoting a novel bivalent interaction with the coactivator CBP/p300. *Mol Cell* (1998) 1:661–71. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(00)80066-0
- Natoli G, Saccani S, Bosisio D, Marazzi I. Interactions of NF-kappaB with chromatin: the art of being at the right place at the right time. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:439–45. doi:10.1038/ni1196
- 149. Bonnay F, Nguyen X-H, Cohen-Berros E, Troxler L, Batsche E, Camonis J, et al. Akirin specifies NF-κB selectivity of drosophila innate immune response via chromatin remodeling. *EMBO J* (2014) 33:2349–62. doi:10.15252/embj. 201488456
- van Ewijk W, Wang B, Hollander G, Kawamoto H, Spanopoulou E, Itoi M, et al. Thymic microenvironments, 3-D versus 2-D? *Semin Immunol* (1999) 11:57–64. doi:10.1006/smim.1998.0158
- Meredith M, Zemmour D, Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire controls gene expression in the thymic epithelium with ordered stochasticity. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:942–9. doi:10.1038/ni.3247
- 152. Yang S, Fujikado N, Kolodin D, Benoist C, Mathis D. Immune tolerance. Regulatory T cells generated early in life play a distinct role in maintaining self-tolerance. *Science* (2015) 348:589–94. doi:10.1126/science. aaa7017
- Abramson J, Husebye ES. Autoimmune regulator and self-tolerance molecular and clinical aspects. *Immunol Rev* (2016) 271:127–40. doi:10.1111/ imr.12419
- Baik S, Jenkinson EJ, Lane PJL, Anderson G, Jenkinson WE. Generation of both cortical and Aire(+) medullary thymic epithelial compartments from CD205(+) progenitors. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:589–94. doi:10.1002/ eji.201243209
- 155. Sekai M, Hamazaki Y, Minato N. Medullary thymic epithelial stem cells maintain a functional thymus to ensure lifelong central T cell tolerance. *Immunity* (2014) 41:753–61. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.011
- Rossi SW, Jenkinson WE, Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Clonal analysis reveals a common progenitor for thymic cortical and medullary epithelium. *Nature* (2006) 441:988–91. doi:10.1038/nature04813
- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:1032–9. doi:10.1038/ni723
- 158. Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the Aire protein. *Science* (2002) 298:1395–401. doi:10.1126/science. 1075958
- Cosway EJ, Lucas B, James KD, Parnell SM, Carvalho-Gaspar M, White AJ, et al. Redefining thymus medulla specialization for central tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214:3183–95. doi:10.1084/jem.20171000
- 160. Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141532
- Hamazaki Y, Sekai M, Minato N. Medullary thymic epithelial stem cells: role in thymic epithelial cell maintenance and thymic involution. *Immunol Rev* (2016) 271:38–55. doi:10.1111/imr.12412
- Irla M, Hugues S, Gill J, Nitta T, Hikosaka Y, Williams IR, et al. Autoantigenspecific interactions with CD4+ thymocytes control mature medullary thymic epithelial cell cellularity. *Immunity* (2008) 29:451–63. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.08.007
- 163. Wood MB, Rios D, Williams IR. TNF-α augments RANKL-dependent intestinal M cell differentiation in enteroid cultures. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2016) 311:C498–507. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00108.2016

- Anderson G, Jenkinson WE. Border control: anatomical origins of the thymus medulla. Eur J Immunol (2015) 45:2203–7. doi:10.1002/eji.201545829
- 165. Hikosaka Y, Nitta T, Ohigashi I, Yano K, Ishimaru N, Hayashi Y, et al. The cytokine RANKL produced by positively selected thymocytes fosters medullary thymic epithelial cells that express autoimmune regulator. *Immunity* (2008) 29:438–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.06.018
- 166. Akiyama T, Shimo Y, Yanai H, Qin J, Ohshima D, Maruyama Y, et al. The tumor necrosis factor family receptors RANK and CD40 cooperatively establish the thymic medullary microenvironment and self-tolerance. *Immunity* (2008) 29:423–37. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.06.015
- 167. Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:377–91. doi:10.1038/nri3667
- Burkly L, Hession C, Ogata L, Reilly C, Marconi LA, Olson D, et al. Expression of relB is required for the development of thymic medulla and dendritic cells. *Nature* (1995) 373:531–6. doi:10.1038/373531a0
- 169. Baik S, Sekai M, Hamazaki Y, Jenkinson WE, Anderson G. Relb acts downstream of medullary thymic epithelial stem cells and is essential for the emergence of RANK(+) medullary epithelial progenitors. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46:857–62. doi:10.1002/eji.201546253
- 170. Riemann M, Andreas N, Fedoseeva M, Meier E, Weih D, Freytag H, et al. Central immune tolerance depends on crosstalk between the classical and alternative NF-κB pathways in medullary thymic epithelial cells. J Autoimmun (2017) 81:56–67. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2017.03.007
- 171. Reissig S, Hövelmeyer N, Tang Y, Weih D, Nikolaev A, Riemann M, et al. The deubiquitinating enzyme CYLD regulates the differentiation and maturation of thymic medullary epithelial cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2015) 93:558–66. doi:10.1038/icb.2014.122
- 172. Onder L, Nindl V, Scandella E, Chai Q, Cheng H-W, Caviezel-Firner S, et al. Alternative NF-κB signaling regulates mTEC differentiation from podoplanin-expressing precursors in the cortico-medullary junction. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45:2218–31. doi:10.1002/eji.201545677
- 173. Kinoshita D, Hirota F, Kaisho T, Kasai M, Izumi K, Bando Y, et al. Essential role of IkappaB kinase alpha in thymic organogenesis required for the establishment of self-tolerance. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:3995–4002. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.176.7.3995
- 174. Kajiura F, Sun S, Nomura T, Izumi K, Ueno T, Bando Y, et al. NF-kappa B-inducing kinase establishes self-tolerance in a thymic stroma-dependent manner. J Immunol (2004) 172:2067–75. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.4.2067
- 175. Zhu M, Chin RK, Christiansen PA, Lo JC, Liu X, Ware C, et al. NFkappaB2 is required for the establishment of central tolerance through an Aire-dependent pathway. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2964–71. doi:10.1172/ JCI28326
- Zhang Q, Didonato JA, Karin M, McKeithan TW. BCL3 encodes a nuclear protein which can alter the subcellular location of NF-kappa B proteins. *Mol Cell Biol* (1994) 14:3915–26. doi:10.1128/MCB.14.6.3915
- 177. Nagamine K, Peterson P, Scott HS, Kudoh J, Minoshima S, Heino M, et al. Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:393–8. doi:10.1038/ng1297-393
- Finnish-German APECED Consortium. An autoimmune disease, APECED, caused by mutations in a novel gene featuring two PHD-type zinc-finger domains. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:399–403. doi:10.1038/ng1297-399
- 179. Haljasorg U, Bichele R, Saare M, Guha M, Maslovskaja J, Kõnd K, et al. A highly conserved NF-κB-responsive enhancer is critical for thymic expression of Aire in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45:3246–56. doi:10.1002/ eji.201545928
- LaFlam TN, Seumois G, Miller CN, Lwin W, Fasano KJ, Waterfield M, et al. Identification of a novel cis-regulatory element essential for immune tolerance. J Exp Med (2015) 212:1993–2002. doi:10.1084/jem.20151069
- 181. Seach N, Ueno T, Fletcher AL, Lowen T, Mattesich M, Engwerda CR, et al. The lymphotoxin pathway regulates Aire-independent expression of ectopic genes and chemokines in thymic stromal cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:5384–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.8.5384
- Takaba H, Morishita Y, Tomofuji Y, Danks L, Nitta T. Fezf2 Orchestrates a thymic program of self-antigen expression for immune tolerance. *Cell* (2015) 163:975–87. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.013
- 183. Nishikawa K, Nakashima T, Hayashi M, Fukunaga T, Kato S, Kodama T, et al. Blimp1-mediated repression of negative regulators is required for osteoclast

differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2010) 107:3117-22. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912779107

- Wang X, Belguise K, O'Neill CF, Sánchez-Morgan N, Romagnoli M, Eddy SF, et al. RelB NF-kappaB represses estrogen receptor alpha expression via induction of the zinc finger protein Blimp1. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29:3832–44. doi:10.1128/MCB.00032-09
- 185. Kong YY, Yoshida H, Sarosi I, Tan HL, Timms E, Capparelli C, et al. OPGL is a key regulator of osteoclastogenesis, lymphocyte development and lymphnode organogenesis. *Nature* (1999) 397:315–23. doi:10.1038/16852
- 186. Mouri Y, Yano M, Shinzawa M, Shimo Y, Hirota F, Nishikawa Y, et al. Lymphotoxin signal promotes thymic organogenesis by eliciting RANK expression in the embryonic thymic stroma. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:5047–57. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003533
- 187. Tucker E, O'Donnell K, Fuchsberger M, Hilton AA, Metcalf D, Greig K, et al. A novel mutation in the Nfkb2 gene generates an NF-kappa B2 "super repressor". J Immunol (2007) 179:7514–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.11.7514
- Miosge LA, Blasioli J, Blery M, Goodnow CC. Analysis of an ethylnitrosoureagenerated mouse mutation defines a cell intrinsic role of nuclear factor kappaB2 in regulating circulating B cell numbers. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:1113–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20020959
- 189. Salomon B, Lenschow DJ, Rhee L, Ashourian N, Singh B, Sharpe A, et al. B7/CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes. *Immunity* (2000) 12:431–40. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80195-8
- 190. Gupta S, Manicassamy S, Vasu C, Kumar A, Shang W, Sun Z. Differential requirement of PKC-theta in the development and function of natural regulatory T cells. *Mol Immunol* (2008) 46:213–24. doi:10.1016/j.molimm. 2008.08.275
- 191. Schmidt-Supprian M, Tian J, Ji H, Terhorst C, Bhan AK, Grant EP, et al. I kappa B kinase 2 deficiency in T cells leads to defects in priming, B cell help, germinal center reactions, and homeostatic expansion. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:1612–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.3.1612
- 192. Vang KB, Yang J, Pagán AJ, Li L-X, Wang J, Green JM, et al. Cutting edge: CD28 and c-Rel-dependent pathways initiate regulatory T cell development. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:4074–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903933
- 193. Isomura I, Palmer S, Grumont RJ, Bunting K, Hoyne G, Wilkinson N, et al. c-Rel is required for the development of thymic Foxp3+ CD4 regulatory T cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206:3001–14. doi:10.1084/jem.20091411
- 194. Long M, Park S-G, Strickland I, Hayden MS, Ghosh S. Nuclear factor-kappaB modulates regulatory T cell development by directly regulating expression of Foxp3 transcription factor. *Immunity* (2009) 31:921–31. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.09.022
- 195. Tang Q, Henriksen KJ, Boden EK, Tooley AJ, Ye J, Subudhi SK, et al. Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol (2003) 171:3348–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.7.3348
- 196. Salomon B, Bluestone JA. Complexities of CD28/B7: CTLA-4 costimulatory pathways in autoimmunity and transplantation. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2001) 19:225–52. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.225
- 197. Cretney E, Kallies A, Nutt SL. Differentiation and function of Foxp3(+) effector regulatory T cells. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:74–80. doi:10.1016/j. it.2012.11.002
- Levine AG, Arvey A, Jin W, Rudensky AY. Continuous requirement for the TCR in regulatory T cell function. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:1070–8. doi:10.1038/ni.3004
- 199. Grinberg-Bleyer Y, Oh H, Desrichard A, Bhatt DM, Caron R, Chan TA, et al. κB c-Rel is crucial for the regulatory T cell immune checkpoint in cancer. *Cell* (2017) 170:1096–108.e13. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.08.004
- 200. Vasanthakumar A, Liao Y, Teh P, Pascutti MF, Oja AE, Garnham AL, et al. The TNF receptor superfamily-NF-κB axis is critical to maintain effector regulatory T cells in lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20:2906–20. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.068
- Khan WN. B cell receptor and BAFF receptor signaling regulation of B cell homeostasis. J Immunol (2009) 183:3561–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0800933
- 202. Kitamura D, Roes J, Kühn R, Rajewsky K. A B cell-deficient mouse by targeted disruption of the membrane exon of the immunoglobulin mu chain gene. *Nature* (1991) 350:423–6. doi:10.1038/350423a0
- Lam KP, Kühn R, Rajewsky K. In vivo ablation of surface immunoglobulin on mature B cells by inducible gene targeting results in rapid cell death. *Cell* (1997) 90:1073–83. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80373-6

- Goodnow CC, Sprent J, Fazekas de St Groth B, Vinuesa CG. Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity. *Nature* (2005) 435:590–7. doi:10.1038/nature03724
- Cadera EJ, Wan F, Amin RH, Nolla H, Lenardo MJ, Schlissel MS. NF-kappaB activity marks cells engaged in receptor editing. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206: 1803–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20082815
- 206. Lesley R, Xu Y, Kalled SL, Hess DM, Schwab SR, Shu H-B, et al. Reduced competitiveness of autoantigen-engaged B cells due to increased dependence on BAFF. *Immunity* (2004) 20:441–53. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(04) 00079-2
- Claudio E, Brown K, Park S, Wang H, Siebenlist U. BAFF-induced NEMOindependent processing of NF-kappa B2 in maturing B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:958–65. doi:10.1038/ni842
- Mackay F, Schneider P, Rennert P, Browning J. BAFF AND APRIL: a tutorial on B cell survival. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:231–64. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.21.120601.141152
- 209. Thien M, Phan TG, Gardam S, Amesbury M, Basten A, Mackay F, et al. Excess BAFF rescues self-reactive B cells from peripheral deletion and allows them to enter forbidden follicular and marginal zone niches. *Immunity* (2004) 20:785–98. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.05.010
- 210. Courtois G, Smahi A, Reichenbach J, Doffinger R, Cancrini C, Bonnet M, et al. A hypermorphic IkappaBalpha mutation is associated with autosomal dominant anhidrotic ectodermal dysplasia and T cell immunodeficiency. *J Clin Invest* (2003) 112:1108–15. doi:10.1172/JCI18714
- 211. Schimke LF, Rieber N, Rylaarsdam S, Cabral-Marques O, Hubbard N, Puel A, et al. A novel gain-of-function IKBA mutation underlies ectodermal dysplasia with immunodeficiency and polyendocrinopathy. *J Clin Immunol* (2013) 33:1088–99. doi:10.1007/s10875-013-9906-1
- 212. Kaustio M, Haapaniemi E, Göös H, Hautala T, Park G, Syrjänen J, et al. Damaging heterozygous mutations in NFKB1 lead to diverse immunologic phenotypes. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 140:782–96. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2016.10.054
- Fliegauf M, Bryant VL, Frede N, Slade C, Woon S-T, Lehnert K, et al. Haploinsufficiency of the NF-κB1 subunit p50 in common variable immunodeficiency. *Am J Hum Genet* (2015) 97:389–403. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg. 2015.07.008
- 214. Lee CE, Fulcher DA, Whittle B, Chand R, Fewings N, Field M, et al. Autosomal-dominant B-cell deficiency with alopecia due to a mutation in NFKB2 that results in nonprocessable p100. *Blood* (2014) 124:2964–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-06-578542
- 215. Chen K, Coonrod EM, Kumánovics A, Franks ZF, Durtschi JD, Margraf RL, et al. Germline mutations in NFKB2 implicate the noncanonical NF-κB pathway in the pathogenesis of common variable immunodeficiency. *Am J Hum Genet* (2013) 93:812–24. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.09.009
- 216. Brue T, Quentien M-H, Khetchoumian K, Bensa M, Capo-Chichi J-M, Delemer B, et al. Mutations in NFKB2 and potential genetic heterogeneity in patients with DAVID syndrome, having variable endocrine and immune deficiencies. *BMC Med Genet* (2014) 15:139. doi:10.1186/s12881-014-0139-9
- 217. Sharfe N, Merico D, Karanxha A, Macdonald C, Dadi H, Ngan B, et al. The effects of RelB deficiency on lymphocyte development and function. *J Autoimmun* (2015) 65:90–100. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2015.09.001
- Charbit-Henrion F, Jeverica AK, Begue B, Markelj G, Parlato M, Avčin SL, et al. Deficiency in mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma translocation 1: a novel cause of IPEX-like syndrome. *Nutrition* (2017) 64:378–84. doi:10.1097/MPG.00000000001262
- Torres JM, Martinez-Barricarte R, García-Gómez S, Mazariegos MS, Itan Y, Boisson B, et al. Inherited BCL10 deficiency impairs hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic immunity. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124:5239–48. doi:10.1172/ JCI77493
- 220. Zhou Q, Wang H, Schwartz DM, Stoffels M, Park YH, Zhang Y, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in TNFAIP3 leading to A20 haploinsufficiency cause an early-onset autoinflammatory disease. *Nat Genet* (2016) 48:67–73. doi:10.1038/ng.3459
- 221. Duncan CJA, Dinnigan E, Theobald R, Grainger A, Skelton AJ, Hussain R, et al. Early-onset autoimmune disease due to a heterozygous loss-offunction mutation in TNFAIP3 (A20). Ann Rheum Dis (2017). doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2016-210944
- 222. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, et al. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked

syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet (2001) 27:20-1. doi:10.1038/83713

- 223. Wildin RS, Ramsdell F, Peake J, Faravelli F, Casanova JL, Buist N, et al. X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. *Nat Genet* (2001) 27:18–20. doi:10.1038/83707
- 224. Kuehn HS, Ouyang W, Lo B, Deenick EK, Niemela JE, Avery DT, et al. Immune dysregulation in human subjects with heterozygous germline mutations in CTLA4. *Science* (2014) 345:1623–7. doi:10.1126/science.1255904
- 225. Sharfe N, Dadi HK, Shahar M, Roifman CM. Human immune disorder arising from mutation of the α chain of the interleukin-2 receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94:3168–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.7.3168
- Aaltonen J, Björses P. Cloning of the APECED gene provides new insight into human autoimmunity. Ann Med (1999) 31:111–6. doi:10.3109/ 07853899708998786
- 227. Oftedal BE, Hellesen A, Erichsen MM, Bratland E, Vardi A, Perheentupa J, et al. Dominant mutations in the autoimmune regulator AIRE are associated with common organ-specific autoimmune diseases. *Immunity* (2015) 42:1185–96. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.021
- 228. Sun L, Li H, Luo H, Zhao Y. Thymic epithelial cell development and its dysfunction in human diseases. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:206929. doi:10.1155/2014/206929
- 229. Hong Y, Skeie GO, Zisimopoulou P, Karagiorgou K, Tzartos SJ, Gao X, et al. Juvenile-onset myasthenia gravis: autoantibody status, clinical characteristics and genetic polymorphisms. *J Neurol* (2017) 264:955–62. doi:10.1007/ s00415-017-8478-z
- Adrianto I, Wen F, Templeton A, Wiley G, King JB, Lessard CJ, et al. Association of a functional variant downstream of TNFAIP3 with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43:253–8. doi:10.1038/ng.766
- 231. Musone SL, Taylor KE, Lu TT, Nititham J, Ferreira RC, Ortmann W, et al. Multiple polymorphisms in the TNFAIP3 region are independently associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40:1062–4. doi:10.1038/ng.202
- 232. Musone SL, Taylor KE, Nititham J, Chu C, Poon A, Liao W, et al. Sequencing of TNFAIP3 and association of variants with multiple autoimmune diseases. *Genes Immun* (2011) 12:176–82. doi:10.1038/gene.2010.64
- 233. Eyre S, Hinks A, Flynn E, Martin P, Wilson AG, Maxwell JR, et al. Confirmation of association of the REL locus with rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility in the UK population. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2010) 69:1572–3. doi:10.1136/ ard.2009.122887

- 234. Bowes J, Ho P, Flynn E, Ali F, Marzo-Ortega H, Coates LC, et al. Comprehensive assessment of rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility loci in a large psoriatic arthritis cohort. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2012)71:1350–4. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2011-200802
- 235. Garcia-EtxebarriaK, Jauregi-MiguelA, Romero-GarmendiaI, Plaza-IzurietaL, Legarda M, Irastorza I, et al. Ancestry-based stratified analysis of immunochip data identifies novel associations with celiac disease. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2016) 24:1831–4. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2016.120
- 236. Chen F, Xu L, Zhao T, Xiao X, Pan Y, Hou S. Genetic variation in the REL gene increases risk of Behcet's disease in a Chinese han population but that of PRKCQ does not. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0147350. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0147350
- 237. Karban AS, Okazaki T, Panhuysen CIM, Gallegos T, Potter JJ, Bailey-Wilson JE, et al. Functional annotation of a novel NFKB1 promoter polymorphism that increases risk for ulcerative colitis. *Hum Mol Genet* (2004) 13:35–45. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddh008
- Kurylowicz A, Hiromatsu Y, Jurecka-Lubieniecka B, Kula D, Kowalska M, Ichimura M, et al. Association of NFKB1 -94ins/del ATTG promoter polymorphism with susceptibility to and phenotype of Graves' disease. *Genes Immun* (2007) 8:532–8. doi:10.1038/sj.gene.6364418
- 239. Yenmis G, Oner T, Cam C, Koc A, Kucuk OS, Yakicier MC, et al. Association of NFKB1 and NFKBIA polymorphisms in relation to susceptibility of Behçet's disease. *Scand J Immunol* (2015) 81:81–6. doi:10.1111/ sji.12251
- 240. Housley WJ, Fernandez SD, Vera K, Murikinati SR, Grutzendler J, Cuerdon N, et al. Genetic variants associated with autoimmunity drive NFκB signaling and responses to inflammatory stimuli. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7:ra93–291. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa9223

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Miraghazadeh and Cook. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Hyperactivation Associates With Follicular Helper T Cell Differentiation and Disease Activity in Rheumatoid Arthritis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Ju Qiu, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences (CAS), China Xing Chang, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences (CAS), China

*Correspondence:

Liangjing Lu lu_liangjing@163.com; Xiaoxiang Chen xiaoxiang0721@126.com; Di Yu di,yu@anu.edu.au

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 January 2018 Accepted: 16 May 2018 Published: 04 June 2018

Citation:

Deng J, Fan C, Gao X, Zeng Q, Guo R, Wei Y, Chen Z, Chen Y, Gong D, Feng J, Xia Y, Xiang S, Gong S, Yuan L, Shen W, Shen W, Lin L, Jiang T, He D, Lu L, Chen X and Yu D (2018) Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Hyperactivation Associates With Follicular Helper T Cell Differentiation and Disease Activity in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front. Immunol. 9:1226. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01226 Jun Deng^{1,2,3†}, Chaofan Fan^{2†}, Xin Gao^{1,2,4†}, Qunxiong Zeng^{1,2}, Ruru Guo², Yunbo Wei⁵, Zhian Chen^{1,4}, Yanan Chen², Dongcheng Gong^{1,2}, Jia Feng⁶, Yan Xia⁶, Shifei Xiang⁶, Shushi Gong⁶, Lin Yuan³, Wei Shen⁷, Wenyan Shen⁷, Lin Lin⁸, Ting Jiang⁹, Dongyi He⁹, Liangjing Lu^{2*}, Xiaoxiang Chen^{2*} and Di Yu^{1,2,3,4,5*}

¹ China-Australia Centre for Personalised Immunology, Renji Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Rheumatology, Shanghai Institute of Rheumatology, Renji Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ³ Hubei Provincial Key Laboratory of Occurrence and Intervention of Rheumatic Diseases, Affiliated Hospital of Hubei University for Nationalities, Enshi, China, ⁴ Department of Immunology and Infectious Disease, John Curtin School of Medical Research, The Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, ⁵ Laboratory of Immunology for Environment and Health, Shandong Analysis and Test Center, Qilu University of Technology, Shandong Academy of Sciences, Jinan, China, ⁶ Department of Rheumatology, Affiliated Hospital of Hubei University for Nationalities, Enshi, China, ⁷ Department of Laboratory Medicine, Renji Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ⁸ Guanghua Hospital of Integrative Chinese and Western Medicine, Shanghai, China

Follicular helper T (Tfh) cells are the specialized CD4⁺ T cell subset that supports B cells to produce high-affinity antibodies and generate humoral memory. Not only is the function of Tfh cells instrumental to mount protect antibodies but also to support autoantibody production and promote systemic inflammation in autoimmune diseases. However, it remains unclear how the activation of Tfh cells is driven in autoimmune diseases. Here, we report that in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA), excessive generation of CXCR5+PD-1+ memory Tfh cells was observed and the frequency of memory Tfh cells correlated with disease activity score calculator for RA (DAS28). The differentiation of The cells is dependent on signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), the key transcription factor downstream of cytokine signal pathways. A drastic increase of phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3) in CD4⁺ T cells were detected in RA patients who also produced larger amounts of STAT3-stimulating cytokines, including IL-6, IL-21, IL-10, and leptin than those of healthy controls. Importantly, the phosphorylation status of STAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells positively correlated with the plasma concentration of IL-6 and the frequency of memory Tfh cells. This study reveals an IL-6-pSTAT3-Tfh immunoregulatory axis in the pathogenesis of RA and reinforces its candidature as biomarkers and targets for diagnosis and therapy.

Keywords: rheumatoid arthritis, patient, follicular helper T cells, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3, phosphorylation, IL-6

INTRODUCTION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic and immune-mediated arthritis that affects up to 1% of the population. It is characterized by synovial inflammation and hyperplasia as well as cartilage and bone destruction (1). Although the name "arthritis" speaks for itself that local tissue remodeling and damage represent the major pathology of RA, the systemic activation of the immune system is instrumental for the disease pathogenesis (1–3). Prior to the onset of clinical disease, increased generation of effector CD4⁺ T cells, elevated production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and the presence of anticitrullinated protein antibodies (ACPAs) can usually be detected in blood, therefore, being termed as the "prerheumatoid arthritis" phase (4).

Follicular helper T (Tfh) cells are a functional CD4⁺ T cell subset that is specialized to support B cells to generate longlived plasma cells and memory B cells and to produce highaffinity antibodies. By upregulating the chemokine receptor CXCR5, Tfh cells selectively migrate into B-cell follicles and help B cells through the expression of costimulatory receptors including CD40L and OX40 and the secretion of cytokines such as IL-21 (5). The critical role of excessive Tfh cells in the induction of systemic inflammation and the development of autoimmune diseases has been proven by many mouse models (5-8). For RA, there is also accumulated evidence to support a significant contribution of Tfh cells to the development of RA. First, the dependence of Tfh cells has been extensively studied in mouse models. In the commonly used collagen-induced arthritis model, upon the immunization of collagen, CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into Tfh cells to initiate the pathogenic anti-collagen antibody responses (9, 10). In the K/BxN autoimmune arthritis model [KRN T cell receptor transgenic mice on the C57BL/6 (B6) background × nonobese diabetic mice], KRN T cells recognize self-antigen glucose-6-phosphate isomerase (GPI) and differentiate into Tfh cells to promote B cells to produce anti-GPI autoantibodies (11-14). Importantly, blocking of Tfh cell generation was able to prevent the development of diseases in these mouse models. Second, there is a strong involvement of B cells in human RA pathogenesis. The production of high-affinity IgG and IgA antibodies against citrullinated, carbamylated, and acetylated proteins is likely also dependent on Tfh cells (2). Third, several studies including ours have reported excessive Tfh differentiation and function in RA patients as compared to healthy controls (15-19). The association between increased circulating Tfh cells and the presence of high-titer ACPAs and disease activity again suggested a pathogenic role of Tfh cells in RA. The pressing question that remains to be unanswered is the causation of the aberrant Tfh activation in RA.

The development of Tfh cells is driven by signallings *via* T cell receptors through sustained antigen stimulation and co-receptors including CD28 and inducible T-cell costimulator (ICOS). The cytokine milieu also shapes the Tfh differentiation. IL-6 and IL-21 induce the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and promote the differentiation of mouse Tfh cells (5). For human Tfh cells, additional cytokines including STAT4-stimulating IL-12 and

SMAD2/3-stimulating TGF β and Activin A were reported to also contribute (5, 20, 21). The activation of STAT3 is essential as the capability of Tfh differentiation was greatly impaired in STAT3-deficient mice (22) and patients carrying functional STAT3 deficiency (23). STAT3 has a strong implication in autoimmune diseases. Monogenic activating *STAT3* mutations were identified in individuals with a spectrum of early-onset autoimmune disease including juvenile-onset arthritis (24). The involvement of the activation of STAT3 and RA was also supported by studies showing enhanced expression of phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3) and STAT3-inducible gene signature in RA patients (25–28). We, therefore, speculated that the hyperactivation of the STAT3 signaling may lead to abnormal Tfh differentiation in RA patients.

In this study, we examined and confirmed the excessive Tfh function in RA patients, shown by the increased frequency of circulating memory Tfh cells and its correlations with disease activity. We found a drastic enhancement of STAT3 phosphorylation in CD4⁺ T cells in RA patients and the activation status of STAT3 positively correlated with the generation of Tfh cells. Major STAT3-stimulating cytokines including IL-6, IL-21, IL-10, and leptin were increased in RA patients and thus contributed to the STAT3 hyperactivation.

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Study Subjects

The demographic characteristics of healthy individual controls and patients with RA are shown in **Table 1**. Thirty-one RA patients including 25 females and 6 males participated the study. Their median age was 60 years. The disease activities

TABLE 1 | Demographics and clinical data of the study cohorts.

Characteristic	Value		
Healthy controls			
Female/male, n	22/8		
Age, median (range)	55 (18–73)		
Patients with rheumatoid arthritis			
Female/male, n	25/6		
Age, median (range)	60 (22–83)		
Disease duration (year), median (range)	1 (0–10)		
RF, n (%)	25 (81%)		
Anti-CCP, n (%)	26 (84%)		
DAS28, median (range)	4.92 (1.27-7.88)		
Remission (<2.6), <i>n</i> (%)	4 (13%)		
Low activity (2.6–3.2), n (%)	1 (3%)		
Medium activity (3.2–5.1), n (%)	11 (35%)		
High activity (>5.1), n (%)	15 (48%)		
CRP (mg/L), median (range)	4.0 (<0.5-106.2)		
ESR (mm/h), median (range)	29 (4–84)		
WBC (×10°/L)	6.5 (3.5–12.0)		
Medication, n (%)			
Glucocorticoids	18 (58%)		
DMARDs	24 (77%)		

RF, rheumatoid factor; Anti-CCP, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide; DAS28, disease activity score 28; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; WBC, white blood count; DMARDs, disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs.

of the patient cohort ranged from remission (the disease activity score-28, DAS28 < 2.6) to high (DAS28 > 5.1), with the median value of 4.92. Four naïve patients had no treatment history. The rest patients were treated with low dose of glucocorticoids and/or disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs. Those with a treatment history with high-dose glucocorticoids (>10 mg/day) or biologics within the past 6 months were excluded from the study.

Increased Tfh Cell Differentiation in RA Patients Correlated Disease Activity

CD4⁺ T cells play an important role in the pathogenesis of RA (1-3, 29) but very few efforts have investigated all major CD4⁺ T cell subsets in a single study. Using multicolor flow cytometry, the frequencies of Treg (CD25^{high}) and conventional CD4⁺ subsets including naïve (CD25-CD45RA+CD62L+), Th1 (CD25-CD45RA-CXCR3⁺CCR6⁻CCR4⁻), Th2 (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁻CCR6⁻ CCR4⁺), Th17(CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁻CCR6⁺CCR4⁺), and Tfh (CD25-CD45RA-CXCR5+PD-1+) subsets in CD4+ T cells were analyzed simultaneously (30) (Figure 1A; Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). The comparison between these subsets in healthy individuals and RA patients revealed a significantly higher frequency of Tfh cells in RA patients, increasing from an average of 1.6% in the controls to 2.6% in RA patients (Figure 1B). On the contrary, we did not observe any significant difference for other CD4⁺ T cell subsets between healthy individuals and RA patients. We also examined the potential correlations between the frequencies of CD4⁺ T cell subsets and disease activities as measured by DAS28. Again, only Tfh cells' frequency, but not others' showed a positive correlation with DAS28 values (*p*-value = 0.005) (**Figure 2**). The increase of the Tfh activation and the correlation between the aberrant Tfh differentiation and RA disease activity support the notion that Tfh cells participate in the pathogenesis of RA.

Hyperactivation of STAT3 in CD4⁺ T Cells Correlated With Tfh Differentiation in RA Patients

The increase of Tfh cells in RA was reported in previous studies (15-19) and confirmed in our cohort. However, the reason that caused such immune dysregulation remained unknown. We hypothesized the constitutive activation of STAT3 in RA (25-28) could promote the Tfh differentiation since STAT3 is pivotal for the generation of Tfh cells (5). We took the advantage of Phosflow to quantify the phosphorylation of STAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells. We could detect substantial expression of pSTAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells but not in B cells (Figure 3A). Importantly, the expression of pSTAT3 in CD4+ T cells from RA patients (mean value: 27.0%) was 2.4-fold higher than that of CD4⁺ T cells from healthy controls (mean value: 11.4%) (p = 0.002) (Figure 3B). We did not detect any difference of pSTAT3 expression in B cells between the two groups. We further analyzed the expression on pSTAT3 in each CD4⁺ T cell subset as shown in Figure 1A. To our surprise, all CD4⁺ T cell subsets had significantly higher



FIGURE 1 | Increased follicular helper T (Tfh) cell differentiation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells from RA patients and healthy control individuals (HC) were analyzed by flow cytometry. (A) FACS plots showing the gating of ZA⁻ TCRab⁺ CD4⁺ viable CD4⁺ T cells for Treg (CD25⁻rCD45RA⁺CD62L⁺), Th1 (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁺CCR6⁻CCR4⁻), Th2 (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁻CCR6⁺CCR4⁺), Th17 (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁻CCR6⁺CCR4⁺), and Tfh (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR5⁺PD⁻1⁺). (B) Statistics showing the percentages of CD4⁺ T cell subsets in total CD4⁺ T cells. Each dot represents the value of an individual subject with columns showing the mean values of each group. The *p*-values were obtained using Student's *t*-tests.



level of pSTAT3 in RA patients than those in HC (**Figure 3C**). There was an approximate twofold increase of pSTAT3 in each of CD4⁺ T cell subsets in RA as compared to those in healthy controls (**Figure 3D**).

We then asked whether the phosphorylation of STAT3 associated with the generation of Tfh cells or other CD4+ T cell subsets in RA. By analyzing the relationship between the pSTAT3 expression in total CD4+ T cells and the frequencies of CD4⁺ T cell subsets, we could only detect a modest but significant correlation between the status of STAT3 phosphorylation in CD4⁺ T cells and the Tfh generation (*p*-value = 0.047) (Figure 4A). Intriguingly, we also detected a specific correlation of between STAT3 phosphorylation in CD4+ T cells and Tfh frequencies in HC (Figure S2 in Supplementary Material). It was possible that the differentiation of each CD4⁺ T cells might be more specifically affected by the phosphorylation of STAT3 in their own. To test this, we performed a similar study to examine the relationship between the pSTAT3 expression in individual CD4⁺ T cell subset and their frequencies. The STAT3 phosphorylation showed no correlation with the frequencies of naïve, Treg, Th1, Th2, or Th17 cells. The correlation with Tfh cells, nevertheless, became more obvious (p-value = 0.009) (**Figure 4B**). The results strongly suggest the hyperactivated STAT3 drove the Tfh differentiation in patients with RA.

In addition to dissecting a role of the STAT3 pathway in regulating CD4⁺ T cell differentiation, we also tested whether the status of STAT3 phosphorylation might affect the disease severity. We found a clear correlation between patients' disease activities and the pSTAT3 expression, not only in total CD4⁺ T cells

(Figure 5A) but also in each CD4⁺ T cell subsets (Figure 5B). This indicates the contribution of STAT3 hyperactivation to RA is not limited to a specific CD4⁺ T cell population, but rather broad.

STAT3-Stimulating Cytokines Were Elevated in RA Patients

Cytokines IL-6, IL-10, IL-21, and leptin can activate STAT3 phosphorylation in CD4⁺ T cells (31, 32). Could these cytokines induce the enhanced STAT3 phosphorylation in RA patients? We first measured the production of these cytokines in RA patients' plasma. Results by ELISA demonstrated upregulated production of all four cytokines with the most prominent increase for IL-6: a 7.3-fold upregulation from 6.6 ± 1.1 pg/mL in healthy individuals to $48.06 \pm 8.9 \text{ pg/mL}$ in RA patients (Figure 6A). The increase for IL-10, IL-21, and leptin was about twofold (Figures 6B-D). To define the contribution of the elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines to the hyperactivation of STAT3 and the disease activities, we analyzed the relationship between cytokine levels and the disease activity DAS28 or the pSTAT3 expression. IL-6 levels significantly correlated with DAS28 (p-value = 0.006) and pSTAT3 (p-value < 0.001) (Figure 7A). Other cytokines also showed general trends for positive correlations but not significant (Figures 7B–D). These results spotlight a central role of IL-6 in inducing pSTAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells and for the development of the disease. We also test whether there was a relationship between the Tfh frequency and any of these STAT3-stimulating cytokines but could not identify any substantial link. We thus conclude that although the Tfh differentiation in RA patients is critically



The expression of intracellular phosphorylation of signal transducer and adviator of transcription 3 (STATs) in CD4⁺ T cells include a result in the unitable artificial (rA). The expression of intracellular phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3) was analyzed using Phosflow assays in CD4⁺ T cells and B cells from RA patients. (**A**) FACS plots showing representative staining patterns for pSTAT3 (empty histograms) and an isotype control antibody (filled histograms) of indicated immune cell types; Numbers indicating the percentages of the pSTAT3 positive population. (**B**) Statistics showing the percentages of pSTAT3 positive population in total ZA-CD3⁺ CD1⁺ viable B cells and ZA⁺ TCRab⁺ CD4⁺ viable CD4⁺ T cells from RA or HC groups. (**C**) FACS plots showing representative staining patterns for pSTAT3 and an isotype control antibody of indicated CD4⁺ T cell subsets; numbers indicating the percentages of the pSTAT3 positive population. (**D**) Statistics showing the percentages of pSTAT3 positive population in indicated CD4⁺ T cell subsets from RA or HC groups. Each dot represents the value of an individual subject with columns showing the mean value of each group. The *p*-values were obtained using Student's *t*-tests.

driven by the STAT3 phosphorylation, it may not depend on a single cytokine. A synergistic effect of multiple cytokines or other signals are candidate mechanisms.

DISCUSSION

CD4⁺ T cells have long been regarded as a key player in the pathogenesis of RA (29). Indeed, genetic variants in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) region, especially MHC class II *HLA-DRB1* genes contribute to the overall 11–37% genetic risk of RA. Non-HLA genes encoding molecules directly involved in pathways of T-cell function including *PTPN22*, *IL23R*, *CTLA4*, *STAT4*, and *CD40* are also ranked high in the identified RA-risk loci (33). Although early studies discovered synovial effector CD4⁺ T cells predominantly produce Th1 cytokines IFNγ and

 $TNF\alpha$ (34), more recent research has been focusing on later discovered CD4+ T cell subsets: Th17 and Tfh cells.

In the cohort of RA patients we examined, there was a significant increase of CXCR5⁺PD-1⁺ memory Tfh cells in blood, as compared to that of healthy controls. The frequency of Tfh cells positively correlated with the disease activities, as measured by DAS28. This observation was largely in agreement with several published reports showing the aberrant function of Tfh cells in RA patients (15–19). The circulating memory Tfh cells can be analyzed in two different ways (35, 36). Studies using CXCR5⁺PD-1⁺ or CXCR5⁺ICOS⁺ to mark Tfh cells indicated an active Tfh differentiation in RA (15, 16, 18) while those applying CCR6 and CCR3 to stratify Tfh cells demonstrated a biased Tfh polarization into CXCR5⁺CCR6⁺CXCR3⁻ (Th17type Tfh) and/or CXCR5⁺CCR6⁻CXCR3⁻ (Th2-type Tfh)



FIGURE 4 | Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) hyperactivation correlates with aberrant follicular helper T (Tfh) differentiation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Statistics showing the relationship between the frequencies of indicated CD4⁺ T cell subsets with the phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3) expression in total CD4⁺ T cells (A) or in each individual subsets (B) in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with RA. The correlation was determined using Spearman's correlation coefficient.

subsets in RA patients (18, 19). Despite different analytic methodologies, such evidence strongly supports a significant contribution of Tfh cells to systemic inflammation and autoimmunity that drive the development of RA. To be noted, the phenotype of circulating Tfh cells is different from B-helper T cells infiltrated in inflammatory synovial tissues in RA. The latter CD4⁺ T cell population, though expressing conventional Tfh markers including PD-1, ICOS, CXCL13, and IL-21, do not upregulate CXCR5 (37). It remains unclear whether these B-helper T cells in joints also participate in systemic immune activation in RA. There is a major question left unanswered by the studies that characterized Tfh cells in RA patients—what induces the aberrant Tfh differentiation? We set to test the hypothesis that the constitutive activation of STAT3 in RA led to enhanced Tfh differentiation. By measuring the phosphorylation of STAT3, we found a drastic increase of pSTAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells but not in B cells. The increase of pSTAT3 was detected in all CD4⁺ T cell subsets with highest phosphorylation status in naïve CD4⁺ T cells. In human CD4⁺ T cells, naïve CD4⁺ T cells were shown to express a lower level of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), which interacts with cytokine receptors and



inhibits receptor-mediated signal transduction (38). As the induction of SOCS3 represents the key mechanism to block the activation of STAT3 (39), the low expression of SOCS3 may lead to a high pSTAT3 in naïve CD4⁺ T cells. For effector CD4⁺ T cell subsets, pSTAT3 was detected lowest in Th1 cells, reflecting the fact that STAT3 functions to promote Th2, Th17, and Tfh differentiation but inhibit Th1 differentiation (22, 23, 39–43). Despite the high levels of pSTAT3 in all three subsets, the intensity of pSTAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells only correlated with the frequency of Tfh cells but not Th2 or Th17 cells, suggesting redundant factors other than STAT3 potently regulate Th2 and Th17 differentiation. The key role of pSTAT3 in promoting the Tfh generation was further recognized by a strong correlation between the frequency of Tfh cells and the pSTAT3 expression in Tfh cells.

Since the STAT3 hyperactivation was observed across all CD4⁺ T cells, we believe it was caused a systemic change of the immune system that is not specific for certain subsets. We measured the

serum concentrations of cytokines IL-6, IL-10, IL-21, and leptin, all of which have been shown to induce the phosphorylation of STAT3 in T cells (31, 32). All of these cytokines were upregulated in RA patients as compared to healthy controls, with a prominent increase of IL-6 for more than sevenfold. By analyzing the correlation between the plasma cytokine concentrations and the pSTAT3 status in CD4⁺ T cells, IL-6 appears to play a central role in determining the activation of STAT3 in CD4+ T cells. Other cytokines may synergistically enhance pSTAT3 as there were general trends for positive correlations. It has been previously shown that serum IL-21 concentrations modestly correlated with the frequencies of Tfh cells in RA patients (44). In our cohort, we also observed a similar trend of positive correlation between IL-21 concentration and Tfh activation, but it was not statistically significant (p-value = 0.06). There were no significant correlation between the frequency of Tfh cells and the concentration of any of tested STAT3-activating cytokines. It could be well explained by the fact that the Tfh differentiation is



3-stimulating cytokines in the plasma of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients. Plasma was isolated from blood from RA patients and healthy controls. The amount of IL-6 (A), IL-10 (B), IL-21 (C), and leptin (D) was measured by ELISA. Each dot represents the value of an individual subject with columns showing the mean values of each group. The *p*-values were obtained using Student' *t*-tests.

induced by the combination of multiple cytokines (20). It is also possible that cytokines may preferably execute in supporting Tfh differentiation in local lymphoid tissue spleen and lymph nodes so the plasma concentrations were not always representative of its tissue concentrations.

Our study revealed an IL-6-pSTAT3-Tfh axis in regulating immune responses in RA patients. As the status of each of three components individually correlated with the disease activity indicator DAS 28, this immunoregulatory axis is likely to reside proximal to the center of RA pathogenesis. Therapeutics have been developed to target this axis including monoclonal antibodies to block IL-6 and small molecules to inhibit Janus kinases (JAKs) that act upstream of the STAT3 pathway. IL-6 blockers such as tocilizumab and JAK inhibitors such as tofacitinib have demonstrated profound efficacies and been approved to treat RA (45). Intriguingly, tocilizumab therapy was shown not only reducing pSTAT3 in CD4⁺ T cells (46) but also inhibiting the Tfh differentiation (47). The evidence gained here and those from previous studies justify targeting the IL-6-pSTAT3-Tfh axis for biomarker discovery and drug development for RA diagnosis and therapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Subjects

Thirty-one patients diagnosed as RA according to the 2010 RA classification criteria by American College of Rheumatology/

European League Against Rheumatism (48) were recruited. The cohort included both newly diagnosed patients (n = 4) and patients with long-standing disease (n = 27). No patients had a history of treatment with biologic agents or high-dose corticosteroids (>10 mg/day) 6 months preceding the study. Thirty healthy individuals with comparable demographics were recruited as controls. All participants consented in writing to donate blood for the study. Ethics was approved by human ethics committees of Renji Hospital and Ruijin Hospital affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (Shanghai, China) and Affiliated Hospital of Hubei University for Nationalities (Hubei, China).

Isolation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs) and Plasma

Blood from healthy individuals and patients with RA were collected in BD Vacutainer[®] Blood Collection Tubes (BD). After the centrifugation (300 g, 20°C, 5 min), plasma was collected and stored in -80° C for further analysis. Cells were diluted with PBS (1:1), and gently loaded to Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE) layer at the ratio of 1:1 (PBS + blood cells:Ficoll), followed by density gradient centrifugation (450 g, 20°C, 20 min, no brake). Mononuclear cell layer was transferred to a new tube and washed with cold PBS. Cells were suspended in cold FACS buffer (1% BSA, 0.05% NaN3) for further analysis.

Flow Cytometric Analysis

Freshly isolated PBMCs were incubated with following fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies in FACS buffer for surface staining. Antibodies (from BD Biosciences and BioLegend) were TCR $\alpha\beta$ (clone IP26), CXCR3 (clone G025H7), CD45RA (clone HI100), CD3 (clone UCHT1), PD-1 (clone EH12.2H7), CD19 (clone SJ25C1), CCR6 (clone 11A9), CD8a (clone SK1), CCR4 (clone L291H4), CD62L (clone DREG-56), CD25 (clone BC96), CXCR5 (clone RF8B2), CD4 (clone RPA-T4), and dead cells stained with Zombie Aqua were excluded from analysis. After the surface staining, cells were washed with FACS buffer and then fixed with pre-warmed PhosflowTM Fix Buffer I (BD) in 37°C for 15 min. Cells were washed and resuspended in pre-chilled Phosflow Perm Buffer III (BD) in 4°C for 25 min. After wash, cells were stained with anti-pSTAT3 (BD, clone 4/ pSTAT3) at 37°C for 30 min to detect pSTAT3 (pY705). The same procedure was performed to stain with an isotype control antibody (BD, clone G155-178). The expression of surface markers and intracellular pSTAT3 were analyzed by a FACS analyser (LSRFortessa X-20, BD). The results were analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar).

ELISA

Cytokines in plasma samples were measured by ELISA kits (Biolegend: IL-6 and IL-21; Invitrogen: IL-10; R&D systems: leptin) following the manufacturers' protocol. Plasma was diluted at 1:5 for IL-6, IL-10, and IL-21 and 1:100 for leptin, using ELISA diluent (1% BSA in PBS-T). Standards and diluted-plasma samples were incubated at room temperature for 2 h, followed by incubations with detecting antibodies



activities measured by DAS28 or the frequency of Tfh cells with the amount of plasma IL-6 (A), IL-10 (B), IL-21 (C), or leptin (D). The correlation was determined using Spearman's correlation coefficient.

and streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase. The substrate 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine was added before the values of optical densities were obtained by a microplate reader (SpectraMax 190, Molecular Devices).

Quantitative PCR

Naïve (CD25⁻CD45RA⁺CD62L⁺), Th1 (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁺ CCR6⁻CCR4⁻),Th2(CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁻CCR6⁻CCR4⁺),and Th17 (CD25⁻CD45RA⁻CXCR3⁻CCR6⁺CCR4⁺) cells were sorted with a FACS cell sorter (BD Aria III). mRNA samples were extracted with Trizol reagents, and cDNA were synthesized with cDNA Synthesis Kit (Takara). Following, *Tbx21* forward 5'-ATTGCCG TGACTGCCTACCAGA-3' and reverse 5'-GGAATTGACAGT TGGGTCCAGG-3'; *Gata3* forward 5'-ACCACAACCACACTC TGGAGGA-3' and reverse 5'-TCGGTTTCTGGTCTGGATG CCT-3'; *Rorc* forward 5'-GAGGAAGTGACTGGCTACCAGA-3' and reverse 5'-GCACAATCTGGTCATTCTGGCAG-3'; *Ifng* forward5'-GAGTGTGGAGACCATCAAGGAAG-3' and reverse 5'-TGCTTTGCGTTGGACATTCAAGTC-3'; *Il4* forward 5'-CC GTAACAGACATCTTTGCTGCC-3' and reverse 5'-GAGTGTC CTTCTCATGGTGGCT-3'; *Il17a* forward 5'-CGGACTGTGA TGGTCAACCTGA-3' and reverse 5'-GCACTTTGCCTCCA GATCACA-3'; *Gapdh* forward 5'-GTCTCCTCTGACTTCAAC AGCG-3' and reverse 5'-ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAA-3', were used to measure the transcript levels using SYBR (Takara) with a Real-Time PCR Systems (QuantStudio 7 Flex, ABI). Relative fold change of gene expression was calculated by $2^{-(DCT experiment-DCT control)}$. DCT = CT^{gene of interest} – CT^{GAPDH}.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed with GraphPad Prism (version 7.0, GraphPad Software). The correlations of indicated parameters were

determined by Spearman's correlation coefficient. Two-tailed *t*-tests were used to compare parameters between healthy individuals and RA patients. Results were considered statistically significant when *p*-values < 0.05.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethics was approved by human ethics committees of Renji Hospital and Ruijin Hospital affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (Shanghai, China) and Affiliated Hospital of Hubei University for Nationalities (Hubei, China).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DY, JD, XC, and LLu conceived the study. DY, JD, and XG designed the experiments. XC, LLu, CF, RG, JF, YX, SX, SG, LY, WeiS, WenyanS, LLin, TJ, and DH helped to recruit patients and collect samples. JD, XG, QZ, DG, ZC, YC, and YW performed experiments and collected data. JD, XG, CF, LLu, XC, and DY interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript. All authors approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- Smolen JS, Aletaha D, McInnes IB. Rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet (2016) 388:2023–38. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30173-8
- Malmstrom V, Catrina AI, Klareskog L. The immunopathogenesis of seropositive rheumatoid arthritis: from triggering to targeting. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2017) 17:60–75. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.124
- McInnes IB, Schett G. Cytokines in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:429–42. doi:10.1038/nri2094
- Mankia K, Emery P. Preclinical rheumatoid arthritis: progress toward prevention. Arthritis Rheumatol (2016) 68:779–88. doi:10.1002/art.39603
- Vinuesa CG, Linterman MA, Yu D, MacLennan IC. Follicular helper T cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2016) 34:335–68. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-041015-055605
- Linterman MA, Rigby RJ, Wong RK, Yu D, Brink R, Cannons JL, et al. Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206:561–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20081886
- Yu D, Vinuesa CG. Multiple checkpoints keep follicular helper T cells under control to prevent autoimmunity. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2010) 7:198–203. doi:10.1038/cmi.2010.18
- Craft JE. Follicular helper T cells in immunity and systemic autoimmunity. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2012) 8:337–47. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2012.58
- Zhong MC, Veillette A. The adaptor molecule signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM)-associated protein (SAP) is essential in mechanisms involving the Fyn tyrosine kinase for induction and progression of collagen-induced arthritis. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:31423–36. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M113.473736
- Moschovakis GL, Bubke A, Friedrichsen M, Falk CS, Feederle R, Forster R. T cell specific Cxcr5 deficiency prevents rheumatoid arthritis. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:8933. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-08935-6
- Victoratos P, Kollias G. Induction of autoantibody-mediated spontaneous arthritis critically depends on follicular dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2009) 30:130–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.10.019
- Block KE, Zheng Z, Dent AL, Kee BL, Huang H. Gut microbiota regulates K/BxN autoimmune arthritis through follicular helper T but not Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2016) 196:1550–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501904
- Chevalier N, Macia L, Tan JK, Mason LJ, Robert R, Thorburn AN, et al. The role of follicular helper T cell molecules and environmental influences in autoantibody production and progression to inflammatory arthritis in mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68:1026–38. doi:10.1002/art.39481

FUNDING

The authors thank the funding supports by the National Key Research and Development Program of China (2017YFC0909003 to DY), National Basic Research Program of China 973 Program (2014CB541903 to DY), National Natural Science Foundation of China (31600708 to JD, 81429003 to DY, 81771729 to XC), the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (GNT1147769 to DY), the Special Foundation of Taishan Overseas Distinguished Experts and Scholars (DY), the Shandong Provincial Natural Science Foundation, China (ZR2016YL013 to DY, ZR2015YL005 to DY and YW), the Priority Research Program of the Shandong Academy of Sciences (DY and YW). DY is supported by the Bellberry-Viertel Senior Medical Research Fellowship and intramural funds from Renji Hospital and The Australian National University.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01226/full#supplementary-material.

- Teng F, Klinger CN, Felix KM, Bradley CP, Wu E, Tran NL, et al. Gut microbiota drive autoimmune arthritis by promoting differentiation and migration of peyer's patch T follicular helper cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44:875–88. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.03.013
- Ma J, Zhu C, Ma B, Tian J, Baidoo SE, Mao C, et al. Increased frequency of circulating follicular helper T cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:827480. doi:10.1155/2012/827480
- He J, Tsai LM, Leong YA, Hu X, Ma CS, Chevalier N, et al. Circulating precursor CCR7(lo)PD-1(hi) CXCR5(+) CD4(+) T cells indicate Tfh cell activity and promote antibody responses upon antigen reexposure. *Immunity* (2013) 39:770–81. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.09.007
- Wang J, Shan Y, Jiang Z, Feng J, Li C, Ma L, et al. High frequencies of activated B cells and T follicular helper cells are correlated with disease activity in patients with new-onset rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 174:212–20. doi:10.1111/cei.12162
- Arroyo-Villa I, Bautista-Caro MB, Balsa A, Aguado-Acin P, Bonilla-Hernan MG, Plasencia C, et al. Constitutively altered frequencies of circulating follicullar helper T cell counterparts and their subsets in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2014) 16:500. doi:10.1186/s13075-014-0500-6
- Singh D, Henkel M, Sendon B, Feng J, Fabio A, Metes D, et al. Analysis of CXCR5(+)Th17 cells in relation to disease activity and TNF inhibitor therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:39474. doi:10.1038/srep39474
- Ueno H, Banchereau J, Vinuesa CG. Pathophysiology of T follicular helper cells in humans and mice. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:142–52. doi:10.1038/ni.3054
- Locci M, Wu JE, Arumemi F, Mikulski Z, Dahlberg C, Miller AT, et al. Activin A programs the differentiation of human TFH cells. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17:976–84. doi:10.1038/ni.3494
- Ray JP, Marshall HD, Laidlaw BJ, Staron MM, Kaech SM, Craft J. Transcription factor STAT3 and type I interferons are corepressive insulators for differentiation of follicular helper and T helper 1 cells. *Immunity* (2014) 40:367–77. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.005
- Ma CS, Avery DT, Chan A, Batten M, Bustamante J, Boisson-Dupuis S, et al. Functional STAT3 deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. *Blood* (2012) 119:3997–4008. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-11-392985
- Flanagan SE, Haapaniemi E, Russell MA, Caswell R, Allen HL, De Franco E, et al. Activating germline mutations in STAT3 cause early-onset multi-organ autoimmune disease. *Nat Genet* (2014) 46:812–4. doi:10.1038/ng.3040
- 25. Pratt AG, Swan DC, Richardson S, Wilson G, Hilkens CM, Young DA, et al. A CD4 T cell gene signature for early rheumatoid arthritis implicates

interleukin 6-mediated STAT3 signalling, particularly in anti-citrullinated peptide antibody-negative disease. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2012) 71:1374–81. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-200968

- Isomaki P, Junttila I, Vidqvist KL, Korpela M, Silvennoinen O. The activity of JAK-STAT pathways in rheumatoid arthritis: constitutive activation of STAT3 correlates with interleukin 6 levels. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2015) 54:1103–13. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu430
- Kuuliala K, Kuuliala A, Koivuniemi R, Oksanen S, Hamalainen M, Moilanen E, et al. Constitutive STAT3 phosphorylation in circulating CD4+ T lymphocytes associates with disease activity and treatment response in recent-onset rheumatoid arthritis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0137385. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0137385
- Anderson AE, Pratt AG, Sedhom MA, Doran JP, Routledge C, Hargreaves B, et al. IL-6-driven STAT signalling in circulating CD4+ lymphocytes is a marker for early anticitrullinated peptide antibody-negative rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2016) 75:466–73. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205850
- Cope AP. T cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2008) 10(Suppl 1): S1. doi:10.1186/ar2412
- He J, Zhang X, Wei Y, Sun X, Chen Y, Deng J, et al. Low-dose interleukin-2 treatment selectively modulates CD4(+) T cell subsets in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:991–3. doi:10.1038/nm.4148
- O'Shea JJ, Schwartz DM, Villarino AV, Gadina M, McInnes IB, Laurence A. The JAK-STAT pathway: impact on human disease and therapeutic intervention. *Annu Rev Med* (2015) 66:311–28. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-051113-024537
- Naylor C, Petri WA Jr. Leptin regulation of immune responses. Trends Mol Med (2016) 22:88–98. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2015.12.001
- Kim K, Bang SY, Lee HS, Bae SC. Update on the genetic architecture of rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2017) 13:13–24. doi:10.1038/ nrrheum.2016.176
- Firestein GS. Evolving concepts of rheumatoid arthritis. Nature (2003) 423:356–61. doi:10.1038/nature01661
- Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ueno H. Phenotype and functions of memory Tfh cells in human blood. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35:436–42. doi:10.1016/j.it.2014.06.002
- Tsai LM, Yu D. Follicular helper T-cell memory: establishing new frontiers during antibody response. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) 92:57–63. doi:10.1038/ icb.2013.68
- Rao DA, Gurish MF, Marshall JL, Slowikowski K, Fonseka CY, Liu Y, et al. Pathologically expanded peripheral T helper cell subset drives B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature* (2017) 542:110–4. doi:10.1038/nature20810
- Kleinsteuber K, Heesch K, Schattling S, Sander-Juelch C, Mock U, Riecken K, et al. SOCS3 promotes interleukin-17 expression of human T cells. *Blood* (2012) 120:4374–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-11-392738
- Hillmer EJ, Zhang H, Li HS, Watowich SS. STAT3 signaling in immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2016) 31:1–15. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr. 2016.05.001

- Takeda K, Clausen BE, Kaisho T, Tsujimura T, Terada N, Forster I, et al. Enhanced Th1 activity and development of chronic enterocolitis in mice devoid of Stat3 in macrophages and neutrophils. *Immunity* (1999) 10:39–49. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80005-9
- Yang XO, Panopoulos AD, Nurieva R, Chang SH, Wang D, Watowich SS, et al. STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. J Biol Chem (2007) 282:9358–63. doi:10.1074/jbc.C600321200
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:967–74. doi:10.1038/ ni1488
- Stritesky GL, Muthukrishnan R, Sehra S, Goswami R, Pham D, Travers J, et al. The transcription factor STAT3 is required for T helper 2 cell development. *Immunity* (2011) 34:39–49. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.013
- Liu R, Wu Q, Su D, Che N, Chen H, Geng L, et al. A regulatory effect of IL-21 on T follicular helper-like cell and B cell in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2012) 14:R255. doi:10.1186/ar4100
- 45. Misra DP, Agarwal V, Sharma A, Wakhlu A, Negi VS. 2016 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis: a Utopia beyond patients in low/middle income countries? *Ann Rheum Dis* (2017) 76:e47. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211446
- 46. Saito S, Suzuki K, Yoshimoto K, Kaneko Y, Matsumoto Y, Yamaoka K, et al. A new bioassay for measuring the strength of IL-6/STAT3 signal inhibition by tocilizumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2017) 19:231. doi:10.1186/s13075-017-1434-6
- Chavele KM, Merry E, Ehrenstein MR. Cutting edge: circulating plasmablasts induce the differentiation of human T follicular helper cells via IL-6 production. J Immunol (2015) 194:2482–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401190
- Aletaha D, Neogi T, Silman AJ, Funovits J, Felson DT, Bingham CO III, et al. 2010 rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League against rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Arthritis Rheum* (2010) 62:2569–81. doi:10.1002/art.27584

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Deng, Fan, Gao, Zeng, Guo, Wei, Chen, Chen, Gong, Feng, Xia, Xiang, Gong, Yuan, Shen, Shen, Lin, Jiang, He, Lu, Chen and Yu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Potential Pathways Associated With Exaggerated T Follicular Helper Response in Human Autoimmune Diseases

Shu Horiuchi¹ and Hideki Ueno^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Microbiology, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ² Global Health and Emerging Pathogens Institute, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States

Convincing lines of evidence in both mice and humans show that exaggerated T follicular helper (Tfh) responses is pathogenic in autoimmune diseases. However, the cause of exaggerated Tfh response in humans is still much less clear than in mouse models where genetic factors can be manipulated for *in vivo* testing. Nonetheless, recent advances in our understanding on the mechanisms of human Tfh differentiation and identification of multiple risk loci in genome-wide association studies have revealed several pathways potentially associated with exaggerated Tfh response in human autoimmune diseases. In this review, we will first briefly summarize the differentiation mechanisms of Tfh cells in humans. We describe the features of "Tfh-like" cells recently identified in inflamed tissues of human autoimmune diseases. Then we will discuss how risk loci identified in GWAS are potentially involved in exaggerated Tfh response in human autoimmune diseases.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raffi Gugasyan, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Tam Quach, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, United States Stuart G. Tangye, Garvan Institute of Medical Research, Australia

*Correspondence:

Hideki Ueno hideki.ueno@mssm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 February 2018 Accepted: 02 July 2018 Published: 16 July 2018

Citation:

Horiuchi S and Ueno H (2018) Potential Pathways Associated With Exaggerated T Follicular Helper Response in Human Autoimmune Diseases. Front. Immunol. 9:1630. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01630 Keywords: T follicular helper, autoimmune diseases, IRF5, TNFSF4, STAT4, ustekinumab, IL-23, IL-12

INTRODUCTION: T FOLLICULAR HELPER (Tfh) CELLS

T follicular helper cells represent a CD4⁺ T cell subset that plays fundamental roles for antibody responses against protein antigens [see also previous reviews for Ref. (1–4)]. Th cells are critical for the generation of antibody responses as well as for the establishment of long-lived and high-affinity B cell clones. The most mature Th cells reside in germinal centers (GC) in secondary lymphoid organs and provide help specifically to high-affinity B cells that have undergone somatic hypermutations within the GCs. The selected B cells undergo clonal expansion and eventually differentiate into long-lived plasma cells and memory B cells. Less mature Th cells also interact with antigen-presenting B cells outside GCs and induce B cell proliferation and differentiation into antibody producing cells. Among them, extrafollicular helper cells, another Th-lineage CD4⁺ T cell subset, induce the differentiation of extrafollicular plasma cells. This extrafollicular mechanism mainly contributes to the early generation of specific antibodies after antigen challenge. Extrafollicular helper cells share the phenotype, gene profiles, and the functions with GC Th cells.

T follicular helper cells and their precursors are endowed with features to perform these tasks (1–4). After interacting with antigen-presenting dendritic cells (DCs) in T cell-rich area of secondary lymphoid organs, Tfh precursors increase the expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR5 and the G protein-coupled receptor S1PR2, while decreasing the expression of CCR7 and the selectin ligand PSGL1. These changes in the cell surface molecular profile are required for their migration toward and retention within B cell follicles enriched with the chemokine CXCL13. Tfh cells produce

100

large amounts of IL-21, which potently promotes the growth, differentiation, and class-switching of B cells (5, 6). Th cells in GCs express high levels of inducible co-stimulator (ICOS), a costimulatory molecule crucial for their interactions with B cells. CD40 ligand (CD40L) expressed by Th cells provides signals to B cells through CD40 for their differentiation and class-switching. The surface markers commonly used to define human GC Th cells and their precursors in lymphoid organs are CXCR5, ICOS, and PD-1. GC Th cells express these molecules at high levels, whereas their precursors express at low levels (**Table 1**). CD127 and CCR7 are expressed by Th precursors, but not by GC Th cells (7). The combination of CXCR5 and PD-1 is often used to define GC Th cells and their precursors also in mice, but ICOS can be broadly expressed by activated CD4⁺ T cells in lymphoid organs (8) and is rarely used to define mouse GC Th cells.

Prolonged Tfh response results in enhanced generation of mature Tfh cells and/or extrafollicular helper cells, and eventually

TABLE 1 | Cell surface makers commonly used to define T follicular helper (Tfh) subsets in lymphoid organs.

	Humans		Mice	
	Germinal centers (GCs) Tfh	Pre Tfh	GC Tfh	Pre Tfh
CXCR5	++	+	++	+
PD-1	++	+	++	+
Inducible co-stimulator	++	+	+	+
CD127	_	+	-	+
CCR7	_	$- \sim \pm$	-	$- \sim \pm$

leads to autoimmunity (3, 4). This is convincingly demonstrated in many autoimmune-prone mouse models including Roquin^{san/} ^{san} mice, in which CD4⁺ T cells overexpress ICOS and excessive signals through ICOS cause exaggerated Tfh and GC responses (9). Molecular mechanisms for Tfh cell differentiation and the causal link of genetic mutations to exaggerated Tfh responses are relatively well defined in mice (3, 4). However, less is known for human autoimmune diseases. In this review, we will first summarize the differentiation mechanisms of Tfh cells in humans briefly. We will also summarize the features of pathogenic "Tfh-like" cells recently characterized in inflamed tissues of human autoimmune diseases. Last, we will discuss how risk loci identified in GWAS overlap with Tfh-differentiation pathway and how they are potentially associated with exaggerated Tfh response in human autoimmune diseases.

DIFFERENTIATION OF Tfh CELLS IN HUMANS

When interacting with antigen-presenting DCs, naïve CD4⁺ T cells receive signals *via* three major receptor families, which ultimately determine the fate of T cell differentiation: the T cell receptor (TCR, signal 1), receptors for co-stimulatory molecules (signal 2), and receptors for cytokines (signal 3). Recent studies show that each signal provides parameters that negatively and positively affect Tfh differentiation in humans and mice (**Figure 1**).

Signal 1: TCR

Studies in mice demonstrated that strong TCR signals are required for the differentiation of fully mature Tfh cells (8, 10). Consistent with this, stimulation with stronger TCR signals



FIGURE 1 | Factors that positively regulate human T follicular helper (Tfh) cell differentiation. When interacting with antigen-presenting dendritic cells (DCs), naïve CD4⁺ T cells receive signals *via* three major receptor families: the T cell receptor (TCR, signal 1), receptors for co-stimulatory molecules (signal 2), and receptors for cytokines (signal 3). For signal 1, evidence in both mice and humans shows that strong TCR signals promote Tfh cell differentiation. For signal 2, in addition to CD28 signals which is essential for optimal T cell activation, signals *via* inducible co-stimulator and 0x40 promote human naïve CD4⁺ T cells to express multiple Tfh molecules. For Signal 3, among inflammatory cytokines that activated DCs produce, IL-12 and IL-23 play dominant roles for human naïve CD4⁺ T cells to express Tfh molecules. The effect of IL-12 and IL-23 is further enhanced by the co-presence of TGF-β family molecules, TGF-β and Activin A. Given that TGF-β and Activin A are often highly expressed in human inflamed tissues, the source of these cytokines might be both from interacting DCs and from microenvironment.

in vitro induces human naïve CD4⁺ T cells to express higher levels of multiple Tfh molecules, including CXCR5, Bcl6, IL-21, and Ox40 (11). As demonstrated in experimental mouse models (8, 10), it is possible that human Tfh cell clones display relatively higher TCR affinity than non-Tfh cell clones, yet this remains to be tested.

Signal 2: Co-Stimulatory Molecules

Inducible co-stimulator is critically involved in Tfh cell biology at multiple levels, including the differentiation program at early stages (12, 13), their migration into B cell follicles (14), and the functions when interacting with B cells (15, 16). Patients with ICOS deficiency display severely impaired Tfh response accompanied by severely impaired memory B cell formation, indicating the essential role of ICOS in humans (17). Ox40 is another important co-stimulatory molecule promoting human Tfh cell differentiation. Ox40 signals together with TCR and CD28 signals promote human naïve and memory CD4+ T cells to express multiple Tfh molecules, including CXCR5, ICOS, PD-1, and Bcl6 (11). The direct contribution of Ox40 signals to Tfh cell differentiation was also recently demonstrated in mice with vaccinia viral infection (18). Unlike ICOS deficiency, however, loss-of-function (LOF) mutations in human Ox40 do not affect Tfh and antibody responses (19), suggesting that deficiency of Ox40 signals can be compensated by other mechanisms for Tfh differentiation. Instead, excessive Ox40 signals drive human CD4⁺ T cell differentiation toward Tfh cells and contribute to autoimmunity by increasing Tfh responses (11).

Signal 3: Cytokines

In humans, IL-12 produced by DCs is the major DC-derived cytokine driving human naïve CD4+ T cells to become Tfh-like cells (20-24). This is in contrast to mouse CD4⁺ T cells which acquire multiple features of Tfh cells in response to IL-6 and IL-21 (25, 26). Children who lack the expression of functional IL-12 receptor β1 chain, a common receptor for IL-12 and IL-23, display less Tfh cells and memory B cells in blood circulation and impaired GC formation in lymph nodes, providing in vivo evidence of the significance of this pathway for intact Tfh response in humans (21). Another important set of cytokines for human Tfh cell differentiation is TGF-β family cytokines TGF-β and Activin A, which activate the Smad signaling pathways including Smad2 and Smad3. Although only marginally effective by themselves, TGF-β and Activin A co-operate with IL-12 and IL-23 to promote human naïve CD4⁺ T cell differentiation toward the Tfh lineage (23, 27). TGF- β signals render STAT4 and STAT3 (activated by IL-12 and IL-23) to promote human naïve CD4+ T cells to acquire Tfh gene signature, while suppressing Th2 and regulatory T cell gene signatures (23). Furthermore, both TGF- β and Activin A also induce human CD4+ T cells to produce CXCL13 (27, 28), the major chemokine that human mature Tfh cells produce (7). TGF-β and Activin A are often strongly expressed in inflammatory sites, such as synovial fluid in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (29, 30). Of note, neither TGF- β nor Activin A, even in the presence of Tfh-promoting cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-21, induces Tfh molecules in mouse CD4+ T cells, and, therefore, this pathway is not shared in mice (23, 27).

Several cytokines are known to inhibit human Tfh cell differentiation. Type I (IFN- α , β , and ω) and type III (IFN- λ 1 and λ 2) interferons are potent inhibitors of Tfh cell differentiation in humans, and strongly diminish the expression of Tfh markers and gene signature by human naïve CD4⁺ T cells (23). This suggests that exaggerated Tfh cell responses in human autoimmune diseases with dominant IFN signature, such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), is not mediated by the direct effect of type I IFNs on T cells, but by an indirect effect on APCs. Type I IFNs promote human DCs to produce Tfh-promoting cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-23, and IL-6 (31). Similarly, mouse studies demonstrated that type I IFN signals act as an adjuvant for antibody responses by promoting DCs to produce IL-6 (32, 33).

In mice, the IL-2-STAT5-Blimp1 axis inhibits Tfh cell differentiation at multiple differentiation stages (34, 35), and deprivation of IL-2 signals in the microenvironment is important for Tfh cell differentiation (36). There is evidence that IL-2 suppresses also human Tfh cell differentiation. IL-2 inhibition by a neutralizing Ab increased CXCR5 expression by human naïve CD4⁺ T cells cultured in Tfh-promoting culture conditions in vitro (27). Furthermore, treatment with low dose IL-2 decreased CXCR5+PD-1+CCR710 cTfh cells in SLE accompanied with marked decrease of disease activity (37). It is of note, however, that it is unclear whether decrease of disease activity was dependent on decreased Tfh activity and whether decreased Tfh activity was the primary effect of IL-2 on Tfh cells. Current evidence highly suggests that the major target of low dose IL-2 treatment was Tregs. Low dose IL-2 treatment selectively induced STAT5 activation in Tregs but not conventional CD4+ T cells in vitro (38). In chronic GVHD patients, low dose IL-2 expanded circulating Treg frequency and their suppressive functions (38, 39). Therefore, it is possible that decrease of Tfh activity was secondary to increased activity of Tregs.

"Tfh-LIKE" CELLS IN INFLAMED TISSUES OF HUMAN AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

Recent studies have identified "Tfh-like" cells involved in autoantibody production in inflamed tissues of human autoimmune diseases. These T cells share properties with Tfh cells only partly. Characterization of CD4⁺ T cells in inflamed synovial tissues in RA patients revealed a massive expansion of CXCR5⁻PD-1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells. While these cells expressed many human Tfh markers, including IL-21, CXCL13, ICOS, CD84, TIGIT, and c-Maf, and were able to induce memory B cells to produce IgG in vitro, they lacked the expression of CXCR5 and Bcl6. CXCR5-PD-1+ cells instead expressed Blimp-1 and the chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR5, and CX3CR1 (40). Analysis of inflamed salivary glands in Sjogren's syndrome showed an increase of CXCR5⁻ ICOS⁺ CCR9⁺ CD4⁺ T cells. CCR9⁺ CD4⁺ T cells isolated from blood samples of patients produced IL-21 upon activation and were capable of inducing memory B cells to produce IgG (41). These studies

suggest that the precise nature of B helper T cells associated with autoantibody production in inflamed tissues might differ among diseases, likely reflecting the differences in microenvironment. The chemokine receptors and integrins expressed by these "Tfh-like" cells might be critically involved for their migration to and retention in inflammatory tissues. It will be important to clarify how the developmental mechanisms and the functional regulations of "Tfh-like" cells are different from Tfh cells in lymphoid organs.

TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR NETWORK IN Tfh CELL DIFFERENTIATION

CD4⁺ T cell differentiation is controlled by transcription factors which govern the expression of a set of target genes. Recent studies in mice identified a number of transcription factors and pathways that affect Tfh cell differentiation. Transcription factors positively regulate Tfh cell differentiation include Bcl6, Ascl2, Batf, cMaf, IRF4, STAT3, STAT1, STAT4, NOTCH1, NOTCH2, Tcf1, and Lef1 (42-48). Among these, Bcl6 is specifically required for the differentiation of Tfh cells, but not other CD4⁺ T cell subsets (7, 44, 49–51). The transcription factor Blimp-1, an antagonist of Bcl6, inhibits Tfh cell differentiation (51). Genome-wide analysis of Bcl6-binding sites by using ChIP-Seq demonstrated that Bcl6 binds to genes associated with the differentiation of other CD4⁺ T cell lineages, including Th1, Th2, Th17, and Tregs, and genes that negatively affect CD4⁺ T cell localization in GCs (52). Thus, Bcl6 primarily acts as a repressor to inhibit the differentiation toward other CD4+ T cell lineages and to diminish the molecules that exclude CD4⁺ T cells from GCs (49-52). Interestingly, many genes repressed by Bcl6 contained AP1 and STAT motifs but lacked Bcl6 motif, suggesting that AP1 and STAT recruit Bcl6 to the target sites and repress the target genes (52).

RISK LOCI IDENTIFIED IN GWAS OF AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES AND THEIR POTENTIAL ASSOCIATION WITH EXAGGERATED Tfh RESPONSE

The genome-wide association studies (53) are an experimental design used to detect associations between genetic variants and traits including diseases in samples from populations (54). GWAS in autoimmune diseases have successfully identified loci associated with an increase or a decrease of risk (53-55). A fraction of the identified risk loci is located within or in the proximity of genes encoding transcription factors and cell surface molecules expressed by T cells and/or antigen-presenting cells. How risk haplotypes are associated with their dysregulated function and linked to the immunological consequences largely remains to be established. Nonetheless, several key risk loci are located in the proximity of genes that regulate Tfh differentiation in humans, and thus might contribute to the exaggerated Tfh response in human autoimmune diseases. Here we focus on three genes, STAT4, IRF5, and TNFSF4, which are identified and validated as risk loci in GWAS in multiple autoantibody mediated autoimmune diseases with a strong disease association at the genome-wide *p* value of at least 5×10^{-8} (**Figure 2**).

STAT4

STAT4 is among the top risk loci (other than HLA genes) identified in GWAS on SLE, RA, and Sjogren's syndrome (56). STAT4 is dominantly activated by IL-12 and to a lesser extent by IL-23 and type I IFNs (57). As discussed above, the IL-12–STAT4 pathway strongly promotes Tfh cell differentiation in humans. Human naïve CD4⁺ T cells primed in the presence of IL-12 highly upregulate expression of multiple Tfh molecules (21, 58), which are inhibited by decreasing STAT4 expression by specific siRNA transfection (22, 23). STAT4 in CD4⁺ T cells in the proximity



by human CD4+ T cells. STAT4 risk loci might affect the activity and/or stability of STAT4 and might enhance the signals of IL-12 and IL-23.

of GCs in inflamed human tonsils is strongly phosphorylated, indicating that the IL-12–STAT4 pathway is active *in situ* (23). Previous studies showed that DCs and macrophages in inflamed lymphoid organs and tissues of autoimmune diseases express IL-12 and IL-23 (31). It is plausible that STAT4 allele variants [such as rs11889341-T in SLE (59)] might be directly involved in the exaggeration of Tfh response, for example, by increasing their signaling efficacy and/or stability of STAT4 in CD4⁺ T cells stimulated by IL-12 and/or IL-23. Of note, the IL-12–STAT4 pathway contributes to the Tfh differentiation also in mice, and STAT4 directly binds to multiple Tfh genes in IL-12-stimulated mouse CD4⁺ T cells, including *Il21*, *Cxcr5*, *Pdcd1* (encoding PD-1), and *Icos* (60, 61).

A recent report showed that ustekinumab, a human recombinant antibody against IL-12p40 (a component of IL-12 and IL-23), was effective for active SLE in a phase II trial (presented in ACR 2017 meeting). Although this encouraging outcome remains to be confirmed, it is of great interest to determine whether the treatment with ustekinumab reduced Tfh responses, and more importantly whether the reduction of Tfh response correlated with the improvement of clinical parameters. Alternatively, treatment with ustekinumab might target other immune cells including Th1 and Th17 cells, which are also proposed to play pathogenic roles in SLE (62, 63). Determining the mode of action of ustekinumab will provide critical insights into the type of pathogenic CD4⁺ T cells and the pathways in SLE.

Other STAT molecules STAT3 and STAT1 also positively regulate Tfh cell differentiation in mice (4). STAT3 is also critical for human Tfh cell differentiation, as patients with STAT3 LOF mutations as well as patients with IL-21 receptor deficiency display significantly less cTfh cells (64). Furthermore, CD4+ T cells from patients with STAT3 LOF mutations and IL-21 receptor deficiency produce substantially less IL-21 upon IL-12 stimulation (24), suggesting that the IL-21-STAT3 axis is critical for enhancement of IL-21 expression. Interestingly, despite less IL-21 production, STAT3 LOF human CD4+ T cells stimulated with IL-12 express normal levels of CXCR5, ICOS, and Bcl-6 (26). Thus, STAT3 and STAT4 might differently contribute to the expression of each Tfh molecule in human CD4⁺ T cells, and IL-21 expression might be more dependent on the IL-21-STAT3 axis than the expression of CXCR5, ICOS, and Bcl-6. In this line, it is likely that decreased cTfh cells in STAT3 LOF are also due to severely impaired B cell response. STAT3 LOF display significantly less memory B cells (65), and the differentiation of STAT3 LOF B cells into plasmablast is severely impaired due to failure to respond to IL-6, IL-10, or IL-21 (65). Notably, unlike STAT4, STAT3 has been identified as risk loci in GWAS in autoinflammatory diseases, such as multiple sclerosis, Crohn's disease, and ulcerative colitis, which are less dependent on autoantibodies (53). STAT1 signals seems to play less significant roles in Tfh cell differentiation in humans than in mice, as patients with both STAT1 LOF and gain-of-function (GOF) mutations display normal frequency of cTfh cells (24, 58, 64). No GWAS on autoimmune diseases have identified STAT1 as a risk allele. These observations suggest that genetic variants of STAT1 and STAT3 do not contribute much to pathogenic Tfh and GC responses in autoimmune diseases. However, this notion does not preclude the involvement of STAT3 mutations in human autoimmune diseases. Patients with STAT3 *GOF* mutations show massive multiorgan autoimmunity, autoimmune cytopenia, lymphoproliferation, and immunodeficiency, likely due to impaired Treg differentiation and functions (66–68). Whether STAT3 *GOF* increases Tfh response or not is currently unclear. However, many patients display hypogammaglobulinemia (68), and thus that autoimmunity in STAT3 *GOF* seems to be caused by dys-regulation of antibody response rather than a general increase of Tfh response.

IRF5

IRF5 is another transcription factor whose haplotype is highly associated with an increased risk of SLE, RA, and Sjogren's syndrome (53). IRF5 is expressed by a broad range of APCs, including monocytes, macrophages, DCs, plasmacytoid DCs, and B cells, and is critically involved in the production of inflammatory cytokines, including IL-12, IL-23, IL-6, and type I IFN (69-71). These cytokines are enriched in inflamed tissues in autoimmune diseases, and such inflammatory cytokine milieu causes a positive-feedback loop for the expression of IL-12 and IL-23 by promoting the generating M1 macrophages that highly express IRF5 (69). Thus, it is possible that IRF5 risk haplotype is linked to the enhanced production of Tfhpromoting cytokines in subjects with autoimmune diseases traits. IRF5 is required in normal human B cell proliferation and differentiation into plasmablasts (72), and therefore, IRF5 risk allele may also intrinsically affect B cells. The importance of IRF5 for lupus pathogenesis was also demonstrated by the attenuation of the disease in mouse models deficient of IRF5, which was accompanied with decreased activated CD4⁺ T cells and autoantibodies (73, 74).

TNFSF4

TNFSF4 encodes Ox40L, a TNF ligand family molecule that delivers signals promoting human Tfh cell differentiation (11) as described earlier. *TNFSF4* has been identified as another prominent risk allele in SLE and RA (53). In active SLE, blood CD14⁺ monocytes and tissue CD11c⁺ myeloid cells upregulate the expression of Ox40L (11). *TNFSF4* risk allele might enhance signals *via* Ox40 and contribute to enhanced Tfh responses. The importance of the Ox40–Ox40L axis for antibody response (75–77) and autoimmune disease was also demonstrated in studies with mouse models (18, 78, 79). *TNFSF4* is also found as a risk allele in GWAS on allergies, such as asthma, hay fever, and eczema; an observation consistent with the importance of Ox40–Ox40L pathway for Th2 response (80).

In contrast, it is somewhat surprising that ICOS, another key co-stimulatory molecule for Tfh cell differentiation in humans and mice, and its ligand ICOS-ligand (encoded by *ICOSLG*) are not among the risk loci identified in GWAS on autoantibody mediated autoimmune diseases. *ICOSLG* was instead found to be highly associated with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (53). Thus, while ICOS and ICOS-ligand are involved in pathogenic

Tfh response, as demonstrated in Roquin^{san/san} mice, the haplotype *ICOS* and *ICOSLG* themselves *per se* do not seem to contribute to pathogenic Tfh responses.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Although the mode of actions remains to be established, a positive outcome of ustekinumab in active SLE patients provides a new proof of principle that T cells can be a therapeutic target for autoantibody-mediated autoimmune diseases. Another evidence came from a clinical trial performed some 15 years ago with anti-CD40L (BG9588) on lupus nephritis. Although the trial was prematurely terminated due to the development of thrombotic events and associated fatality in some patients, the early results were encouraging and the treatment reduced serum anti-dsDNA titers, increased serum complement levels, and reduced nephritis score (81). Thus, targeting B helper T cells can be beneficial for treatment of autoimmune diseases. It will be important to

REFERENCES

- Ma CS, Deenick EK, Batten M, Tangye SG. The origins, function, and regulation of T follicular helper cells. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(7):1241–53. doi:10.1084/ jem.20120994
- Crotty S. T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, and roles in disease. Immunity (2014) 41(4):529–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.004
- Ueno H, Banchereau J, Vinuesa CG. Pathophysiology of T follicular helper cells in humans and mice. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(2):142–52. doi:10.1038/ ni.3054
- Vinuesa CG, Linterman MA, Yu D, MacLennan IC. Follicular helper T cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2016) 34:335–68. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-041015-055605
- Avery DT, Bryant VL, Ma CS, de Waal Malefyt R, Tangye SG. IL-21-induced isotype switching to IgG and IgA by human naive B cells is differentially regulated by IL-4. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(3):1767–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 181.3.1767
- Zotos D, Coquet JM, Zhang Y, Light A, D'Costa K, Kallies A, et al. IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(2):365–78. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091777
- Bentebibel SE, Schmitt N, Banchereau J, Ueno H. Human tonsil B-cell lymphoma 6 (BCL6)-expressing CD4⁺ T-cell subset specialized for B-cell help outside germinal centers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(33): E488–97. doi:10.1073/pnas.1100898108
- Fazilleau N, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, Rosen H, McHeyzer-Williams MG. The function of follicular helper T cells is regulated by the strength of T cell antigen receptor binding. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(4):375–84. doi:10.1038/ ni.1704
- Vinuesa CG, Cook MC, Angelucci C, Athanasopoulos V, Rui L, Hill KM, et al. A RING-type ubiquitin ligase family member required to repress follicular helper T cells and autoimmunity. *Nature* (2005) 435(7041):452–8. doi:10.1038/nature03555
- Tubo NJ, Pagan AJ, Taylor JJ, Nelson RW, Linehan JL, Ertelt JM, et al. Single naive CD4⁺ T cells from a diverse repertoire produce different effector cell types during infection. *Cell* (2013) 153(4):785–96. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.04.007
- Jacquemin C, Schmitt N, Contin-Bordes C, Liu Y, Narayanan P, Seneschal J, et al. OX40 ligand contributes to human lupus pathogenesis by promoting T follicular helper response. *Immunity* (2015) 42(6):1159–70. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2015.05.012
- Akiba H, Takeda K, Kojima Y, Usui Y, Harada N, Yamazaki T, et al. The role of ICOS in the CXCR5⁺ follicular B helper T cell maintenance in vivo. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(4):2340–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2340

define the differentiation mechanisms and the functions of Tfh and Tfh-like cells that directly contribute to the production of autoantibodies in lymphoid organs as well as inflamed tissues. Determining how risk loci in autoimmune diseases are associated with the molecular mechanisms for exaggerated Tfh responses is also of great importance. These studies will enhance our understanding in human autoimmune diseases and also might provide novel therapeutic targets.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HU and SH, have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant U19-AI082715 and grants from Lupus Research Alliance.

- Choi YS, Kageyama R, Eto D, Escobar TC, Johnston RJ, Monticelli L, et al. ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):932–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.023
- Xu H, Li X, Liu D, Li J, Zhang X, Chen X, et al. Follicular T-helper cell recruitment governed by bystander B cells and ICOS-driven motility. *Nature* (2013) 496(7446):523–7. doi:10.1038/nature12058
- Hutloff A, Dittrich AM, Beier KC, Eljaschewitsch B, Kraft R, Anagnostopoulos I, et al. ICOS is an inducible T-cell co-stimulator structurally and functionally related to CD28. *Nature* (1999) 397(6716):263–6. doi:10.1038/16717
- Vogelzang A, McGuire HM, Yu D, Sprent J, Mackay CR, King C. A fundamental role for interleukin-21 in the generation of T follicular helper cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):127–37. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.06.001
- Bossaller L, Burger J, Draeger R, Grimbacher B, Knoth R, Plebani A, et al. ICOS deficiency is associated with a severe reduction of CXCR5+CD4 germinal center Th cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(7):4927–32. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.7.4927
- Tahiliani V, Hutchinson TE, Abboud G, Croft M, Salek-Ardakani S. OX40 cooperates with ICOS to amplify follicular Th cell development and germinal center reactions during infection. *J Immunol* (2017) 198(1):218–28. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601356
- Byun M, Ma CS, Akcay A, Pedergnana V, Palendira U, Myoung J, et al. Inherited human OX40 deficiency underlying classic Kaposi sarcoma of childhood. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(9):1743–59. doi:10.1084/jem.20130592
- Ma CS, Suryani S, Avery DT, Chan A, Nanan R, Santner-Nanan B, et al. Early commitment of naive human CD4(⁺) T cells to the T follicular helper (T(FH)) cell lineage is induced by IL-12. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2009) 87(8):590–600. doi:10.1038/icb.2009.64
- Schmitt N, Bustamante J, Bourdery L, Bentebibel SE, Boisson-Dupuis S, Hamlin F, et al. IL-12 receptor beta1 deficiency alters in vivo T follicular helper cell response in humans. *Blood* (2013) 121(17):3375–85. doi:10.1182/ blood-2012-08-448902
- Schmitt N, Morita R, Bourdery L, Bentebibel SE, Zurawski SM, Banchereau J, et al. Human dendritic cells induce the differentiation of interleukin-21producing T follicular helper-like cells through interleukin-12. *Immunity* (2009) 31(1):158–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.016
- Schmitt N, Liu Y, Bentebibel SE, Munagala I, Bourdery L, Venuprasad K, et al. The cytokine TGF-beta co-opts signaling via STAT3-STAT4 to promote the differentiation of human TFH cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(9):856–65. doi:10.1038/ni.2947
- 24. Ma CS, Wong N, Rao G, Nguyen A, Avery DT, Payne K, et al. Unique and shared signaling pathways cooperate to regulate the differentiation of human CD4⁺ T cells into distinct effector subsets. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(8):1589–608. doi:10.1084/jem.20151467

- Suto A, Kashiwakuma D, Kagami S, Hirose K, Watanabe N, Yokote K, et al. Development and characterization of IL-21-producing CD4⁺ T cells. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(6):1369–79. doi:10.1084/jem.20072057
- Ma CS, Avery DT, Chan A, Batten M, Bustamante J, Boisson-Dupuis S, et al. Functional STAT3 deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(17):3997–4008. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-11-392985
- Locci M, Wu JE, Arumemi F, Mikulski Z, Dahlberg C, Miller AT, et al. Activin A programs the differentiation of human TFH cells. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(8):976–84. doi:10.1038/ni1016-1235d
- Kobayashi S, Watanabe T, Suzuki R, Furu M, Ito H, Ito J, et al. TGFbeta induces the differentiation of human CXCL13-producing CD4(⁺) T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46(2):360–71. doi:10.1002/eji.201546043
- 29. Fava R, Olsen N, Keski-Oja J, Moses H, Pincus T. Active and latent forms of transforming growth factor beta activity in synovial effusions. *J Exp Med* (1989) 169(1):291–6. doi:10.1084/jem.169.1.291
- Soler Palacios B, Estrada-Capetillo L, Izquierdo E, Criado G, Nieto C, Municio C, et al. Macrophages from the synovium of active rheumatoid arthritis exhibit an activin A-dependent pro-inflammatory profile. *J Pathol* (2015) 235(3):515–26. doi:10.1002/path.4466
- Lyakh L, Trinchieri G, Provezza L, Carra G, Gerosa F. Regulation of interleukin-12/interleukin-23 production and the T-helper 17 response in humans. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 226:112–31. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00700.x
- 32. Le Bon A, Schiavoni G, D'Agostino G, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Tough DF. Type i interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells in vivo. *Immunity* (2001) 14(4):461–70. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00126-1
- Cucak H, Yrlid U, Reizis B, Kalinke U, Johansson-Lindbom B. Type I interferon signaling in dendritic cells stimulates the development of lymph-noderesident T follicular helper cells. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):491–501. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.07.005
- Ballesteros-Tato A, Leon B, Graf BA, Moquin A, Adams PS, Lund FE, et al. Interleukin-2 inhibits germinal center formation by limiting T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2012) 36(5):847–56. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2012.02.012
- Johnston RJ, Choi YS, Diamond JA, Yang JA, Crotty S. STAT5 is a potent negative regulator of TFH cell differentiation. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(2): 243–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20111174
- Li J, Lu E, Yi T, Cyster JG. EBI2 augments Tfh cell fate by promoting interaction with IL-2-quenching dendritic cells. *Nature* (2016) 533(7601):110–4. doi:10.1038/nature17947
- He J, Zhang X, Wei Y, Sun X, Chen Y, Deng J, et al. Low-dose interleukin-2 treatment selectively modulates CD4(⁺) T cell subsets in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Med* (2016) 22(9):991–3. doi:10.1038/ nm.4148
- Hirakawa M, Matos TR, Liu H, Koreth J, Kim HT, Paul NE, et al. Low-dose IL-2 selectively activates subsets of CD4(⁺) Tregs and NK cells. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1(18):e89278. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.89278
- Koreth J, Matsuoka K, Kim HT, McDonough SM, Bindra B, Alyea EP III, et al. Interleukin-2 and regulatory T cells in graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(22):2055–66. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1108188
- Rao DA, Gurish MF, Marshall JL, Slowikowski K, Fonseka CY, Liu Y, et al. Pathologically expanded peripheral T helper cell subset drives B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature* (2017) 542(7639):110–4. doi:10.1038/nature20810
- Blokland SLM, Hillen MR, Kruize AA, Meller S, Homey B, Smithson GM, et al. Increased CCL25 and T helper cells expressing CCR9 in the salivary glands of patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome: potential new axis in lymphoid neogenesis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69(10):2038–51. doi:10.1002/ art.40182
- Liu X, Chen X, Zhong B, Wang A, Wang X, Chu F, et al. Transcription factor achaete-scute homologue 2 initiates follicular T-helper-cell development. *Nature* (2014) 507(7493):513–8. doi:10.1038/nature12910
- 43. Ise W, Kohyama M, Schraml BU, Zhang T, Schwer B, Basu U, et al. The transcription factor BATF controls the global regulators of class-switch recombination in both B cells and T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):536–43. doi:10.1038/ni.2037
- Kroenke MA, Eto D, Locci M, Cho M, Davidson T, Haddad EK, et al. Bcl6 and Maf cooperate to instruct human follicular helper CD4 T cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(8):3734–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103246

- Bollig N, Brustle A, Kellner K, Ackermann W, Abass E, Raifer H, et al. Transcription factor IRF4 determines germinal center formation through follicular T-helper cell differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(22):8664–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1205834109
- 46. Xu L, Cao Y, Xie Z, Huang Q, Bai Q, Yang X, et al. The transcription factor TCF-1 initiates the differentiation of T(FH) cells during acute viral infection. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(9):991–9. doi:10.1038/ni.3229
- Wu T, Shin HM, Moseman EA, Ji Y, Huang B, Harly C, et al. TCF1 Is required for the T follicular helper cell response to viral infection. *Cell Rep* (2015) 12(12):2099–110. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.049
- Choi YS, Gullicksrud JA, Xing S, Zeng Z, Shan Q, Li F, et al. LEF-1 and TCF-1 orchestrate T(FH) differentiation by regulating differentiation circuits upstream of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(9):980–90. doi:10.1038/ni.3226
- Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):457–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1001–5. doi:10.1126/science.1176676
- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1006–10. doi:10.1126/ science.1175870
- Hatzi K, Nance JP, Kroenke MA, Bothwell M, Haddad EK, Melnick A, et al. BCL6 orchestrates Tfh cell differentiation via multiple distinct mechanisms. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(4):539–53. doi:10.1084/jem.20141380
- GWAS Catalog The NHGRI-EBI Catalog of Published Genome-wide Association Studies. Available from: https://www.ebi.ac.uk/gwas/home (Accessed: February 7, 2018).
- Visscher PM, Wray NR, Zhang Q, Sklar P, McCarthy MI, Brown MA, et al. 10 years of GWAS discovery: biology, function, and translation. *Am J Hum Genet* (2017) 101(1):5–22. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.06.005
- Stranger BE, De Jager PL. Coordinating GWAS results with gene expression in a systems immunologic paradigm in autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24(5):544–51. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.09.002
- Gutierrez-Arcelus M, Rich SS, Raychaudhuri S. Autoimmune diseases connecting risk alleles with molecular traits of the immune system. *Nat Rev Genet* (2016) 17(3):160–74. doi:10.1038/nrg.2015.33
- O'Shea John J, Plenge R. JAK and STAT signaling molecules in immunoregulation and immune-mediated disease. *Immunity* (2012) 36(4):542–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.03.014
- Schmitt N, Liu Y, Bentebibel SE, Ueno H. Molecular mechanisms regulating T helper 1 versus T follicular helper cell differentiation in humans. *Cell Rep* (2016) 16(4):1082–95. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.06.063
- Bentham J, Morris DL, Graham DSC, Pinder CL, Tombleson P, Behrens TW, et al. Genetic association analyses implicate aberrant regulation of innate and adaptive immunity genes in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet* (2015) 47(12):1457–64. doi:10.1038/ng.3434
- Wei L, Vahedi G, Sun H-W, Watford WT, Takatori H, Ramos HL, et al. Discrete Roles of STAT4 and STAT6 transcription factors in tuning epigenetic modifications and transcription during T helper cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2010) 32(6):840–51. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.06.003
- Nakayamada S, Kanno Y, Takahashi H, Jankovic D, Lu KT, Johnson TA, et al. Early Th1 cell differentiation is marked by a Tfh cell-like transition. *Immunity* (2011) 35(6):919–31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.012
- Wong CK, Lit LC, Tam LS, Li EK, Wong PT, Lam CW. Hyperproduction of IL-23 and IL-17 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: implications for Th17-mediated inflammation in auto-immunity. *Clin Immunol* (2008) 127(3):385–93. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2008.01.019
- Li D, Guo B, Wu H, Tan L, Chang C, Lu Q. Interleukin-17 in systemic lupus erythematosus: a comprehensive review. *Autoimmunity* (2015) 48(6):353–61. doi:10.3109/08916934.2015.1037441
- Ma CS, Wong N, Rao G, Avery DT, Torpy J, Hambridge T, et al. Monogenic mutations differentially affect the quantity and quality of T follicular helper cells in patients with human primary immunodeficiencies. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2015) 136(4):993–1006.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2015.05.036
- 65. Avery DT, Deenick EK, Ma CS, Suryani S, Simpson N, Chew GY, et al. B cell-intrinsic signaling through IL-21 receptor and STAT3 is required for

establishing long-lived antibody responses in humans. J Exp Med (2010) 207(1):S1-5. doi:10.1084/jem.20091706

- Flanagan SE, Haapaniemi E, Russell MA, Caswell R, Allen HL, Franco ED, et al. Activating germline mutations in STAT3 cause early-onset multi-organ autoimmune disease. *Nat Genet* (2014) 46(8):812–4. doi:10.1038/ng.3040
- Milner JD, Vogel TP, Forbes L, Ma CA, Stray-Pedersen A, Niemela JE, et al. Early-onset lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity caused by germline STAT3 gain-of-function mutations. *Blood* (2015) 125(4):591–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2014-09-602763
- Haapaniemi EM, Kaustio M, Rajala HLM, Adrichem AJv, Kainulainen L, Glumoff V, et al. Autoimmunity, hypogammaglobulinemia, lymphoproliferation, and mycobacterial disease in patients with activating mutations in STAT3. *Blood* (2015) 125(4):639–48. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-04-570101
- Krausgruber T, Blazek K, Smallie T, Alzabin S, Lockstone H, Sahgal N, et al. IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and TH1-TH17 responses. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(3):231–8. doi:10.1038/ni.1990
- Takaoka A, Yanai H, Kondo S, Duncan G, Negishi H, Mizutani T, et al. Integral role of IRF-5 in the gene induction programme activated by toll-like receptors. *Nature* (2005) 434(7030):243–9. doi:10.1038/nature03308
- 71. Bergstrom B, Aune MH, Awuh JA, Kojen JF, Blix KJ, Ryan L, et al. TLR8 senses Staphylococcus aureus RNA in human primary monocytes and macrophages and induces IFN-beta production via a TAK1-IKKbeta-IRF5 signaling pathway. J Immunol (2015) 195(3):1100–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1403176
- De S, Zhang B, Shih T, Singh S, Winkler A, Donnelly R, et al. B cell-intrinsic role for IRF5 in TLR9/BCR-induced human B cell activation, proliferation, and plasmablast differentiation. *Front Immunol* (2018) 8:1938. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01938
- Tada Y, Kondo S, Aoki S, Koarada S, Inoue H, Suematsu R, et al. Interferon regulatory factor 5 is critical for the development of lupus in MRL/lpr mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 63(3):738–48. doi:10.1002/art.30183
- 74. Xu Y, Lee PY, Li Y, Liu C, Zhuang H, Han S, et al. Pleiotropic IFN-dependent and -independent effects of IRF5 on the pathogenesis of experimental lupus. J Immunol (2012) 188(8):4113–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103113
- Brocker T, Gulbranson-Judge A, Flynn S, Riedinger M, Raykundalia C, Lane P. CD4 T cell traffic control: in vivo evidence that ligation of OX40 on CD4

T cells by OX40-ligand expressed on dendritic cells leads to the accumulation of CD4 T cells in B follicles. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29(5):1610–6. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1521-4141(199905)29:05<1610::AID-IMMU1610>3.0.CO;2-8

- Walker LS, Gulbranson-Judge A, Flynn S, Brocker T, Raykundalia C, Goodall M, et al. Compromised OX40 function in CD28-deficient mice is linked with failure to develop CXC chemokine receptor 5-positive CD4 cells and germinal centers. J Exp Med (1999) 190(8):1115–22. doi:10.1084/jem.190.8.1115
- 77. Kim MY, Gaspal FM, Wiggett HE, McConnell FM, Gulbranson-Judge A, Raykundalia C, et al. CD4(*)CD3(-) accessory cells costimulate primed CD4 T cells through OX40 and CD30 at sites where T cells collaborate with B cells. *Immunity* (2003) 18(5):643–54. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00110-9
- Sitrin J, Suto E, Wuster A, Eastham-Anderson J, Kim JM, Austin CD, et al. The Ox40/Ox40 ligand pathway promotes pathogenic Th cell responses, plasmablast accumulation, and lupus nephritis in NZB/W F1 mice. *J Immunol* (2017) 199(4):1238–49. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1700608
- Flynn S, Toellner KM, Raykundalia C, Goodall M, Lane P. CD4 T cell cytokine differentiation: the B cell activation molecule, OX40 ligand, instructs CD4 T cells to express interleukin 4 and upregulates expression of the chemokine receptor, Blr-1. J Exp Med (1998) 188(2):297–304. doi:10.1084/jem.188.2.297
- Liu Y-J. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin and OX40 ligand pathway in the initiation of dendritic cell-mediated allergic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2007) 120(2):238–44. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.06.004
- Sidiropoulos PI, Boumpas DT. Lessons learned from anti-CD40L treatment in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Lupus* (2004) 13(5):391–7. doi:10.1191/0961203304lu1032oa

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Horiuchi and Ueno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

